ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

(26 April 1986 - 27 April 1988)

BIENNIAL REPORT

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

OFFICIAL RECORDS, 1988

SUPPLEMENT No. 14



UNITED NATIONS

Santiago, Chile, 1988

E/1988/38 LC/G.1538-P November 1988

Note

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations documents.

CONTENTS

	Page
Introduction	1
I. ISSUES CALLING FOR ACTION BY THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL OR BROUGHT TO ITS ATTENTION	1
A. ISSUES CALLING FOR ACTION BY THE COUNCIL	1
B. ISSUES BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE COUNCIL	1
II. ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMISSION SINCE THE TWENTY-FIRST SESSION	4
A. MEETINGS OF THE COMMISSION SINCE THE LAST SESSION	4
a) Special Conference of ECIACb) Committee of the Whole	4 5
B. ACTIVITIES OF SUBSIDIARY BODIES AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES	5
C. PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES	7
1. Substantive programmes	7
Programme 10: Development issues and policies Programme 11: Energy Programme 12: Environment Programme 13: Food and agriculture Programme 14: Human settlements Programme 15: Industrial development Programme 16: International trade and development financing Programme 17: Natural resources Programme 18: Population Programme 20: Science and technology Programme 21: Social development and humanitarian affairs Programme 22: Statistics Programme 23: Transnational corporations Programme 24: Transport	7 25 28 32 36 41 46 65 71 91 93 102 112 114
a) Library and documents services b) Administration of technical co-operation activities c) Documents and Publications Division d) Conference services e) Computer Centre f) Information services g) CEPAL Review	120 121 123 125 125 126 128

	iv					
		<u>Page</u>				
D.	RELATIONS WITH SPECIALIZED AGENCIES AND OTHER ORGANIZATIONS	129				
Annex 1	- TECHNICAL CO-OPERATION PROJECTS FINANCED FROM EXTRABUDGETARY FUNDS	130				
Annex 2	nex 2 - CONFERENCE AND MEETINGS SPONSORED OR CO-SPONSORED BY ECLAC					
III. TW	ENTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE COMMISSION	145				
A.	ATTENDANCE AND ORGANIZATION OF WORK	145				
	Place and date of the session Attendance Credentials Opening ceremonies Election of Officers Committees Documentation	145 145 147 147 153 153				
в.	AGENDA	154				
C. SUMMARY OF DEBATES						
				Reports of the Committees	158	
	a) Report of Committee I	158 182 197				
	Plenary	201				
	a) Meetings to commemorate the fortieth					
	anniversary of ECIAC	201 205				
	Admisssion of Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC (agenda item 8 a)) General debate Declaration by the Central American countries concerning United Nations General Assembly resolution 42/204 on special economic assistance to Central America (agenda item 8 b))	205 206 235				
	Declaration of support for Panama by the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean	236				

			<u>Page</u>
	resolu	eration and adoption of the reports and draft tions submitted by the Committees eration of draft resolutions submitted	239
directly to the Plenary			240
	Closing m	eeting	240
D.		NS ADOPTED BY THE ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR RICA AND THE CARIBBEAN AT ITS	
	TWENTY-SE	COND SESSION	242
	490(XXII)	Admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECLAC	242
	491(XXII)	Technical co-operation among developing	243
	492 (XXII)	countries and regions Economic co-operation among developing	244
		countries	246
		Institute for Economic and Social Planning on the occasion of its twenty-fifth	
		anniversary	247
		Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE) Calendar of conferences of ECLAC for the	249
	496 (XXTT)	period 1988-1990	251
		and Development	253
	497 (XXII)	Programme of work of ECIAC for the period 1990-1991	254
	498(XXII)	International development strategy: Assessment of the present international development strategy and review of the	
		preparation of a new strategy for the fourth	255
	499(XXII)	United Nations development decade Fortieth anniversary of the Economic Commission for Latin America and	255
	500(XXII)	the Caribbean	256 257
		documents al implications of resolutions adopted	258
	by the (Commission	260
Annex 3		tion of support for Panama by the es of Latin America and the Caribbean	261

Introduction

This thirty-fourth report of the activities of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean covers the period from 26 April 1986 to 27 April 1988. It includes the report of the twenty-second session of the Commission, held in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, from 20 to 27 April 1988.

I. ISSUES CALLING FOR ACTION BY THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL OR BROUGHT TO ITS ATTENTION

A. ISSUES CALLING FOR ACTION BY THE COUNCIL

At its twenty-second session, the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean received an offer from the Government of Venezuela to host the twenty-third session of the Commission in Caracas in 1990. In its resolution 500(XXII), the Commission accepted this invitation and recommended to the Economic and Social Council that it approve the holding of the session at that venue. This resolution was adopted bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 31/140, which allows ECIAC to hold its sessions away from its headquarters, and ECIAC resolution 480(XXI), endorsed by the Economic and Social Council in its decision 1986/173, in which the Commission reaffirmed the principle of rotating the venue of regular sessions, specified the respective contributions of the host country and of the United Nations, and recommended to the Executive Secretary of ECIAC that any additional expenditure be financed from the regular budget of ECIAC through a reallocation of funds. The Economic and Social Council is requested to endorse ECIAC resolution 500(XXII).

B. ISSUES BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE COUNCIL

<u>Intergovernmental structure and functions of the Economic Commission</u> for Latin America and the Caribbean

At its nineteenth session, held at United Nations Headquarters on 13 and 14 August 1987, the Committee of the Whole of ECIAC considered the contribution of ECIAC to the in-depth study on the intergovernmental structure and functions of the United Nations in the economic and social fields. The Committee had before it a document prepared by the Secretariat (IC/L.421(PIEN.19/2)) giving a description of the current structure of ECIAC and making some proposals for its rationalization. The report of the Committee of the Whole is contained in document IC/G.1479(PIEN.19/4).

It was generally felt in the Committee that the activities of ECIAC should be strengthened and that the regional focus of the work of the United Nations Secretariat in the economic and social fields should be consolidated. A number of delegations referred to the need to increase ECIAC's autonomy in the Organization's decision-making process so at to strengthen United Nations action at the regional and subregional levels. Several delegations commented favourably on ECIAC's current structure, noting that it was simple and had few intergovernmental bodies.

At the conclusion of the debate, the Committee adopted resolution 489(PIEN.19). The Committee affirmed that the restructuring process should, inter alia, intensify the regional and multidisciplinary approach within the Secretariat, strengthen the role of ECIAC as the principal centre within the United Nations system for the general economic and social development of the region, and reinforce the Commission's capacity to contribute to the analysis of the region's development problems and the consideration of economic and social development strategies and policy options to serve as a guide for the countries.

In the resolution the Committee also recommended that the current institutional structure of ECIAC and its system (including the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) and the Latin American Demographic Centre (CEIADE) be maintained, but it decided to abolish the sessional committees on water and on human settlements, so that those topics would henceforth be dealt with in the same way as other aspects of the Commission's work programme. Finally, the Committee emphasized the importance of the work performed by the Commission's Secretariat and by its joint programmes with the global organizations of the United Nations system: an approach that constituted an appropriate way of avoiding duplication and permitted effective co-ordination of activities.

International development strategy: assessment of the present Strategy and review of the preparation of a strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade

At its twenty-second session, ECIAC considered General Assembly resolution 42/193, in which the Secretary-General was requested to provide information for the preparation of a new international development strategy and for the assessment of the Strategy for the current Decade. In resolution 498(XXII), the Commission requested the ECIAC Secretariat to prepare the relevant information in due time for the meeting of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN), which would deal with the analysis of the different points connected with the appraisal of the current Strategy and with the strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade, and to submit the information to ECIAC at its next session. The next meeting of CEGAN will be held in mid-1989.

Admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECLAC

In resolution 490(XXII) the Commission decided to admit Aruba as an associate member and welcomed its participation in the work of ECIAC.

Fortieth anniversary of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean

In resolution 499(XXII) the Commission welcomed the contributions made by ECIAC and its Secretariat to the formulation of an authentically latin American and Caribbean economic philosophy; emphasized the need to generate alternative solutions for strengthening the role of the region in the international economic system and resuming the process of sustained development that had been affected in the 1980s by the economic crisis and the problems of external debt; and requested the Executive Secretary to bear in mind, when executing the programme of work of the Commission, the need for reflection on the following matters:

- a) The definition of long-term development policies that incorporate measures by the countries of the region to solve the serious short-term problems in a broad context, aimed at overcoming the structural obstacles standing in the way of Latin American and Caribbean development;
- b) The analysis of alternative scenarios for the future development of Latin America and the Caribbean, taking account of the dynamics of the development process under way in the region and the long-term trends prevailing in the world economy;
- c) The examination of regional and subregional integration and co-operation as instruments for the development and greater autonomy of the region and as a way of formulating new approaches for tackling the problems hindering its economic evolution.

Other resolutions adopted by the Commission at its twenty-second session

The Commission also adopted the calendar of conferences of ECIAC for the period 1988-1990 and the programme of work for the period 1990-1991, the former in resolution 495(XXII) and the latter in resolution 497(XXII).

It likewise adopted resolution 494(XXII) on the Latin American Demographic Centre and resolution 493(XXII), in which it expressed support for the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) on the occasion of its twenty-fifth anniversary.

The Commission also adopted resolution 491(XXII) on technical co-operation among developing countries and regions and resolution 492(XXII) on economic co-operation among developing countries.

Finally, the Commission adopted resolution 496(XXII) on the report of the World Commission on Environment and Development (A/42/427, annex), in which it requested the Executive Secretary to undertake a review of ECIAC's programmes and activities aimed at contributing to sustainable development and to prepare a report thereon for submission to the General Assembly through the Economic and Social Council in 1989 in accordance with paragraph 12 of General Assembly resolution 42/186 and paragraph 18 of General Assembly resolution 42/187.

II. ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMISSION SINCE THE TWENTY-FIRST SESSION

This report on the activities of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECIAC) covers a period of approximately two years since the last session of the Commission (April 1986).

It summarizes the principal activities carried under the various programmes and subprogrammes of the ECLAC Programme of Work,*/ together with the activities carried out by the various substantive support programmes.

The outputs of each of the subprogrammes have been grouped together in Part II under the following headings: i) Documents; ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences; iii) Technical assistance, and iv) Training.

A. MEETINGS OF THE COMMISSION SINCE THE LAST SESSION

a) Special Conference of ECIAC

The Special Conference convened under the auspices of the Government of Mexico in accordance with resolution 487(XXI) of the Commission and resolution 1986/174 of the Economic and Social Council was held in Mexico City in January 1987. On the basis of the document entitled "Iatin American and Caribbean development: obstacles, requirements and options" (IC/G.1440(Conf.79/3)), the Conference addressed the pressing economic problems connected with the severe economic crisis affecting the region since 1982. As a result of the active exchange of views which took place at the Conference, the Rapporteur presented a report summarizing the areas both of agreement and of disagreement between the participating governments, which thus constitutes a significant contribution to the knowledge of the issues at stake and facilitates the quest for means of solving the problems which have arisen between developed and developing countries.

^{*/} Although the report also covers the first three months of the biennial Programme of Work 1988-1989, the titles of the programmes and subprogrammes given in this report are those which appear in the Programme of Work 1986-1987.

b) Committee of the Whole

The Committee of the Whole, which is made up of the governments of all the member States of ECIAC, met once during the period covered by this report.

This nineteenth session of the Committee of the Whole was held at United Nations Headquarters, New York, on 13 and 14 August 1987. The first substantive item on the agenda was the handling of the economic crisis, in respect of which the Secretariat prepared the document "Recent economic developments in Latin America and the Caribbean" (IC/L.422). In its presentation of the document, the Secretariat laid stress on the recent evolution of the international economy and the way in which it had influenced the economies of the region, making special reference to external indebtedness and international trade; to the performance of the economies of the region in 1986 and the first half of 1987; and to certain events related to the integration process in Latin America and the Caribbean

A wide-ranging debate took place, whose conclusions are set out in the report of the meeting (IC/G.1479(PIEN.19/4)).

The second item on the agenda was the in-depth study of the United Nations intergovernmental structure and functions in the economic and social fields, on the basis of a report prepared by ECIAC. As a result of the discussions on this topic, resolution 489(PIEN.19) was adopted, entitled "Intergovernmental structure and functions of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECIAC)". This resolution recommends that the current structure of the Commission be maintained but that two sessional committees be abolished. It also emphasizes the important role that ECIAC is called upon to play and stresses the need to strengthen the intergovernmental relations between ECIAC and the Committee for Programme and Co-ordination (CPC) in view of the latter's new responsibilities.

B. ACTIVITIES OF SUBSIDIARY BODIES AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES

This section summarizes the activities carried out during the period covered by this report by the Committee of the Whole of ECIAC, the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN), the Caribbean Development and Cooperation Committee (CDCC), the Central American Economic Co-operation Committee (CCE) and its subsidiary bodies, the Regional Council for Planning of ILPES, the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean, and the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean.

Committee of the Whole

The Committee of the Whole, composed of the governments of all the member States of ECIAC, met once during the period covered by this report.

The nineteenth session of the Committee of the Whole of ECIAC was held at United Nations Headquarters, New York, on 13 and 14 August 1987. The first substantive item on the agenda was the handling of the economic crisis, in respect of which the Secretariat prepared the document entitled "Recent economic developments in Latin America and the Caribbean" (IC/L.422). In its presentation of this document, the Secretariat underscored the recent evolution of the international economy and the manner in which it had affected the economies of the region, with special reference to external indebtedness and international trade, as well as to the behaviour of the economies of the region in 1986 and so far in 1987 and to a number of events linked to the integration process of Latin America and the Caribbean.

A far-reaching debate took place, the conclusions of which are reflected in the report of the meeting (document IC/G.1479(PLEN.19/4)).

The second item involved a detailed examination of the intergovernmental structure and functions of the United Nations in the economic and social spheres, on the basis of a study prepared by ECIAC. As a result of the discussions on this topic, resolution 489(PLEN.10), entitled "Intergovernmental structure and functions of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECIAC)" was approved. This resolution recommends that the present structure of the Commission be maintained and that two sessional committees be eliminated. It also emphasizes the importance of the work carried out by ECIAC and the need to tighten the intergovernmental links between ECIAC and the Committee for Programme and Co-ordination (CPC), in view of its new responsibilities.

Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)

At the request of a number of member governments of ECIAC, the Chairman of the Commission decided that a meeting of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN) should be convened for the purpose of examining national and international strategies and policies designed to bring about the recovery and development of Latin America and the Caribbean, in preparation for the Special Conference of ECIAC to be held in Mexico in January 1987. Accordingly, the twelfth session of CEGAN was held in Buenos Aires from 1 to 4 December 1986. As a result of the discussions at the session, a draft Declaration of Mexico signed by the Latin American and Caribbean member governments of the Commission, in which a number of observations in respect of the crisis are set forth, was approved by consensus.

The thirteenth session of CEGAN was held at United Nations Headquarters, New York, from 11 to 13 August 1987. To facilitate the work of the Committee, the Secretariat presented the document entitled "Recent economic developments in Iatin America and the Caribbean" (IC/L.422), which gave rise to a stimulating debate in terms of the quality and depth of insight of the concepts put forward. In addition, during the session a resolution was adopted entitled "Support by ECIAC for the Central American countries" which, among other things, declares that ECIAC should continue to support the process of Central American integration and reaffirms ECIAC's commitment as an organ of the United Nations, to grant assistance and economic co-operation to all the Central American countries so that they may attain their objectives of normalizing and reactivating their economies.

Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC)

The Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC) scheduled its tenth session in Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago, for the period 27-30 October 1987. The work of the session was divided into two stages: a technical level (27 and 28 October) and a ministerial level (29 and 30 October).

ILPES Regional Council for Planning

The Seventh Meeting of the ILPES Regional Council for Planning (formerly the Technical Committee of ILPES) was held in Havana, Cuba, on 24 March 1987.

Among the most important action taken at this meeting was the unanimous adoption of the 1987-1990 Institutional Project for IIPES and the support given to the Institute's programme of work, its efforts at conceptual and technical renewal and its policy of decentralization in the Caribbean and the Central American Isthmus.

Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean

A meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on Women was convened on 30 October 1987 at the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters in Mexico City. The main items on the agenda were the report of activities of the Secretariat in this field and the organization of the Fourth Conference on Women, including the provisional agenda, the documentation, the location and the date.

C. PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES

1. Substantive programmes

PROGRAMME 10: DEVELOPMENT ISSUES AND POLICIES

The first two subprogrammes, which are the responsibility of the Economic Development Division, have two objectives: to examine the short-term economic evolution of all the countries of the region, and to analyse and propose economic policies and strategies to promote strong, sustained, equitable and autonomous development.

The first subprogramme involved the preparation of three studies. The first, entitled <u>Economic panorama of Latin America</u>, 1986 was published in October 1986 and examined the economic evolution of the eight main economies in the region during the first half of the year plus July and August. The second, entitled <u>Preliminary Overview of the Latin American Economy</u>, 1986

(IC/G.1454), was published in December and discussed the same topics but covered the whole of 1986 and the entire region. These two reports sought to give a timely overview of the situation —several months before any other publications and these are consequently the two FCIAC reports most quoted in the regional and international press and the most sought after by countries, banks, international agencies, the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund. The third report, entitled Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean, on the other hand, includes detailed, complete and comparable information and analyses. In view of its size, the Survey usually comes out more slowly. In 1987, the 1985 Survey usually comes out number of countries for 1986.

The second subprogramme focused on the analysis of the economic policies to deal with the crisis and the three major topics associated with it, as well as alternative debt management policies aimed at securing an expansionary adjustment and bringing down inflation without recession. Several of these studies were summarized and provided the basis for a Secretariat paper entitled "Latin American and Caribbean Development: Obstacles, Requirements and Options" (IC/G.1440(Conf.79/3)), which was presented by the Secretariat at the Special Conference of ECLAC (Mexico City, 19-23 January 1987).

In addition to the Economic Survey, the Economic Panorama and the Preliminary Overview, the studies carried out in the period under review led to the publication of a book, a monograph and almost 20 articles (of which 12 were published outside ECIAC); advisory assistance was also given to five countries and some 50 presentations were made in regional and international seminars and forums. Among the latter, the three most outstanding were:
1) "The Latin American adjustment process in 1981-1986", which was presented at a symposium on expansionary adjustment programmes attended by the Directors of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund in Washington, D.C. in February 1987; 2) a presentation made at the conference entitled "Old Questions, New Crises: Latin America in 1986", organized by the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars in Washington, D.C. in May 1986 for editors and specialized journalists; and 3) four papers presented at the International Round Table Meeting on Stabilization Policies in Countries with High Inflation, organized by ECIAC and the German Foundation for International Development in October 1986 in Montevideo, which was attended by senior officials and others responsible for economic policy in the region.

With respect to activities to evaluate and make prospective studies of the Latin American economy, which make up the third subprogramme, there has been a continuous follow-up of the prevailing economic situation and the evolution of the world economy in an effort to assess the consequences of the international crisis on the development of the region and to keep up-dating medium— and long-term forecasts. With this in mind, contact has been maintained with international agencies, and the prospective studies and forecasts made by these bodies have been reviewed in order to keep up to date on the information and interpretation of the main economic events in the developed countries. Thus, an ongoing study has been conducted of the discussions, documents and reports of the Administrative Committee on Co-ordination's Task Force on Long-term Development Objectives and of the Committee for Development Planning (CDP). Division representatives attended the twenty-third session of this Committee, held in New York in April 1987,

and the document entitled "Latin America and the Caribbean: Economic growth scenarios 1986-1995" (LC/R.558) was presented there.

The activities carried out in the field of economic projections form part of the ongoing work of the Secretariat and provide the basic material for the prospective studies. The projections are therefore regularly updated to take account of the effect of the prevailing international economic situation, changes in policy and any shift in the internal situation of the countries. To this end, the basic information stored in the data banks was updated. This data covers macroeconomic, external sector, sectoral, productivity and employment variables.

Macroeconomic and external sector projections were prepared for 18 countries of the region, using two basic scenarios to study a number of variants, linked to important external macroeconomic variables, that were systematized and summarized for different groups of countries. The results are given in the document entitled "Latin America and the Caribbean: economic growth scenarios 1986-1995" (LC/R.558) referred to above.

In order to make these projections, a careful study was made of the impact of external factors on the behaviour of the main macroeconomic variables of the countries. To this end, econometric functions and simulations of various kinds were prepared and estimated. These functions were used to try to verify analytically whether there have been structural changes in the Latin American economies as a result of the crisis and the adjustment policies.

With regard to the sectoral structures of the gross domestic product, employment and the labour force, preliminary projections were made for the countries up to the year 2000. For this purpose, a review was made of the projection model, as outlined in the document entitled "Employment and productivity model of the Economic Projections Centre (IC/R.525). In addition, a report assessing the present and future employment situation in the countries of the region is being prepared.

Contacts have been maintained with various national, regional and international agencies in order to exchange methodologies and information on prospective studies, a subject in which the ECLAC Secretariat performs co-ordination and dissemination functions.

The activities of the fourth subprogramme, which concerns information and documentation for economic and social development and is carried out by the Latin American Centre for Economic and Social Documentation (CIADES), were aimed at providing the countries of the region with technical support in these areas.

Special mention may be made of the intra-regional co-operation activities among national, regional and international institutions working to develop information systems and networks in Latin America and the Caribbean (INFOLAC). ECLAC, the OAS and UNESCO constitute the Technical Secretariat of this programme.

Of the publications delivered to the countries it is worth highlighting a new series entitled "Special development issues" on the external debt,

regional co-operation, water resource planning, environmental planning and regional integration.

In addition, measures continued to be taken to further co-operation contacts between CIADES and the UNESCO General Information Programme; the Latin American Integration Association (ALADI); the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE); the Latin American Centre for Development Administration (CLAD), and the Board of the Cartagena Agreement (JUNAC), etc.

The activities of the fifth subprogramme, which is entrusted to the Latin American Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES), continued to centre around the New Institutional Project adopted unanimously by the Fifth Intergovernmental Meeting of the Technical Subcommittee of ILPES (Buenos Aires, May 1983), and confirmed and updated by the ILPES and ECIAC intergovernmental meetings held during the reporting period. In order to execute this subprogramme, use was made of ILPES's installed capacity, consultants' services, and the Institute's capacity to harness and marshall the efforts of other international and regional agencies.

In furtherance of these activities, and with the generous support of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and its network of Resident Representatives, joint activities were continued with the United Nations Department of Technical Co-operation for Development (DTCD). Within the United Nations system, there was valuable interaction with several specialized United Nations agencies such as UNCTAD, IIO (through the Regional Employment Programme for Latin America and the Caribbean (PREALC)), the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and the World Health Organization (WHO).

Meaningful contacts were also maintained with the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), for the execution of a number of technical co-operation operations, and with the World Bank (especially through the Economic Development Institute (EDI)), in conjunction with which joint training activities were undertaken in the English-speaking Caribbean. Furthermore, relations were stepped up with the Iatin American Centre for Development Administration (CIAD), in a wide range of subjects relating to public sector management; with the Pan-American Health Organization (PAHO); with which an extensive programme of joint activities was initiated; with the Board of the Cartagena Agreement (JUNAC), on macroeconomic forecasting models, information and co-ordination; with the Iatin American Economic System (SEIA), especially on international technical co-operation, as well as with the Organization of American States (OAS) (including the Inter-American Statistical training Centre (CIENES) and the Inter-American Centre for Integrated Social Development (CIDES)/Buenos Aires) and with AIADI and ALIDE.

Closer ties were forged with the rest of the ECIAC system, and an increasing number of joint projects were undertaken with various substantive divisions of ECIAC, with CLADES (the INFOPIAN project), with CEIADE, and with various specific projects being pursued within the framework of ECIAC; furthermore, a close working relationship was sustained with the UNDP Liaison Office for ECIAC/ILPES in Santiago, Chile.

II.PES continued to pursue its relations with other institutions such as the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the Commission of the European Communities (CEC) in Brussels. Important contacts were maintained with the Ibero-American Association of Public Budgeting (ASIP), with the United Nations University (UNU), and more recently with the International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women (INSTRAW) and with the Centre for Latin American Monetary Studies (CEMIA).

In addition to expanding and renewing the Institute's lines of co-operation with governments and other institutions, work continued on the three main programmes that were begun in 1982 as part of the New Institutional Development Strategy: modernization of management, upgrading of technical work and the New Institutional Project.

IIPES also continued to function as the technical secretariat of the System for Co-operation and Co-ordination among Planning Bodies in Latin America and the Caribbean (SCCOPALC), and among its activities in this field, the holding of the Sixth Conference of Ministers and Heads of Planning of Latin America and the Caribbean (Havana, Cuba, 23-26 March 1987) deserves special mention. Within the same context, the measures undertaken as regards technical co-operation among developing countries (TCDC) were strengthened through joint activities with ECLAC, SELA, UNDP and the Intergovernmental Committee for Migrations (CIM). At the above-mentioned Sixth Conference, which was attended by most of the ECLAC member States, by representatives from European and Asian countries, and by numerous observers from the chief international and regional co-operation organizations, the main topic of discussion was the relationship of reactivation and integration with planning.

The governments supported the concentration of ILPES activities in its basic areas --Planning and co-ordination of economic policies; Public sector planning; Social programmes and policies, and Planning and regional policies--and these formed the backbone of its 1986/1987 programme.

Special reference should be made to the International Seminar on New Directions for Planning in Market Economies (Santiago, Chile, 25-27 August 1986). This meeting was attended by distinguished specialists from seven developed countries, ministers and other government authorities, academics, and private sector representatives, as well as UNDP officials. Four topics were discussed: evaluation of the available theoretical framework on planning and the development process; an assessment of planning techniques and methods; governability and the participation of the main social agents involved in the planning process; and finally an analysis of the impact of the foregoing three items on the formulation of short-term policies. The results of the seminar formed an important basis for preparing the project approved by UNDP on the elaboration and dissemination of new techniques for planning and programming public policies, which was initiated on 1 January 1987 and will last for four years.

With regard to the decentralization of IIPES activities, the entry into operation of the ECIAC/IIPES Unit for the Caribbean, set up at the end of 1985, is worthy of note. Furthermore, a number of steps were taken with a view to setting up the proposed IIPES Unit for Central America, which will be based in San José, Costa Rica.

SUBPROGRAMME 10.1: ANALYSIS OF ECONOMIC TRENDS

i) <u>Documents</u>

Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean, 1984, vol. I (LC/G.1398) and vol. II (LC/G.1398/Add.1). United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.86.II.G.2.

Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean, 1985: advanced summary (LC/G.1413(SES.21/8)).

Economic Panorama of Latin America, 1986 (LC/G.1435).

Tres ensayos sobre inflación y políticas de estabilización, "Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL", series No. 64 (IC/G.1453). United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.18.

Preliminary overview of the Latin American economy, 1986 (IC/G.1454).

Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean, 1985 (LC/G.1466).

Preliminary overview of the Latin American economy, 1987 (IC/G.1485).

Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean, 1984. The evolution of the Latin American economy in 1984, preliminary version, in fascicle form (LC/L.330), Santiago, Chile, 1985.

The Problem of the External Debt: Gestation, Development, Crisis and Prospects (IC/L.371(CEG.11/4)).

Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean, 1985. The evolution of the Latin American economy in 1985, preliminary version, in fascicle form (LC/L.390).

Recent Economic Developments in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/L.422).

Cuba: La evolución económica en el decenio 1974-1984. Un avance de investigación (IC/MEX/R.34).

Books published under publishing agreements

<u>Uruquay: Informe económico, 1985</u> (published and distributed exclusively by ARCA Editorial, Montevideo).

<u>Uruguay: Informe económico, 1986</u> (published and distributed exclusively by ARCA Editorial, Montevideo).

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Participation in meetings and conferences

Seminar on Latin America in the World Economy, organized by INTAL (Buenos Aires, 13-17 October 1987).

International Round Table on the Accounting of the State as Economic Agent, organized by the OAS (Santiago, Chile, 7-9 October 1987).

Third Congress of the Association of Economists of Latin America and the Caribbean, organized by the World Economic Research Centre (CIEM) and the National Association of Economists of Cuba (Havana, 23-26 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Paraquay

Centro Paraguayo de Estudios Sociológicos, in connection with the design of studies of short-term economic conditions.

Dominican Republic

Government of the Dominican Republic, on adjustment policies.

SUBPROGRAMME 10.2: STUDIES OF DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES AND ECONOMIC POLICIES

i) <u>Documents</u>

The Economic Crisis: Policies for Adjustment, Stabilization and Growth, "Cuadernos de la CEPAL" series, No. 54 (LC/G.1408/Rev.2). United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.86.II.G.12.

Articles in CEPAL Review

"The origin and magnitude of the recessionary adjustment in Latin America", CEPAL Review, No. 30 (LC/G.1441), December 1986, pp. 67-86.

"Social security and development in Latin America", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 28 (LC/G.1392), April 1986.

"Planning and the market during the next ten years in Latin America", CEPAL Review, No. 31 (LC/G.1452), April 1987.

"Private internal debt in Colombia, 1970-1985", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 32 (LC/G.1473), August 1987.

"Internal debt and financial adjustment in Peru", ibid.

"Economic restructuring in Latin America in the face of the foreign debt and the external transfer problem", <u>ibid</u>.

"External debt in Central America", ibid.

"Review of the theoretical approaches to external adjustment and their relevance for Latin America", <u>ibid</u>.

Books published under publishing agreements

Debt, Adjustment and Renegotiation in Iatin America, Orthodox and Alternative Approaches, Lynne Rienner Publisher Inc., Boulder, Colorado, 1986.

- R. Ffrench-Davis and R. Feinberg (editors): "Las políticas económicas nacionales frente a la crisis de la deuda externa", in <u>Más allá de la crisis de la deuda: bases para un nuevo enfoque</u>, Santiago, Chile, CIEPLAN-Diálogo Interamericano, 1986.
- R. Cortázar (editor), "Políticas de estabilización", in <u>Políticas</u> <u>macroeconómicas: una perspectiva latinoamericana</u>, Santiago, Chile, CIEPLAN, 1986.

Mario Carrillo Chanes and Ennio Rodríguez (compilers), "Perturbaciones, imperfecciones del mercado internacional de capital y el proceso de ajuste en países pequeños latinoamericanos", <u>Deuda externa: el caso de los países pequeños latinoamericanos</u>, pp. 97-150. San José, Editorial Universitaria, in collaboration with the Central American Bank for Economic Integration, 1987.

Articles published in other periodicals

"Aspectos del desenvolvimiento de la economía paraguaya en 1985" in <u>Economía paraguaya</u>, 1985 edition, Foro de Economía, pp. 15-50, Asunción, Centro Paraguayo de Estudios Sociológicos, 1986.

"El doloroso ajuste", in <u>Cuadernos de Nueva</u> (Quito), No. 8, December 1986, pp. 25-28.

"Perturbaciones, déficit, crisis y políticas de ajuste: un enfoque normativo", in <u>El trimestre económico</u>, No. 53, October-December 1986, pp. 725-792.

<u>Crisis, Adjustment and Debt in Latin America 1981-1985</u>, The Wilson Center Working Papers, No. 172, Washington, D.C., September 1986.

"América Iatina: crisis económica y ajuste externo", in <u>Revista de</u> <u>Estudios Públicos</u>, Santiago, Chile, No. 24, fourth quarter of 1986.

"Ia disciplina financiera vs. el desarrollo económico", in <u>Cono Sur</u>, Santiago, Chile, FIACSO, vol. 5, No. 2, May-June 1986, pp. 7-11. A revised version exists in English entitled "Negotiating with TNBs and Iatin American Debt", <u>CTC Reporter</u>, No. 22, fourth quarter of 1986, pp. 43-46.

<u>Ia estructura y el comportamiento de la banca privada en los años setenta y su impacto en la crisis de América Iatina</u>, Colección Estudios de CIEPIAN, No. 19, June 1986, pp. 5-55. See also, working document No. 90 of the Kellogg

Institute of the University of Notre Dame, January 1987. A shortened version has been accepted for publication in the <u>Cambridge Journal of Economics</u>.

Observations on the paper by Richard Webb entitled "National Crisis and External Debt in Peru", presented at the conference sponsored by Inter-American Dialogue and published in the book by Ricardo Ffrench-Davis and Richard Feinberg, <u>Más allá de la crisis de la deuda</u>, Santiago, Chile, CIEPIAN, 1986, pp. 227-230. Grupo Editor Latinoamericano, of Buenos Aires, also published the book in 1987, and it will soon appear as a publication of the Notre Dame University Press, Indiana.

"El sesgo recesivo de las políticas de ajuste del Fondo Monetario Internacional", <u>El trimestre económico</u>, No. 54, Mexico City, January-March 1987, pp. 43-74.

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Informal High-Level Meeting on Debt, Adjustment and Growth in Latin America (New York, 13 January 1986).

International Seminar on Stabilization Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean, jointly sponsored by ECLAC, the Development Policy Forum of the German Foundation for International Development (DSE) and the Central Bank of Uruguay (Montevideo, 28-31 October 1986).

Seminar on Peace, Disarmament and Development, jointly organized by ECLAC and CINDE under the auspices of the Programme of Joint Studies on the International Relations of Latin America (RIAL) and the Friedrich Ebert Foundation (Santiago, Chile, 13-14 November 1986).

Fourth Course/Workshop on current problems and policies in Latin America: alternative development strategies, jointly organized by ILPES and the Inter-American Centre for Integrated Social Development (CIDES) (Mexico City, 8-September-28 November 1986).

Annual meeting of economists of Chile, 1986, jointly sponsored by ECIAC and the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile (Santiago, Chile, 14-16 January 1987).

Twenty-eighth International Course on Development, Planning and Public Policies of the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) (Santiago, Chile, 2-8 August 1987).

Course on stabilization policies in the Central Bank of Ecuador, organized by the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) (Quito, 23-30 October 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Seminar on adjustment policies and the most vulnerable groups in Latin America, organized by the National Planning Department of Colombia and UNICEF (Bogotá, 20-21 February 1986).

Colloquium "The Crisis in Latin America" organized by the Institute of International Development and Co-operation of the University of Ottawa (Ottawa, 10-11 April 1986).

Sixteenth regular session of the General Assembly of the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE) (Mexico City, 6-9 May 1986).

Meeting of the Economic Forum of the Paraguayan Centre for Sociological Studies (CPES) (Asunción, 9 May 1986).

"Old Questions, New Crises: Latin America in 1986", Eighth Annual Conference of Specialist Publishers and Journalists, sponsored by The Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars (Washington, D.C., 12-13 May 1986).

Technical seminar on the external debt and the economic prospects of Central America (Guatemala, 17-19 June 1986).

Seminar on economic adjustment versus development: the case of Iberoamerica, organized by the Iberoamerican Co-operation Institute and the Menéndez Pelayo International University (Santander, Spain, 1-3 July 1986).

Seminar on economic recovery strategies for the Dominican Republic, organized by the National Planning Office and UNDP (Santo Domingo, 5 July 1986).

Sixth Latin American Meeting of the Econometrics Society (Córdoba, Argentina, 25 July 1986).

Seminar on the economic crisis and development prospects in Latin America, sponsored by the Office of the Vice-President of Ecuador, ILDIS, FLACSO, and the National Development Council (CONADE) (Quito, 28-31 July 1986).

Conference on the economic and financial situation of Latin America, organized by the Unión Interamericana para la Vivienda and the Escola Nacional de Habitação (Rio de Janeiro, August 1986).

Twelfth Latin American Seminar on Mother and Child Health, organized by the School of Public Health of the University of Chile, the Ministry of Health of Chile, UNICEF, WHO and PAHO (Santiago, Chile, 29 September-29 November 1986).

Central American Sociology Congress, sponsored by the Central American Association of Social Scientists (Tegucigalpa, October 1986).

Conference on stabilization policies in Latin America, organized by the Economics Department, Universidad del Norte (Antofagasta, Chile, 26 November 1986).

Conference on capital flight and the external debt, sponsored by the Institute for International Economics (Washington, D.C., October 1986).

Conference on the debt crisis and the prospects for Latin America, at the Annual Meeting of Executives of the Phillips Corporation of Latin America held in São Paulo (São Paulo, Brazil, November 1986).

Conference of the Educational Research and Development Centre (CIDE) on the current state of the modernization process, its effects on employment and implications for education (Santiago, Chile, November 1986).

First Meeting on Chilean/Canadian Co-operation for Development, organized by the Embassy of Canada (Santiago, Chile, 12-14 November 1986).

Sixteenth General Assembly of the Organization of American States (QAS) (Guatemala, November 1986).

Meeting on International Restrictions on the Processes of Economic Restructuring in Latin American (Mexico City, 8-9 December 1986).

International Economics Workshop, organized by the Corporación de Investigaciones Económicas para Latinoamérica (CIEPLAN) (Santiago, Chile, 18 December 1986).

Conference on Latin America in the World Economy, organized by the Latin American Economic System (SELA) (Mexico City, January 1987).

Symposium on Growth-Oriented Adjustment Programmes, organized by the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (Washington, D.C., 25-27 February 1987).

Seminar on agricultural trade and pricing policies in Latin America, organized by the Inter-American Institute for Agricultural Sciences (IICA) and the Economic Development Institute of the World Bank (Cartagena, Colombia, 27-30 March 1987).

Conference on restructuring in Latin America, sponsored by the University of Pittsburgh (Pittsburgh, USA, March 1987).

Seminar on the rationalization of economic policy in Paraguay (Asunción, 29 April 1987).

Seminar on exchange policy and stabilization (Ia Paz, April 1987).

Annual meeting of the Association of Ex-students of the Programme of Higher Studies in Business Administration of the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile (Santiago, Chile, 13 May 1987).

Seminar on the impact of macroeconomic and trade policies on agriculture, organized by the International Food Policy Research Institute (Annapolis, USA, 27-29 May 1987).

Long-Term Development Objectives, meeting organized by the Inter-Agency Technical Working Group of the ACC Task Force (New York, 8-10 June 1987).

Conference on experiences in the stabilization of hyperinflation in Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil and Israel, sponsored by the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), the Torcuarto di Tella Foundation and the Central Bank of Israel (Toledo, Spain, June 1987).

Seminar on the impact of research on the formulation of economic policies in Latin America, organized by the Fundação Instituto de Pesquisas Económicas (FIPE) and the Joint Programme on Latin American Economic Integration (ECIEL) (São Paulo, Brazil, 7-8 August 1987).

Workshop on stabilization and adjustment policies organized by the Department of Economics of El Colegio de México and the Overseas Development Council (USA) (Mexico City, 30 September-4 October 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Belize

Assistance was provided to the Office of the President of the Central Bank, the Ministry of Finance, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Economic Development as well as to the Economic Council, in connection with the formulation of a macroeconomic adjustment programme.

Bolivia

Ministry of Planning and the Central Bank, in connection with exchange policies and inflation.

Government of Bolivia (UDAPE), in connection with a programme of economic recovery.

<u>Brazil</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in connection with the external debt.

Guatemala

Assistance was provided in connection with the formulation of government policy for short-term economic restructuring, and direct advisory assistance was given to the ministers of finance, economy and planning, as well as to the President of the Central Bank on short- and medium-term macroeconomic policies.

Honduras

In connection with the analysis of short- and medium-term government policy options.

Paraguay

Paraguayan Sociology Centre, in connection with designing a scheme for the preparation of studies on the economic situation.

Dominican Republic

Planning Secretariat, as part of the programme of advisory assistance provided by ILPES.

SUBPROGRAMME 10.3: ECONOMIC PROJECTIONS FOR EVALUATING THE MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM DEVELOPMENT PROSPECTS OF LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

i) Documents

The Problem of the External Debt: Gestation, Development, Crisis and Prospects (LC/G.1406(SES.21/10)).

Economic development: an appraisal, and projections 1985-1995 (IC/G.1407(SES.21/9)).

Report of the eleventh session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN) (IC/G.1411(CEG.11/6)).

Modelo de empleo y productividad del Centro de Proyecciones Económicas (IC/R.525).

Modelo macroeconómico y del sector externo del Centro de Proyecciones Económicas (IC/R.526).

Sistema para simulación y proyecciones del comercio internacional de los países de América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.544).

América Latina y el Caribe: escenarios del crecimiento económico 1986-1995 (LC/R.558).

ii) <u>Seminars</u>, <u>meetings</u> and <u>conferences</u>

Organized by the ECLAC system

Seminar on macroeconomic models applied in Latin America and the Caribbean, organized by ILPES and sponsored by ECLAC (Santiago, Chile, 27-29 October 1986).

Technical seminar on methods of incorporating demographic inputs into planning, organized by CETADE (Santiago, Chile, 2-5 March 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Twelfth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN). (The Economic Projections Centre served as technical secretariat.) (Buenos Aires, 1-4 December, 1986.)

Twenty-third session of the Committee for Development Planning, United Nations (New York, April 1987).

Seminar on improving and expanding the programme of household surveys (National Statistical Institute of Chile/ILO/ECIAC) (Santiago, Chile, 2-15 June 1987).

Seminar on the design and use of econometric models in the analysis of the economic situation and in planning in Latin America, organized by the Board of the Cartagena Agreement (JUNAC) (Lima, July 1987).

Seminar on macroeconomic models, organized by JUNAC (Lima, 19-27 July 1987).

Thirteenth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN). (The Economics Projections Centre served as technical secretariat.) (New York, 10-11 August 1987.)

iii) Technical assistance

At the request of UNICEF, collaboration was provided in the evaluation of urban development projects in various countries of the region. For this purpose, an official from the Economic Projections Centre undertook missions to Lima (June and October 1986), and to Buenos Aires (September and December 1986).

Costa Rica

Ministry of Planning in connection with the design of macroeconomic models for preparing short-term projections.

Peru

Ministry of Planning of Peru, in connection with the design of macroeconomic models.

SUBPROGRAMME 10.4: INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTATION FOR ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

i) Documents

Resúmenes de documentos sobre cooperación entre países en desarrollo (IC/G.1446), Serie INFOPIAN: Temas especiales de desarrollo, No. 2, Santiago, Chile, December 1986. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.17.

Resúmenes de documentos sobre recursos hídricos (IC/G.1456), Serie INFOPIAN: Temas especiales de desarrollo, No. 3, Santiago, Chile, January 1987. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.87.II.G.3.

Resúmenes de documentos sobre planificación y medio ambiente (IC/G.1462), Serie INFOPIAN: Temas especiales de desarrollo, No. 4, Santiago, Chile, June 1987. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.87.II.G.7.

Resúmenes de documentos sobre la deuda externa (IC/L.377), Serie INFOPIAN: Temas especiales de desarrollo, No. 1, Santiago, Chile, March 1986. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.13.

PLANINDEX, 71-001/71-357, vol. 7, No. 1 (IC/L.384).

Basic Principles for a Regional Programme to Strengthen Co-operation among National Information Networks and Systems for Development in Latin America and the Caribbean (INFOLAC) (LC/L.389).

INFOLAC, Informe final de la Reunión sobre los Lineamientos y Puesta en Marcha de un Programa Regional para el Fortalecimiento de la Cooperación entre Redes y Sistemas Nacionales de Información para el Desarrollo en América Latina y el Caribe (LC/L.406).

PLANINDEX, 72-001/72-354, vol. 7, No. 2 (LC/L.408).

Antecedentes sobre el programa Micro-ISIS para el manejo computacional de sistemas de información documental o afines (IC/R.488).

Categorías DEVSIS: esquema clasificatorio y conceptual (IC/R.563).

Informativo Terminológico, Nos. 13 to 18.

Informativo INFOPLAN, Nos. 7 to 12.

iii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Course/seminar organized by INFOPIAN (Buenos Aires, 25 September-12 October 1986).

Course/seminar on the administration of networks and formulation of projects (Buenos Aires, 25 September-13 October 1986).

Course/seminar organized by INFOPLAN (Lima, 15-26 October 1986).

Meeting on the basic principles and implementation of a regional programme to strengthen co-operation among national information networks and systems for development in Iatin America and the Caribbean (Santiago, Chile, 3-7 November 1986).

Seminar/workshop on the formulation of information projects (Caracas, 7-18 July 1986).

Seminar/workshop on bibliographic data bases (Guayaquil, Ecuador, 12-23 May 1986).

Seminar/workshop on the formulation of information projects (Lima, 14-24 April 1986).

Seminar/workshop on PLANINDOC (Brasilia, 17-28 November 1986).

INFOPLAN basic course/seminar sponsored by the Programming and Budget Secretariat of Mexico and attended by 35 professionals (Mexico City, 30 March-10 April 1987).

Seminar/workshop on the formulation of information projects, with the collaboration of the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE) (Santo Domingo, 15-26 June 1987).

Seminar/workshop on the formulation of information projects, sponsored by the General Information Programme (GIP) of UNESCO and the Universidad Simón Bolívar (Caracas, 19-30 July 1987).

INFOPIAN subregional seminar on the administration of information networks and units (Quito, 13-18 July 1987).

INFOPIAN Provincial Seminar, in conjunction with the Federal Investment Council (Buenos Aires, July-August 1987).

Regional Technical Meeting of Experts on the CDS/ICIS Programme for Mini/microcomputers, organized jointly with UNESCO-GIP (Santiago, Chile, 7-11 September 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Regional Meeting of the International Federation for Documentation and Information (Santiago, Chile, 30 October-1 November 1986).

Third National Meeting on Information in Education (Santiago, Chile, 19-21 November 1986).

Four national meetings of INFOLAC on reference systems:

- Bogotá, September-October 1987.
- Panama, September-October 1987.
- Guatemala, September-October 1987.
- Tegucigalpa, September-October 1987.

iv) Technical assistance

Latin American Integration Association (ALADI)

Assistance in the formulation and implementation of a project for the development of the documentary information services of this organization.

Centro Latinoamericano de Administración para el Desarrollo (CLAD)

Assistance in the automatization of its information services.

UNEP Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (ORPALC/UNEP)

Assistance in the preparation of a proposal for organizing the information system on environmental legislation.

Latin American Mining Organization (OLAMI)

Assistance in the design of a model form for the inventory of companies.

Argentina

Collaboration with the Federal Investment Council (CFI) in establishing the Documentation Centre of the Council and in preparing a programme of work.

Assistance to the National Institute of Industrial Technology (INTI), in connection with the design of options for the management of information technology resources.

Brazil

Institute of Planning (IPIAN) of the Ministry of Planning, in connection with follow-up work on the PIANINDOC project, whose objective is to establish in Brazil a system of bibliographic information on economic and social planning.

Chile

Centre for Development Studies (CED), in connection with the establishment and organization of an information centre.

Environmental Research and Planning Centre of Chile (CIPMA) in connection with the preparation of a project document for the organization of a documentation centre.

National Commission for Scientific and Technological Research (CONICYT), in connection with the design of a national system of forestry information.

Assistance to ENTEL/Chile in the organization and holding of round table meetings for the Sistema de Información Hispánico en Telecomunicaciones.

Assistance to Fundación Chile and Pro-Chile in connection with the design of an information system on marketing prospects and technology requirements.

Assistance to the Fishery Development Institute in the preparation of a thesaurus on ocean sciences.

Assistance to the Documentation Centre of the Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs in the elaboration of projects and the preparation of a thesaurus of an urban planning.

Assistance to the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile in the preparation of a curriculum for a specialized course in the administration of courses on information.

Assistance to the Energy Research Project of the University of Chile in connection with the preparation of a project to organize a documentation centre.

Guatemala

Assistance to the National Statistical Institute in the first phase of the organization of an information and technical documentation centre.

Peru

Assistance to the Graduate School of Business Administration (ESAN) in the analysis of the ER-SEARCH Trade Programme.

Venezuela

Assistance was provided, jointly with the General Information Programme of UNESCO, in the preparation of a regional programme of co-operation in information for Latin America and the Caribbean.

Assistance to the National Council for Scientific and Technological Research in preparing a national information system.

Argentina, Uruquay, Paraquay, Brazil and the Dominican Republic

Advisory assistance and follow-up to the INFOLAC Programme (Regional Programme to Strengthen Co-operation among National Information Networks and Systems for Development in Latin America and the Caribbean).

v) Training

On-the-job training was provided in ECIAC/CLADES for officials from the following institutions: UNICEF, ALADI, Chilean Centre for Development Studies (CED), Chilean Institute of Nutrition and Food Technology (INTA), and for four staff members of the Universidad de la República Oriental del Uruguay (Santiago, Chile, 18-29 August 1986).

SUBPROGRAMME 10.5: ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL PLANNING SERVICES FOR THE COUNTRIES OF LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

The activities under this subprogramme are given in the report of activities which has been prepared separately by ILPES (IC/IP/G.44; IC/G.1509(SES.22/9)) and will be considered under item 6c) of the agenda.

PROGRAMME 11: ENERGY

In the field of energy, the activities of the Natural Resources and Energy Division were centered on the preparation of two studies related to the application of time series analysis to projections and planning in the area of energy.

SUBPROGRAMME 11.1: ENERGY ASSESSMENT FOR LATIN AMERICA

i) Documents

Istmo Centroamericano: Diagnóstico y perspectivas de la leña (IC/MEX/R.36).

Propuesta de un sistema regional de información energética (SIRIE) para el Istmo Centroamericano (IC/MEX/R.42).

Guatemala: fuentes de energía nuevas y renovables. Diagnóstico y perfiles de proyecto (IC/MEX/R.48).

Diagnóstico y perspectivas del abastecimiento de hidrocarburos en el Istmo Centroamericano (LC/MEX/L.57).

ii) Participation in seminars, meetings and conferences

Symposium on current energy problems (Mexico City, 18 June 1986).

Thirteenth Congress of the World Energy Conference (Paris, 5-11 October 1986).

Seventh National Seminar on the Rational Use of Energy (Mexico City, 1-5 December 1986).

Meeting of Ministers of Energy, organized by the Latin American Energy Organization (OLADE), (Havana, 2-6 November 1987).

iii) <u>Technical assistance</u>

Costa Rica

Department of Energy of the Ministry of Industry, Energy and Mines, in connection with the formulation of a national energy plan and the Department's national programmes on new and renewable sources of energy.

Ecuador

National Energy Institute, in connection with identifying the requirements for additional assistance in the area of short- and medium-term energy planning.

Guatemala

Ministry of Energy and Mines, in connection with the identification and appraisal of specific programmes to be undertaken in the energy sector.

Honduras

Ad hoc Interinstitutional Group on Energy Planning, comprising the Secretariat of the Council for Economic Planning (CONSUPLANE), the Department of Mines and Hydrocarbons of the Ministry of Natural Resources, the National Electric Power Company (ENEE) and the Honduran Forest Development Corporation (COHDEFOR), in connection with a diagnosis of the energy sector and with its national programmes of new and renewable sources of energy.

Panama

National Energy Commission (CONADE), in connection with the formulation of a national energy plan and the estimation of sectoral requirements.

SUBPROGRAMME 11.2: INTEGRATED DEVELOPMENT OF THE ELECTRICITY SECTOR IN CENTRAL AMERICA

i) <u>Documents</u>

Resumen de la situación actual y perspectivas de los sistemas de generación-transmisión eléctrica en América Central (LC/MEX/L.23).

Informe de la Décima Reunión del Grupo Regional sobre Interconexión Eléctrica (IC/MEX/L.25).

Solicitud de cooperación técnica intrarregional del Instituto Costarricense de Electricidad (ICE) sobre adiestramiento teórico-práctico en la obtención experimental de parámetros de subsistemas de control de voltaje y velocidad de centrales hidroeléctricas (IC/MEX/R.27).

Análisis de seguridad operativa del sistema eléctrico de El Salvador (preliminary version) (LC/MEX/R.28).

Análisis de seguridad operativa para los refuerzos a la transmisión del norte en la meseta central de Costa Rica (preliminary version) (IC/MEX/R.33).

Programa de actividades regionales en el subsector eléctrico del Istmo Centroamericano: operación de sistemas (LC/MEX/R.44).

ii) <u>Seminars</u>, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Tenth Meeting of the Regional Group on the Interconnection of Electricity Systems (Panama City, 30-31 January 1986).

iii) Technical assistance

Costa Rica

Ministry of Energy, Industry and Mines and the Costa Rican Electricity Institute (ICE), in connection with energy and electricity demand; and analysis of the future transmission network to the north of the central plateau.

El Salvador-Guatemala

River Lempa Executive Commission (CEL) and Energy Institute (INDE), in connection with the critical simulation of the interconnected operation of their electricity systems.

<u>Nicaraqua</u>

In connection with energy requirements and planning.

Nicaraguan Energy Institute (INE), in connection with the study of the operational safety of the Nicaragua-Honduras interconnected system.

Panama

Institute of Water Resources and Electrification and National Energy Commission, in connection with energy demand.

PROGRAMME 12: ENVIRONMENT

The activities of the Environment Programme, carried out by the Joint ECIAC/UNEP Development and Environment Unit, are aimed at giving a more concrete character to the proposals for incorporating the environmental dimension into development. The crisis situation which has characterized the economies of Latin America in recent years has put a new challenge in the path of this undertaking.

In these circumstances, the Programme's actions have aimed at providing advisory assistance on actually incorporating the environment as part of the objective of improving income and employment in the short term. Consequently, together with the UNEP Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (UNEP/ORPAIC), ECIAC assumed responsibility for co-ordinating the programme entitled "Planning and the environment". This has fundamentally been based on the ECIAC/UNEP project "Technical Co-operation in Latin America for the Integration of Environmental Considerations in Development Programmes, and Projects", which provides for pre-feasibility studies of environmental projects in seven countries of the region.

In addition, as part of another joint effort with UNEP/ORPAIC, a start has been made on the study on "Environmental Prospects for the Year 2000", which is intended to contribute towards identifying the future prospects for the region, should present trends continue.

In an effort to maintain concern with processes which are of significance as regards the interaction between development and the environment, the study into the extension of the agricultural frontier has been intensified. In this respect, progress has been made in the project "Environmental systems and strategies to expand the agricultural frontier in Latin America", funded by the Federal Republic of Germany. With regard to the process of industrialization, the Unit has obtained support from the Industry and Environment Office of UNEP, the Carl Duisberg Foundation, and the Municipal Council of Buenos Aires in order to hold a seminar/workshop to identify and tackle the problems affecting certain areas of our countries as a result of the impact of productive activities on the environment. In addition to encouraging co-operation measures between institutions and countries, this meeting made it possible to weigh up the situation and to determine priorities and viable alternatives for future activities.

In pursuit of activities devoted to regional development by ecosystems, efforts have focused on various meetings on the wet tropics. In addition, in respect of training, the course on environmental management for development has continued to be given.

One topic which has acquired growing importance is that of inventories and balances of the natural heritage, as it is considered that these could become a valuable tool for planning and environmental management. During the period under consideration, the programme began a research project on this subject.

SUBPROGRAMME 12.1: ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

i) Documents

The environment within the ECIAC system (IC/G.1437/Rev.1).

Report of the Regional Seminar on Environmental Systems and Strategies for Extending the Agricultural Frontier in Latin America (LC/L.407).

Sistemas ambientales y estrategias para ampliar la frontera agropecuaria en América Latina (LC/R.532).

Problemas y posibilidades de la gestión del medio ambiente en América Latina con especial referencia a la problemática de los desechos sólidos (LC/R.599(Sem.41/3)).

La dimensión ambiental en las estrategias de desarrollo: limitaciones y perspectivas (LC/R.600(Sem.41/4)).

Resultados del seminario sobre la aplicación de los estudios de impacto ambiental en la planeación de la disposición de los desechos sólidos urbanos e industriales generados en una ciudad (LC/R.601(Sem.41/5)).

Desarrollo industrial: generación y manejo de los residuos. Elementos para una discusión (LC/R.602(Sem.41/6)).

Books published under agreements with publishing houses

La dimensión ambiental en la planificación del desarrollo. ECIAC/IIPES/UNEP Grupo Editor Latinoamericano, Buenos Aires, volume I, 1986; volume II, 1987.

Articles in CEPAL Review

"Preparation of natural and cultural heritage inventories and accounts" CEPAL Review No. 28 (IC/G.1392).

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Regional Seminar on Environmental Systems and Strategies to Extend the Agricultural Frontier in Latin America (Santiago, Chile, 28-30 October 1986).

Seminar on Technologies for Human Settlements in the Wet Tropics, ECIAC/Institute for Economic and Social Planning (IPEA) (Manaus, Brazil, 27-29 April 1987).

Seminar-Workshop on Environmental and Economic Aspects of Industrial Waste Management, organized by the Joint ECLAC/UNEP Unit together with ILPES, the Carl Duisberg Foundation and the Municipal Council of Buenos Aires (Buenos Aires, 8-12 September 1987).

Seminar on the Ocean Bed, its Mineral Resources, their Exploration and Exploitation, and the Environmental Implications, organized in conjunction with UNEP and the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS) (Cartagena, Colombia, 28-30 September 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Meeting of High-Level Government-designated Experts on Regional Co-operation in Environmental Matters in Latin America and the Caribbean (Montevideo, 6-8 April 1987).

Consultatory Meeting with Public Agencies Responsible for the Protection of the Environment and the Conservation of Natural Resources, organized by the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) (Washington, D.C., 13-15 May 1987).

Seminar on population, resources and environment, organized by the Latin American Population Programme (Quito, June-July 1987).

Seminar on ecology and natural resources, organized by the Ibero-American Co-operation Institute (ICI) (Seville, 3-18 October 1987).

Seminar on Environmental Planning of the Faculty of Architecture (Quito, 5-10 October 1987).

Seminar on new technology and the future of the ecology of Latin America, organized by the Fundación Bariloche (Buenos Aires, 8-13 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Argentina

Department of Environmental Policy, to consolidate the role of the new Department in respect of the definition of environmental policies as well as the management of protected areas and the institutional organization of the agricultural sector with regard to the environmental dimension.

Colombia

Institute for the Development of Renewable Natural Resources and the Environment (INDERENA), to help consolidate the Institution's action quidelines.

Chile

Government authorities, in preparing a regional development project for the area of influence of the Colbún-Machicura hydroelectric complex.

Ecuador

Department of the Environment, Ministry of Natural and Energy Resources, in preparing and carrying out the subproject on the incorporation of the environmental dimension into development policies, programmes and projects.

<u>Peru</u>

National Planning Institute, in preparing the subproject on technological alternatives for the Sierra, especially in respect of the recovery and utilization of cultivation terraces.

Uruquay

Government of Uruguay, in examining a possible reorganization of the public institutional apparatus with respect to the environment.

iv) Training and fellowships

Course on "Environmental Management in Development Planning", organized jointly by ECLAC, ILPES and the Carl Duisberg Foundation (Santiago, Chile, 9 June-18 July 1986).

Third Course on Planning and Environment in the Andean Region, ILPES/ECIAC/UNEP/CAF (Cuzco, 17 November-5 December 1986).

Course on development and environment, organized by ILPES, UNEP and the Universidad Nacional de Tucumán (Tucumán, Argentina, 1-5 August 1987).

PROGRAMME 13: FOOD AND AGRICULTURE

This programme, which has been implemented with support from the ECIAC/FAO Joint Agriculture Division, covers four complementary lines of activity: i) the crisis, the adjustment process and specific policies for agriculture; ii) agricultural policies and rural development; iii) food policy within the context of economic policy, and iv) support for agricultural planning.

These lines of activity have included the execution of various national case studies together with others of regional scope, whose contents reflect a conceptual and empirical effort, backed up by a significant and numerous group of high-level and highly-skilled experienced technicians from a sufficiently representative number of countries in the region.

The topic of the crisis, the adjustment process and agricultural development was tackled with technical and financial collaboration from FAO. The task undertaken involved the preparation of eight national case studies and a document providing a synthesis of regional coverage, and culminated with the organization and holding of the ECIAC/FAO Round Table on the Crisis, Adjustment Policies and Agriculture in Latin America, held in Santiago, Chile, in May 1987. This was attended by 30 technicians, including the authors of the country studies, specialists from ECIAC and FAO, and professionals assigned by both institutions to the ECIAC/FAO Joint Agriculture Division. The report of the meeting received wide circulation on account of the significance and topical nature of the matters discussed and analysed.

Activities relating to agricultural policies and rural development received decided support from the Government of the Netherlands through agreements with ECIAC. The purpose of the activities was on the one hand to analyse the organization, operation and economic and social achievements of the new agricultural structures which have emerged as a result of the process of agricultural reform, and on the other to examine the process of agricultural modernization based on the most dynamic producers: the new class of agricultural entrepreneurs. In both cases, attention was focused on the design and application of policies to guide the economic behaviour of these producers. Case studies in which special attention was given to identifying and examining the policies and programmes adopted were carried out in twelve countries for the purpose of obtaining background material and basic information for analysis, discussion and the formulation of proposed policy options in these areas.

The subject of food was tackled through an integral analysis of the system of economic, social and technico-operational relations which develop within the processes of primary production, storage, agro-industrial processing, distribution and marketing of food. The analysis, which was based on the country studies and on the subregional meetings held previously in Mexico, Lima and Port of Spain, permitted the formulation of proposals on economic policy options for the food and agriculture sector. The report, which is of regional coverage, sets out the methodological and analytical progress as well as that made in respect of proposals.

With regard to agricultural planning, methodological criteria were updated and improved, and use was made of computer programmes as part of the mechanism of each stage of the sectoral planning process. The aim is to revitalize planning in this area and to render it more efficient with regard to the short- and long-term impact of the crisis and of the adjustment process on agriculture. In the same connection, participation in TLPES and FAO training programmes was continued, including teaching on a number of courses.

SUBPROGRAMME 13.1: FOOD, AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT POLICIES, PLANS AND PROGRAMMES, AND LONG-TERM PROSPECTS

i) <u>Documents</u>

El cultivo del algodón y la soya en el Paraguay y sus derivaciones sociales (IC/G.1414). "Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL" series, No. 58, United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.8.

Expansión del cultivo de la caña del azúcar y de la ganadería en el nordeste de Brazil. Políticas públicas y sus derivaciones económicas y sociales (IC/G.1425), "Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL" series, No. 59, United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.10.

La agricultura en la óptica de la CEPAL (IC/L.385).

Crecimiento productivo y la heterogeneidad agraria (IC/L.396).

Seguridad alimentaria, campesinado y agroindustria (IC/L.402).

Indicadores de disponibilidad y acceso alimentario de los grupos pobres para la vigilancia nutricional (IC/L.403).

Peasant agriculture in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/L.405).

Informe de la Mesa Redonda CEPAL/FAO sobre Crisis, Políticas de Ajuste y Agricultura en América Latina (LC/L.427).

Lineamientos metodológicos de una estrategia de seguridad alimentaria (LC/MEX.L.49).

Lineamientos de política para la recuperación y el crecimiento del sector agropecuario (IC/MEX/L.50).

Informe de la Reunión sobre Desarrollo del Sector Agropecuario en Centroamérica (IC/MEX/R.26).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

ECIAC/FAO Round Table on the Crisis, Adjustment Policies and Agriculture in Latin America (Santiago, Chile, 26-29 May 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

National Congress on Agricultural Marketing, organized by the Regional Supply Committee of the Department of the Federal District (Mexico City, 10-12 November 1986).

Second Meeting of Importers and Exporters of Staple Foods in Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, 17-29 November 1986).

Second Extraordinary Meeting of the Inter-American Agricultural Council (Mexico City, 27-30 November 1986).

International Seminar on Public Enterprises and Systems for Distributing Staple Products, organized by the Compañía Nacional de Subsistemas Populares, S.A. (CONASUPO) (Mexico City, 29 and 30 November 1986).

Sixth Conference of Ministers and Heads of Planning of Latin America and the Caribbean (Havana, 23-26 March 1987).

Workshop on sectoral planning and applicable computerized systems, organized by FAO (Santo Domingo, 1-16 May 1987).

Round Table on Agricultural Planning in the Face of the Economic Crisis: Methodological Bases, organized by FAO (Managua, 2-5 June 1987).

Meeting of Managers of National Food Programmes, organized by SELA (Lima, 11-14 August 1987).

Fourth Ordinary Meeting of the Inter-American Institute for Agricultural Co-operation (IICA) and Ninth Inter-American Conference of Ministers of Agriculture, organized by IICA (Ottawa, 30 August-5 September 1987).

Expert Meeting on the Obstacles to and Potential for Agricultural, Rural and Food Development in Latin America and the Caribbean, organized by FAO (Santiago, Chile, 7-9 October 1987).

Fourteenth Session of the FAO Conference (Rome, 7-26 November 1987).

Round Table on Trade Policies and Food Security, organized by FAO (Santiago, Chile, 17-20 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

STECA (Permanent Secretariat of the General Treaty for Central American Economic Integration)

Collaboration in the preparation of the Meeting of Ministers of the Central American Agricultural Sector.

Argentina

Assistance in respect of planning methodologies and regional development, in conjunction with ILPES.

Colombia

Río Negro Autonomous Regional Corporation, on rural development programmes.

Guatemala

Government of Guatemala, collaboration in the preparation of a programme of technical assistance.

Honduras

Ministry of Natural Resources of Honduras, on food policy.

Nicaraqua

Design and organization of computer systems for agricultural planning.

Panama

Assessment of recent progress in the field of agrarian reform and rural development.

Dominican Republic

Support in training the technical team for the formulation of the Medium-term Agricultural Development Plan.

iv) Training

Cycle on the Planning of Urban Food Supplies, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés, La Paz (6-23 January 1986) (25 participants).

Seminar on a Computer Programme for the Analysis of Agricultural Projects (Santiago, Chile, 14-18 April 1986) (12 participants).

Seminar on a Computer System for Agricultural Planning (Santiago, Chile, 28 April-5 May 1986) (13 participants).

Eighth Course on Micro-regional Development (Tarapoto, Peru, 7-15 June 1986) (35 participants).

Sixth International Course on Integrated Rural Planning and Development (Salvador de Bahia, Brazil, 9 June-24 October 1986) (30 participants).

Cycle on the Analysis of Agricultural Projects (La Paz, 23 June-4 July 1986) (35 professional participants from the Postgraduate Programme of the Universidad Mayor de San Andrés).

Fourth International Course on Regional Development Planning and Projects (Tucumán, 30 June-26 September 1986) (30 professional-level participants).

Fourth International Course on regional Agricultural Planning (Balcarce, Argentina, 11 August-12 December 1986) (48 participants).

Fourth International Course on Rural Development and Urban Food Supply (Curitiba, Brazil, 1 September-19 December 1986) (30 participants).

PROGRAMME 14: HUMAN SETTLEMENTS

This programme, which was carried out with support from the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (HABITAT) through the Joint ECIAC/UNCHS Human Settlements Unit, has undertaken research, training, technical assistance and information dissemination activities in the work areas contained in the programme for the 1986-1987 biennium.

In the activities, emphasis has been placed on formulating a conceptual framework for studying the region's metropolitan areas and proposing planning and administration mechanisms which harmonize the functioning of the metropolitan centres with the rest of the country and with the national development strategies.

In recognition of the potential capacity of local governments to identify and carry cut measures to meet community needs, work has been done on the preparation of instruments to strengthen the capacity of those governments to identify and administer projects.

In the area of technology, the activities carried out dealt with the study and review of the housing norms and typologies used in providing basic infrastructure and housing services, with a view to formulating a methodological proposal for choosing the right technology to solve the problem of the lack of housing and services under the different conditions which obtain in the region.

The study of the processes which lead to and characterize makeshift settlements has revealed the very important role of community and non-governmental organizations in executing activities in these settlements. Within this framework, a number of meetings have been held with a view to co-ordinating the work of the popular economic organizations for increasing income and improving living standards in these settlements. The first steps have also been taken to prepare a strategy to co-ordinate the work of non-governmental organizations with the efforts of other participants in the housing process.

In addition to these activities, a series of technical assistance missions to countries of the region have been carried out and co-ordination and information dissemination activities have been undertaken as part of the observance of the International Year of Shelter for the Homeless.

SUBPROGRAMME: 14.1: RESEARCH ON PLANNING METHODOLOGY AND APPROPRIATE BUILDING TECHNOLOGIES

i) <u>Documents</u>

Metropolitanization and crisis in Latin America: problems and prospects (LC/L.383 and Corr.1).

The urban crisis: conceptual elements of an environmental approach (LC/L.387).

Determinants and consequences of makeshift settlements in urban areas as a framework for the formulation of policies relating to housing, infrastructure and services for low-income groups (LC/L.388).

Public land acquisition in Latin America (LC/L.391).

Metropolitanization in Latin America and the Caribbean: Quality of life and urban poverty (IC/L.409).

Low-cost housing: provision of infrastructure services (LC/L.410).

Informe del Taller sobre Economía de Solidaridad y Mercado Democrático (IC/L.411).

Local management of plans and projects: introduction to project preparation (IC/L.412).

Importance of the informal sector in future urban settlements: the dual metropolis (IC/L.424).

Espacio y tecnología en el trópico húmedo (LC/L.428).

Books published under publishing agreements

Rol de las ciudades intermedias en las estrategias alternativas de ocupación del territorio y de reorganización de los sistemas nacionales de asentamientos en América Latina y el Caribe (United Nations Fund for Population Activities (UNFPA), February 1986).

Ias necesidades habitacionales y los proyectos para superarlas (United Nations Centre for Human Settlements-International Year of Shelter for the Homeless, September 1987).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

The future outlook and technology for housing and human settlements. Organized by ECIAC and the College of Architects of Chile (Santiago, Chile, 13-15 September 1987).

Participation in meetings and conferences

Iatin American and Caribbean Conference on Housing and economic and social development (Bogotá, 27-31 January 1986).

Conference on Population and Small and Middle-Ranking Cities in Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, 24-26 February 1986).

Ninth Meeting of the United Nations Commission on Human Settlements (Istanbul, April 1986).

International Seminar on National Development Planning and Management: the Role of Local Governments (Montevideo, 15-17 October 1986).

First Community Conference on the Urban Future of Santiago, (Santiago, Chile, 25-28 November 1986).

International Seminar/Workshop on Urban Improvement (Quito, 12-16 January 1987).

Tenth Meeting of the United Nations Commission on Human Settlements (Nairobi, 6-16 April 1987).

Seminar on technologies for human settlements in the wet tropics, organized by ECIAC and the Institute of Economic and Social Planning (IPFA) (Manaus, Brazil, 27-29 April 1987).

Seminar on Technology for Housing and Land Development (Paris, 20-27 June 1987).

Seminar on "Life Saving Services in Urban Areas", organized by UNEP, WHO and the Department of Public Works of Rio de Janeiro (Rio de Janeiro, 10-14 August 1987).

Seminar on Strategies and Measures to Deal with Natural Disasters, organized by UNDP, the Office of the United Nations Disaster Relief Co-ordinator (UNDRO) and the Government of Brazil (Salvador, Bahia, 3-6 November 1987).

Third Assembly of the Union of Ibero-American Capitals (Buenos Aires, 11-13 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Brazil

Ministry of Urban Development, Housing and the Environment, under the ECLAC/Institute of Economic and Social Planning (IPEA)/CNUD Agreement, with regard to the execution of Urban Development Project II.

University of Rio de Janeiro, in discussion of the project on megacities in Brazil.

Colombia

National Planning Department, in developing guidelines for preparing projects at the local level.

Chile

Santiago Development Corporation, in drafting guidelines for preparing projects at the local level.

Peru

Metropolitan Lima City Council, in respect of urban development plans.

SUBPROGRAMME 14.2: TRAINING

i) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Participation in courses

Training course on urban planning. Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (Brazil, September 1986).

Training workshop on human settlements and local management (Quito, December 1986).

ii) Technical assistance

Brazil

Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, on technology and projects.

Colombia

National Planning Department, Regional and Urban Development Unit, in formulating local management training programmes.

Costa Rica

Institute of Municipal Development and Assistance, in formulating local management training programmes.

Chile

Catholic University of Valparaíso, in formulating urban development projects.

Ecuador

National Pre-investment Fund, in formulating local management training programmes.

Panama

Ministry of Planning and Economic Policy, Department of Municipal Development, in formulating local management training programmes.

Peru

National Institute of Municipal Development, in formulating local management training programmes.

Venezuela

Foundation for Community and Municipal Development, in formulating local management training programmes.

SUBPROGRAMME 14.3: URBAN POVERTY AND MAKESHIFT SEITLEMENTS

i) Documents

Algunas consideraciones sobre el acceso de los pobres a la tierra en las grandes ciudades de América Latina (LC/R.517).

Asentamientos humanos precarios en la zona metropolitana de Santiago: el caso Ia Pintara (IC/R.598).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Seminar on Critical Poverty and Housing Needs (Santiago, Chile, October 1986).

International Seminar on "the third sector and housing: an alternative way of developing the habitat of low-income sectors", organized by ECIAC and the German Foundation for International Development (DSE) (Santiago, Chile 24-26 March 1987).

Encounter: "The Family and Housing", organized by ECLAC in collaboration with the Archbishopric of Santiago (Santiago, Chile, 6-7 November 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Seminar on the Development of the Third Sector in Urban Areas: A Development Alternative in Latin America (Quito, July 1986).

Workshop on Popular Economic Activities and Local Development (Montevideo, December 1986).

Latin American and Caribbean Forum for the Homeless, organized by the Costa Rican College of Architects and the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (HABITAT) (San José, Costa Rica, 2-25 September 1987).

Sixth Biennial Architectural Conference of the College of Architects of Chile (Santiago, Chile, 22 September-15 October 1987).

Seminar on Rural Housing, organized by the Agrarian Research Group (GIA) (Santiago, Chile, 30 November-1 December 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Chile

"SUR Profesionales", a non-governmental organization, in evaluating grass-roots organizations and projects.

"SUR Profesionales", in evaluating popular organizations.

PROGRAMME 15: INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT

The activities carried out under this programme were designed to provide a deeper understanding and interpretation of the processes of industrialization in the countries of Iatin America and the Caribbean and to provide co-operation to the governments of the region both in analysing trends in the reorganization of world industry and the repercussions of this on national productive structures and in redirecting their industrial development and designing appropriate policies for facing the new challenges and the difficulties of financing investment.

The diagnosis and the strategic guidelines were touched upon in the preparation of the document entitled "Iatin American and Caribbean development: obstacles, requirements and options" (IC/G.1440(Conf.79/3)), which was presented by the Secretariat at the Special Conference of ECIAC in Mexico, and they were analysed in detail at the Special Expert Group Meeting on Strategies and Policies for Industrialization (Montevideo, 30 November-1 December 1987). This meeting formed part of the Regional Programme on Industrial Reorganization initiated in 1985 in conjunction with UNIDO, the central objective of which was to disseminate within the region analytical data on trends in industrial and technological reorganization in the industrialized countries, to assess the repercussions of these trends on the industrialization processes in Iatin American and the Caribbean, and to advise countries on the formulation of strategies and policies and the consequent readjustment of the process of industrial development.

Publication of the periodic Report on industrialization and technological development was continued as the most frequent means of communication and dissemination of analytical information on industrial reorganization and the industrialization process in Latin America and the Caribbean. The three issues published during the period 1986-1987 included analyses of scenarios for the world economy, in so far as they concern the region's industrial development prospects; analyses of the main features of national industrialization processes and of the present industrial crisis in the region; summary studies of the world and regional situation of various industrial sectors; analyses of different aspects of industrial reconversion in other regions, and finally, an analysis of the main features of technological development which are relevant to industrial development.

Advisory assistance continued to be provided to governments in redirecting their industrialization strategies and policies within the context of the crisis affecting them and the process of world industrial redeployment. During the biennium, activities of this type were carried out in particular for the governments of Argentina, Brazil, Honduras, Mexico and Peru. With regard to the training of national officials, a course on industrial and technological development problems and policies was given in Montevideo as part of ILPES' training activities.

During the biennium a start was made on the design of analytical systems to facilitate a better understanding of the region's industrialization

processes and to provide a more satisfactory basis for the design of industrial policies. Studies were prepared on the acquisition of comparative advantages and industrial dynamism, on instruments of industrial and technological policy, as well as on the role of small and medium-sized industry.

This period saw the culmination of the project "Situation of and prospects for the supply and production of capital goods in Latin America" (RLA/77/015), which will centre its activities on identifying, analysing and assessing opportunities for national or collective action to stimulate the development of the capital-goods producing industries. The analyses of the sectoral demand in Latin America and the Caribbean for machinery and equipment were supplemented with additional data, and a document was prepared summarizing the principal analyses and consultations carried out in the course of the project, together with its conclusions. The project continued to operate as the acting secretariat of the Latin American Association of Capital Goods Producers (ALABIC) and provided support for the Association's activities, including the organization of a series of meetings among entrepreneurs producing capital goods in the region, with a view to bringing into being mechanisms for industrial complementation, and participation in a number of regional meetings.

The exploration and analysis of regional co-operation mechanisms to further the operations of local capital-goods producing industries was reflected in participation in meetings organized by the Latin American Iron and Steel Institute (HIAFA), the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE), the Institute for Latin American Integration (INTAL), the Regional Electricity Integration Commission (CIER), the Latin American Railways Association (ALAF) and the LATINEQUIP consortium, made up of the Banco de la Provincia de Buenos Aires, the Banco del Estado de São Paulo and the Nacional Financiera of Mexico (NAFINSA). All these meetings were designed to analyse the possibilities offered by the supply of equipment to the public sector in promoting the development of local and regional capital-goods industries. For the same purpose, the first Latin American Co-ordination Meeting of Institutions linked to the Capital Goods Sector was organized in Caracas from 6-9 July 1987 in conjunction with SELA and UNIDO.

In addition, the third (Santiago, July 1986) and fourth (Santiago, November 1987) Expert Meetings on Capital Goods Industries in Latin America and the Caribbean were held in conjunction with UNIDO. These centered on the examination of national promotion policies, financing mechanisms, the repercussions of new technologies, and mechanisms for regional co-operation.

SUBPROGRAMME 15.1: INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES

i) <u>Documents</u>

Problemas de la industria latinoamericana en la fase crítica (IC/G.1436), "Estudios e informes de la CEPAL" series, No. 62. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.15.

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

First Latin American Co-ordination Meeting of Institutions Linked to the Capital Goods Sector, organized in conjunction with SELA and UNIDO (Caracas, 6-8 July 1987).

Special Expert Group Meeting on Industrialization Policies and Strategies, organized in conjunction with UNIDO (Montevideo, 30 November-1 December 1987).

Participation in meetings and conferences

Organization of American States (OAS)/Ministry of Labour seminar on technical progress and productivity (Mexico City, 27 July-4 August 1987).

International Seminar of the Centre for Planning and Social Studies (CEPIAES), on experience and prospects of industrial development policy (Quito, 26-28 October 1987).

Twenty-eighth General Assembly of Members of the Latin American Iron and Steel Institute (IIAFA) (Caracas, 2-5 November 1987).

General Conference of UNIDO, second session (Bangkok, 9-13 November 1987).

ii) Technical assistance

Argentina

Ministry of Industry, in respect of the design of industrial policy.

SUBPROGRAMME 15.2: REGIONAL GLOBAL AND SECTORAL CO-OPERATION

i) Documents

El comercio exterior de bienes de capital en América Latina, "Cuadernos Estadísticos de la CEPAL" series, No. 11 (LC/G.1371 and Corr.1); United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.3.

Industrialización y desarrollo tecnológico, Informe Nº 2 (LC/G.1404).

Industrialización y desarrollo tecnológico, Informe Nº 3 (LC/G.1442).

Industrialización y desarrollo tecnológico, Informe Nº 4 (LC/G.1475).

Evaluación de la demanda de maquinaria y equipo para la generación, transmisión y transformación eléctrica en América Latina (LC/L.335/Rev.1).

La demanda latinoamericana de equipos y materiales en el sector de distribución de energía eléctrica, 1986-1990 (LC/L.380).

Informe de la Tercera Reunión de Expertos sobre Industrias de Bienes de Capital en América Latina y el Caribe (Santiago, Chile, 7-9 July, 1986) (LC/L.393).

La situación de la fundición y forja en los países medianos y pequeños de América Latina (LC/L.394).

Bases para el desarrollo de la industria de bienes de capital en un marco de cooperación regional (IC/R.594).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Third Expert Meeting on Capital Goods Industries in Latin America and the Caribbean (Santiago, Chile, 7-8 July 1986).

First Latin American Co-ordination Meeting of Institutions Linked to the Capital Goods Sector, organized in conjunction with SELA and UNIDO (Caracas, 6-9 July 1987).

Fourth Expert Group Meeting on Capital Goods Industries in Latin America and the Caribbean (Santiago, Chile, 16-18 November 1987).

Expert Group on industrialization strategies and policies (Montevideo, 30 November-1 December 1987).

Participation in meetings and conferences

Seminar "Horizonte XXI" organized by the Ministry of Trade and Industrial Development and the Ministry of Energy, Mines and Para-State Industry (Mexico City, 19-26 June 1986).

Meeting on capital goods, sponsored by the LATINEQUIP Consortium and the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE) (Buenos Aires, 26-30 July 1987).

Meeting on the creation and consolidation of technological capacity in Latin American industry (Buenos Aires, 25-27 June 1986).

Executive Assembly of the Latin American Association of Capital Goods Industries (São Paulo, 10-13 August 1987).

Seventh Meeting of the Subcommittee of the Regional Electricity Integration Commission (CIER) (Viña del Mar, 4-9 October 1987).

Conference of the Latin American Council for the Social Sciences (CLACSO) (Buenos Aires, 14-16 October 1987).

Advisory Council for Scientific Research in Developing Problems (Amsterdam, 27-30 October 1987).

Meeting of the Executive Committee of the Latin American Association of Capital Goods Producers (ALABIC) (Santiago, Chile, 23 October 1987).

Iatin American Seminar on Small and Medium-sized Industry São Paulo, 15-30 November 1987).

Seminar on industrial policy (Buenos Aires, 25-30 November 1987).

Seminar on Bolivian industrial policy (Ia Paz, 8-10 December 1987).

iii) <u>Technical assistance</u>

Latin American Association of Capital Goods Producers (ALABIC)

Support in respect of co-operation among enterprises. Assistance in the preparation and holding of several meetings.

Bolivia

Assistance to officials of the Government and the industrial sector in respect of the purchase of capital goods for the electricity sector.

Brazil

Institute of Planning of the Ministry of Planning, in respect of the preparation of the statistical base and industrial aspects of the development styles model prepared by the ECIAC Brasilia Office.

Ministry of Planning, in respect of medium- and long-term industrial strategy.

Government authorities, in matters linked to the industrial sector (in conjunction with UNIDO).

Honduras

Economic Planning Council (CONSUPLANE), in relation to the design of an economic model.

Mexi∞

Ministry of Trade and Industrial Development (SECOFI), in respect of proposals for industrial policies to tackle the critical new situation facing Mexico.

Peru

Ministry of the Economy and Finance, in respect of the repercussions of the economic and political situation on the industrial sector during 1986.

Government authorities, in matters related to the industrial sector (in conjunction with UNIDO).

iv) Training

As part of the IIPES course, training was provided on industrial and technological development problems and policies (Montevideo, May 1986).

PROGRAMME 16: INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT FINANCING

The activities of this programme have continued to be focussed on the assessment of the impact of the world crisis on the external economic relations of Latin America and the execution of activities designed to promote concerted action on the part of the region in order to achieve tangible results from the measures taken, with a clear leaning towards more effective intra-regional integration.

With regard to protectionism, a study was completed on recent trends in this field and in managed trade in the developed countries and the discriminatory and harmful impact of these practices on the latin American economy, as well as on the potential and alternatives available to the region in respect of trade negotiations.

Within the same topic of protectionism and managed trade, the publication of a periodic report on recent trends in international trade relations was begun.

In the field of basic commodities, four studies were made on the performance of the markets for the basic products exported by Latin America and the possibilities of raising the value of commodity exports. These studies were presented as basic documents at the Regional Conference on Basic Commodities held in conjunction with the Latin American Economic System (SELA) in Guatemala from 14 to 17 January 1987.

In the same sphere, consultations were made regarding the examination of a new regional strategy for international negotiations on basic commodities; the marketing mechanisms for agricultural and mineral products and the possibilities, costs and benefits of processing iron one locally.

Activities were carried out in the following areas as part of ECIAC's export-promotion programme:

- a) <u>Financing</u>: An analysis was made of the various financial mechanisms in operation within the framework of the Latin American Integration Association (ALADI), and of the current situation of the member countries of the Association. This research led to a study designed to solve specific problems and to promote intra-regional trade in the medium and long term.
- b) Export promotion mechanisms: In relation to the process of regional economic integration, a study was made to identify the promotional mechanisms and instruments which either further or hamper integration, taking into account the international economic crisis affecting latin America and the need to provide governments with operational recommendations for bolstering the process of integration as a means of assuring development within the context of the crisis.
- c) <u>Small and medium-scale industry</u>: Progress has been made in the project entitled Analysis of the export potential and limitations of small and medium-scale industry in selected countries in Latin America in respect of EEC markets. The first stage of the project dealt with the situation in Ecuador,

Mexico and Uruguay. The second stage covers the cases of Chile, Paraguay and Peru.

Four studies were carried out in respect of services. The first concerned the internationalization of the services sector: options and risks for Latin America and the Caribbean; the second dealt with the services sector in Brazil and regional co-operation in Latin America; the third covered the services sector in Mexico and the possibilities of co-operation between that country and Argentina and Brazil, and the fourth related to regional co-operation in respect of services in Latin America and the Caribbean: facts and opportunities.

In the sphere of regional economic integration and co-operation, the principal activities centered on support and follow-up of the Regional Round of Negotiations of ALADI and the agreements signed between Argentina and Brazil (Programme of Economic Integration and Co-operation) and between Uruguay, Argentina and Brazil (Agreement between Argentina and Uruguay on Economic Co-operation (CAUCE), and Protocol on the Expansion of Trade between Uruguay and Brazil (PEC)).

In addition, through the meetings between officials responsible for foreign trade from the member countries of ALADI, ECIAC has gradually become a semi-official debating forum on the topics of international trade and regional integration and co-operation. Three meetings have so far been held (1983, 1985 and 1987).

The smooth contacts and reciprocal participation registered in the meetings of private entrepreneurs, especially those of the Latin American Manufacturers' Association (AIIA), suggest the likelihood of a similar forum emerging to deal with the topics of integration and co-operation with the private sector.

Ongoing contact was maintained with the Secretariats of the Latin American Integration Association (ALADI), the Latin American Economic System (SELA), the Board of the Cartagena Agreement (JUNAC) and with specialized co-operation agencies such as the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE), the Andean Development Corporation (CAF) and other bodies, and advisory assistance was also provided. There was also participation in joint initiatives with the Institute for Latin American Integration (INTAL).

The ECIAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean carried out activities linked to economic co-operation and integration among developing countries in the Caribbean. These were mainly centered on the following spheres:

- a) Intensification of technical co-operation among developing countries (TCDC), especially among the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean.
- b) Planning economic and social development and improving public-sector economic management, especially in the smaller Caribbean countries.
 - c) Research, training and policy formulation in the field of demography.

- d) Reinforcing and expanding the CARISPIAN data bases of the information co-ordination centres and increasing the dissemination of information among member countries.
- e) Implementation of the preferential attention to small island developing countries recently agreed upon, and preparation of a programme of work in response to the mandate received in 1985, for submission to the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC) for its consideration.
- f) Intensification of co-operation and co-ordination of activities with United Nations agencies and other bodies, both within the Caribbean subregion and within the broader sphere of Latin America.

SUBPROGRAMME 16.1: LATIN AMERICA AND INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC RELATIONS

i) Documents

International economic relations and regional co-operation in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/G.1422).

Proteccionismo de los países industrializados: estrategias regionales de negociación y defensa (IC/G.1459).

Terms of trade of primary commodities in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/L.382).

La internacionalización del sector servicios: opciones y riesgos para América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.493).

Principales problemas de la inserción internacional de América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.495(Sem.34/2)).

Las perspectivas de la economía internacional y el futuro de América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.496(Sem.34/3)).

Tendencias y perspectivas del comercio exterior de América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.497(Sem.34/4)).

La nueva ronda de negociaciones comerciales en el GATT (LC/R.498 (Sem.34/5)).

El proteccionismo de los países industrializados: estrategias regionales de negociación y defensa (IC/R.500).

América Latina y el Caribe y la economía mundial (LC/R.503(Sem.34/6)).

Procesamiento local de los productos básicos latinoamericanos (LC/R.505).

Reorientación del comercio de productos básicos hacia América Latina (LC/R.506).

Comercialización y estructura de los mercados de productos básicos de América Iatina y el Caribe (IC/R.508).

México: el sector servicios y posibilidades de cooperación con Argentina y Brasil (IC/R.534).

El sector de servicios del Brasil y la cooperación regional en América Latina. Informe preliminar (LC/R.537 and LC/R.537/Corr.1).

La cooperación regional en servicios en América Latina y el Caribe: oportunidades y realidades (LC/R.549).

Elementos para una nueva estrategia de América Latina y el Caribe en la negociación internacional de los productos básicos (LC/R.589).

La evolución reciente de las relaciones comerciales internacionales (LC/R.596).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Seminar on Latin America and the Caribbean and the International Economy, organized in conjunction with UNCTAD and UNDP (Santiago, Chile, 21-23 May 1986).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Regional conference on Basic Commodities, organized by SEIA (Guatemala, 14-17 January 1987).

Meeting of high-level officials prior to the seventh session of UNCTAD (Geneva, 7-8 July 1987).

Seventh session of UNCTAD (Geneva, 9-13 July 1987).

Twenty-eighth Congress of the Latin American Iron and Steel Institute (ILAFA) (Caracas, 1-6 November 1987).

Thirteenth Ordinary Meeting of the Latin American Council, organized by SELA (Caracas, 17 and 18 September 1987).

International Seminar on Jobs and Wages in Short-term Policies, organized by the Latin American Institute for Social Research (ILDIS) (Quito, 4-7 October 1987).

Fifteenth session of the UNCTAD Special Committee on Preferences (Geneva, 19-28 October 1987).

Meeting on the role of trading companies, organized by UNCTAD (Caracas, 26-30 October 1987).

Seminar on technology and development prospects in Latin America, organized by UNCTAD (Lima, 17 November-3 December 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Board of the Cartagena Agreement (JUNAC)

In planning seminars on the services sector in a number of member countries.

Secretariat of ALADI

In the Round of Negotiations.

Latin American Economic System (SELA)

In respect of the regional co-operation programme.

Argentina

To the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Department of Planning, in respect of the preparation of national studies on services.

Bolivia

To the public and private sectors, in seminars on the services sector, organized by JUNAC.

Brazil

To the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in respect of the preparation of national studies on the services sector.

Colombia

To the public and private sectors, in seminars on the services sector, organized by JUNAC.

Chile

To the Government of Chile and public-sector bodies (PRO-CHILE, Technical Co-operation Services (SERCOTEC)) and the Association of Chilean Exporters A.G., to identify the export potential of and restrictions affecting small and medium-sized Chilean industrial firms in respect of entry into EEC markets and setting up of new trade flows.

Ecuador

The public and private sectors, in seminars on the services sector, organized by JUNAC.

Paraquay

To the public sector (Centre for Export Promotion (CEPEX)) and private sector (Paraguayan Chamber of Exporters), to identify the export potential of and restrictions affecting small and medium-sized Paraguayan industrial firms in respect of entry into EEC markets and setting up of new trade flows.

Peru

To the public sector (Fund for the Promotion of Non-Traditional Exports (FOPEX)), and private sector (Association of Peruvian Exporters (ADEX)), to identify the export potential of and restrictions affecting small and medium-sized Peruvian industrial firms in respect of entry into EEC markets and setting up of new trade flows.

To the public and private sectors, in seminars on the services sector, organized by JUNAC.

Venezuela

To the public and private sectors, in seminars on the services sector, organized by JUNAC.

SUBPROGRAMME 16.2: ECONOMIC RELATIONS BETWEEN LATIN AMERICA AND OTHER REGIONS

i) Documents

Towards new forms of economic co-operation between Latin America and Japan (IC/G.1354), "Quadernos de la CEPAL" series, No. 51. United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.86.II.G.4.

Towards a development partnership between Latin America and the European Economic Community (EEC): a proposal for action (IC/G.1455).

ii) <u>Meetings, seminars and conferences held as part of the ECIAC/UNDP Project</u>
"Support for the Foreign Services of the Countries of Latin America"
(ASEAL-RIAL)

Joint meeting between the Institute for European-Latin American Relation (IRELA) and RIAL (San Salvador, 15-18 February 1986).

Introductory Seminar on International Relations, organized in conjunction with FIACSO and the Council of Central American Universities (CSUCA) (San José, 17-21 February 1986).

The International Role of the United States in its Relations with Latin America (Santiago, Chile 25-26 March 1986).

Introductory Seminar on International Relations, organized in conjunction with the Peruvian Centre for International Studies (CEPEI) (Lima, 14-19 April 1986).

Seminar on Peace, Disarmament and Development, organized in conjunction with FIACSO (Santiago, Chile, 25-27 June 1986).

Seminar on Peace, Disarmament and Development (Lima, 4-8 August 1986).

Course on International Negotiations, organized in conjunction with the Government of Mexico (Mexico City, 13-22 August 1986).

Introductory Seminar on International Relations, organized in conjunction with the Government of Paraguay (Asunción, 18-22 August 1986).

Introductory Seminar on International Relations, organized in conjunction with the University of Rosario (Rosario, Argentina, 6-10 October 1986).

Seminar: Europe and Latin America in the World Strategic Debate (Buenos Aires, 10-12 November 1986).

Second Meeting on Relations between Europe and Latin America (Lima, 27 and 28 November 1986).

Seminar on world industrial and technological change and its repercussions on Latin America (Santiago, Chile, 28 November 1986).

Seminar on the External Insertion of the Countries of Central America, in conjunction with the Government of Guatemala (Guatemala, 2-5 December 1986).

Seminar: Iatin America and the United States (Santiago, Chile 9-12 December 1986).

National Seminar (Panama, 7-10 April 1987).

National Seminar (San José, 13-16 April 1987).

Seminar on Economic Relations between Europe and Latin America (Paris, 1-5 July 1987).

Meeting on the Prospects for the Central American Countries in the World Economy (Guatemala, 13-18 July 1987).

National Course on the theory and practice of international negotiations (Guatemala, 3-7 August 1987).

Regional Seminar on negotiating techniques (Mexico City, 11-22 August 1987).

Subregional Seminar on the theory and practice of international negotiations (Montevideo, 31 August-5 September 1987).

Regional Seminar on United States policy and the crisis in Central America (Guatemala, 7-11 September 1987).

Regional Seminar on measures to promote mutual confidence and on foreign policy in South America (Lima, 16-18 September 1987).

Regional Seminar on Latin American co-operation and integration (Montevideo, 13-16 October 1987).

Regional Seminar on International Economic Relations (Santiago, Chile, 19-23 October 1987).

Meetings of working groups on: Latin American foreign policy, Theory of international relations, International economic relations and Foreign policy analysis and planning (Brasilia, 9-13 November 1987).

Meeting on Foreign Policy Analysis and Planning (Brasilia, 11-13 November 1987).

Regional seminar on information systems for foreign services (Santiago, Chile, 30 November-2 December 1987).

SUBPROGRAMME 16.3: THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY SYSTEM AND EXTERNAL FINANCING

i) Documents

The problem of the external debt: gestation, development, crisis and prospects (LC/G.1406(Ses.21/10)), LC/L.371(CEG.11/4) and LC/L.371 (CEG.11/4/Corr.1).

Books published under publishing agreements

Deuda interna y estabilidad financiera: vol. I: Aspectos analíticos. Buenos Aires, Grupo Editor Latinoamericano, May 1987.

Articles in CEPAL Review

"Alleviation of the debt burden: historical experience and present need", CEPAL Review, No. 30 (LC/G.1441) (December 1986).

Introduction to CEPAL Review, No. 32 (IC/G.1473) (August 1987).

"Another view of the Latin American crisis: domestic debt", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 32, <u>op. cit.</u>

"The conversion of foreign debt viewed from Latin America", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 32, <u>op. cit.</u>

Articles in other periodicals

"Política monetaria y financiera", in <u>Políticas macroeconómicas</u>, CIEPIAN, Santiago, Chile, 1987.

"Alleviation of the debt burden: historical experience and present need", revised version (in Spanish) published in the Review, <u>Contribuciones científicas y tecnológicas</u> of the University of Santiago, Santiago, Chile, July 1987.

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Informal High-Level Meeting on Debt, Adjustment and Growth in Latin America (New York, 13 January 1986).

The International Role of the United States in its Relations with Latin America (Santiago, Chile, 25-26 March 1986).

Seminar on the Latin American Response to the Crisis, in collaboration with the Institute of Economics of the University of the Oriental Republic of Uruguay (Montevideo, 12-14 October 1986).

Seminar on domestic financing and adjustment (Santiago, Chile, 30-31 October 1986).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Forty-second meeting of Governors of Central Banks of Latin America and Spain (Buenos Aires, 10-14 March 1986).

Meeting on the role of medium-sized economies in managing the world economy, organized by the World Institute for Development Economics Research (WIDER) (Helsinki, 24-26 March 1986).

Sixteenth Ordinary Session of the General Assembly of the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE) (Mexico City, 6-9 May 1986).

Seminar on topics related to the handling of the external debt, organized by the Economic Development Institute, World Bank (Washington, D.C., 9-20 June 1986).

Seminar on external sector policies, organized by FORUM and ONAPIAN of the Dominican Republic (Santo Domingo, 4-6 July 1986).

Forty-third meeting of the Governors of Central Banks of Latin America and Spain (Panama, 23-24 September 1986).

Meeting on capital flight, organized by the Institute for International Economics (Washington, D.C., 26-29 September 1986).

Meeting of Governors of the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank (Washington, D.C., 30 September-2 October 1986).

Annual Economics Seminar of the Central Bank of Uruguay (Montevideo, 16-17 October 1986).

Seminar on science and technology and strategies in respect thereof to further Latin American integration, organized by the Chilean Scientific Society (Santiago, Chile 27-28 October 1986).

Seventh session of UNCTAD (Geneva, 9-13 July 1987).

International seminar on the development of the financial and banking sector, organized by the World Bank and the Government of the People's Republic of China (Beijing, 28 November-15 December 1986).

Seminar on Financial Resources for Development, organized by UNCTAD/SELA (Caracas, 26-28 January 1987).

Seminar on Stabilization and Development in Bolivia, organized by the Latin American Institute for Social Research (HLDIS) (La Paz, 19-21 February 1987).

Forty-fourth meeting of the Governors of Central Banks of Latin America and Spain (Bridgetown, 27-29 April 1987).

Seventeenth Ordinary Meeting of the General Assembly of the Latin American Association of Development Finance Institutions (ALIDE) (Lima, 18-21 May 1987).

Dialogue among Latin American Banks, organized by the Banco Nacional de México (BANAMEX) (León, Mexico, 6-10 June 1987).

Seminar: Towards a financial system for economic growth, organized by the Latin American Institute for Social Research (ILDIS) (Caracas, 6-12 July 1987).

Round Table on External Debt Capitalization and Conversion Schemes in Latin America, organized by the Inter-American Institute of Capital Markets (IIMEC) (Caracas, 10 August 1987).

Sixth Assembly of the Commission of Bank Supervision and Control Agencies of Latin America and the Caribbean, organized by the Central Bank of the Argentine Republic (Buenos Aires, 31 August-3 September 1987).

Seminar on Development Financing Policies in Latin America, organized by ALIDE (Belo Horizonte, Brazil, 14-16 September 1987).

Forty-fifth meeting of the Governors of Central Banks of Latin America and Spain, organized by the Centre for Latin American Monetary Studies (CEMIA) (Guatemala, 21-22 September 1987).

Annual Meetings of the Boards of Governors, organized by the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) (Washington, D.C., 29 September-2 October 1987).

Twenty-first Annual Meeting of the Governing Council of the Latin American Banking Federation (FELABAN) (Santiago, Chile, 3-7 November 1987).

Annual Economics Seminar, organized by the Central Bank of Uruguay (Montevideo, 9-10 November 1987).

Sixteenth Meeting on the Systematization of the Central Banks of Latin America and the Iberian Peninsula, organized by CEMLA (Mexico City, 23-27 November 1987).

Miami Congressional Workshop on Latin America, organized by Miami Congressional Workshop (Miami, 5-7 December 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

To the Acting Secretariat of the Cartagena Consensus

Guanajuato (León), Mexico, 26-30 May 1987.

Montevideo, 25-29 August 1987.

Costa Rica

To the Government of Costa Rica, in drawing up the macroeconomic programme.

Guatemala

To the Ministry of Finance, in respect of external debt and macroeconomic programming.

Dominican Republic

To the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in respect of the external debt and macroeconomic programming.

iv) Training and fellowships

Participation in ILPES courses through the delivery of lectures on macroeconomics.

SUBPROGRAMME 16.4: ECONOMIC INTEGRATION AND CO-OPERATION

i) <u>Documents</u>

Cooperación comercial y negociaciones regionales (LC/R.513).

los servicios de transporte en el comercio exterior de los países de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración (ALADI) (LC/R.550).

Multilateralismo y bilateralismo en la AIADI (IC/R.564).

Integración e industrialización en América Latina: más allá del ajuste (LC/R.569).

Posibilidades de expansión del comercio entre los países de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integracioón (ALADI) (IC/R.584(Sem.40/2)).

Potencialidad de la integración en la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración (ALADI) frente a las tendencias en el escenario internacional (LC/R.585(Sem.40/3)).

Síntesis de la Tercera reunión de Funcionarios Responsables del Comercio Exterior de América Latina (LC/R.595(Sem.40/4)).

Mecanismos financieros de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración (ALADI) y la expansión del comercio intrarregional (LC/R.619).

Effective protection: a note on the Central American Common Market experience. Preliminary version (IC/MEX/R.40/Rev.1).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Third meeting of Officials Responsible for the External Trade of the Member Countries of the Latin American Integration Association (ALADI) (Mexico City, 25-26 May 1987).

Meeting of Regional Integration and Co-operation Agencies of Latin America and the Caribbean, organized in conjunction with SELA (Santiago, Chile, 17-18 August 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Meetings of the technical Commission of the Conference of Ministers Responsible for Central American Integration to consider a document on payments (Tegucigalpa, 12-13 February 1986, and Guatemala City, 17 May 1986).

Thirty-fifth Meeting of Ministers Responsible for Central American Integration (Guatemala City, July 1986).

Meeting of the Special Interinstitutional Commission of the Joint Meeting of Ministers Responsible for Economic Integration and Chairmen of the Central Banks of Central America (San José, 7-8 August 1986).

Joint Meeting of Ministers Responsible for Central American Economic Integration and Chairmen of the Central Banks (Managua, August 1986).

Meeting of the Technical Group on Integration in respect of action and proposals to reactivate the Central American Common Market (San José, Costa Rica, August 1986).

Thirty-sixth Meeting of Ministers Responsible for Central American Integration (Managua, August 1986).

Seminar on Economic Co-operation and Integration between Chile and Argentina, organized by the Institute for International Studies of the University of Chile (Puyehue, Chile, 13-18 October 1987).

Nineteenth Regional Course on Integration and Co-operation in Latin America, organized by INTAL (Buenos Aires, 19 October-13 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Uruguay

To the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in respect of policy on border integration with Argentine and population movements between the two countries.

SUBPROGRAMME 16.5: ECONOMIC INTEGRATION AND CO-OPERATION AMONG CARIBBEAN COUNTRIES

Activities relating to economic integration and co-operation among Caribbean developing countries are carried out by the ECIAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean. These activities are mainly focused on the following broad areas:

- a) The intensification of technical co-operation among developing countries (TCDC), especially between Latin American and Caribbean countries;
- b) Economic and social development planning and improved public-sector economic management, especially in the smaller Caribbean countries;
 - c) Research, training and policy formulation in demography;
- d) Strengthening and enlarging the CARISPIAN data bases of the network of informational focal points and increasing the dissemination of information to member countries;
- e) Emphasis has been placed recently on small island developing countries and, in response to a 1985 mandate, a draft programme of work has been developed for the consideration of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC);
- f) Intensification of co-operation and co-ordination of activities with United Nations agencies and other bodies within the Caribbean subregion and within the wider Latin American region.

i) Documents

Draft Programme of Work of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee 1988-1989 (IC/CAR/G.170).

The Patent and Documentation Unit within the Caribbean Documentation Centre, ECLAC/Port of Spain: Background Activities and Services (IC/CAR/G.172).

Action taken on CDCC resolutions and those of ECIAC, ECOSOC and the United Nations General Assembly with implications for CDCC (IC/CAR/G.176 and Add.1).

Review of Activities in Transport and Communications 1975-1985 (IC/CAR/G.178).

Technical co-operation among developing countries: the CDCC experience (IC/CAR/G.179).

Programme of support for small island developing countries: some initial considerations (LC/CAR/G.181).

An Evaluation of Economic Performance in CDCC Countries 1974-1984 (IC/CAR/G.182).

Agricultural Statistics - Caribbean Countries, vol. VII, 1986 (IC/CAR/G.189).

Report on ECIAC/CEIADE Regional Training Seminar on Population Projections, Trinidad, 28 April-7 May 1986 (LC/CAR/G.190).

Future Orientations for the CDCC Project for the Removal of Language Barriers in the Caribbean (IC/CAR/G.201).

Report of the Regional Workshop on Microcomputers in Library and Information Management, Trinidad, 8-19 Semptember 1986 (IC/CAR/G.204).

Economic Activity 1985 in Caribbean Countries (IC/CAR/G.214).

Report of ECLAC Subregional Workshop on Trade in Services, Antigua and Barbuda, 10-12 March 1987 (LC/CAR/G.222).

The Caribbean in the Context of the Global Economic Crisis (IC/CAR/G.225).

Report of the Meeting on a Regional Information System Strategy for the Caribbean (IC/CAR/G.228).

Implementation of the Work Programme of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC) (LC/CAR/G.230).

Report of the Seminar/Workshop on Science and Technology Planning in the Caribbean: Methods and Options (IC/CAR/G.232).

CARISPIAN Institution Authority File (LC/CAR/G.233).

Report of the Workshop to Develop a Plan of Action for the Small Island States of the Caribbean, Castries, St. Lucia, 24-28 August 1987 (LC/CAR/G.237).

Caribbean Network of Regional Information Systems (LC/CAR/G.238).

Report on Second CARICOM/ECIAC/CEIADE Regional Training Seminar on Population Policy Formulation, Barbados, 7-18 July 1986 (IC/CAR/L.187).

Population, Human Resources and Development Planning: the Need for a Multisectoral Institutional Network for Population Policy Implementation (IC/CAR/R.193).

Population and Development Considerations in the Context of Family Planning (IC/CAR/R.194).

Environment in Caribbean Development: A Regional View (IC/CAR/R.195).

Tourism - Environment - Development. The Role of an Environmental Impact Assessment and Beyond (IC/CAR/R.196).

Survey of the Preparation, Publishing and Printing of Educational Material for the Caribbean Region (IC/CAR/R.198).

Women as the Recipients of Services from Resources allocated in the National Budget of Dominica (LC/CAR/R.199).

Women Traders in Guyana (LC/CAR/R.200).

Questionnaire Analysis on Special Library Units in the Republic of Trinidad and Tabago: Establishment, Location and Orientation of Units (LC/CAR/R.202).

Towards Bibliographic Control in the Caribbean: the Caribbean Information System (LC/CAR/R.203).

Preliminary Report on Population Projections (1980-2015) for the nine Caribbean Countries (IC/CAR/R.213).

Women as the Recipients of Services from Resources allocated in the National Budget of Jamaica (IC/CAR/R.216).

Agriculture Sector Policy and Macro-economic planning (LC/CAR/R.219).

Operational and Implementation Aspects of Population Policies (IC/CAR/R.227).

Women Traders in Agricultural Products (IC/CAR/R.234).

CCST Newsletter: vol.2, Nos.1-6; vol.3, Nos.1-4.

Current Awareness Bulletin: vol.9, Nos.1-12 (1986); vol.10, Nos.1-7, 1987.

"Ten years is not enough": the Caribbean and its women, a video tape film.

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by ECLAC

Regional Seminar on Information Services and Systems on Research in Progress, jointly with UNESCO (Port of Spain, 20-24 January 1986).

Workshop on Agricultural Planning Systems and Activities in English-Speaking Caribbean Countries (Port of Spain, 3-6 February 1986).

Pharmaceutical Workshop (Havana, 14-19 March 1986).

Seminar on Implications of New Technologies for Caribbean Development, co-sponsored with CARICOM and NIHERST (Port of Spain, 7-10 May 1986).

Eighth Executive Committee Meeting (CCST) (Port of Spain, 10 May 1986).

Seminar on Industrial Property and Patent Information, in collaboration with WIPO/CARICOM and UNDP (Port of Spain, 16-18 May 1986).

Meeting on a Regional Information System Strategy for the Caribbean (Port of Spain, 27-29 May 1987).

Seminar on Industrial Property and Patent Information, in collaboration with WIPO/CARICOM and UNDP (Guyana, 2-3 June 1986).

Seminar on Industrial Property and Patent Information, in collaboration with WIPO/CARICOM and UNDP (Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, 5-6 June 1986).

Seminar on Industrial Property and Patent Information, in collaboration with WIPO/CARICOM and UNDP (Saint Kitts and Nevis, 9-10 June 1986).

Seminar on Industrial Property and Patent Information, in collaboration with WIPO/CARICOM and UNDP (Antigua and Barbuda, 12-13 June 1986).

Seminar on Industrial Property and Patent Information, in collaboration with WIPO/CARICOM and UNDP (Jamaica, 16-17 June 1986).

Seminar on Practical Aspects of Negotiating Tourism Development Proposals, jointly with UNCTC (Saint Kitts and Nevis, 23-27 June 1986).

Workshop on Audio-visual material for Science Popularization (Antigua, 8-13 August 1986).

National Workshop on Indexing and Abstracting Information for Trinidad and Tobago (Port of Spain, 18-19 August 1986).

Regional Workshop on Microcomputers in Library and Information Management, jointly with IDRC and UNESCO (Trinidad, 8-19 September 1986).

Regional Training Seminar on Population Policy Formulation, jointly with CARICOM (Saint George's, 7-18 July 1986).

Seminar/Workshop on Science and Technology Planning in the Caribbean: Methods and Options (Bridgetown, 13-17 July 1987).

National Science and Technology Seminar and Consultations: The Role of Technology in the Development of a Small Island State (St. Lucia, 21-25 September 1987).

Jamaica National Seminar on Removal of Language Barriers (Kingston, 28-30 January 1987).

ECIAC Subregional Workshop on Trade in Services (Antigua and Barbuda, 10-12 March 1987).

Seminar/Workshop on Science and Technology Planning in the Caribbean: Methods and Options, jointly with UNESCO and OAS (Bridgetown, 13-17 July 1987).

Regional Training Seminar on Population Policy Formulation (Bridgetown, 7-18 July 1986).

Workshop on Small Island Developing Countries, jointly with UNCTAD (St. Lucia, 24-28 August 1987).

Trinidad and Tobago National Workshop on Removal of Language Barriers (Port of Spain, 1-5 September 1987).

Grenada National Workshop on Removal of Language Barriers (Grenada, 8-11 September 1987).

Workshop on Vital Statistics, sponsored by ECLAC/PAHO (Grenada, 13-15 October 1987).

ECLAC/CELADE/UNFPA Regional Training Workshop on Application of Microcomputers to Population and Development Planning (Port of Spain, 16-27 November 1987.

iii) Technical assistance

Barbados

Advisory assistance to Government authorities and WAND's Acting President - Tutor/Co-ordinator on proposed study for the Government Manpower Unit.

Belize

Advisory assistance to Government of Belize in the development of a projects data bank. A technical manual was also prepared.

Assistance in the area of structural transformation to promote effectiveness in development programmes.

CARICOM countries

Advisory assistance to a CARICOM working group evaluating the economic impact of the Caribbean Basin Economic Recovery Act (CBERA) on Caribbean countries.

Netherlands Antilles (Curação)

Advisory assistance to the Development Corporation and Ministry of Foreign Affairs on information storage and retrieval.

Assistance to the Government on the preparation of a seminar on Women, health, and sexuality, and to the steering committee on "Training of Women Group Leaders in the Health Services".

Advisory assistance, on behalf of UNDP, to evaluate the operations of the International Trade Centres established by the Government of Curação. Preparation of terms of reference for a consultant to assist the Central and Island Governments in their consideration of the future viability of the project.

Dominica

Advisory assistance in the prepartion of a background paper on Population Policy Implementation for a regional training course in that subject.

<u>Grenada</u>

Advisory assistance to the Women's Bureau in the preparations for a National Seminar on Violence Against Women.

<u>Guyana</u>

Advisory assitance to Central Government in the area of economic planning.

Advisory assistance in the re-organization of legal contracts on current and emerging environmental problems.

OECS countries

Advisory assistance in the formulation of a revised proposal for the OECS/IDRC project information network.

Advisory assistance in the negotiation of contracts concluded between OFCS and technical assistance contractors, including clearance with USAID.

St. Iucia

Assistance to the Planning Unit, in the area of strengthening institutional capacity to assess the environmental impact of tourism.

Advisory assistance in the formulation of a St. Lucia/USA bilateral investment protection treaty, and in respect of St. Lucia/France double taxation treaty.

Suriname

Advisory assistance in the formulation of a Project Document, Suriname: Women and Production: Production of Dried Fruits and By-products.

Trinidad and Tobago

Assistance to the Trinidad and Tobago Family Planning Association.

Assistance in the Demographic and Health Survey of Trinidad to collect data on fertility, health (especially infant mortality) and family planning in Trinidad and Tobago.

Assistance to the Central Statistical Office on software uses.

Preparation of a draft national policy on women.

iv) Training

Training course in Basic Demography (Saint Kitts and Nevis, 14-24 April 1986).

Training of an officer from the National Foundation for Science and Technology in indexing and abstracting information (St. Lucia, 21-25 April 1986).

Training of an officer from the OECS Secretariat in Antigua, in indexing and abstracting information (Antigua and Barbuda, 28 April-1 May 1987).

Regional Population Projections Training Course in Trinidad and Tobago (Trinidad, 28 April-7 May 1986).

Report of the Workshop to Develop a Plan of Action for the Small Island States of the Caribbean (St. Lucia, 24-28 August 1987).

Regional training seminar on the use of demographic and manpower statistics for planning, in Antigua and Barbuda.

Training of two officers from the Windward Islands Banana Growers' Association (WINBAN) in the use of microcomputer package CDS/ISIS software, in St. Lucia.

Collaboration with CARICOM in the development and delivery of a Population Policy Regional Training Seminar, in Barbados.

Training for a Librarian from the National Committee for Promotion and Public Administration, in Haiti.

Training and supervision of library field work for undergraduates from UWI Department of Library Studies, in Trinidad and Tabago.

Three-day regional training course on Population Policy Implementation in Dominica.

PROGRAMME 17: NATURAL RESOURCES

The main thrust of the Division's activities, in its various programmes and subprogrammes, has been to promote and support co-operation among the countries of the region. At the same time, the Division has continued to prepare and publish reports on trends in natural resource development in the region.

In each of the main areas of the Division's work, the principal activities have been as follows:

1. Mineral resources

In the subprogramme on mineral resources work has concentrated on support for the work programme of the Latin American Mining Organization (OLAMI) in two areas: the establishment of an ECIAC/OLAMI regional Mining Information System and analysis of the possibility of establishing machinery for technology transfer among mining enterprises.

2. Water resources

In water resources, the main activities have revolved around two projects, supported by extra-budgetary funds from Italy and the Federal Republic of Germany, for promoting co-operation among the countries of the region in specific areas of water management: river basins in the Altiplano of the Andes and the management of complex water systems. In addition, a number of reports have been prepared on progress in the region in various areas of water management.

3. Ocean resources

This programme, which has suffered from shortage of staff, was directed mainly towards the support of activities undertaken by governments, the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific and other United Nations agencies in relation to the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea and assessment of the environmental impact and future prospects of marine mineral resources.

4. Other activities

The Division has also been responsible for the activities of ECIAC related to the peaceful uses of outer space and the peaceful uses of nuclear energy.

SUBPROGRAMME 17.1: MINERAL RESOURCES

i) Documents

Nuevas orientaciones en el desarrollo de los recursos mineros de América Latina (LC/R.535).

Medidas económicas regionales e internacionales existentes para la protección de los países productores. Instancias principales en América Latina (LC/R.606).

La transferencia tecnológica en el marco de la Convención de las Naciones Unidas sobre el Derecho del Mar y la experiencia de América Latina en la minería terrestre (LC/R.607).

Hacia una nueva estrategia del desarrollo de los recursos mineros de América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.622).

Evolución y requerimiento de inversión en el sector minero metalúrgico de América Latina (LC/R.623).

Articles in CEPAL Review

"Mining development and the origin of capital", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 30 (IC/G.1441).

"Technology transfer in the mining sector: options for the Latin American Mining Organization (OLAMI)", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 30 (IC/G.1441).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Seminar on Marine Bottoms, their Mineral Resources, Exploration, Exploitation and Environmental Implications, organized in conjunction with UNEP and the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (Cartagena, Colombia, 28-30 September 1987).

First Latin American and Caribbean Conference on Mining Law (Córdoba, 5-11 October 1987).

Consultatory Workshop on Strategies for the Development of the Mining Resources of Latin America and the Caribbean (Santiago, Chile, 9-11 December 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Collaboration in organizing the First Latin American Mining Congress of OIAMI (Lima, 21-23 November 1986).

Fourth Meeting of the Governing Council of the Latin American Mining Organization (OLAMI) (Cartagena, Colombia, May 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

General Secretariat of the Latin American Mining Organization (OLAMI)

Collaboration in the preparation of an agreement on the privileges and immunities of this Organization with the Government of Peru.

Implementation of the first phase of the ECIAC/OLAMI Regional Mining Information System (INFOMIN).

<u>Argentina</u>

Support to the OIAMI National Co-ordination Unit, under the ECIAC/OIAMI Regional Mining Information System project (INFOMIN).

Bolivia

Participation, through the UNDP Office, in the preparation of the 1986 Emergency Plan and the Programme of Action 1987-1990.

Collaboration with IIPES in providing assistance to the Government of Bolivia in the area of planning techniques and the formulation of a development strategy.

Chile

Assistance to the OLAMI Co-ordination Unit in Chile in preparing a directory of mining and metallurgical companies. Continuous assistance since March 1986.

Uruquay

Support for the OLAMI National Co-ordination Unit under the ECLAC/OLAMI Regional Mining Information System project (INFOMIN).

SUBPROGRAMME 17.2: WATER RESOURCES

i) <u>Documents</u>

Estrategia para el desarrollo y manejo de la región andina: una propuesta de acción a nivel de cuenca hidrográfica (IC/G.1433).

Resúmenes de documentos sobre recursos hídricos (IC/G.1456).

Report of the International Seminar on Integrated Systems for the Development and Management of River Basins in the Andean Region of Latin America (IC/G.1460(Sem.36/3)).

Report of the expert Meeting on Horizontal Co-operation in Water Resource Management in Latin America and the Caribbean (IC/G.1468(Sem.38/3)).

Drinking water supply and sanitation for the dispersed rural population in Latin America (LC/L.378).

The water resources of Latin America and the Caribbean: water-related natural hazards (LC/L.415 and Corr. 1 and 2).

Estrategias para el desarrollo y gestión de cuencas y zonas altas en América Iatina: un análisis crítico (IC/L.430).

Procesamiento de información sobre recursos hídricos en instituciones de América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.530).

Estudio del sistema hídrico Tinajones, Lambayeque, Perú: resumen (LC/R.568).

Water resource management in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/R.571(Sem.38/2)).

Estudio de caso: el sistema de la Cuenca del Río Bogotá: resumen (LC/R.572).

Sistema hídrico Limarí-Paloma: Estudio del caso chileno (LC/R.573).

Análisis de la gestión del riego en Mendoza: sus determinantes sociales, institucionales, legales y administrativos: resumen (IC/R.574).

Marco de referencia para analizar las actividades de gestión de recursos hídricos (IC/R.576).

Políticas de gestión para el desarrollo de cuencas y microrregiones alto andinas (IC/R.605).

Metodología para asistir la gestión del desarrollo de cuencas o microrregiones de alta montaña: ciclo de concertación (IC/R.609).

Información reciente sobre políticas en materia de gestión de recursos hídricos en Chile (IC/R.611).

la pequeña cuenca de montaña en la gestión del desarrollo y en la conservación de los recursos naturales (IC/R.626).

ii) <u>Meetings</u>, <u>seminars</u> and <u>conferences</u>

Organized by the ECLAC system

International Seminar on Integrated Systems for the Development and Management of River Basins in the Andean Region of Latin America (Lima, 24-28 November 1986).

Expert Meeting on Horizontal Co-operation in Water Resource Management in Latin America and the Caribbean (in conjunction with the Government of the Federal Republic of Germany) (Santiago, Chile, 18-21 May 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

International Seminar to determine the scientific and technological contributions needed to promote economic and social development and employment in rural areas of Iatin America: the case of the Río Colca basin. Organized by the National Council for Science and Technology (CONCYTEC) under the sponsorship of UNESCO (Arequipa, 1-3 April 1987).

International Seminar on Soil and Water Conservation, organized by the Ia Molina National Agrarian University and the Friedrich Ebert Foundation (Lima, 13-17 April 1987).

Preparatory meeting in relation to the strategy for the implementation of the Mar del Plata Action Plan up to 1990, organized by the United Nations Department of International Economic and Social Affairs (DIESA) (New York, October-November 1987).

Fifteenth Meeting of the Steering Committee for Co-operative Action for the International Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Decade, organized by the United Nations Department of International Economic and Social Affairs (DIESA) (Santo Domingo, October-November 1987).

International meeting on institutional aspects of the integral management of demonstration watersheds, organized by FAO (San José, 30 November-5 December 1987).

Seminar on the Development of small river basins, organized by the Pilot Project for the Integrated Rural Development of Western Cibao (DRICIBACC) of the Government of the Dominican Republic, under the sponsorship of the Government of Italy and the European Economic Community (EEC) (Santiago de los Caballeros, Dominican Republic, 30 November-5 December 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

World Bank

Collaboration in the joint organization of the Regional Seminar on Appropriate Technology for Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation in Rural Communities, to be held in Recife, Pernambuco, in 1988.

Colombia

Corporación Autónoma Regional Rionegro-Nare (CORNARE), in connection with the planning and management of water resources.

<u>Costa Rica</u>

In collaboration with the World Bank, provision of support to the Institute of Agricultural Development in San José, in connection with the wet tropics and natural resources.

Chile

Corporación Nacional Forestal (CONAF), provision of a short course on river basins, La Serena.

iv) Training and fellowships

Participation in the Course on Regional Development Planning, organized by the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) (Buenos Aires, August 1987).

Participation in the Course on Regional Development Planning organized by the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) (Salto, Uruguay, 10 August-18 September 1987).

SUBPROGRAMME 17.2: WATER RESOURCES

i) Documents

Water resource development: progress in the implementation of the Mar del Plata Action Plan and the International Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Decade in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/G.1384(SES.21/19).

Formulation of plans for water resource management in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/G.1391(SES.21/20).

Strategy for the development and management of the Andean region: a proposal for Action at the river-basin level.

Drinking water supply and sanitation for the dispersed rural population in Latin America (LC/L.378).

Los recursos hídricos de América Latina y el Caribe: riesgos naturales relacionados con el aqua (IC/L.415).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

International Seminar on Integrated Systems for the Development and Management of River Basins in the Andean Region of Latin America.

Expert Meeting on Horizontal Co-operation in Water Resource Management in Latin America and the Caribbean.

SUBPROGRAMME 17.3: OCEAN RESOURCES AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF LATIN AMERICA

i) <u>Meetings</u>, seminars and conferences

Joint UNEP/Permanent Commission for the South Pacific/ECLAC Seminar/Workshop on Radioactive Contamination in the South-East Pacific (Santiago, Chile, 17-20 June 1987).

PROGRAMME 18: POPULATION

This programme is conducted by the Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE). Within the overall framework of the social and economic development of the countries of the region, its objectives are: to help promote self-sufficiency in the field of population on the part of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean in respect of those areas which the countries are in a position to develop by themselves; to provide support, technical co-operation and information services; and to conduct other activities which can be carried out or organized more efficiently and effectively on the basis of a regional approach.

During the period 1986-1987, CEIADE provided advisory services to the countries in connection with the analysis of population trends, their causes and their economic and social implications; the integration of demographic variables into development planning; and, finally, the incorporation of population-related factors into plans and policies directed at specific groups. These services were provided by means of the activities described below.

- a) The formulation, in conjunction with national institutions, of population estimates and projections. As a result of this initiative, many countries now have the capability to conduct this type of activity on their own, with a minimum of advisory assistance. Consequently, during the period in question, the technical assistance provided in this connection mainly concerned the preparation of subnational estimates and projections for spatial planning purposes. The results of this activity were presented in the <u>Demographic Bulletin</u> and in issues of the <u>Fascículos de población</u> published jointly by CELADE and the respective national institution.
- b) Collaboration with the countries in the collection and analysis of data from various sources, particularly with respect to the evaluation of the 1980 census round and preparations for the 1990 censuses, with a view to adapting them to the needs of development planning. In this connection, special mention should be made of the assistance provided by CEIADE in regard to the Retrospective Demographic Survey of Guyana, which is intended to provide the necessary data for estimating the demographic components required for planning. The encouraging results of the survey were examined by government officials and CEIADE experts at a seminar held in Georgetown in July 1987.
- c) Research efforts concerning the distribution of the population. These projects included the drafting of monographs on the distribution of cities by urban size and functional bases, the study of factors associated with the population distribution process, the monitoring of population redistribution trends in Latin America and research on internal migration.
- d) Advisory services to the countries in regard to the preparation of mortality and fertility studies aimed at identifying, quantifying and describing high-risk sectors of the population as a first step towards the formulation of more fully integrated population and health programmes. The results of these activities were published jointly with the relevant national

institution in the IMTAL series on infant mortality and the IFHIPAL series on fertility. In connection with the research being done on mortality a seminar on causes of death was held at CEIADE headquarters in Santiago in May 1986. This seminar was directed by Professor Jacques Balling, a specialist with the National Institute of Demographic Studies (INED) of France, and was attended by professionals from the region and students in the CEIADE post-graduate programme.

- e) Studies on changes in the status of women and in fertility and research into the social and economic implications of the aging of the population (both of these being priority sectors in many countries of the region). In September 1987, a seminar was held at CEIADE headquarters in Santiago on the age structure of the population in Latin America. The seminar was led by Professor Jean-Claude Chesnais, a specialist associated with the National Institute of Demographic Studies (INED) of France, and was attended by professionals from the region and CEIADE post-graduate students.
- f) Assistance in the design and dissemination of conceptual frameworks and methodologies for integrating population variables into development planning. As part of this effort, activities were begun in connection with the assessment of existing population and development models with a view to adapting them to the specific needs and conditions of the region. In March 1987, the first Technical Seminar on Methods for Incorporating Demographic Inputs into Planning was held at CEIADE headquarters in Santiago. The main objective of the seminar, which was attended by 19 professionals from 12 countries in the region, was to analyse the usefulness and limitations of population and development models and to examine procedures for improving them, especially through the use of microcomputers.
- g) Technical co-operation missions for the purpose of advising the countries on the design and application of population policies. This effort included the strengthening or creation of national population units, the monitoring and assessment of population policies and programmes in the region, and training in this field. (See also the section on teaching activities.)

In the field of population information, CEIADE advised the countries on the processing of their censuses, surveys and other population data; undertook an analysis of appropriate technologies for processing data from the 1990 census round; created the System for the Retrieval of Census Data for Small Areas by Microcomputer (REDATAM); provided regional services in regard to population documentation by drawing on the CEIADE/DOCPAL system's data base; and made advisory assistance available to national institutions (including the provision of in-service training for government officials) in relation to the organization and retrieval of their own literature on population. Three of the activities which were undertaken during the period in question deserve special mention:

a) The creation, by CEIADE, of the REDATAM System, whose purpose is to increase the number and types of institutions in the region which use population information and to facilitate the management of these data through the utilization of appropriate technology for planning purposes. This system makes it possible to store the microdata from an entire population and housing census on a single hard microcomputer disk (or on a laser disk, in the case of

large countries) and thus to obtain tabulations on any geographical area desired —down to a single city block— quickly inexpensively and without the aid of programmers. In response to the interest shown in this system, a number of seminars on REDATAM were organized in various countries. In Chile, one such meeting was held concurrently with the Inter-American Conference on Statistics so as to take advantage of the presence of the heads of statistical bureaus of the region (September 1987). Seminars on REDATAM were also held in Costa Rica for Central America, Mexico and the Spanish— and French—speaking countries of the Caribbean (October 1987) and in Dominica for the English—speaking countries of the Caribbean (November 1987). The REDATAM System has already been put into operation, in inter alia, Chile, Costa Rica, Dominica, St. Iucia and Uruguay. The results obtained from the application of the REDATAM System in St. Iucia suggest that a special effort should be made to install the system in the smaller English—speaking countries of the Caribbean in order to help free them from dependence on external assistance for the processing of their population census data.

- b) The Seminar on Population Information for Development, which was organized jointly by CEIADE and the Latin American Programme for Population Activities (PROIAP). This seminar was held at CEIADE headquarters in Santiago in July 1987 and was attended by 58 professionals from 17 countries in the region. The aims of the seminar were to examine needs and problems relating to population information and, in the light of new technological advances, to propose a strategy for the coming years. The strategy formulated by the seminar participants centred around their recommendation that a population information network should be established for Latin America and the Caribbean.
- c) The transferal to microfiche of the CELADE/DOCPAL system's collection of documents on population and the design of computer procedures (COM) for putting the entire bibliographic data base of 27 000 documents on microfiche. This made it possible to being distributing the contents of the complete data base to national institutions. Through its biannual journal, DOCPAL Latin American Population Abstracts, CELADE kept the countries of the region informed as to the literature on population and related subjects being entered into the DOCPAL data base.

CELADE conducted the following teaching activities during the period in question:

a) <u>Post-graduate courses</u>

Master's Programme in Demography and in Social Studies of Population, 1985-1986. During 1986, CEIADE offered the second year of this programme at its headquarters in Santiago, which led to the award of diplomas and certificates to 24 students from countries in the region (11 in the Master's Programme in Demography and 13 in the Master's Programme in Social Studies of Population).

At the countries' request, the two-year master's programme was replaced by an 11-month post-graduate course on population. This course was first offered in February 1987 to 24 students from 15 countries in the region and two Portuguese-speaking countries of Africa.

b) Regional population courses

Intensive Regional Course on Demography. This four-month course (August-December) is offered each year at the subregional office of CELADE in San José, Costa Rica, to officials from national institutions of Central America, Panama and the Spanish-speaking countries of the Caribbean. During the period covered by this report, the ninth (1986) and tenth (1987) such courses were given. Each course was attended by 20 officials from the subregion and by two students from Portuguese-speaking Africa.

Training Workshop on the Evaluation of Census Data and Population Projections (Port of Spain, May 1986). This two-week workshop was organized by the Joint ECIAC/CEIADE Demography Unit. A total of 20 government officials from nine English-speaking countries of the Caribbean and Belize participated in the workshop.

Regional Training Course on Population Policy Design in the English-speaking Caribbean (Bridgetown, July 1986). This course was organized by the Joint ECIAC/CEIADE Demography Unit and CARICOM and was attended by 20 officials from five countries in the English-speaking Caribbean and Belize.

Workshop on Quantitative Methods and the Use of Models for Problem Analysis in the Field of Population and Development (CEIADE subregional office in San José, July 1986). This workshop, organized jointly by CEIADE and PREALC, was attended by 24 government officials from the countries of Central America, the Caribbean, Panama and Mexico, as well as by two professionals from Angola, Africa. In January 1987 another similar workshop was held at the CEIADE subregional office in San José in which 16 professionals from Costa Rica, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico and Panama participated.

Intensive Regional Course on Demography (Montevideo, July-October 1987). This course was organized by CELADE and the Bureau of Statistics and Censuses of Uruguay and was attended by 20 government officials from Argentina, Bolivia, Paraguay and Uruguay.

Intensive Regional Course on Demography (Antofagasta, Chile, August-December 1987). This course was organized under an agreement between CEIADE and the University of Antofagasta. Officials from Bolivia, Chile and Peru participated in the course.

c) National population courses

Intensive National Course on Demography (Managua, March-July 1986). This course, organized by CEIADE and the Centre for Demographic Studies (CEDEM) of the University of Havana, was attended by 18 government officials.

Intensive National Course on Demography (Salta, Argentina, April-July 1986). This course was organized by CEIADE and the University of Salta. A total of 15 national officials from north-eastern Argentina participated in the course.

Intensive National Course on Demography (Cochabamba, Bolivia, February-June 1986). Organized jointly by CEIADE and the University of San Simón, Cochabamba, this course was attended by 25 national officials.

National Course on Population and Development (Tegucigalpa, January-February 1987). This course, which was organized by CELADE and the Ministry of Planning of Honduras, was attended by 25 government officials.

Training Course at the Bureau of Statistics and Censuses of Costa Rica (DGEC). The Inter-American Development Bank and the DGEC organized a statistical programme for 1987-1988 for the purpose of providing training, in four 2-month courses, to Bureau officials. The subregional office of CEIADE in San José was responsible for the population module of this programme during 1987.

d) <u>Assistance in the teaching of demography and population studies at</u> national universities and other institutions

At the CELADE subregional office in San José, two courses on demography were taught during 1986 and 1987, one at the School of Sociology and Anthropology and the other at the School of Geography of the University of Costa Rica.

During 1986 and 1987, CEIADE assisted in the two-year Master's Programme of the Department of Social Sciences of the University of Luján, Argentina, by teaching the course on demography in that programme.

As part of the Master's Programme in Urban Development of the Urban Studies Institute of the Catholic University of Chile, CELADE organized an urban studies workshop in April-May 1986 which was attended by 22 students from the programme.

At the request of the Center for Demographic Studies (CEDEM) of the University of Havana, CELADE organized a workshop on analysis in the field of population and development for CEDEM demographers and other Cuban professionals which was held in June-July 1987.

The Joint ECIAC/CEIADE Demography Unit in Port of Spain collaborated in a number of teaching activities in the English-speaking countries of the Caribbean similar to those provided by the CEIADE subregional office in San José for Central America, Panama and the French- and Spanish-speaking Caribbean.

e) Research fellowship programme

At the request of national institutions, training under this programme, both at CEIADE headquarters in Santiago and at the subregional office in San José, was provided to over 30 government officials during the period 1986-1987. Under the supervision of CEIADE experts, these research fellows carried out research projects of specific interest to their sponsoring institutions over an average period of from two to three months.

f) Other teaching-related activities

Seminar on the Teaching of Demography in Latin America and the Caribbean (San José, November 1986). The object of this seminar, which was organized jointly by CELADE and the Latin American Programme for Population Activities (PROIAP), was to review the teaching activities of CELADE and its future role in the teaching of demography, as well as to formulate a diagnostic analysis of training needs, including those relating to institutional development, in the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean. A total of 70 professionals from universities and national centres in 16 countries of the region participated in the seminar. The final report, which set forth a number of conclusions and recommendations concerning this subject, was published jointly by CELADE and PROIAP and was widely distributed throughout the region.

SUBPROGRAMME 18.1: DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS AND ESTIMATES OF POPULATION TRENDS

i) <u>Documents</u>

Demographic Bulletin, vol. XIX, No. 37 (IC/DEM/G.37). Demographic Bulletin, vol. XIX, No. 38 (IC/DEM/G.38). Demographic Bulletin, vol. XX, No. 39 (IC/DEM/G.39). Tablas de mortalidad (IC/DEM/CR/G.16).

Books published under publication agreements

Basia, Zaba, <u>Measurement of Emigration Using Indirect Techniques. Manual for the Collection and Analysis of Data on Residence of Relatives</u>, Ordina publishing company, Belgium.

América Latina en el año de los 5 000 millones (LC/DEM/CR/G.54).

Joint publications

Migración interna, Encuesta demográfica nacional de Honduras (EDENH-II 1983), vol. III, serie A.1047/III, Council for Economic Planning (CONSUPIANE) of Honduras, Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) and CELADE (LC/DEM/CR/G.12).

<u>Fecundidad. Diferenciales geográficos y socioeconómicos de la fecundidad 1960-1983</u>, (EDENH-II 1983), serie A.1047/IV, vol. IV, CONSUPLANE, Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) and CELADE (LC/DEM/CR/G.14).

Estudio experimental sobre la mortalidad de las personas de la tercera edad en los cantones de Puriscal y Coronado, Bureau of Statistics and Censuses of Costa Rica, Institute of Health Research of the University of Costa Rica and CELADE.

Paraguay. La mortalidad infantil según variables socioeconómicas Y geográficas 1955-1980, Ministry of Public Health and Social Welfare of Paraguay and CELADE.

El Salvador. Estimaciones y proyecciones de población 1950-2025, Ministry of Economic and Social Development Planning and Co-ordination of El Salvador and CEIADE.

Investigación de la mortalidad infantil mediante el método del hijo previo en el Hospital de Maternidad Nuestra Señora de la Altagracia y en la Clínica de Maternidad San Rafael, National Population Council of the Dominican Republic and CELADE.

Uruguay. Ia mortalidad infantial según variables socioeconómicas y geográficas, Bureau of Statistics and Censuses of Uruguay and CELADE.

Costa Rica: los grupos sociales de riesgo para la sobrevida infantil 1960-1984, Ministry of Public Health of Costa Rica, University of Costa Rica and CELADE serie A. Nº 1049 (LC/DEM/CR/G.15).

Chile. Proyecciones de población por sexo y edad. Total del país 1950-2025, National Institute of Statistics (INE) of Chile and CELADE (fascicle F/CHI.1).

Chile. Tablas abreviadas de mortalidad por sexo. Total del país y regiones 1980-1985, INE of Chile and CEIADE (fascicle F/CHI.2).

Chile. Proyecciones de población por sexo y edad. Regiones 1980-2000, INE of Chile and CELADE.

Censo experimental de Junín de Los Andes. Resultados y análisis, Patagonian Crusade Foundation and CELADE (LC/DEM/G.49).

Los censos del 90, Centre for Population Studies, National Institute of Statistics and Censuses of Argentina and CELADE.

<u>Causas de muerte en Guatemala 1960-1979</u>, National Council for Economic Planning of Guatemala UNFPA, Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) and CELADE, serie OI, Nº 1001 (LC/DEM/CR/G.17).

Report on the Retrospective Demographic Survey of Guyana (GUYREDEM), Statistical Office of Guyana and CELADE.

Preliminary Results and Tables from GUYREDEM, Statistical Office of Guyana and CELADE.

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Seminar on causes of death (Santiago, 12-23 May 1986).

Seminar for the evaluation of the experimental censuses of Uyuni, Cliza and Comanche (CEIADE and the National Institute of Statistics of Bolivia, Ia Paz, 6-17 June 1986).

Inter-American workshop on the evaluation of population and housing censuses, and a national workshop on the evaluation of the 1980 population and housing census (National Institute of Statistics, Geography and Information Sciences of Mexico and CEIADE, Mexico City, 14-24 April 1986).

Seminar on the Retrospective Demographic Survey of Guyana (CELADE and the Statistical Office of Guyana, Georgetown, 5-9 July 1987).

Seminar on past trends and the future outlook as regards changes in the age structure of the population in Latin America (CELADE, Santiago, 28 September-2 October 1987).

Participation in meetings and conferences

Meeting of the scientific committees on data collection and on comparative analyses of fertility and family planning (International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, Belgium, 21-29 May 1986).

Ninth Inter-American Conference on Statistics (Inter-American Statistical Institute and Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics, Rio de Janeiro, 14-21 September 1986).

Seminar on old and new topics for measurement and analysis in comparative studies of mortality and morbidity (International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, Italy, 7-12 July 1986).

Workshop on international migration (International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, Ottawa, 8-14 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Argentina

Patagonian Crusade Foundation: in connection with the experimental census of Junin de Los Andes.

National Institute of Statistics and Censuses: in relation to studies on infant mortality.

University of Salta: teaching services for the Intensive Course on Demography.

Bolivia

National Population Council (CONAPO): in regard to a study on infant mortality.

University of San Simón: teaching services for the Intensive National Course on Demography.

Brazil

Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics: in connection with a programme of joint activities.

State Data Analysis System (SEADE): in relation to a study on mortality, and discussions concerning a programme of joint activities.

Costa Rica

CEIADE-San José: teaching services for the Intensive Regional Course on Demography.

El Salvador

Ministry of Planning and Economic Policy: in the review of regional population projections.

Secretariat of Planning and the Budget: in the preparation of demographic inputs for planning, and participation in meetings concerning the census count.

Guyana

Central Statistical Office: in the design of the sample for the Retrospective Demographic Survey of Guyana (GUYREDEM).

Haiti

Haitian Institute of Statistics and Information Sciences: in the evaluation of the 1980 census and the preparation of population projections.

Honduras

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses and Council for Economic Planning: in relation to the programme for the analysis of the Honduran National Demographic Survey (EDENH-II), and follow-up on the preparation of population projections.

<u>Nicaraqua</u>

National Institute of Statistics and Censuses: in connection with the National Sociodemographic Survey of Nicaragua (ESDENIC).

National Institute of Statistics and Censuses: teaching services for the Intensive National Course on Demography.

Panama

Ministry of Planning and Economic Policy, Population Department: in the preparation of projections of housing needs.

Paraguay

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in the planning of a project for the analysis of internal migration.

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in the preparation of population projections.

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in conducting a study on fertility.

Peru

National Institute of Statistics: in relation to research on international migration.

Dominican Republic

National Population and Family Council: in regard to a research project on preceding-child mortality.

National Statistical Office: in carrying out a research project on international migration.

National Population and Family Council: in connection with the co-operation programme for the analysis of a survey on internal migration.

National Statistical Office: in the preparation of regional population projections.

National Population and Family Council: in relation to the possibility of conducting a research project on infant mortality.

Uruquay

Ministry of Public Health: in carrying out a national fertility and health survey.

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in connection with the joint publication of the report corresponding to Uruguay of the research on infant mortality in Latin America (IMIAL).

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: teaching services for the Intensive Regional Course on Demography.

iv) Training and fellowships

See subprogramme 18.3: Training.

SUBPROGRAMME 18.2: POPULATION AND DEVELOPMENT

i) Documents

Joint publications

Evolución presente del sistema urbano del Uruguay, 1963-1985: Jerarquías y funciones, published jointly with the Information and Research Centre of Uruguay (CIESU).

It should be noted that the results of many research projects carried out as part of this subprogramme were presented in documents intended for internal distribution which do not appear in this report.

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Workshop/course on women, development and planning in Latin America and the Caribbean (ILPES, Santiago, 27 October-14 November 1986).

Seminar on macroeconomic models applied in Latin America (IIPES, Santiago, 27-30 October 1986).

Seminar on the external crisis, the adjustment process and its immediate and long-term impact on social development (ECLAC/UNDP/UNICEF, Lima, November 1986).

Seminar on methods for using microcomputers to incorporate demographic inputs into planning (CEIADE/ILPES, Santiago, 2-5 March 1987).

Participation in meetings and conferences

Seminar on the use of demographic information in policy design, implementation and assessment in Latin America (International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, Lima, 11-18 January 1986).

Conference on population and small and medium-sized cities in Latin America and the Caribbean (UNFPA and Government of Mexico, Mexico City, February 1986).

Conference on women, population and development in Latin America (UNFPA and Government of Uruquay, Montevideo, 3-7 November 1986).

Subregional workshop on the co-ordination of research projects on population in Central America and the Caribbean (Latin American Programme for Population Activities (PROLAP) and Centre for Demographic Studies (CEDEM), Havana, February 1987).

Seminar on the development and the use of microcomputer programmes on population and development planning (National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C., February 1987).

First Latin American congress on family planning (National Planning Institute, Lima, September 1987).

International Seminar on Demography in Developing Countries: Graduate Training (Centre for Regional Development and Planning (CEDEPIAN), Belo Horizonte, Brazil, November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Argentina

Intergovernmental Committee for Migrations (ICM), Organization of American States (OAS), Government of Argentina: teaching services for the Inter-American Course on Internal and International Migration.

National Bureau of Migration: in relation to a study on Japanese Immigrants.

National Institute of Social Services for Retirees and Pensioners, National Government Service Institute and National Centre for Population Studies (CENEP): in connection with a project on the socioeconomic implications of the aging of the population.

Bolivia

Ministry of Planning and Co-ordination: in relation to a methodology for integrating economic variables into regional and sectoral planning.

National Population Council (CONAPO): in assessing the demand for family planning services and maternal and child care.

Ecuador

Office of the Vice-President of the Republic: in regard to population policies.

El Salvador

In carrying out the workshop/seminar on the design of a national population policy.

Secretariat of Planning and the Budget: in the preparation of demographic inputs for planning.

Honduras

Council for Economic Planning and National University of Honduras: in the organization and teaching of a national course on population and development.

Dominican Republic

National Population and Family Council (CONAPOFA): in relation to a project on the characteristics of spatial mobility

Uruguay

Information and Research Centre of Uruguay (CIESU): in connection with a project on urban hierarchies and the functional bases of cities.

Venezuela

UNESCO: in the selection and adaptation of reference articles for use in post-graduate courses on population and development.

iv) Training and fellowships

See subprogramme 18.3: Training.

SUBPROGRAMME 18.3: TRAINING

i) <u>Documents</u>

Twenty theses by students in the 1985-1986 Master's Programme (unpublished).

Guides for research fellows, booklets, pamphlets and other teaching materiales.

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Seminar on the teaching of demography in Latin America and the Caribbean (CEIADE and Latin American Programme for Population Activities, San José 17-20 November 1986)

iii) Technical assistance

The technical assistance provided in connection with training activities is described in the sections corresponding to the other three subprogrammes, according to the subjects dealt with in the respective courses, seminars, workshops or teaching activities.

iv) Training and fellowships

Courses, seminars and other teaching activities

a) Post-graduate programmes

Master's Programme 1985-1986 (Santiago). During the second year of the Programme (January-December 1986), two specialized courses of study were offered: the Master's in Demography and the Master's in Social Studies of Population. Eleven students from Bolivia, Brazil, Costa Rica, Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, Panama, Uruguay and Spain participated in the former, While 13 students from Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Costa Rica, Honduras, Mexico, Peru, Spain and Venezuela participated in the latter.

Post-Graduate Course on Population (Santiago, February-December 1987). This course was attended by 24 students from Angola, Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru, Sao Tome and Principe and Venezuela.

b) Intensive regional and national courses

Ninth Intensive Regional Course on Demography (San José, August-December 1986). This course was attended by 19 students from Angola, Argentina, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Mexico, Mozambique, Nicaragua, Panama and Sao Tome and Principe.

Tenth Intensive Regional Course on Demography (San José, August-December 1987). This course was attended by 22 students from Belize, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuatorial Guinea, El Salvador, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua and Panama.

Intensive Regional Course on Demography (Salta, Argentina, April-July 1986). This course was attended by 14 students from north-western Argentina and by one student from northern Chile.

Intensive Regional Course on Demography (Montevideo, July-October 1987). This course was attended by 19 officials from Argentina, Bolivia, Paraguay and Uruguay.

Intensive Regional Course on Demography (Antofagasta, Chile, August-December 1987). This course was attended by 15 officials from Chile, Bolivia, and Peru.

Intensive National Course on Demography (Cochabamba, Bolivia, February-June 1986). This course was attended by 25 students.

Intensive National Course on Demography (Managua, March-July 1986). A total of 17 students participated in this course.

National Course on Population and Development (Tegucigalpa, January-February 1987). This course was attended by 25 Honduran officials.

c) Training courses/workshops in specific fields

Seminar on methods of problem analysis in the field of population and development (Panama City, June 1986). This seminar was attended by 20 Panamanian Officials.

Workshop for the evaluation of census data and population projections (Port of Spain, April-May 1986). This course was attended by 20 officials from the English-speaking Caribbean and Belize.

Regional workshop on quantitative methods and models in the field of population and development (San José, July 1986). This workshop was attended by 24 students from Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico and Panama.

Workshop on population policy design (Bridgetown, July 1986). A total of 20 officials from the English-speaking Caribbean and Belize participated in this workshop.

Workshop on selected methods of analysis in the field of population and development (IIO, PREALC, CEIADE, San José, January 1987). This workshop was attended by 16 officials from Guatemala, Costa Rica, Honduras, Mexico and Panama.

Seminar on the System for the Retrieval of Census Data for Small Areas by Microcomputer (REDATAM) (San José, October 1987). This seminar was attended by 32 officials from Central America, Mexico and Panama.

d) Specialization seminars

Seminar on causes of death (Santiago, May 1986). A total of 40 professionals from the region participated in this seminar.

Seminar on past trends and the future outlook as regards changes in the age structure of the population in Iatin America (Santiago, September-October 1987). This seminar was attended by 40 professionals from the region.

e) Research fellowship programme

At the request of national institutions, training under this programme was provided, both at CEIADE headquarters in Santiago and at its subregional office in San José, to 16 government officials during 1986 and to 12 officials in 1987. Under the supervision of CEIADE experts, the research fellows conducted research projects of specific interest to their sponsoring institutions over an average period of from two to three months.

f) <u>Support for national university programmes and collaboration in teaching activities with other institutions</u>

Course on demography for students of the School of Geography and the School of Sociology and Anthropology of the University of Costa Rica (1986 and 1987).

Instruction in demography as part of the Master's Programme in Social Demography of the Department of Social Sciences of the University of Luján, Argentina (1986 and 1987).

Workshop on sociodemographic dynamics in cities, organized at the request of the 1986-1987 Post-Graduate Programme of the Urban Studies Institute of the School of Architecture of the Catholic University of Chile.

Workshop on analysis in the field of population and development, organized at the request of the Centre for Demographic Studies (CEDEM) of the University of Havana (June-July 1987).

Statistical programme of the Bureau of Statistics and Censuses of Costa Rica, with the support of the Inter-American Development Bank, for the purpose of providing training to 60 Bureau officials in two-month courses offered

during 1987 and 1988. In addition, at the request of the Bureau, CELADE has taken responsibility for the population module of this programme.

Teaching of a course on the use of microcomputers for estimating mortality, organized by the Population Division of the United Nations Secretariat (Budapest, 16-20 November 1987).

SUBPROGRAMME 18.4: STORAGE, RETRIEVAL, PROCESSING AND DISSEMINATION OF DATA ON POPULATION

i) <u>Documents</u>

Bulletin of the Data Bank, No. 11 (IC/DEM/G.39).

DOCPAL Latin American Population Abstracts, vol. 10, No. 1 (LC/DEM/G.40).

DOCPAL Latin American Population Abstracts, vol. 10, No. 2 (LC/DEM/G.45).

DOCPAL Latin American Population Abstracts, vol. 11, No. 1 (LC/DEM/G.48).

Notas de Población, No. 40 (IC/DEM/G.41).

Notas de Población, No. 41 (LC/DEM/G.42).

Software (categorized as a type of publication):

REDATAM (version 1.00)

IRPM/PC (version 1.00)

CHECKEDIT (version 1.00)

QUANTUM (version 1.00)

REDATAM: User's Manual, version 1.00 (in Spanish and English; September 1986).

PANDEM: Manual para usuarios del paquete para análisis demográfico por microcomputador (LC/DEM/R.6).

<u>Los censos de población del 80. Taller de análisis y evaluación</u>, study No. 2. (An overview of the sessions of the workshop held at Buenos Aires from 20 to 24 May 1985.) Published jointly with the National Institute of Statistics and Censuses of Argentina.

Considerations for the 1990 censuses: Possible areas for collaboration. Document presented at the Ninth Inter-American Conference on Statistics, Rio de Janeiro, 15-18 September 1986 (IC/DEM/R.5).

Information activities of the Latin American Demographic Centre (ECLAC/CELADE). Document presented at the Meeting of the Advisory Committee of POPIN, Beijing, China, 22-25 October 1986 (LC/DEM/R.7).

Utilización de la información censal para áreas geográficas pequeñas. Document presented at the Inter-American workshop on census planning, Mexico City, 15-18 June 1987.

El procesamiento de la ronda censal de 1990 en América Latina y el Caribe: una mirada al futuro, ibid.

CHECKEDIT System. An interactive microcomputer programme for editing and correction of demographic survey data, version 1.00, CELADE, January 1987 (LC/DEM/G.46).

User Manual for the Quantum System. A system to exercise a step by step control over the receipt and key entry of survey questionnaires using a microcomputer, version 1.00 (IC/DEM/G.47).

REDATAM: User's Manual, version 2.00 (in Spanish and English) (IC/DEM/G.50).

REDATAM: Data base generation manual (in Spanish and English) (IC/DEM/G.53).

Información sobre población en América Iatina y el Caribe: El diseño de una estrategia para la próxima década. Reference document for the joint CEIADE/PROLAP seminar, Santiago, July 1987 (IC/DEM/R.10).

Tecnologías de la información, ibid. (IC/DEM/R.11).

El Centro Latinoamericano de Demografía: actividades en el campo de la información sobre población, <u>ibid</u>. (LC/DEM/R.12).

Guía para los grupos de trabajo, ibid. (LC/DEM/R.33).

Información sobre población y desarrollo en los países de América Central y el Caribe, <u>ibid</u>. (IC/DEM/R.34).

The relevance of the REDATAM system for the 1990 census (in Spanish and English (LC/DEM/R.48).

Consideration for implementing REDATAM data services (in Spanish and English) (IC/DEM/R.49).

REDATAM: A summary (in Spanish and English) (IC/DEM/R.50).

Regional population information activities in Latin America and the Caribbean: The role of CELADE. Document presented at the meeting of the POPIN/Africa Advisory Committee, Kenya, November 1987 (LC/DEM/R.53).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Seminar on population information for development (organized jointly by CELADE and the Latin American Programme for Population Activities (PROLAP), Santiago, July 1987).

Participation in meetings and conferences

National meeting of the Brazilian Association for Population Studies (ABEP) (Brazil, October 1986).

Asia-Pacific/POPIN Expert Working Group on Population Information Network and POPIN Advisory Committee Meeting (Beijing, China, October 1986).

Inter-American workshop on census planning (National Institute of Statistics, Geography and Information Sciences (INEGI), Cuernavaca, Mexico, June 1987).

POPIN/Africa Advisory Committee Meeting (Nairobi, Kenya, November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Argentina

ECIAC: in connection with various aspects relating to the operation of microcomputers.

Barbados

Statistical Office: in relation to the installment of the REDATAM system and the creation of a data base from the 1980 census.

Bolivia

National Institute of Statistics (INE): in connection with the processing of data from the experimental census.

Brazil

Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE): in relation to the procurement of a copy of the sample for the population and housing census.

Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE): in the planning of activities for the 1990 census.

Costa Rica

Organization of a seminar on REDATAM.

Dominica

Caribbean Community (CARICOM): in the organization of a seminar on REDATAM.

Colombia

National Bureau of Statistics (DANE): in relation to the processing of data from the 1985 census.

Guyana

Statistical Office: in connection with the introduction of the REDATAM system.

Panama

Centre for Population Documentation (CENDOP) of the Ministry of Planning: under the terms of training agreements with CENDOP.

Peru

National Population Council: participation in a seminar-workshop on the establishment of the Population Information Network in Peru.

Dominican Republic

Association for Family Welfare (PROFAMILIA): in the assessment of the activities of the PROFAMILIA Documentation Centre.

St. Lucia

Statistical Office: in the establishment of the System for the Retrieval of Census Data for Small Areas by Microcomputer (REDATAM) and instructions for its use.

Statistical Office: in relation to the assessment of the utilization of the REDATAM system.

Trinidad and Tobago

Central Statistical Office: in the assessment of the possibility of generating a data base from the 1980 census for use in the REDATAM system.

ECIAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean: in regard to the planning of the 1990 censuses of the English-speaking Caribbean.

Uruquay

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in connection with the processing of data from the 1985 census.

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in relation to the programmes for ensuring consistency and producing tabulations which were used in processing the data from the 1985 census.

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in the final assessment of CONCOR, and in the introduction of version 2.0 of REDATAM.

Bureau of Statistics and Censuses: in relation to the utilization of the REDATAM system in a project on critical poverty being conducted in collaboration with ECIAC.

iv) Training and fellowships

See subprogramme 18.3: Training.

PROGRAMME 20: SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

The Vienna Programme of Action on Science and Technology for Development, which was adopted in August 1979, gives special priority to reinforcing the scientific and technological capability of the developing countries, restructuring the present system of international scientific and technological relations, and strengthening the role of the United Nations system in the spheres of science and technology, as well as securing greater financial resources. The activities of ECIAC are carried out within this framework. The vastness of this range of topics, however, in combination with a very limited supply of human and financial resources, made it necessary to be extremely selective in choosing subject for inclusion in the programme of work for the biennium.

The subject of technological development and the challenges facing the countries of the region in this field in the context of the ongoing worldwide technological revolution, has been one of the principal topics in the preparation of the twenty-second session of ECIAC, to be held in Brazil in 1988. The contributions of the programme to the exploration of this subject are reflected in the documentation prepared by the Secretariat for that meeting.

Studies were prepared on the impact of new technological systems on development in Latin America and a meeting of an ad hoc Expert Group (Santiago, November 1987) was convened to examine this question.

With the co-operation of the International Development Research Centre (IDRC) of Canada, a study of the technological development of the Latin American metal products and machinery industry was published and its conclusions were analysed by a group of experts in Buenos Aires, in June 1986. The technological content of Latin American trade in manufactures was also examined.

During the biennium, the project on Information Technology at the service of the economic and Social Development of Latin America was initiated, in ∞ -operation with the Government of Italy. In its initial phase, the project concentrated on the analysis of the most appropriate instruments and forms action for the technological development of small and medium-sized industries in Latin America, and offered advisory assistance on this subject to the governments of the region.

SUBPROGRAMME 20.1: STRENGTHENING OF THE TECHNOLOGICAL CAPACITY OF THE REGION

i) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Regional Working Group on the Creation and Consolidation of Technological Capacity in Latin American Industry, organized in conjunction with UNIDO and IDRC (Buenos Aires, 25-27 June 1986).

Preparatory activities for the project on Information Technology at the service of the Economic and Social Development of Latin America, organized in conjunction with UNIDO (Santiago, Chile, 28 August-2 September 1986).

Meeting of the Working Group on the Impact of the Technological Revolution on the Development of Latin America (Santiago, Chile, 10-11 December 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Ninth Session of the Intergovernmental Committee on Science and technology for Development, organized by the United Nations (New York, 27 July-7 August 1987).

ii) Technical assistance

<u>Argentina</u>

Government authorities and private bodies, in respect of development programmes for small and medium-scale industry.

Colombia

Government authorities and private bodies, in respect of development programmes for small and medium-scale industry.

Costa Rica

Government authorities and private bodies, in respect of development programmes for small and medium-scale industry.

Honduras

Government authorities and private bodies, in respect of development programmes for small and medium-scale industry.

Mexi∞

Government authorities and private bodies, in respect of development programmes for small and medium-scale industry.

Uruguay

Government authorities and private bodies, in respect of development programmes for small and medium-scale industry.

PROGRAMME 21: SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND HUMANITARIAN AFFAIRS

During the biennium 1986-1987, Programme 21, Social Development and Humanitarian Affairs, comprised two subprogrammes: 21.1: Styles of Development and Social Change in Latin America, and 21.2: The Integration of Women into Development.

Subprogramme 21.1 focused on three elements: a) changes in the social structure, an element that sought to analyse specific aspects of social well-being and to report on the principal directions of change in social structures and on the main lines of social policies; b) styles of development, which focused on the analysis of changes in styles of development caused by transformations in the social structure; and c) the topic of youth, as another element in the line of studies, analyses and technical publications on social development. Subprogramme 21.2, The Integration of Women into Development, continued to review the Decade for Women and to delve more deeply into development —related questions, particularly those concerning planning, styles of development, and the improvement of statistical information, particularly that of a socio-occupational nature.

Since early 1986, as a consequence of the exigencies imposed by the crisis, a new direction has been given to the programme, and this process was further strengthened in 1987. Particular emphasis was placed on an assessment of the social policies that need to be designed and implemented in order to ensure more effective collaboration with the countries of the region. This line of action of the programme was confirmed during the Meeting on Possible Measures to Deal with the Immediate and Long-term Impact on Social Development of the External Crisis and the Adjustment Process, which was held in Lima in late 1986 and which examined policies aimed at overcoming poverty within a framework of development, change and equity. For that meeting, as part of the subprogramme, a set of strategies was prepared aimed at combining the goals of overcoming poverty, achieving equity and satisfying the basic needs of the population. Subsequently, this new direction continued to be consolidated and the general lines of a social strategy were proposed with the aim of linking the various economic aspects and co-ordinating the different social policies with each other. To this end, studies of specific programmes were undertaken, particularly an analysis of integrated emergency social programmes designed to improve the living conditions of low-income rural groups, marginal urban groups and women. At the same time, and within this same framework, an examination was undertaken of the role of the State as the principal agent of the development strategy, and of the functions of other social actors and their participation in social agreements and in decision-making processes with regard to the formulation of social policies and social expenditure.

Although significantly more emphasis was placed on social policies during the period under review —this being reflected, for example, in the studies submitted at the Meeting on Social Policies, Change and Development in Latin America, held in June-July 1987— work continued on the assessment of changes in the social structure through the analysis of data from population censuses and the preparation of diagnostic studies. The topic of styles of development was linked to new concerns such as the crisis, the external debt, democratization processes, cultural styles and future prospects.

As regards the subprogramme "Integration of Women into Development", preparatory work continued for the Fourth Regional Conference, studies were undertaken on statistical information, and in collaboration with other units, training activities were prepared, particularly in the field of planning.

SUBPROGRAMME 21.1: STYLES OF DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL CHANGE IN LATIN AMERICA

i) <u>Documents</u>

Entre Rieles: una experiencia interdisciplinaria en video sobre juventud popular urbana (IC/G.1419).

Report of the Meeting on Possible Measures to Deal with the Immediate and Long-term Impact on Social Development of the External Crisis and the Adjustment Process (IC/G.1449(Sem.35/16)).

Informe de la Reunión Técnica Subregional sobre Realidad y Perspectivas del Cooperativismo en Argentina, Brasil, Chile, Paraguay y Uruguay (LC/L.379(Sem.28/7)).

Informe de la Mesa Redonda sobre Estilos de Desarrollo en América Latina y Desafíos del Futuro (LC/L.381(Sem.30/12)).

Crisis of Social Development: Challenges and Possibilities (LC/L.413).

Developmental Social Welfare Situation in Latin America (LC/L.426).

Estilos alternativos de desarrollo y problemas de la estructura social latinoamericana (IC/R.484(Sem.30/7)).

Ia herencia de un estilo en crisis: parámetros macrosociales de proyectos nacionales alternativos en América Iatina (IC/R.485(Sem.30/8)).

¿Las mujeres latinoamericanas tienen algo que decir frente a la crisis? (LC/R.486(Sem.30/9)).

Mujeres latinoamericaras en el debate sobre estilos alternativos de desarrollo (IC/R.487(Sem.30/10)).

Limites a las opciones de desarrollo: las políticas de defensa nacional (IC/R.489(Sem.30/11)).

El cooperativismo en el Ecuador (LC/R.499).

Elementos para caracterizar la cuestión juvenil en Costa Rica (LC/R.502).

América Latina: las mujeres y los cambios socioocupacionales 1960-1980 (LC/R.504).

Youth in the Anglophone Caribbean: the High Cost of Dependent Development (IC/R.507).

Juventud y sociedad en Venezuela (IC/R.509 and Rev.1).

Juventud y sociedad en Honduras (IC/R.511).

Juventud y sociedad en República Dominicana (LC/R.512).

El movimiento cooperativo en Colombia (LC/R.514).

La transformación socioccupacional del Brasil, 1960-1980, y la crisis social de las '80 (LC/R.518).

Efectos sociales de la crisis económica: Chile, 1980-1985 (LC/R.519(Sem.35/3)).

Bolivia 1950-1980: transformaciones, desequilibrios y cambios estructurales (IC/R.521).

Efectos sociales de la crisis económica (LC/R.522).

La estructura social argentina entre modernización temprana y estancamiento relativo (IC/R.524).

Las transformaciones de la estructura socioocupacional de Panamá 1960-1980 (LC/R.531).

Development, Change and Equity: Vanquishing Poverty (LC/R.538(Sem.35/3)).

Los efectos de la crisis de 1982-1986 en las condiciones de vida de la población en México (LC/R.539(Sem.35/4)).

Problemas estructurales y de la crisis económica en el desarrollo social del Uruguay y respuesta en las estrategias de las políticas del gobierno democrático (IC/R.540(Sem.35/5)).

Efectos de la crisis en las condiciones de vida de los distintos estratos sociales de Guatemala (IC/R.541(Sem.35/6)).

Desarrollo social y pobreza en Perú. Factores estructurales y efectos de la crisis externa. Las políticas adoptadas para lograr el desarrollo económico y social (LC/R.542(Sem.35/7)).

Os impactos sociais da crise econômica, políticas sociais e transição democràtica (IC/R.543(Sem.35/8)).

Social Effects of the Economic Crisis in Jamaica (IC/R.546(Sem.35/11)).

Transición estructural, movilidad ocupacional y crisis social en América Latina, 1960-1983 (LC/R.547).

Informe de la situación de la juventud en Nicaragua (LC/R.548).

Políticas para reiniciar el crecimiento y sustentar avances sostenidos en el bienestar general (LC/R.553(Sem.35/9)).

El impacto de la crisis económica en el campo de la salud: problemas y alternativas en la región de las Américas (LC/R.554(Sem.35/10)).

Guatemala: un nuevo enfoque para el desarrollo (IC/R.555(Sem.35/12)).

Colombia: economía social para el desarrollo (IC/R.556(Sem.35/13)).

Chile: estrategias e instrumentos de desarrollo social (LC/R.557(Sem.35/14)).

Consecuencias sociales de la crisis: herencias y desafíos para el nuevo orden democrático uruguayo (IC/R.560).

Recesión, crisis y ajuste en Colombia, 1980-1985: costos y perspectivas (LC/R.561(Sem.35/15)).

Evaluación de las políticas sociales aplicadas en el Ecuador, en el área de la reproducción biológica y las primeras etapas de la reproducción social (LC/R.578(Sem.39/3)).

Estilos de desarrollo, Estado y democracia (IC/R.579).

La política social en Colombia: 1975-1986 (LC/R.581(Sem.39/4)).

Las políticas sociales en el Uruguay 1975-1984, primera etapa: la reproducción biológica y social (LC/R.582(Sem.39/5/Rev.1)).

As políticas sociais no Brasil, 1975-1985: a reprodução biológica e social (IC/R.588(Sem.39/6)).

Ia reproducción biológica y social de los hogares de Montevideo (LC/R.597(Sem.39/7)).

Books published under agreements with publishing houses

Escenarios políticos y sociales del desarrollo latinoamericano (published and distributed exclusively by EUDERA, Buenos Aires).

Proceso y significado del cooperativismo uruguayo (published and distributed exclusively by ARCA Editorial, Montevideo).

Desarrollo y educación en América Latina y el Caribe (published and distributed exclusively by Editorial Kapelusz, Buenos Aires).

Articles in CEPAL Review

"Changes of social relevance in the transplantation of theories: the examples of economics and agronomics", <u>CEPAL Review</u>, No. 28 (IC/G.1392), April 1986.

"Preparation of natural and cultural heritage inventories and accounts", CEPAL Review, No. 28, ibid.

ii) Meeting, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Round Table on Development Styles in Latin America and the Challenges of the Future, organized in conjunction with UNITAR and FLACSO (Santiago, Chile, 6-8 January 1986).

Meeting on Possible Measures to Deal with the Immediate and Long-term Impact on Social Development of the External Crisis and the Adjustment Process, organized in conjunction with UNDP, ILO and PREALC (Lima, 25-28 November 1986).

International Expert Seminar on Youth in the Caribbean Basin: Situation, Prospects, Requirements (Caracas, 3-5 December 1986).

Meeting on Social Policies, Change and Development in Latin America, organized in conjunction with UNDP (Montevideo, 30 June-3 July 1987).

Seminar on planning and communications policies in Latin America, organized by the Latin American Institute for Planning (IPAL) - Centre for Studies on Transnational Culture and ILPES (Santiago, Chile, March 1987).

International Symposium on Ageing and Development: Multidisciplinary Aspects, organized jointly by CELADE, ILPES and FUNIURO (Santiago, Chile, 11-15 August 1987).

Course on social problems and policies in Latin America, organized by HLPES. Presentations on the following topics: Interpreting the Latin American social process; The behaviour of social agents; Discussion of alternatives; The formulation of social policies coherent with the post-crisis; and Bureaucracy, development policy and social policy (Santiago, Chile, 28 August 1987).

Course on development processes and problems in Latin America, organized by HLPES and the Ibero-American Co-operation Institute (ICI). Presentation on social development problems and policies (Madrid, 19 October-4 December 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Third meeting of Curriculum Specialists on the Challenge of Education towards the year 2000 in Chile and Iatin America (Santiago, Chile, 19-23 January 1987).

Meeting with local entrepreneurs of Guadalajara and Jalisco on the adaptation of intergovernmental financial relations and decentralization and resettlement policies (Mexico City, 24 February 1986).

Conference on population and medium-sized and small cities in Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, 24-28 February 1986).

Thirtieth session of the Commission for Social Development (Vienna, 23 February-4 March 1987).

Informal meeting on co-operation among Human and Social Science Networks in the Various Subregions (Caracas, 24-27 March 1987).

Sixth Regional Conference of Ministers of Education and Ministers Responsible for Economic Planning of the Latin American and Caribbean Member States, organized by UNESCO (Bogotá, 30 March-4 April 1987).

Conference on democracy, development and integration, organized by the Latin American Workers' Congress (CLAT) (Quito, 16-22 May 1987).

Sixth World Conference on Comparative Education (Rio de Janeiro, 6-11 July 1987).

International Seminar on Social Sciences and Government Policies in Latin America, organized by ILDIS/UNESCO/SELA (Quito, 13-15 July 1987).

Technical meeting on special employment programmes, organized by PREALC (Santiago, Chile, 25-28 August 1987).

Meeting for Consultation and Assessment with the Directors of technical Co-operation of Brazil, Mexico, Uruguay and Venezuela, organized in conjunction with the Government of Argentina and UNDP (Buenos Aires, 30 August-5 September 1987).

Seventh Ordinary General Assembly of FIACSO (Ia Paz, 31 August-1 September 1987).

Interregional Consultation on Developmental Social Welfare Policies and Programmes (Vienna, 7-15 September 1987).

Seminar on Latin America in the World Economy, organized by INTAL (Buenos Aires, 13-17 October 1987).

Seminar on Chilean Education: Problems and Challenges, organized in conjunction with CINDE and CPU (Santiago, Chile, 15-16 October 1987).

International seminar: Chile Towards the Year 2000: Challenges and Alternatives, organized in conjunction with UNITAR/CIEPIAN/FIACSO/CIEPI (Santiago, Chile, 28-30 October 1987).

Seminar on literacy training as a means of social levelling, organized by the Organization of American States (OAS) (Buenos Aires, October 1987).

International Seminar on the management of large-scale social programmes, organized by the Latin American Centre for Development Management (CLAD) (Buenos Aires, 2-7 November 1987).

Inter-American seminars, organized by the Federal University of Bahia (Brasilia, 9-10 November 1987 and Bahia, Brazil 11-14 November 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Argentina

Government of Argentina, with regard to social policy in education.

Ministries of Education and of Health and Social Welfare, with regard to social policy in education.

Government of Argentina, in collaboration with the World Bank, with regard to measuring and identifying poverty.

Brazil

Collaboration was provided to the Centro de Treinamento para o Desenvolvimento Econômico of the Secretaria de Planejamento da Presidência da República (SEPLAN) (CENDEC). Organization of and participation in the International Seminar on Social Control Mechanisms for Environmental Protection.

Bolivia

As part of the UDAPE/ECIAC/ILPES agreement and of the advisory mission to the Bolivian Emergency Social Fund (FSE), participation in designing the assessment of the participation of non-governmental organizations, in relation to FSE projects.

Colombia

Government of Colombia, in respect of rural social policy programmes.

<u>Peru</u>

Government of Peru, in respect of rural social policy programmes.

Uruquay

Ministry of Labour and Social Security, collaboration in the preparation of social development and assistance measures for the poor.

SUBPROGRAMME 21.2: INTEGRATION OF WOMEN INTO DEVELOPMENT

i) Documents

las mujeres en el sector informal en América Latina: aspectos metodológicos (LC/R.562).

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

Expert Meeting on Measuring the Participation, Income and Production of Women in the Informal Sector (Santo Domingo, 13-17 October 1986).

Seventh Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, 30 October 1987).

Course given by the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) on Women, Development and Planning in the Andean Region. Presentation on the following topic: The Latin American development process and the position of women: their role in the production and reproduction of society (Quito, 15-21 November 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Collaboration in designing the Participatory Action Programme for Latin America and the Caribbean (PAPLAC), and participation in the meeting to assess it (New York, June 1986).

Course-workshop on social participation in reconstruction, with particular reference to the role of women, organized by UNICEF and the Colegio de México (Mexico City, 5-7 November 1986).

Special Meeting of the Commission on the Status of Women (New York, 12-16 January 1987).

Inter-Agency Meeting to Follow up and Co-ordinate Mandates Issued by the Commission on the Status of Women (New York, 19-20 January 1987).

Annual Meeting of the Heads of Programmes for Women of the Regional Commissions with the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) (New York, 21-23 January 1987).

Iatin American regional seminar on consumer protection (Montevideo, 9-11 March 1987).

Seminar on journalism, childhood, women and development (UNICEF), (Montevideo, 27-29 May 1987).

Sixty-seventh Meeting of the Governing Council of the Inter-American Institute on Children (Montevideo, 8-11 June 1987).

Meeting to Commemorate the tenth Anniversary of the Founding of the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) (New York, 27-30 September 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Argentina

Ministry of Health and the Family, in respect of the integration of women into development.

Brazil

Government of Brazil, funded by the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM), in respect of the integration of women into development.

<u>Mexico</u>

National University of Mexico (UNAM), Centre for Studies on Women, in respect of the integration of women into development.

iv) Training

Course-workshop on women, development and planning in Latin America and the Caribbean (INSTRAW/UNIFEM/ILPES) (Santiago, Chile, 27 October-14 November 1986).

PROGRAMME 22: STATISTICS

During the period under review the activities of the Programme were extended in three directions: reinforcing a system of regional co-operation between the Directors of Statistics of each of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean; introducing technological innovations into the dissemination of statistics and in respect of computer systems; and co-operating with governments in the improvement of statistical systems, national accounts and household surveys. Intensive work also continued on extending coverage, improving the dissemination of the information in data banks, and facilitating user access.

With regard to the strengthening of the system of regional co-operation, ECIAC's active participation in establishing a new form of co-operation between the Directors of Statistics of the region deserves particular mention. In September 1987 a meeting was held at ECIAC headquarters, at which the progress of ten regional co-operation activities embarked upon during the last two years was reviewed, and five further areas of co-operation were identified. Responsibility for each of them was assigned to a country or to an international body and a programme of activities which will be reviewed annually was drawn up. ECIAC has itself assumed responsibility for some of these areas of co-operation and has prepared many technical studies in order to facilitate this new method of work.

The introduction of new technologies has enjoyed the support of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). Through the project "Statistics for the Development of Latin America and the Caribbean" (RLA/87/001), which has been under way since September 1987, computer systems in the following areas of statistics are being transferred to the region: automatic data cleaning and entry; construction of data banks; tabulations and metadata. Systems designed in Europe have been installed at ECLAC headquarters and will be transferred free of charge to the countries of the region. A start has also been made on research into the dissemination of statistics with the aim of facilitating the access of users to them by means of modern computer equipment. In addition, background information has been collected on the participation and collaboration of the public and private sectors of the developed countries in the dissemination of statistics. Activities have also been aimed at facilitating access to data by public and private users in the region and at simultaneously promoting the possibility of transforming data.

In the field of technical co-operation with the countries of the region, ECIAC is acting as the executing or associate executing agency for five national projects. Three of these --Guatemala (IA-GUA-84-015 and IA-GUA-87-006) and Venezuela (IA-VEN-86-005)-- designed to strengthen statistical organization and the system of national accounts, are financed by UNDP. The projects relating to Costa Rica (ATN-SF-2419-CR) and Honduras (ATN-SF-2429-HO), funded by the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), are designed to set up permanent systems of household surveys. It should be noted that the last two projects form part of the National Household Survey Capability Programme. In the execution of each of these special stress has been placed on encouraging horizontal co-operation. Thus, some 40 of the external assistance

missions provided for in the above programmes have been successfully carried out by experts from the region.

The ECIAC data banks have been improved in a number of areas, involving improvement of the coverage, speed and precision with which the data is disseminated, as well as easier access for users. In the case of foreign trade statistics, the progress made in the configuration of the data bases of the Latin American and Caribbean External Trade Data Bank (BADECEL) has made it possible to prepare a number of publications, especially America Latina: indices del comercio exterior, 1970-1984 (IC/G.1450, June 1987), "Cuadernos Estadísticos de la CEPAL" series, No. 12.

These publications constitute the culmination of several years' effort since, on the one hand, this is the first time that it has been possible to obtain estimated unit value indexes at the level of the ten sections of the Standard International Trade Classification, making use of computers and adopting stricter methods of calculation, while on the other, this is also the first time in the region that information on external trade has successfully been organized in accordance with the International Standard Industrial Classification of all Economic Activities (ISIC).

Tight links have been maintained in this area with the subregional integration organizations and the holding of special meetings has been promoted. Examples of this were the Seminar on External Trade Statistics, held in Mexico City from 7 to 11 September 1987, which was organized in conjunction with the European Economic Community and the National Statistical Institute (INE), of Spain, and the meeting held at ECIAC headquarters from 21 to 23 October 1987, with representatives of ALADI and JUNAC.

In respect of national accounts, mention should be made of the change of the base year for the series and the creation of an on-line data base. Estimations of all series in the national currencies of the countries of the region using base year 1980 were completed, and correspondences were drawn up with the historical series. In addition research was carried out to determine exchange rates for 1980, in order to be able to express the regional series in 1980 dollars. Consequently, by the end of 1987 a set of series was available for each country in national currency and in dollars at 1980 prices. The national accounts data base was systematized on the basis of highly efficient computer criteria, thereby facilitating direct access by internal users in the institution.

ECIAC has co-ordinated in Latin America and the Caribbean the evaluations and proposals made with a view to participating in the revision of the System of National Accounts. For this purpose, two regional seminars were organized at ECIAC headquarters in Santiago, at which the principal topics covered by the existing system and the proposals made at the international level for its review were examined.

In the area of social statistics, special attention was given to updating the data banks maintained by ECIAC on occupational statistics, social stratification and income distribution. As a result of this effort, statistics are now available which in some cases even cover the year 1987, and a series

of booklets in being published on income distribution, containing data on seven countries in the region.

With regard to the up-to-dateness of the data, mention should be made of the extensive coverage and great precision achieved in all the economic and social estimates provided at the end of each year in order to provide the region with an overview of events during the year. This joint effort on the part of governments and ECIAC means that the region is now in the vanguard of developing regions in terms of the quality and timeliness of short-term information.

Finally, training has been the subject of special attention during this period, as a means of providing support for the statistical development of the countries. Thus, with the collaboration of the Inter-American Statistical Training Centre (CIENES/QAS), five national courses were taught as part of the project to improve the national statistical system of Guatemala. As part of the household survey programmes of Costa Rica and Honduras, training was provided for the technical personnel responsible for the different stages of the surveys. In addition, in 1987 a training workshop was held in Santiago on the use of computer packages for processing statistics, with technical assistance from Hungary, as part of the project "Statistics for the Development of Latin America and the Caribbean". Finally, the Statistics Division collaborated with IIFES in giving the Course on National Accounts within the regular training programme of the Institute in 1986 and 1987.

SUBPROGRAMME 22.1: REGIONAL FRAMEOWRK OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION

i) <u>Documents</u>

Statistical Yearbook for Latin America and the Caribbean, 1985 (IC/G.1420 and Corr.1). United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.S.86.II.G.1.

América Iatina: índices del comercio exterior, 1970-1984, "Cuadernos estadísticos de la CEPAL" series, No. 12 (IC/G.1450).

Preliminary overview of the Latin American economy, 1986 (LC/G.1454).

Statistical Yearbook for Latin America and the Caribbean, 1986 (LC/G.1469-P and Corr.1), United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.S.87.II.G.1.

Origen y destino del comercio exterior de los países de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración y del Mercado Común Centroamericano, 1983 (IC/L.395).

Origen y destino del comercio exterior de los países de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración y del Mercado Común Centroamericano, 1984. Estructura según secciones de la CUCI y zonas económicas (LC/L.416).

Notes on statistical development in Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/R.501).

SUBPROGRAMME 22.2: STUDIES IN METHODS AND QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

i) <u>Documents</u>

Antecedentes estadísticos de la distribución del ingreso: Argentina, 1953-1982, "Distribución del ingreso" series, No. 5. (IC/G.1428).

Antecedentes estadísticos de la distribución del ingreso: Costa Rica, 1958-1982, "Distribución del ingreso" series, No. 4. (IC/G.1429).

Pautas sobre las clasificaciones estadísticas internacionales incorporadas en el Banco de Datos del Comercio Exterior de América Iatina y el Caribe (BADECEL) (IC/R.510/Rev.1).

Estadísticas mineras: producción y precios en América Latina y el Caribe (LC/R.545).

Banco de datos en el área de la estratificación social en América Iatina y el Caribe. Primera fase (1960-1970-1980) (IC/R.551).

Comparaciones internacionales de precios y del producto real (IC/R.552).

América Latina: índices de precios al consumidor (LC/R.565/Add.1).

Diseño de una encuesta que adopta las nuevas recomendaciones y conserva la comparabilidad con encuestas anteriores (IC/R.586).

Las encuestas de hogares y la medición del ingreso en América Latina (LC/R.587).

América Iatina y el Caribe: índices de precios de los principales productos de exportación 1970-1987 (LC/R.590).

Estadísticas del comercio exterior de servicios en América Latina y el Caribe: un breve análisis (LC/R.591).

Estadísticas de la población económicamente activa, del empleo, del desempleo y del subempleo (IC/R.592).

SUBPROGRAMME 22.3: STATISTICAL DEVELOPMENT AND REGIONAL STATISTICAL CO-OPERATION

i) Documents

Report of the Regional Seminar on National Accounts (IC/G.1423).

Informe de la reunión de Directores de Estadística de las Américas (IC/G.1482).

Cuentas nacionales: las experiencias en América Latina y el Caribe, sus posibilidades de ampliación y sugerencias sobre el mejoramiento de la recomendación internacional (LC/R.490(Sem.33/2)).

Background information for the participation of Latin American countries in the twenty-fourth session of the United Nations Statistical Commission (LC/R.515).

Computing systems for statistical tasks: possibilities of interregional co-operation (IC/R.516).

Distribution of statistical information (LC/R.610).

Experiencias de América Iatina sobre el cálculo del producto trimestral (IC/R.617(Sem.43/3)).

Utilización del Sistema de Cuentas Nacionales de Naciones Unidas en los países de América Iatina y el Caribe. Estado de situación - 1987 (IC/R.618(Sem.43/2)).

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Regional Seminar on National Accounts (Santiago, Chile 7-11 April 1986).

Interregional Seminar on National Accounts (Mexico City, 9-14 February 1986).

Methodological seminar on economic characteristics of the population in the 1990 censuses (INDEC/CENEP/ECLAC) (Santiago, Chile, 27-31 October 1986).

Seminar on Household Income and Expenditure Surveys. National Institute of Statistics (INE) Costa Rica/ECLAC/IASI (Institute for Economic Research), San José, 10-13 March 1987.

Seminar on the Improvement and Expansion of the Programme of Household Surveys (National Institute of Statistics of Chile/IIO/ECIAC) (Santiago, Chile, 2-5 June 1987).

Workshop on Foreign Trade Statistics (European Economic Community/National Institute of Statistics of Spain (INE)/ECIAC) (Mexico City, 7-11 September 1987).

Meeting of Directors of Statistics of the Americas (ECLAC acting as Secretariat) (Santiago, Chile, 23-25 September 1987).

Meeting on Foreign Trade Data Bases (ALADI/JUNAC/ECLAC) (Santiago, Chile, 21-23 October 1987).

Regional Seminar on National Accounts (Santiago, Chile, 23-27 November 1987).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Seminar on Adjustment Policies and the Most Vulnerable Groups in Latin America (Bogotá, 20-21 February 1986).

Regional Seminar on Occupational Classification (Buenos Aires, 5-7 May 1986).

Interregional Workshop on Statistical Development in the Least-Developed, Land-locked and Island Developing Countries (Addis Ababa, 19-23 May 1986).

Twentieth Session of the ACC Sub-Committee on Statistical Activities (Geneva, 9-13 June 1986).

Meeting of the Permanent Executive Committee of the Inter-American Statistical Conference (COM/CIE) (Panama, 25-27 June 1986).

Fourteenth Inter-American and Iberian Public Budget Seminar (Buenos Aires, 29 June-4 July 1986).

Ninth Inter-American Statistical Conference (Rio de Janeiro, 15-18 September 1986).

Meeting of the Statistical Computing Project (SCP) (Titchfield, United Kingdom, 7-10 October 1986).

Second National Seminar on the Evaluation of National Accounts (Bahía, Brazil, 23-27 November 1986).

Seminar on Short-term Indicators: Their Construction and Use in Economic Policy (CEMIA) (Santiago, Chile, 24-28 November 1986).

Seminar on the external crisis and economic policy: the cases of Argentina, Brazil and Mexico (Campinas, Brazil, 10-11 October 1986).

Seminar on a Latin American response to the crisis (Montevideo, 13-15 October 1986).

Seminar on internal financing and adjustment (Santiago, Chile, 30-31 October 1986).

Meeting of the Permanent Executive Committee of the Inter-American Statistical Conference (COM/CIE) (New York, 19-20 February 1987).

Twenty-fourth session of the United Nations Statistical Commission (New York, 23 February-4 March 1987).

Twenty-third session of the Committee for Development Planning (New York, 18-29 April 1987).

Regional workshop on the construction of price indexes (Buenos Aires, 18-22 May 1987).

Seminar on statistics for planning (Bahia 26 June-3 July 1987).

ACC Sub-Committee on Statistical Activities (Geneva, 22-26 June 1987).

Seminar on short-term indicators (CAMC/Central Bank of Costa Rica/CEMIA) (San José, 13-17 July 1987).

United Nations Statistical Commission, Working Group on International Statistical Programmes and Co-ordination: Twelfth Session (Geneva, September 1987).

iii) Technical Assistance

Central American Monetary Council (CAMC)

In starting up a Central American system of short-term economic indicators and in formulating a subregional project on short-term economic indicators for the Central American countries.

Argentina

National Institute of Statistics and Censuses (INDEC), in respect of the National Programme of Household Surveys and the use of statistical packages for electronic data processing.

Central Bank, in the analysis of balance-of-payments statistics on services, and in proposing measures to improve them and to obtain more disaggregated data.

Brazil

Institute of Economic and Social Planning (IPEA), in the field of models for medium-term projections.

Central Bank, in the analysis of balance-of-payments statistics on services and in proposing measures to improve them and to obtain more disaggregated data.

Brazilian Geographical and Statistical Institute (IBGE), in the formulation of a draft project on national accounts.

Colombia

National Bureau of Statistics (DANE), in respect of methodology to determine poverty lines through statistical indicators.

Costa Rica

Ministry of the Economy and Trade, through the Office of Statistics and Censuses, as part of the National Household Survey Capability Programme (NHSCP).

Chile

National Institute of Statistics and Censuses, in conjunction with IIO, in developing the National Household Survey Programme.

Ecuador

National Institute of Statistics, in drawing up and revising the National Household Survey Programme.

National Institute of Statistics through a number of advisory missions in conjunction with IIO to draw up and implement a project (ECU/86/009) for providing statistical support to the planning system in respect of information and the formulation of employment policies.

Guatemala

National Institute of Statistics, in respect of the development of its national statistical system, and the Inter-American Statistical Training Centre (CIENES), in organizing and carrying out a training programme.

<u>Honduras</u>

Ministry of the Economy and Trade, through the Office of Statistics and Censuses, as part of the National Household Survey Capability Programme (NHSCP).

<u>Jamaica</u>

In conjunction with United Nations Statistical Office, in evaluating the National Household Survey Capability Programme (NHSCP).

Panama

In discussions over its possible participation in the regional project on short-term economic indicators for the Central American countries.

Office of Statistics and Censuses, in revising the preliminary version of the project to improve national accounts and the production of basic statistics, and in the formulation of a draft project to examine possible sources of funds.

Paraguay

Ministry of Planning, in assessing the availability and quality of the national accounts and other basic statistics.

Office of Statistics and Censuses, in the application of computer packages for electronic data processing.

Peru

In conjunction with the United Nations Statistical Office, in evaluating the National Household Survey Capability Programme (NHSCP).

National Institute of Statistics, in respect of national accounts.

National Planning Institute of Peru (INP), in defining a data base for preparing short-, medium- and long-term projection models.

Uruquay

Office of Statistics and Censuses, in the application of computer packages for electronic data processing.

Central Bank, in the analysis of balance-of-payments statistics on services, and in proposing measures to improve them and to obtain more disaggregated data.

Office of Statistics and Censuses, in conjunction with the ECIAC office in Montevideo, in processing data from four household surveys.

Venezuela

Central Bank of Venezuela, in formulating, implementing, supervising and assessing the project to change the base year of the national accounts.

Groups of countries

In close collaboration with UNICEF, a set of indicators of social trends, applicable to Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Panama and Venezuela, and with special attention to household and childhood, was drawn up in an effort to measure the repercussions of the external crisis on the living standards of Latin American households.

Regional technical assistance projects

A start was made on the activities of the project on Critical Poverty in Latin America, sponsored by UNDP and the United Nations Fund for Population Activities (UNFPA). The project is planned to take four years. ECIAC has undertaken to study the identification of poverty lines using economic and social indicators in nine countries of the region (Argentina, Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico, Panama, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela) over a 16-month period. To this end, missions were carried out to four of the above countries during the first two months.

At the regional level, the project on Statistics for Development in Latin America and the Caribbean was begun with financial support from UNDP. The purpose of this project is to disseminate statistical "packages" which have already been tested in a number of European countries involved in the Statistical Computing Project (SCP). This includes programmes for "checking and cleaning", tabulation and data editing which are compatible with the equipment in use in the region's national statistical offices. Although it is in its initial phase of implementation, ten countries in the region have expressed particular interest in taking part in the project, and contacts have been established with the European countries responsible for developing each of the programmes as part of SCP. Two of these "packages" have already been installed in the ECIAC Computer Centre, and they are at present being adapted to the needs of the region. The programme of activities provides for their installation in the national statistical offices and the provision of the

necessary technical assistance, as well as the organization of two workshops to familiarize users with their characteristics and mode of operation.

In an effort to provide support to the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, the preliminary version of a project to co-ordinate activities in preparation for the 1990 census round and to promote horizontal co-operation in this respect has been drawn up. The project was examined at the Meeting of Directors of Statistics of the Americas, held at ECIAC headquarters between 23 and 25 September 1987. The countries present at that meeting approved the preliminary document, laid down the timetable of activities and assigned responsibility for studying each topic to a country or international agency. Simultaneously, various funding possibilities have been explored in conversations with the United Nations Fund for Population Activities, senior officials of which have been sent the text of the project for their consideration.

iv) <u>Training</u>

Course on Basic Statistical Techniques (Guatemala City, 1 April-23 May 1986), with joint support from CIENES and ECIAC.

CIENES/ECIAC National Course on Economic Statistics (Guatemala City, 16 June-8 August 1986).

ILPES/ECLAC Course on National Accounts (Santiago, Chile 23 June-11 July 1986).

CIENES/ECIAC Course on Sample Survey Techniques (Guatemala City, 16 September-7 November 1986).

Workshop on Generalized Systems and Data-Editing (Santiago, Chile, 17-29 May 1987). Technicians from the national statistical offices of Argentina, Chile and Hungary participated in this workshop, which was also attended by a representative of the United Nations Statistical Office. The event was co-sponsored by the Economic Commission for Europe, the Hungarian Statistical Office and ECIAC.

National Course on Industrial Statistics (Guatemala City, 13 June-2 July 1987). This was attended by 30 technicians representing most sectors of the Guatemalan public administration.

ILPES/ECIAC Workshop on National Accounts (Santiago, Chile, 13-14 July 1987).

PROGRAMME 23: TRANSNATIONAL CORPORATIONS

The Joint ECLAC/CTC Unit on Transnational Corporations works in accordance with the resolutions and mandates adopted by the countries both within the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean and within the United Nations Commission on Transnational Corporations (CTC). Its activities therefore reconcile the interests of the countries in these two areas.

Following its ongoing line of research, the Joint Unit has continued to combine two types of concerns: on the one hand, identifying the impact and influence of transnational corporations on the form of development of the region; on the other, studying specific topics in actual sectors. The validity of this dual approach has been demonstrated, as studies of a more abstract nature are enriched by experience of and research into actual cases, while these in turn benefit from a frame of reference founded on broader concepts of the topic of development.

With regard to specific research, special mention should be made of the studies carried out on the external debt of Argentina and Uruguay with the transnational banks, as well as the updating of the cases of Bolivia, Colombia and Peru. The research in this area led to the preparation of a study in which the five cases were compared in terms of similarities and differences, with emphasis on the degree to which development has been jeopardized by the debt and its servicing.

As regards information on direct foreign investment, a data bank has been created on the topic, and two volumes containing the most up-to-date information available from international and national sources have been circulated.

In addition, the study on the presence of transnational corporations in the production and marketing of food in the region has been completed in respect of Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico and Peru.

In respect of studies of a macroeconomic nature, a document has been prepared on the behaviour of direct foreign investment during the first half of the nineteen eighties, as well as on its influence on the region's development. This represents the Unit's contribution to the CTC's global study on transnational corporations in world development.

SUBPROGRAMME 23.1: FORMULATION OF AN EFFECTIVE CODE OF CONDUCT AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO TRANSNATIONAL CORPORATIONS

As the proposed code of conduct has not yet been approved by the Commission on Transnational Corporations, the Joint Unit carried out no studies under this subprogramme.

i) Participation in meetings and conferences

Seminar on transnational banks (Montevideo, 29 July-6 August 1987). Seminar on transnational banks (Buenos Aires, 9-15 August 1987).

ii) <u>Techni</u>cal assistance

Uruquay

Government authorities, in analysing Uruguay's debt with transnational banks.

SUBPROGRAMME 23.2: ENHANCING THE CONTRIBUTION OF TRANSMATIONAL CORPORATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT AND MINIMIZING THEIR NEGATIVE EFFECTS

i) Documents

Las empresas transnacionales en la Argentina (IC/G.1377), "Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL" series, No. 56. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.6.

Las empresas transnacionales en el desarrollo colombiano (IC/G.1432), "Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL" series, No. 60. United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.14.

Ias empresas transnacionales en la economía del Paraguay (IC/G.1434), "Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL" series, No. 61, United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.87.II.G.5.

SUBPROGRAMME 23.3: STRENGTHENING THE CAPABILITY OF HOST DEVELOPING COUNTRIES
TO DEAL WITH MATTERS RELATED TO TRANSNATIONAL CORPORATIONS

i) Documents

Data bank on direct foreign investment in Iatin America and the Caribbean. Volume 1: based on information from multilateral agencies and governments of the countries from which the investment originates (IC/L.386). Volume 2: based on information from the recipient countries and from regional and subregional agencies (IC/L.386/Add.1).

ii) Technical assistance

Peru

Central Bank, on economic policy matters.

PROGRAMME 24: TRANSPORT

Some of the most important activities of this programme were carried out as part of the project on the Institutional and Economic Efficiency of the Chilean Transport System, carried out in collaboration with the Ministry of Transport and Telecommunications of Chile and funded by the World Bank. Six subsectoral studies were carried out on the present state and ways of improving interurban land cargo transport, the costs of using the road infrastructure, interurban land passenger transport, air transport, sea transport and transport in the southernmost region of the country, which the authorities will use as background material for improving their transport policies. A series of seminars was also held on these topics.

At the request of the Meeting of Ministers of Public Works and Transport of the Southern Cone Countries, collaboration was provided in preparing a draft international agreement on the transport contract and the civil liability of the carrier in international land cargo transport. A draft agreement was submitted for consideration to the Meeting of Ministers in 1987, with a view to holding a meeting for its adoption in 1988.

In addition, support was provided to the Board of the Cartagena Agreement, in respect of its Decision 185 relating to the land-locked status of Bolivia. recommendations relating to procedure (the TIM system) for international transit of Bolivian goods through Peru have been submitted for consideration to both governments.

A similar study was also carried out on the Integrated transport System (ITS) for Bolivian goods trans-shipped through Arica. The ITS has been applied as from 1975, when the governments of Bolivia and Chile accepted the recommendations of ECIAC in respect of the rationalization of the documentation and transport procedures for such goods. The governments now consider that the system needs to be assessed in order to identify the alterations needed to ensure that it continues to be suitable, as transport conditions have changed considerably during the last 12 years.

In respect of urban transport, a second meeting was organized in Mar del Plata between 9 and 13 November 1987 in conjunction with the Metropolitan Transport Division of the Argentine Department of Transport. An assessment was also made of the subsector of interurban passenger transport by bus under regulated and unregulated conditions, in collaboration with the same Department and the Institute of Economic and Social Planning (IPEA) of Brazil.

In order to optimize the use of international foods distribution chains from origin to final destination, a study was carried out with the support of the Government of the Netherlands, as part of the project to promote economic co-operation among Latin American and Caribbean countries in respect of the establishment of inland cargo terminals (ICT Project). The study, which analyses changes in the structure of the regular liner transport industry and their influence in the formulation of national maritime transport policies, constituted the main input for the discussions which took place at a series of seminars jointly sponsored with the International Maritime Organization, as well as at the Second Meeting of the Latin American Maritime Transport

Commission of the Latin american Economic System (SELA), co-sponsored by ECLAC, and at the High-Level Course on the Management of Maritime Transport Companies, offered by the Government of the USSR and UNCTAD in Leningrad.

Close collaboration was maintained with IIPES in the field of information systems for the management of national planning. Under the agreement between IIPES and the Inter-American Development Bank, advisory missions on this subject were carried out for the national planning bodies of Guatemala and Paraguay. Also in respect of information systems, the first microcomputer installation for the Standard System of Maritime Transport Statistics, on Which ECIAC has collaborated for several years with the United Nations Statistical Office, was carried out in Uruguay.

At the request of the Government of Ecuador, ECIAC collaborated in a multidisciplinary effort to assess the damage caused to the transport infrastructure by the earthquake which struck the country in 1986.

In 1986 an international meeting was held at which ECIAC for the first time entered the field of telecommunications. In conjunction with the International Telecommunications Union and the Ministry of Transport and Telecommunications of Chile, ECIAC sponsored a seminar on Telecommunications and their Incidence on the Economic and Social Development of Iatin America and the Caribbean. This meeting gave rise to the Declaration of Santiago, in which it was asserted that telecommunications is not only a means but also a factor of change of fundamental importance for ensuring the success of the development process.

Finally, it should be mentioned that ECIAC's efforts on behalf of transport in Latin America and the Caribbean received special acknowledgement from the Chilean Minister of Foreign Affairs, who, in his speech on the occasion of the forty-first anniversary of the United Nations, highlighted ECIAC's work in the field of operation in transport and in the facilitation of international trade.

SUBPROGRAMME 24.1: POLICY AND PLANNING

i) Documents

El transporte interurbano de pasajeros en Chile. Informe principal (IC/R.520/Rev.1).

Análisis de la eficiencia institucional y económica del transporte interurbano de pasajeros en Chile (LC/R.533).

Análisis de la eficiencia institucional y económica del transporte aéreo en Chile (LC/R.536).

Sinópsis de problemas y opciones de política del transporte terrestre de carga en Chile (IC/R.566).

Mecanismos financieros de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración (ALADI) y la expansión del comercio intrarregional (LC/R.619).

Sinópsis de problemas y opciones de política del transporte marítimo de comercio exterior en Chile (LC/R.620).

FAL Bulletin Nos. 61 to 72.

ii) Seminars, meetings and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

First Academic-Entrepreneurial Meeting on Argentine-Chilean Integration (Viña del Mar, 19-22 March 1986: co-sponsored with several universities).

Seminar on Telecommunications and their Impact on the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean (TELALCA/86) (Santiago, Chile, 12-16 May 1986; co-sponsored with the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) and the Ministry of Transport and Telecommunications of Chile).

Seminar on Methodologies for Analysing Transport Systems for the Formulation of Public-Sector Policies (Córdoba, 19-25 May 1986; co-sponsored with the World Bank).

Participation in other meetings and conferences

Seminar on Transport in the Southernmost Region of Chile (Santiago, Chile, 5 and 6 June 1986).

Seminar on Interurban Passenger Transport in Chile (Santiago, Chile, 16 December 1986).

Seminar on Land Cargo Transport in Chile (Santiago, Chile, 9 April 1987).

Seminar on Regional External Trade and Second Academic-Entrepreneurial Meeting on Argentine-Chilean Integration (Mendoza, Argentina, 25-27 June 1987).

Inter-American telecommunications Conference (CITEL), organized by QAS (Lima, 10-14 August 1987).

Twenty-third General Assembly of the Latin American Railways Association (ALAF) (Buenos Aires, 8-11 September 1987).

iii) <u>Technical assistance</u>

<u>Permanent Secretariat of the General Treaty on Central American Economic Integration</u>

Development and installation of the Programme for Statistical Information on Transport in Central America (INFORTRAN).

Guatemala

General Secretariat of the National Council for Economic Planning, in the the field of computer use.

<u>Paraguay</u>

Technical Secretariat for Planning, in respect of computer use.

SUBPROGRAMME 24.2: LAND TRANSPORT

i) <u>Documents</u>

Sistema integrado de tránsito para mercaderías bolivianas transbordadas a través del puerto de Arica. Evaluación a los 12 años de funcionamiento (LC/L.436).

Transporte del comercio exterior de Paraguay a través del corredor Argentina-Chile (IC/R.529/Rev.1).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECLAC system

Round Table on the Treatment given by Governments to the Various Forms of Transport (San José, 20-21 November 1986; co-sponsored with the Latin American Railways Association (ALAF).

National-level repeat of the First Technical Meeting between Latin American Countries on Urban Transport (Bogotá, 10-16 August 1986; co-sponsored with the Universidad de Los Andes).

Ad hoc Expert Group Meeting on Organizational Aspects of Urban Public Transport (Brasilia, 25-28 November 1986; co-sponsored with the Brazilian National Public Transport Association).

Second Technical Meeting between Latin American Countries on Urban Transport, in conjunction with the Metropolitan Transport Division of the Argentine Department of Transport (Mar del Plata, 17-20 November 1987).

National seminar on the TIR Agreement and its impact on customs fraud, organized in conjunction with the Customs Department and the National Institute of Transport (Bogotá, 9-13 June 1986).

iii) Technical assistance

Meeting of Ministers of Public Works and Transport of the Southern Cone Countries

Assistance in preparing a draft agreement on the transport contract and the civil liability of the carrier in international land cargo transport.

Assistance to the Expert Group of the Meeting, in respect of international customs transit, the transport contract and the civil liability of the carrier in international land cargo transport.

Bolivia

Government of Bolivia, in respect of the transport contract and the civil liability of the carrier in international land cargo transport.

Bolivian authorities, in studying a procedure for international transit of Bolivian goods through Peru (TIM)

In conjunction with Chilean authorities, in reviewing recommendations to improve the Integrated Transit System (ITS).

Bolivian authorities, in evaluating the Integrated Transit System (ITS).

Chile

Regional Intendence of Tarapacá, in relation with the maintenance and reopening of the Chilean Northern Railroad, and railway integration with Argentina and Bolivia.

In conjunction with Bolivian authorities, in reviewing recommendations to improve the Integrated Transit System (ITS).

Chilean authorities, in evaluating the Integrated Transit System (ITS).

Ministry of Transport, in drawing up a project on interurban transport.

Peru

Peruvian authorities, in studying a procedure for international transit of Bolivian goods through Peru.

Uruquay

On the regulation/deregulation of urban collective transport and available options for its financing.

SUBPROGRAMME 24.3: RIVER, MARITIME AND MULITIMODAL TRANSPORT

i) Documents

Los conceptos básicos del transporte marítimo y la situación de la actividad en América Iatina (IC/G.1426), "Cuadernos de la CEPAL, series, No. 52, United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.86.II.G.ll.

structural changes in ocean-liner transport: prospects and implications for policy formulation (IC/G.1463).

Structural changes in ocean-liner transport and the challenges facing Latin America and the Caribbean (LC/R.523).

ii) Meetings, seminars and conferences

Organized by the ECIAC system

First meeting of maritime authorities of Central America and meeting to set up the Operational Network for regional Co-operation between the Maritime Authorities of Central America (ROCRAM-CA) (San José, 17-19 November 1986; co-sponsored with the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and UNDP).

Second Meeting of the Latin American Maritime Transport Commission (COLITRAM), on structural changes in land transport and the growing links with maritime transport, and their implications for the formulation of policies in the countries of Latin America, organized in conjunction with SELA (Caracas, 10-14 August 1987).

Third meeting of the maritime authorities of South America, Mexico and Panama and of the Operational Network for Regional Co-operation between the Maritime Authorities of South America, Mexico and Panama (ROCRAM) (Mazatlán, Mexico, 11-15 May 1987; co-sponsored with IMO).

High-Level Course on the Management of Maritime Transport Companies, organized by the Government of the USSR and UNCTAD (Leningrad, 7-8 September 1987).

iii) Technical assistance

Uruguay

National Port Administration, in respect of the installation of the Standard System of Maritime Transport Statistics, using microcomputers.

2. Substantive support programmes

a) Library and documents services

Technical processes. The Central Cataloguing and Indexing Unit, which is responsible for cataloguing, indexing and standardizing the information entered into the BIBLOS data base of the Library, as well as for cataloguing and standardizing the information fed into the DOCPAL and CIAPIAN data bases of the Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE) and the Latin American Centre for Economic and Social Documentation (CIADES) respectively, processed a total of 10 706 entries for the BIBLOS, DOCPAL and CIAPIAN data bases in 1986.

At the beginning of 1986, the BIBLOS data base was expanded to incorporate the information contained in the Library's old data base (1978-1981), so that the documentation is now indexed in the BIBLOS data base and on microfiches since 1978. Microfiches copies were also made of the updated catalogue and indexes, and copies of them continue to be sent, at minimal cost, to the various offices of ECIAC in the region.

Training in the use of the ECIAC Bibliographic Information System (SIB). As in previous years, training continued to be provided to documentalists upon request by governments and national and international bodies, particularly in respect of bibliographic description.

<u>Services</u>. Services were provided to a total of 12 375 persons, either through direct contact or by telephone, including staff members of the ECIAC system and of other United Nations bodies, fellowship-holders from ILPES, CEIADE and PREALC, university students, and members of the general public.

Loans of documents in the Reading Room and to offices, together with the circulation of periodicals and inter-library loans, totalled 80 989.

A total of 175 bibliographies and searches with printouts on a variety of topics of interest to users of the BIBLOS data base were made.

Thanks to the installation of the AVD System of communication with Headquarters, a rapid link was established with the Bibliographic Information System (UNBIS) of the Dag Hammarskjöld Library, thereby expanding the search facilities available to users, particularly in respect of United Nations documentation.

As in previous periods, the <u>Avance del CEPALINDEX</u>, was prepared. This is a cumulative monthly index which provides the subregional offices with up-to-date information on the documentation produced by the ECIAC system.

i) Documents

<u>CEPALINDEX: resúmenes</u>, vol. 8, comprising summaries of the studies carried out by the ECIAC system published in 1985 (IC/G.1421).

"Raúl Prebisch: bibliografía de su obra entre 1920 y 1986", and <u>Raúl</u> <u>Prebisch: un aporte al estudio de su pensamiento</u> (IC/G.1461).

<u>CEPALINDEX: resumenes</u>, vol. 9, comprising summaries of the studies carried out by the ECIAC system published during 1986 (IC/G.1467).

Indice de revista que se reciben regularmente en la Biblioteca (IC/L.417; IC/BIB/29).

Indice de anuarios que se reciben regularmente en la Biblioteca (IC/L.420; IC/BIB/30).

<u>Boletin mensual</u>, listing the purchases made by the Library, incorporated into the BIBLOS data base.

<u>Boletin semanal</u>, containing indexes of the contents of the academic journals received.

Books published under agreements with publishing houses

Under the auspices of the Library, a scholarly study entitled <u>Handbook</u> on <u>United Nations Heraldry</u>, by Mr. Roberto Rosetti, 87 pp., was published as a library information document, and has aroused considerable interest in United Nations offices in Santiago.

<u>Donations</u>. As in previous years, a donation of books was made by the Government of the Netherlands.

In 1987, the ILPES Training Programme made a donation consisting of a microfiche reader and 50 books in French, mainly concerning planning. In addition, bibliographic material continued to be purchased under the budgets of a number of projects and the material in question was subsequently transferred to the Library to be incorporated into the Commissions bibliographic stock.

b) Administration of technical co-operation activities

Technical co-operation among developing countries and regions (TCDC): In the field of co-operation among developing countries, ECIAC continued to carry out activities to support and promote TCDC through the Operations Division. These activities are fundamentally designed to emphasize the TCDC elements included in the various activities of the programme of work of the Secretariat; to provide support in the preparation of projects designed to identify opportunities for TCDC in fields of interest to countries, and to provide technical support for existing co-operation organizations and networks in the region and for governments which request such support for the execution of their own TCDC projects.

The Operations Division prepared the report of activities and acted as technical secretariat for the Sessional Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions which met during the twenty-first session of ECIAC, in Mexico City.

In connection with the dissemination of information of relevance to TCDC—an aspect which was emphasized in the Buenos Aires Plan of Action, in 1978—the Division has continued publication of the bulletin <u>Co-operation and Development</u>, which is widely distributed both in the region and beyond. In addition the final version of the document on summaries of studies concerning TCDC, vol. I (LC/G.1446) was published—with the co-operation of CIADES— and has been very well received by the potential users of TCDC mechanisms.

Furthermore, during the first half of 1987 a start was made on activities designed to co-ordinate the efforts carried out in respect of TCDC by a number of international and regional agencies such as UNDP, SELA, UNESCO and others, and the activities of a project designed to promote TCDC by strengthening links between national co-ordinating centres in Latin America and the Caribbean were initiated.

Support continued for the execution of the ECIAC/UNDP/Government of the Argentine Republic project designed to strengthen the latter country's TCDC activities in Latin America and in Africa.

Particular mention should be made of the efforts undertaken by ECIAC, together with the other regional commissions, to formulate an interregional programme of co-operation among developing countries. This work began in 1984 within ECOSOC, at the initiative of the regional commissions, and during 1986, as part of this programme, some 20 joint projects were carried out covering a wide range of topics, making it possible to establish contacts to explore possible sources of financial support in order to begin the execution of at least the highest-priority projects under this programme.

Co-operation with countries affected by natural disasters

At the request of the Government of Ecuador, and in close co-operation with UNDP, a mission was carried out to assess the damage caused by the earthquake which affected this country in March 1987; to determine its repercussions on national economic development and on the living conditions of the population affected, and to identify those topics or sectors which should receive international co-operation in order to set about rehabilitation and reconstruction.*/

In October 1986, at the request of the Government of El Salvador and in close collaboration with UNDP, a mission was carried out to assess the damage caused by the earthquake which affected San Salvador, to determine its economic and social consequences, and to draw up specific outline rehabilitation and reconstruction projects. The respective document formed a basis for the appeal to the international community made by the Secretary-General during the General Assembly.**/

^{*/} See the document entitled <u>The natural disaster of March 1987 in Ecuador and its impact on social and economic development</u> (LC/G.1465), April 1987

^{**/} See document entitled The 1986 San Salvador earthquake: damage, repercussions and assistance required (IC/G.1443 and Add.1), November 1986.

Management and administration of projects carried out with extra-budgetary funds

During 1986-1987 co-operation was provided to the substantive divisions, the ECLAC offices located outside Santiago, ILPES and CELADE in respect of 94 new proposals for technical co-operation projects using extra-budgetary funds. These proposals were examined and placed in order of priority by the Project Review Committee.

A number of missions were carried out and contacts made with bilateral and multilateral sources of finance to arrange financial support for 29 new projects planned for 1987, 1988 and 1989. Particular mention should be made of the approaches to UNDP to obtain funds for carrying out the new regional projects during 1987-1991, as well as those to the Governments of Germany, Italy, Japan and the Netherlands to carry out new projects in 1988.

During 1986 funds were negotiated for 21 new projects on a variety of topics and 20 technical co-operation agreements were signed with representatives of donor countries and international organizations. In 1987, funds were obtained to carry out 29 new projects, and 29 technical ∞ -operation agreements were signed. During the period under review, 90 projects carried out using extra-budgetary funds were managed (see annex 1).

In co-operation with UNDP, a course on project formulation was organized and given. It was also attended by officers from ECLAC, ILPES and CELADE.

c) <u>Documents</u> and Publications Division

The Documents and Publications Division edits, revises, translates, reproduces and distributes the documents prepared by the Secretariat in Spanish and English, and to a lesser extent in French; it provides the same services at the meetings sponsored by ECIAC at the headquarters of the Commission and elsewhere; in conformity with the policies established by the Publications Committee, it produces publications for sale and for other purposes, either on its own presses, or by using outside printing facilities, or through co-publishing arrangements with commercial publishing houses, and it collaborates with the Headquarters Sales Section in the work of commercial distribution. It also acts as technical secretariat to the Publications Committee, and prepares and implements the Publications Programme of the Commission.

As regards translation and editing, use continued to be made, of contract translation and editing services in order to supplement in a flexible and timely manner the capacity of the permanent staff to meet peak work loads in Spanish and English; contract translation continued to be used for all translations into French. Staffing and budgetary limitations, however, continued to restrict the possibility of increasing the number of publications in English and translations into French as much as might have been wished.

So far as publications are concerned, in the period under review 31 volumes of periodicals were edited, processed, printed and distributed, including in particular the <u>Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean</u> (annual, Spanish and English versions), the <u>Statistical Yearbook for</u>

Latin America and the Caribbean (annual bilingual), CEPAL Review (thrice-yearly, in Spanish and English,) and Economic Panorama of Latin America (annual, Spanish and English). In the area of monographs, made up of the "Estudios e Informes" and "Cuadernos de la CEPAL" series, 20 new titles were published. A start was made on the series entitled Serie INFOPIAN: Temas Especiales del Desarrollo, the first three volumes of which were devoted to summaries of documents on the external debt, co-operation among developing countries, and water resources, respectively. In addition five books were published on various topics studied by the Commission, together with a large number of easily distributed booklets (mainly preliminary country economic surveys, manuals, monographs, income distribution surveys, etc.). A total of 25 very widely distributed information rates on the economy and development were also published, together with a large number of specialized bulletins and leaflets. In addition, five books were co-published with external publishing houses and three others are in preparation, in collaboration with distinguished publishing houses in Argentina and Uruquay.

During the period under review, progress was made on the automation of text processing, as a result of which it was possible to prepare in the Divison's own printing facilities all the documents previously allocated to the external printing programme, with the exception of the Spanish versions of CEPAL Review.

The support services for translation and editing were reorganized. By means of an internal re-allocation of personnel, the terminology and reference sections were consolidated and are now providing valuable services both to the Editorial and Translation Section and to the staff of substantive divisions. A start has been made on a computerized data base to support translation and editing. This provides information directly to translators/editors and to other officials concerned, and has made it possible to produce support documents (glossaries, thematic indexes, etc.) which should contribute to higher productivity.

The reference library of the Documents and Publications Division was also reorganized, catalogued, supplemented and updated. Since it serves as a small documentation centre for translators/editors, the operation of this library involves the constant processing and consolidation of the material gathered in the search for bibliographic references, as well as the systematization of editorial rules and practices and their entry into computerized files.

To sum up, during the period under review the Division edited and translated 7.94 million words. It produced 550 documents, 62 substantive publications (48 for sale), 73 notes, bulletins and leaflets, and eight reprints, representing a total of 37.8 million printed pages. Using the ADDRESS computerized system, it distributed 337 900 copies of documents and publications and provided 55 700 copies for the United Nations sales network (17 000 of these corresponded to the stocks of HIPES, which has recently joined this sales network). In addition, 28 meetings organized or co-sponsored by the Commission, were serviced in different degrees at the Santiago headquarters and elsewhere.

d) <u>Conference</u> services

In the period covered by the present report, ECIAC sponsored or co-sponsored approximately 100 conferences, meetings, seminars, round tables, etc., dealing with a wide variety of topics of interest in connection with the economic and social development of the region. A list of these meetings appears in annex 2 of the present report.

e) <u>Computer Centre</u>

During the period under consideration, the Computer Centre considerably increased its microcomputer installations, so that 60 units were in operation in ECIAC at the end of 1986, and 85 at the end of 1987; in addition, 30 units are installed in the various subregional offices. Simultaneously, during July and August 1986 a programme of training in the use of the equipment was carried out in which approximately 180 staff members took part.

laser printers were adopted as standard for applications requiring high quality correspondence or graphics; 28 units have so far been installed and are shared by users of micro and minicomputers. Careful consideration has been given to the possibility of using programmes allowing the photocomposition unit to obtain optimum quality through the more professional use of these printers, which have partly replaced the present photocomposition installations.

During 1986 the three DEC minicomputers maintained their volume of work in spite of the considerable increase in microcomputers, which have similar applications, particularly in respect of word processing. The microcomputers have helped to stimulate interest in word processing, thereby intensifying the use of the terminals connected to the DEC equipment. At the end of 1986 one of the Radio Station's telex units was connected to the minicomputers, making it possible to begin to transfer the texts of cables from computers to the telex, with a considerable saving of keyboard operation and a reduction in possible transcription errors.

During the first half of 1987 the work load of the three DEC minicomputers was redistributed on account of operating problems with the PDP 11/34, due to its age. During the second half of the year, this unit was replaced by a VAX-11/750 with an 8 megabyte memory and capacity for 32 terminals, exclusively devoted to word processing —basically for the purpose of centralizing the documents and publications material—, leaving the PDP 11/44 computers free to handle administrative operations and other applications in the field of calculations.

At the beginning of 1986 a major change was made in the operating system of the IBM 370/3031 computer, which made it possible to put into operation the new versions of the SAS Statistical package. In addition, the disk storage capacity was expanded from 1 600 to 2 700 megabytes. Subsequently, at the end of July 1987, the IBM 370/3031 central processing unit was replaced by an IBM 4341 G2, with an 8 megabyte memory and a 25% faster processing speed, thus permitting a 50% higher yield than that of the equipment replaced. On the same date, the disk capacity was expanded to 3 000 megabytes, a 15 page-per-minute laser printer was incorporated into the system, and the IBM 3410 magnetic tape

units were replaced by STC 4550 units, which are twice as fast and tolerate the high recording densities now in use. These activities represent considerable progress in the performance of the processes and the maintenance and exploitation of the statistical and bibliographic data bases produced with the equipment.

During 1986 a data connection was established between the IBM computer installed in Santiago and the computer at Headquarters, New York, thereby facilitating access to the data bases available at Headquarters as well as rapid exchange of information and documents.

In order to meet the needs of users a Technical Assistance Group was set up with personnel from the Computer Centre and the periodic meetings of users of the main services provided by the Centre continued to be held. The Technical Assistance Group has made it possible to provide personalized assistance to users, and to provide guidance in solving problems, as well as to standardize and optimize the applications and utilization of computer systems. The meetings of users have made it possible to keep them informed of the evolution of computer resources and to gather valuable suggestions from participants, thereby ensuring more efficient use of the equipment.

During March 1987 the Computer Centre installed a MICOM INSTANET6000 digital PAEX for data, with a 376 line capacity, whose operation as a communications centre makes it possible to gain access from a terminal or microcomputer to all the larger computers installed in ECIAC, as well as directly to the computer at New York Headquarters. This application constitutes a significant improvement in the distribution of the available computer resources.

f) Information services

These services perform a dual role, as they have to meet the public information needs both of the ECIAC system and of the broader United Nations in Chile, the latter in fulfilment of the mandates of the Department of Public Information (DPI) of the United Nations in New York.

During 1986, the work of the information services was largely centered on the activities of the twenty-first session of ECIAC, of other meetings of the Commission, of the International Year of Peace, and of special United Nations commemorations, and it proved possible to achieve the effective participation of governmental, non-governmental and educational organizations, as well as the media, in this. In 1987 for its part, the most noteworthy activities covered by the Secretariat included the Special Conference in Mexico (attended by more than 300 journalists), the visit to ECIAC by His Holiness Pope John Paul II, the visit by the Foreign Minister of China, the celebration of the International Year of Shelter for the Homeless, the commemoration of the twenty-fifth anniversary of IIPES, and the presentation of two ECIAC publications: Economic Panorama of Latin America, 1987, and Preliminary Overview of the Latin American Economy, 1987. All of these activities were widely publicized in the press, both inside and outside the region.

Among the main tasks carried out during the period under review, the following are particularly worthy of note:

i) Publications

Notas sobre la economía y el desarrollo (Notes on the economy and isvelogment), a monthly bulletin, published in Spanish, with some issues in inglish. A total of 28 issues (approximately 10 000 copies each) were published and distributed inside and outside the region. Eight issues were manufacted into English, with a press run of approximately 2 000 copies each.

<u>Micronoticias</u>. This is a weekly resumé, in Spanish, of ECIAC and United Nations news. A total of 101 issues were distributed, each with a circulation of approximately 1 200 copies.

"Towards an economy of solidarity": texts of the speech made in ECIAC by His Holiness John Paul II and of the welcoming address by the Executive Secretary. A total of 2 100 copies were printed in Spanish and 1 800 in English, and were sent to the member governments of the Commission, to public figures and to various offices of the United Nations system, as well as to journalists.

ii) Press, radio, films and television

A total of 213 press releases were prepared and distributed, with an average of 200 copies each. Direct contacts were strengthened with the major Latin American and world printed media, which have devoted considerable space to significant interviews with ECIAC officials as well as to reports on the activities of the Commission.

In addition, 4 040 ECIAC documents were distributed to leading journalists inside and outside the region, and the number of permanent press recipients of these documents rose from 240 in 1985 to 499 in 1987.

Nine press conferences were organized at ECIAC headquarters in Santiago, five in Mexico, three in the United States, and one in each of the following cities: Berlin, Bogotá, Buenos Aires, London, Madrid, Rio de Janeiro and Rome. In addition, the press was invited to attend approximately 30 meetings of various kinds held at the headquarters of the Commission and more than 100 interviews were arranged between leading ECIAC officials and the media.

In the field of radio activities, the Information Services received directly from United Nations Headquarters in New York, three times a week, telephone dispatches which were relayed to seven broadcasting stations in Chile. Using the same system, more than 80 dispatches on the activities of ECIAC were sent to the United Nations Radio Service in New York, for transmission to more than 100 stations in Spanish-speaking countries.

As far as cinema and television are concerned, more than 700 films and video cassettes were loaned to television channels in Chile and to the general public, and more than 80 film or video showings were given at ECIAC headquarters, mainly for educational establishments. The video programme entitled "Iatin American Report", produced by the Department of Public Information at Headquarters in New York, was transmitted by Channel 5 of Chilean television in its programme "The World of the United Nations". In addition, television programmes were organized in Chile and in other countries

in the region involving the participation of senior officials and experts from ECIAC. The ECIAC Information Services also ∞ -ordinated the filming of the visit by His Holiness Pope John Paul II to ECIAC.

iii) Direct public information services

Information was provided to the general public, a large volume of information material on the United Nations system and on ECLAC was distributed, and exhibitions of posters and photographs were put on, noteworthy among them being the permanent exhibition of United Nations posters in the 40 stations of the Santiago subway: an undertaking which is unique in the world, according to the Department of Public Information.

Replies were sent to approximately 1 500 letters requesting information on the United Nations in general and on ECIAC in particular.

g) CEPAL Review

Issues Nos. 28, 29, 30, 31 and 32 of <u>CEPAL Review</u> were published in the reporting period.

The contents of these issues largely reflected the problems besetting latin America, which in turn constitute the main concerns of the Commission. Thus a number of articles dealt with the present crisis, its consequences and the policies being adopted to tackle it. Particular emphasis was also given to the examination of external-sector problems and those of the mining sector: a topic which had hitherto received relatively little attention in the <u>Review</u>.

It may be noted that issue No. 29 was wholly devoted to the problems of youth in Iatin America and the Caribbean, a focus which made it possible to assess the crisis through the eyes of those who are struggling to enter adult life.

Issue No. 31 contains a selection of studies which were presented at the International Seminar on New Directions for Planning in Market Economies, organized by ILPES and UNDP, and held at ECIAC headquarters between 25 and 27 August 1986, together with several articles on the present State and future prospects of planning in Latin America.

Finally, issue No. 32 was devoted to the topics of the internal debt, the external debt and the process of economic adjustment and transformation.

D. RELATIONS WITH SPECIALIZED AGENCIES AND OTHER ORGANIZATIONS

During the period covered by this report, ECIAC maintained or further improved its working links and contacts with specialized agencies and other organizations, among them the United Nations Centre on Transnational Corporations (CIC), the United Nations Centre for Social Development and Humanitarian Affairs (CSDHA), the Committee on Science and Technology for Development (CSTD), the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO), the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), the other regional commissions, the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the International Labour Office (IIO), the United Nations Population Fund, the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IERD), the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the Organization of American States (OAS), the Latin American Economic System (SELA) and the Latin American Energy Organization (OLADE).

Detailed information regarding ECIAC's relations with the above-mentioned specialized agencies and organizations may be gained by consulting the preceding chapters of this report.

As regards ECIAC's relations with non-governmental organizations, during the period in question the Commission continued and intensified its joint activities with the Chilean Association of Non-Governmental Organizations, an association which ECIAC helped to establish in 1982 and which also enjoys the sponsorship and collaboration of FAO, UNDP, UNICEF and UNESCO. The Association has carried out an ambitious programme of work which includes the organization or sponsorship of numerous conferences, seminars and working groups. Some of its activities which deserve special mention have focused on the study of rural development, the present situation and outlook for adolescents and young people, and the progress made in the integration of women into the economic and social development of Iatin America and the Caribbean. Another noteworthy activity was an international symposium on methodological aspects of the subject of aging as it relates to development, in which a number of prominent specialists participated.

Finally, ECIAC's relations with non-governmental organizations at the regional and international levels have been strengthened, and the Commission is currently working on a joint basis with various regional organizations, such as the Latin American Association of Finance and Development Institutions (ALIDE), the Latin American Manufacturers Association (LAMA), the Centre for Latin American Monetary Studies (CEMIA), the Latin American Centre of Workers (CIAT) and the Latin American Council for the Social Sciences (CIACSO).

130
Annex 1
TECHNICAL CO-OPERATION PROJECTS FINANCED FROM EXTRABUDGETARY FUNDS

TITLE OF PROJECT	DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Technical co-operation and research in economic and social matters in Argentina	Feb.83	Dec.88	Ministry of Finance of Argentina
Technical and economic co-operation among developing countries (Phase II)	Jan.85	Dec.87	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Argentina
Research and training in economic and social aspects of regional development	Nov.85	Oct.90	Federal Investment Council, Argentina
Comparative studies of the census of 1974 and 1985 in Argentina	Jan.87	Dec.87	Government of Argentina
Support to the institutional strengthening programme of the Integrated Rural Development Secretariat (SEDRI) in Ecuador	Nov.84	June 88	Government of Ecuador (IDB)
Technical co-operation to strengthen the system of planning in the Dominican Republic	Sep.85	Dec.87	Government of the Dominican Republic (IDB)
Technical co-operation for the installation and utilization of a mocroeconomic model in Paraguay	Sep.85	July 89	Government of Paraguay (IDB)
Strengthening of the national planning system in Guatemala	Oct.86	Sep.88	Government of Guatemala (IDB)
Support to the household surveys programme in Costa Rica	Aug.86	July 89	Government of Costa Rica (IDB)

TITLE OF PROJECT	DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Support to the household surveys programme in Honduras	April 86	March 88	Government of Honduras (IDB)
Strengthening of the accounting system in the State of Bahia	June 84	Dec.87	Government of the State of Bahia, Brazil
Co-operation in the area of prevention and social assistance in Brazil	Sep.87	Aug.88	Government of Brazil
Technical co-operation to the planning system in Belize	Sep.84	Dec.87	UNDP
Support to maximize technical co-operation in Belize	July 86	Dec.87	UNDP
Analysis of the demographic situation in Latin America and the Caribbean	April 82	Dec.88	CIDA, Canada
Economic co-operation with the Government of Colombia	Jan.87	Dec. 87	Government of Colombia
Economic democratization and social development in Costa Rica	April 87	March 89	UNDP
Policy formulation and elaboration of planning in Ecuador	May 85	Dec.87	UNDP
National case-studies of the situation and perspectives of the youth in Iberian America	May 85	Dec.87	Government of Spain (ICI)
Environmental protection for the agricultural development of Latin America and the Caribbean	April 87	Dec.87	UNEP
Co-operation between the Government of France and ECLAC/ILPES/CELADE in the area of planning and demography (1986-1987)	July 86	Dec.87	Government of France

DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Oct.85	Oct.87	Government of France
Oct.85	Dec.87	Government of France
Oct.85	Dec.87	UNDP
Aug.87	July 88	UNDP
March 87	Feb.88	Government of the Netherlands
Jan.87	Dec.87	Government of the Netherlands
M ay 87	April 88	Government of the Netherlands
July 86	June 89	Government of the Netherlands
Jan.87	Dec.87	Government of the Netherlands
Jan.87	Dec.87	Government of the Netherlands
Sep.87	May 88	UNDP
	Oct.85 Oct.85 Oct.85 Aug.87 March 87 Jan.87 July 86 Jan.87 Jan.87	COMMENCEMENT CONCLUSION Oct.85 Oct.87 Oct.85 Dec.87 Aug.87 July 88 March 87 Feb.88 Jan.87 Dec.87 May 87 April 88 July 86 June 89 Jan.87 Dec.87 Jan.87 Dec.87

TITLE OF PROJECT	DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Utilization of microcomputers to retrieve census data in small areas in Latin America and the Caribbean	June 85	Dec.87	IDRC, Canada
Technical co-operation in the area of information and documentation in the Caribbean	May 85	Feb.88	IDRC, Canada
Information for development policies and planning (INFOPIAN phase III)	July 86	June 89	IDRC, Canada
Infant mortality methodology in Argentina, Chile and the Dominican Republic	July 87	Sep.88	IDRC, Canada
Regional population information seminar for development (PROLAP)	July 87	Dec.87	IDRC, Canada
Planning management of water resources in mountain watersheds in the Andean region	Nov.84	Dec.87	Government of Italy
Co-operation to promote technological development activities in Latin America	April 86	Dec.89	Government of Italy
Co-operation for the development of Latin America in selected areas and countries of the Andean subregion	April 86	July 88	Government of Italy
Training and advisory services in planning agriculture and livestock development (SARH) in Mexico	June 84	May 90	Government of Mexico
Operative aspects of planning in Nicaragua	Jan.87	Dec.87	UNDP
Strengthening the capacity of the U.N. regional commissions in environmental matters	Aug.78	Dec.87	UNEP

TITLE OF PROJECT	DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Environmental management and development planning in Latin America and the Caribbean	June 86	June 88	UNEP
Horizontal co-operation in the management of water resources projects in Latin America and the Caribbean (Phase I)	Dec.84	Dec.87	Government of the Federal Republic of Germany
Technical co-operation to environmental systems and strategies for extending the agricultural frontier in Latin America	Nov.85	Dec.87	Government of the Federal Republic of Germany
Technical co-operation to assist petroleum-sector planning in Central America	Dec.86	Dec.87	Government of the Federal Republic of Germany
Analysis of the export potential of restrictions on small & medium-sized industrial firms in selected countries of latin America in relation to European countries (Phase III)	April 86	Dec.87	Government of the Federal Republic of Germany
Technical co-operation for development of women	Jan.85	Dec.87	United the Nations Development Fund for Women
Support to the external services of Latin America	Jan.86	Dec.90	UNDP
Analysis of critical poverty in Latin America	Sep.87	Dec.88	UNDP
Consultancy services to support regional projects in Latin America and the Caribbean	Aug.86	Dec.87	UNDP
Elaboration and diffusion of new technology in planning and programming of public policies (ILPES)	Jan.87	Dec.90	UNDP

TITLE OF PROJECT	DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Training for integration of population into socio-economic development in Latin America	Jan.87	Dec.87	UNFPA
Training in population information and technology for development in Latin America	Jan.87	Dec.87	UNFPA
Training in demography, population and development in Latin America	Jan.87	Dec.87	UNFPA
Statistics for development in Latin America and the Caribbean	July 87	June 89	UNDP
Support to the governments of Latin America and the Caribbean in economic recovery and development	July 87	Dec.89	UNDP
Strengthening of federal co-operative systems of savings and credit in Central America	June 87	June 89	UNDP
Technical assistance for the development of trade and commercial negotiations (UNCTAD-ECIAC)	July 87	June 91	UNDP
Control and external debt management in Central America	Nov.87	April 89	UNDP
Demographic analysis of census data and surveys in the Caribbean	April 87	Dec.87	UNFPA
Urban development studies in Latin America	March 86	March 87	U n i t e d Nations University (UNU)
Improvement of economic and social analysis in Uruguay	Jan.86	Dec.87	UNDP
Technical assistance to Uruguay in the area of external trade	March 85	Dec.87	UNDP

TITLE OF PROJECT	DATE OF COMMENCEMENT	DATE OF CONCLUSION	SOURCE OF FUNDING
Support to the formulation and execution of the Fourth National Programme of Technical Co-operation in Uruguay	Oct.87	Dec.88	UNDP
Technical co-operation to improve the national accounts in Venezuela	Sep.86	Dec.89	UNDP

Annex 2

CONFERENCES AND MEETINGS SPONSORED OR CO-SPONSORED BY ECLAC

	Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
	1986		
Round Table on Styles of Development in		•	INITAD (FC) AC (5) ACCO
Latin America and the Challenges of the Future	6-8 January	Santiago	UNITAR/ECLAC/FLACSO
Informal High-Level Meeting on Debt, Adjustment			
and Growth in Latin America	13 January	New York	ECLAC
xpert Meeting on Co-operative Forms of			
ork and Production in Agriculture	20-21 January	Santiago	ECLAC/FAO Joint
Eighth Intergovernmental Meeting of the			Agriculture Divisio
echnical Subcommittee of ILPES	20-21 January	Bogotá	ILPES
atin American and Caribbean Conference on Housing and Economic and Social Development	27-31 January	Bogotá	ECLAC/UNCHS/
ousting and Economic and Social Development	21-31 Valualy	bogotu	Government
			of Colombia
loint Meeting of the Institute of European/			
atin American Relations (IRELA) and RIAL	15-18 February	San Salvador	IRELA/ASEAL-RIAL
Introductory Seminar on International	17-21 February	San José	FLACSO/CSUCA/ASEAL-
delations	·		RIAL
leventh Session of the Committee of			
ligh-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)	3-6 March	Bogotá	ECLAC
eminar on Development on a Human Scale: kork and Self-reliance	13-14 March	Santiago	ECLAC/UNCHS/CEPAUR
on dim deci l'etimbe		•	
he International Role of the United States			ASEAL-RIAL
n its Relations with Latin America	25-26 March	Santiago	W2FWT.KIWT
econd Seminar on Experiences in Road	6-8 April	Curitiba,	ECLAC/World Bank/
aintenance in Latin America	·	Brazil	Ministry of
nd the Caribbean			Transport,
			Paraná State

Annex 2 (cont.1)

	Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
Regional Seminar on National Accounts	7-11 April	Santiago	ECLAC
Seminar-Workshop on the Application of the			
CAPPA Programme in Regional Agricultural			
Development Planning	14-18 April	Santiago	PROCADES
Introductory Seminar on International			
Relations	14-19 April	Lima	CEPE I/RIAL
Twenty-first Session of ECLAC	17-25 April	Mexico, D.F.	ECLAC
Second Seminar-Workshop on the Application			
of the DASI Programme for the Analysis of			
Rural Development Project	28 April-7 May	Santiago	PROCADES
Meeting on Protectionism	29 April	Santiago	ECLAC/LAMA
Seminar on the Financial Management and			
Administration of Universities	12-15 May	Santiago	ECLAC/CINDA
Seminar on Telecommunications and their Impact			ECLAC/World Bank/ITU
on the Economic and Social Development of			Ministry of Transport
Latin America and the Caribbean (TELALCA/86)	12-16 May	Santiago	and Telecommunications of Chile
Seminar: Latin America and the Caribbean			
in the International Economy	21-23 May	Santiago	ECLAC/UNCTAD/UNDP
Seminar on Peace, Disarmament and Development	25-27 June	Santiago	ASEAL-RIAL/FLACSO
Meeting on the Establishment and Consolidation			
of Technological Capacity in Latin American			
Industry	25-27 June	Buenos Aires	ECLAC/UNIDO/IDRC
Third Meeting of Experts on Capital Goods			
Industries in Latin America	7-9 July	Santiago	ECLAC/UNIDO
Seminar on Co-operativism and Development	14-17 July	Santiago	CONFECCOOP/USACH/UNCHS/ OAS
Meeting to Co-ordinate Progress on the			
Joint Project	23 July	Santiago	ECLAC/AIETI
Regional Seminar on Peace, Disarmament			
and Development in South America	4-8 August	Lima	ASEAL-RIAL

	Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
Meeting of the Academic Committee of			
FLACSO. RIAL/FLACSO Postgraduate Course	6-11 August	San José	ASEAL-RIAL/FLACSO
Course on International Negotiations	13-22 August	Mexico, D.F.	ASEAL-RIAL/Government of Mexico
Introductory Seminar on International Relations	18-22 August	Asunción	ASEAL-RIAL/Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Paraguay
International Colloquium on New Orientations for Planning in Market Economies	25-27 August	Santiago	1LPES/UNDP
Consultative meeting: "Support for the External Services of Latin America"	28-29 August	Montevideo	ASEAL-RIAL
Seminar on the Regional Project on Information Technologies at the Service of Economic and Social Development (DESTIN)	28 August-2 Sept <i>em</i> ber	Santiago	ECLAC/UNIDO
Working Group on Agreed Income and Employment Policies	2-3 September	Santiago	PREALC/ECLAC
Seminar on the Evaluation of Social Policies	8-9 September	Santiago	ILPES/UNICEF
Introductory Seminar on International Relations	6-10 October	Rosario Argentina	University of Romaria/ ASEAL-RIAL
Seminar on Key Contributions to International Peace and Security	8-9 October	Santiago	ECLAC/IERIC
Seminar on the Economic Policies being Pursued in Argentina, Brazil and Mexico	10-11 October	São Paulo	ECLAC/UNICAMP
The Latin American Response to the Crisis	12-14 October	Montevi deo	ECLAC/Institute of Economics, University of the Oriental Republic of Uruguay
eminar on Planning and Management of National evelopment: the Role of Local Governments	15-17 October	Montevi deo	ECLAC/UNCNS/HJLA
eminar on Petroleum Prices	16 October	Santiago	ECLAC/Government of Chile (LAN)
eminar on Critical Poverty and Housing Needs NCHS/93CHIPLAN/Chilean	21-23 October	Santiago	
			College of Architects

	Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
Seminar on Macroeconomic Models used in Latin America and the Caribbean	27-29 October	Santiago	ECLAC/1LPES/JUNAC
Regional Seminar on Environmental Systems and Strategies for Expanding the Agricultural Frontier in Latin America	28-30 October	Santiago	ECLAC/UNEP
International Round Table on Stabilization Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean	28-31 October	Montevideo	ECLAC/DSE
Seminar on Domestic Financing and Adjustment	30-31 October	Santiago	ECLAC
Twentieth General Regional Assembly of FID/CLA	30 October-1 November	Santiago	ECLAC/CLADES/FID/CLA
Meeting of Consultants on the Project on Horizontal Co-operation in the Management of Water Resources	3-6 November	Santiago	ECLAC
Consultative Meeting on Basic Lines and Plan of Action for a Regional Programme to Strengthen Co-operation Among National Information Networks and Systems for Development in Latin America and the Caribbean (INFOLAC)	3-7 November	Santiago	CLADES/UNESCO
Seminar: Europe and Latin America in the Global Strategic Debate	10-12 November	Buenos Aires	ASEAL-RIAL
First Meeting on Chilean/Canadian Co-operation for development	12-14 November	Santiago	ECLAC/Embassy of Canada
Seminar on Peace, Disarmament and Development	13-14 November	Santiago	CINDE/ECLAC
Seminar on Science and Technology and their Strategies for Latin American Integration	18-19 November	Santiago	ECLAC/Chilean Association of Scientists
Seminar to Mark the Twentieth Anniversary of the Institute of International Studies	20 November	Santiago	ECLAC/Institute of International Studies
Eighth Annual Meeting of Member Centres of RIAL	24-26 November	Lima	ASEAL-RIAL
Regional Seminar on Maritime Agreements Governing Civil Responsibility	24-27 November	Santiago	IMO/UNDP/ECLAC/ROCRAM,

Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
24-28 November	Lima	ECLAC/JUNAC
24 EU NOVEMBEI		
25-28 November	Lima	ECLAC/UNDP/ILO/PREALC
27-28 November	Lima	ASEAL-RIAL
	•	•
20. 11	Comtings	ASEAL-RIAL
28 November	Santiago	ASEAL-KIAL
1-2 December	Lima	ILPES/ECLAC
4.7.8	Contingo	ECLAC/CINDA/CPU
1-3 December	Saittago	ECENCY CENTRY OF C
1-4 December	Buenos Aires	ECLAC
2-5 December	Guatemala	ASEAL-RIAL/
		Government of
		Guatemala
9-12 December	Santiago	ASEAL-RIAL
, in pecchaet		¥ . *
16 December	Santiago	ECLAC
		•
16 December	Santiago	ECLAC/UNCHS
<u>1987</u>	• .	
14-16 January	Santiago	Universidad Católica/
		ECLAC
	24-28 November 25-28 November 27-28 November 1-2 December 1-3 December 1-4 December 2-5 December 16 December 16 December	24-28 November Lima 25-28 November Lima 27-28 November Lima 28 November Santiago 1-2 December Santiago 1-4 December Buenos Aires 2-5 December Guatemala 9-12 December Santiago 16 December Santiago 16 December Santiago Santiago Santiago Santiago Santiago Santiago Santiago Santiago

Annex 2 (cont.5)

2-5 March	Santiago	CELADE/ILPES
16-26 March	Santiago	ECLAC/UNCHS/DSE
23-26 March	Havane	ILPES
	_	
6-8 April	Montevideo	UNEP
	_	
9 April	Santiago	ECLAC
9-10 April	Montevideo	UNEP
		ECLAC/UNEP/LAN Chile/
18-19 May	Santiago	Price Waterhouse
		ECLAC/Government
		of the Federal
18-21 May	Santiago	Republic of Germany
25-26 May	Mexico, D.F.	ECLAC/ALADI
		ECLAC/ILO Institute
2-5 June	Santiago	of Statistics
17-20 June	Santiago	CPPS/UNEP/ECLAC
30 June-3 July	Montevideo	ECLAC/UNDP
28-31 July	Santiago	CELADE/PROLAP
11-12 August	New York	ECLAC
	16-26 March 23-26 March 6-8 April 9-10 April 18-19 May 18-21 May 25-26 May 2-5 June 17-20 June 30 June-3 July	16-26 March Santiago 23-26 March Havana 6-8 April Montevideo 9 April Santiago 9-10 April Montevideo 18-19 May Santiago 18-21 May Santiago 25-26 May Mexico, D.F. 2-5 June Santiago 17-20 June Santiago 30 June-3 July Montevideo 28-31 July Santiago

	Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
Internal			
International Symposium on Aging and the			
Development Process: Multidisciplinary Aspects	11-13 August	Santiago	ILPES/CELADE/FUNTURO
Nineteenth Session of the Committee of the			
Whole	13-14 August	New York	ECLAC
Meeting of Integration and Co-operation			•
Bodies of Latin America and the Caribbean	17-18 August	Santiago	ECLAC/SELA
Regional Technical Meeting of Experts on	7-11 September	Santiago	ECLAC/CLADES/UNESCO-
the CDS/ISIS Programme for Microcomputers	, ,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,	GIP
			•
Seminar-Workshop on Environmental and Economic			ECLAC/ILPES/UNEP
Apects of the Management of Industrial Wastes	8-12 September	Buenos Aires	Carl Duisberg
			Gesselschaft/
			Municipality of
			Buenos Aires
Meeting of Directors of Statistics of the			
Americas	23-25 September	Santiago	ECLAC
First Meeting of Heads of National Drug			United Nations
Law Enforcement Agencies, Latin American and			Secretariat, Division
Caribbean Region	28 September	Santiago	of Narcotic Drugs
Tenth Session of the Caribbean Development	28 September-		
and Co-operation Committee	1 October	Port of Spain	ECLAC
Sominan			
Seminar on Changes in the Age Distribution of the Population. Past Trends and	28 September-2		
Future Prospects	October	Santiago	CELADE
Seminar on Chilean Education: Problems			
and Challenges	15-16 October	Santiago	CINDE/CPU/ECLAC
Seminar on Chile in the Year 2000:			CIEPLAN/CLEPI/FLACSO/
Challenges and Options	28-30 October	Santiago	UNITAR
Seventh Meeting of the Presiding Officers of			
the Regional Conference on the Integration of			
bomen into the Economic and Social Development			
of Latin America and the Caribbean	30 October	Mexico, D.F.	ECLAC
naugural Meeting on the Family and Housing	6 November	Santiago	UNCHS/EC_AC/
•			Archbishopric of
			Santiago

Annex 2 (concl.)

	Date	Place	Sponsoring agency
Regional Seminar on Economic Diplomacy	10-13 November	Santiago	RIAL/ASEAL
Meeting of Experts on Capital Goods			
Industries in Latin America	16-18 November	Santiago	ECLAC/UNIDO
Regional Seminar on National Accounts	23-27 November	Santiago	ECLAC/CEMLA
Workshop on Agro-Rural Development			
Strategies with Peasant Participation	24-27 November	Santiago	ECLAC
Seminar on Changes in Styles of Development			
in the Future of Latin America	1-3 December	Santiago	ECLAC

III. TWENTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE COMMISSION

A. ATTENDANCE AND ORGANIZATION OF WORK

Place and date of the session

1. The twenty-second session of the Commission was held in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, from 20 to 27 April 1988. In the course of the session, seven plenary meetings were held (231 to 237). As the year of the session coincided with the fortieth anniversary of the founding of ECIAC (1948-1988), two special commemorative meetings were held, at the first of which the speakers were Enrique V. Iglesias and João C. Baena Soares, while at the second addresses were delivered by Celso Furtado and Carlos Rafael Rodríquez.*/

Attendance

- 2. The session was attended by representatives of the following member States of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean: Antiqua and Barbuda, Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, France, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, Mexico, the Netherlands, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Portugal, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Spain, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America, Uruguay and Venezuela.
- 3. The Netherlands Antilles, an associate member of the Commission, was also represented. The incorporation of Aruba as a new associate member was approved at the 231st plenary meeting, and it thereafter also took part in the work of the session.**/
- 4. In accordance with paragraph 6 of the Terms of Reference of the Commission, observers from the following United Nations member States which are not members of the Commission were present in a consultative capacity: Australia, Austria, Belgium, China, Czechoslovakia, Egypt, Federal Republic of Germany, Finland, German Democratic Republic, Greece, Indonesia, Israel, Germany, Japan, Lebanon, Norway, the Philippines, Romania, Sweden, and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

^{*/} For summaries of these statements see paras. 264 to 281 below. **/ See paras. 283 and 452 below, and ECIAC resolution 490(XXII).

- 5. The following States which are not members of the United Nations were also represented in a consultative capacity: the Holy See and Switzerland.
- 6. The United Nations Secretariat was represented by the Director-General for Development and International Economic Co-operation and by officials from the Department of Public Information and the Regional Commissions Liaison Office.
- 7. In addition, representatives of the following United Nations bodies attended the session: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), United Nations University (UNU) and World Food Programme (WFP).
- 8. The following United Nations specialized agencies were represented at the session: International Labour Organisation (ILO); Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO); International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO); International Monetary Fund (IMF); United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO); United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO); World Bank; World Health Organization (WHO); and World Meteorological Organization (WMO).
- 9. The meeting was also attended by representatives of the following intergovernmental organizations: Andean Development Corporation (CAF), Board of the Cartagena Agreement (JUNAC), Caribbean Community (CARICOM), Central American Institute for Industrial Research and Technology (ICAITI), Commission of the European Communities (CEC), Council for Mutual Economic Assistance (CMEA), Group of Latin American and Caribbean Sugar Exporting Countries (GEPLACEA), Institute for Latin American Integration (INTAL), Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Inter-American Institute of Agricultural Co-operation (IICA), Intergovernmental Committee for Migrations (CIM), Latin American Economic System (SELA), Latin American Energy Organization (OLADE), Latin American Faculty of Social Sciences (FLACSO), Latin American Integration Association (ALADI), Organization of American States (OAS), Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) and Permanent Secretariat of the General Treaty on Central American Economic Integration (SIECA).
- 10. The following non-governmental organizations enjoying consultative status with the Economic and Social Council were also represented: Category I: International Chamber of Commerce, International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Council of Women, International Organization of Consumers' Unions, International Social Security Association, International Union of Iocal Authorities. League of Red Cross Societies, Third World Foundation, World Confederation of Iabour, World Federation of Democratic Youth, World Federation of Trade Unions, World Veterans' Federation. Category II: Baha'i International Community, International Association of Lions Clubs, International Catholic Child Bureau, International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage, International Federation of University Women, International Road Transport Union, Iatin American Association of Development Finance Institutions, Rehabilitation International, Women's International Zionist Organization, World Intheran Federation, World Vision International Roster: Centre for Iatin American Monetary Studies (CEMIA) and Iatin American Social Sciences Council.

- ll. In the category "Other non-governmental organizations", the following organizations were represented: Association of Non-governmental Organizations (Chile), External Trade Studies Centre Foundation (Brazil), National Confederation of Industries (Brazil), and Programme of Joint Studies on Latin American Economic Integration.
- 12. Attending the session as specially invited guests were Edmar Bacha, João C. Baena Soares, Antonio B. Baltar, Antonio Barros de Castro, Regino Boti, Sulamis Dain, André Franco Montoro, Celso Furtado, Iuis Alberto Gómez de Souza, Norberto González, Enrique V. Iglesías, Julio Enrique Orellana Ramos, David H. Pollock, Augusto Ramírez-Ocampo, Carlos Rafael Rodríguez, Jayme C. Santiago, and Paulo Renato C. Souza.

Credentials

13. Pursuant to Rule 15 of the Commission's Rules of Procedure, the credentials of the delegations as submitted to the Executive-Secretary were examined and found to be in order.

Opening ceremonies

- 14. The technical stage of the twenty-second session opened on Wednesday, 20 April 1988 at 12:00 p.m. in the Copacabana Palace Hotel of Rio de Janeiro. At the opening ceremony addresses were delivered by the Executive Secretary of the Commission, Mr. Gert Rosenthal, and by the Minister of Planning and Co-ordination of Brazil, Mr. João Batista de Abreu, on behalf of the host country.*/
- 15. The opening ceremony of the ministerial-level stage took place on Monday, 25 April at 10:00 a.m. in the Copacabana Palace Hotel. It was presided over by H.E. Mr. Roberto de Abreu Sodré, Minister of Foreign Affairs of Brazil and Chairman of the Commission.
- 16. At this ceremony, addresses were delivered by the Minister of Planning and the Budget of Mexico, Mr. Pedro Aspe; the Director-General of Development and International Economic Co-operation of the United Nations, Mr. Jean Ripert; the Executive Secretary of ECIAC, Mr. Gert Rosenthal, and H.E. Mr. Roberto de Abreu Sodré. The Secretary of the Commission, Mr. Daniel Blanchard, read a special message to the session from the Secretary-General of the United Nations, Javier Pérez de Cuellar.
- 17. The Minister of Planning and the Budget of Mexico said that, 40 years after its establishment, ECIAC was a solid and extremely valuable institution which had contributed much to the development of the region during that period. After the end of the Second World War, ECIAC had contributed to the design of economic models which had given impetus to the structural transformation of the countries of Latin America and to contact and concertation among the governments of the region.

^{*/} For summaries of these addresses, see section C, paras. 55 to 71.

- 18. At the Special Conference of ECIAC held in Mexico in 1987, President Miguel de la Madrid had urged the Commission to undertake a special effort of reflection and analysis regarding the various schemes and arrangements for solving the debt problem, the analysis of the structural changes in the region, and the role which regional integration should play in the development of the countries. Those reflections had already been incorporated into the draft programme of work of ECIAC for the biennium 1990-1991 and reaffirmed in the document of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN), which called for the establishment of a new international economic order based on the restructuring of the monetary system.
- 19. Despite the difficulties encountered in recent decades, several countries of the region had undertaken processes of modernization, structural change and greater orientation of their productive apparatus towards the exterior, in order to gear their economies to meet the challenges posed by industrial reconversion and a new approach to the question of the scale and degree of State intervention in the economy in order to enhance its efficiency.
- 20. The internal adjustment efforts made by Mexico in recent years would be useless if the international environment proved unfavourable, since all progress in the area of development was susceptible to the evolution of the world economy and, in particular, that of the international financial situation. It was impossible to fulfill debt-servicing obligations in a context of prolonged domestic recession, increasing external protectionism, deteriorating terms of trade and termination of the financial flows from abroad; one of the indispensable conditions for fulfilling those obligations was the opening up of the markets of the trading partners of Latin America and the Caribbean.
- 21. Furthermore, ECIAC should actively support the countries of the region in the negotiations of the Uruguay Round in order to make full use of the negotiating strength of Latin America. As had been recently pointed out by the eight Latin American Presidents gathered together in Acapulco, the return to sustained economic growth, improvement of living conditions and the strengthening of the democratic processes in the region were closely linked to a just and lasting solution to the problem of the external debt. While the strategy adopted had so far prevented the collapse of the global economic system, it had failed to reconcile the fulfilment of debt-servicing obligations with the attairment of satisfactory rates of growth.
- 22. Mexico had expressed the view, at the highest political level, that in defining new options, the debtor countries should benefit from the discounting of their debt on the secondary markets, which had yielded them only limited benefits so far. The recent experience of Mexico in exchanging bonds for debt represented a significant step in that direction. He reiterated that the servicing of the debt should be made consonant with the ability of the debtor countries to pay and should be linked to objective variables such as the growth of per capita income or the price of the main export products.
- 23. In the matter of intra-regional economic co-operation, CEGAN had a key role to play and should therefore resume its original functions and become once again the most specialized forum for analysis, debate and the formulation of proposals. The current session of the Commission provided a good

opportunity to discuss the situation described before, to review various aspects of development strategy and to achieve concrete results.

- 24. Referring to the situation of Central America, he said that respect for the principles of non-intervention and the self-determination of peoples was threatened there. He reiterated his country's view that international relations should be based on strict adherence to the rule of law, and in particular, to the Charter of the United Nations, and appealed for support for the Esquipulas Agreement, since there could be no peace without development and no development without peace. The path to follow was clear, and Latin American integration was obviously a valid option for meeting current and future challenges. If Latin America acted with realism, the ideals of Bolivar would be no idle dreams, but rather practical paths of development for the countries of the region.
- 25. A message from the Secretary-General of the United Nations was read out, in which the Secretary-General stated that in its 40 years of existence, ECLAC had made a vital contribution to the economic and social thinking of the region and of the international community as a whole, had helped to formulate development policies, and had made a valuable contribution to regional and subregional co-operation, by directing its proposals and the support of its Secretariat to meeting the needs of specific subgroups of countries.
- 26. He noted that the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean were currently in the grip of a hostile international economic climate and that the effects of the debt burden were reflected in the transfer of resources from the region to the rest of the world. That gloomy picture was further darkened by the political struggles in Central America, which had exacerbated the existing economic difficulties of that subregion. In that connection, he expressed his satisfaction at having had the opportunity to carry cut the mandate of the General Assembly, contained in its resolution 42/1, to promote a special plan of economic co-operation for Central America.
- 27. He appealed to the authorities of the developed countries which maintained relations with the region to intensify their support for the implementation of imaginative solutions to the current crisis and offered his full co-operation in that task, noting that, in conformity with General Assembly resolution 42/198, he proposed to undertake consultations in order to seek solutions to the debt problem and related development problems. Finally, he assured the countries of the region that no effort would be spared to ensure that the severe financial restrictions facing the United Nations did not negatively affect the important work of the Commission.
- 28. The United Nations Director-General for Development and International Economic Co-operation said that there was great concern in many countries of Latin America because of the crippling external debt burden and the persistence of considerable negative financial transfers. That situation, coupled with the very unfavourable external economic situation and certain lacunae in national economic policies, hindered the considerable internal adjustment efforts being made by the governments of the region. In order to resume the path to lasting and equitable development, three basic conditions must be met. The first of those was the creation of an international economic climate more favourable to growth, especially on the part of the

industrialized countries which had trade surpluses. To that end, the macroeconomic policies of the large industrialized countries should be more complementary and should be co-ordinated more effectively. In order to overcome the difficulties involved in that task, greater political will was needed.

- 29. In the second place, a lasting solution needed to be found to the external debt problem and efforts must be made to reconcile debt servicing with growth requirements by making the contributions of all the governments involved —both debtors and creditors, banks and international financial organizations— assume their responsibilities in a balanced and equitable way. Similarly, increased financial flows from abroad, both public and private, were required in order to continue applying the structural adjustment programmes, which must be made more compatible with the achievement of economically and socially satisfactory development.
- 30. The resources of the multilateral financial institutions must be increased. In that connection, he noted, the recent decision to increase the capital of the World Bank was a step in the right direction and there was reason to hope that agreement would soon be reached to augment the IMF quotas and the resources of the Inter-American Development Bank. With respect to commercial credits, noteworthy progress had recently been made, especially in the cases of Mexico and Bolivia. The governments of the creditor countries should encourage such solutions and provide the World Bank and the IMF with the means to play a more active role as catalysts in that process.
- 31. Thirdly, the governments of both the creditor and the debtor countries should adopt more effective and coherent domestic economy policies, paying greater attention to social aspects and to the issues of the external equilibrium and price stability, while stimulating private enterprise.
- 32. In pursuance of General Assembly resolution 42/198, the Secretary-General was to hold high-level consultations on the debt and on the related problems of development and was to submit a report to the next session of the General Assembly. The conclusions of the debates of the Commission in that respect would be an important contribution to that process. Furthermore, the General Assembly had initiated the preparation of an international strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade. The United Nations regional commissions, including ECIAC, had a very important role to play in that sphere, through the establishment of links between the analytical work under way at the national, regional and international levels.
- 33. The Director-General for Development and International Economic Co-operation ended his statement by repeating the assurance that, notwithstanding the financial difficulties still facing the United Nations, everything possible would be done to ensure that the Commission could continue its important work, with the priority it required. Referring to the significant contribution made by ECIAC to the Latin American countries' capacity for analysis and the initiation of innovative policies, he paid tribute to the pioneering work done by Raul Prebisch and added that he was sure that the leading role played so far by ECIAC in the region would continue to be strengthened under Gert Rosenthal's able leadership.

- 34. The Executive Secretary of ECIAC said that the current session marked a special point in the institutional life of the Commission, which over the past 40 years had witnessed the most intense phase of economic and social transformation in the history of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean as independent nations —a transformation which had come about in response to the convulsions of the Great Depression of the 1930s and the Second World War. The need now was for the countries to revitalize their patterns of national development and turn their eyes to the future.
- 35. He referred to the past, present and future of ECIAC and said that he felt impelled to do so because of the crisis now being experienced, because all kinds of transition were a spur to reflection and because he was part of a generation which had not taken part in the early years of the work of the Secretariat in its most creative period. His generation identified itself with the body of ideas which had inspired the work of the Secretariat since its inception: a body of ideas stemming first from an unwavering commitment to the principles of the Charter of the United Nations and second from a deep-seated sense of Latin American and Caribbean identity, which meant that development was approached from the vantage point of the countries of the region.
- 36. The ECIAC Secretariat had made important and lasting contributions to Latin American economic thinking. Its most distinctive features in the 1950s had been its creativity, its ability to build up an integrated, coherent body of ideas on the economic progress of Latin America during the early years of the postwar period, and its capacity for putting together its own line of economic thought and for perfecting and adapting to the realities of Latin America economic theories which gained currency in the world at large.
- 37. In that undertaking, the ECIAC Secretariat had displayed an original blend of thought and action, a tendency to question the mechanical application of conventional thinking to the realities of Latin America, and a recognition of the need to adapt its thinking to the changing economic circumstances.
- 38. ECIAC must continue to adapt its thinking to the changing circumstances both inside and outside the region. Moreover, acknowledging the virtues of the market in the allocation of resources did not mean negating the fundamental role to be played by the State in the development process, nor was there any contradiction between the goal of increasing latin American integration and strategies of articulation with the international economy, as was clearly demonstrated by Europe's experience. The Secretariat did not claim to have all the answers nor to possess a monopoly of the truth; however, it did have experience, an institutional tradition, the ability to mobilize collective efforts, and a method of work which permitted it to serve as a sifting mechanism for economic ideas.
- 39. The fact that some of the leading countries of the industrialized world were members of ECIAC was no chance occurrence, but underscored the importance attributed by the Commission to the dialogue between the developed and the developing countries concerning the ever-present issue of the position of Latin America and the Caribbean in the international economy.

- 40. The Executive Secretary also stressed that the sustained reactivation of the economies of the region required an expanding international economy, the reversal of the outward transfer of financial resources, and the application of policies for bringing about structural change aimed at transforming the countries' production capacity, raising productivity, increasing demestic saving, improving income distribution and lessening the severe macroeconomic imbalances of recent years. So far, however, despite the considerable efforts made by the countries of the region and their extremely high social cost, the results had been unsatisfactory and the people of latin America had had to bear a disproportionate share of the burden. If those prerequisites were not fulfilled, the latin American and Caribbean countries might be obliged to adopt more isolationist policies, which would be tragic because it would divide the world into isolated segments when what was needed was a search for co-operative solutions that would provide the most rational and advantageous response for all.
- 41. ECIAC was commencing its fifth decade in an atmosphere which was charged with distrust and uncertainty but nevertheless also offered many opportunities. Latin America and the Caribbean had the human and natural resources, as well as the necessary creativity, to overcome the crisis and to enter the twenty-first century with better prospects. In those circumstances, ECIAC had a dual role to play. It must contribute to a renewal of latin American economic thought and encourage rapprochement and co-operation among the countries of the region and between them and the industrialized centres, striving to facilitate latin American development as part of an orderly expansion of the world economy.
- 42. The Minister of Foreign Affairs of Brazil, Mr. Roberto de Abreu Sodré, referring to the fortieth anniversary of ECIAC, said that the Commission had been the pioneer of modern Latin American economic thinking. Its diagnoses and proposals had given birth to solid concepts concerning the reality of the continent. As an organization in the vanguard of economic thinking, ECIAC had rendered outstanding services to the region and the seed of its studies was bearing fruit not only in governments, but also in universities, research centres and political parties.
- 43. As a forum for debate and reflection, ECIAC had helped the countries of the region to focus on the tremendous adversities which had to be overcome in the search for solutions likely to fulfil their people's legitimate aspirations for progress and well-being. Unfortunately, the region's efforts to achieve development and a bigger share in world trade continued to encounter major obstacles, such as the external debt, high interest rates, unstable exchange rates, slumping commodity prices and the protectionism practised by developed countries.
- 44. In 1987 the countries of the region had met at a special conference in Mexico City to assess the crisis and to reflect on the development strategies open to them. At the meeting, the Brazilian representative had stated that there was not acceptable alternative to economic growth and social justice. The course followed by the international economy since then had confirmed that assertion. Brazil wished to pay its debts, as it had always done, but in order to do so it was imperative that the creditor nations should set the stage for a just dialogue to promote development and the consequent expansion of the debtor countries's wealth. The main conclusion reached by that meeting on the

external debt crisis had been that it was essential to strengthen the spirit of solidarity and co-operation of the peoples of the region.

- 45. The developing nations were under the threat of a new international division of labour based, on the one hand, on control over advanced technology by a small number of countries, and on the other, on the difficulties faced by most of the world's peoples in gaining access to scientific knowledge. It was necessary to denounce and combat that danger. The stability of Latin America and the Caribbean depended on extending the benefits of development to the largest possible number of its citizens, as there could be no lasting peace amid poverty and backwardness.
- 46. Integration and unity constituted the means by which the region could achieve its sought-for and necessary development. Their natural resources, together with the creativity and the untiring labour of their peoples, were the basic tools which would enable Iatin America and the Caribbean to construct a world of dignity in the future. Another vital element which must be mobilized by all the peoples of the region, without exception, was a firm political will. The challenge currently facing the peoples of the continent was to unite their efforts and to set aside ideological differences. ECIAC should rise to that challenge with a will by proposing, in accordance with its best tradition, original approaches, innovative solutions and creative interpretations for the construction of the future of Iatin America and the Caribbean: a task in which Brazil would participate with enthusiasm.

Election of Officers

- 47. At the first plenary meeting, the delegations elected the Officers of the twenty-second session as well as those of the three committees set up to deal with the different items on the agenda.
- 48. The Officers of the twenty-second session of the Commission were as follows:

Chairman: Brazil

First Vice-Chairman: Trinidad and Tobago

Second Vice-Chairman: Spain
Third Vice-Chairman: Cuba
Fourth Vice-Chairman: Chile
Rapporteur: Costa Rica

Committees

- 49. The three committees referred to in paragraph 47 above were open to all delegations. One of them was a statutory sessional committee set up in accordance with previous decisions of the Commission.
- 50. Committee I dealt with restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them (agenda item 3).*/

^{*/} See the report of Committee I, paras. 73 to 153 below.

- 51. Committee II considered meetings of auxiliary bodies, and regional meetings sponsored by ECIAC in preparation for United Nations world conferences: conclusions and recommendations (agenda item 5); other activities of the ECIAC system since the twenty-first session, and programme of work of the Commission for the biennium 1990-1991 (agenda item 6) and calendar of conferences for the period 1988-1990 (agenda item 7).*/
- 52. The Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions, a statutory sessional committee, dealt with item 4 of the agenda.**/

Documentation

53. The list of documents submitted by the Secretariat at the twenty-second session of the Commission is given in document IC/G.1512(SES.22/7).

B. AGENDA

- 54. The Commission adopted the following agenda:
 - 1. Election of Officers
 - 2. Adoption of the agenda and organization of work
 - 3. Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them
 - 4. Co-operation among developing countries and regions
 - 5. Meetings of auxiliary bodies, and regional meetings sponsored by ECLAC in preparation for United Nations world conferences: conclusions and recommendations
 - 6. Other activities of the ECIAC system since the twenty-first session, and programme of work of the Commission for the biennium 1990-1991
 - a) ECTAC
 - b) Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE)
 - c) Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES)
 - 7. Calendar of conferences for the period 1988-1990

^{*/} See the report of Committee II, paras. 154 to 245 below.

^{**/} See the report of the Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions, paras. 246 to 262 below.

8. Other business:

- a) Admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC
- b) Some recent resolutions adopted by United Nations organs which require to be brought to the attention of the Commission
- 9. Adoption of the report.

C. SUMMARY OF DEBATES

Opening ceremony of the technical stage

- 55. At the opening ceremony of the technical stage of the twenty-second session, the Executive Secretary of ECLAC expressed his particular satisfaction that the twenty-second session was being held in Brazil, a country to which ECLAC owed a great debt of gratitude for the contributions made by a number of illustrious Brazilians and the important lessons to be learnt from that country's experience.
- 56. He said that in the present decade the Commission had perhaps concerned itself excessively with the immediate economic problems generated by the crisis; now, however, it should take a medium and long-term view in order to link economic policy management with the promotion of sustained development, since that was the fundamental purpose of the Commission. He added that the region's difficult economic situation today contrasted with the considerable progress it had achieved in several areas during the 30 years following the war: increase in the gross domestic product and in the size of the urban population, reduction of illiteracy, extension and modernization of the region's physical infrastructure, transformation of the economies as a result of the significant growth of industrialization, and the increase and diversification of exports, as well as progress in subregional economic integration.
- 57. The present situation, he said, was far from encouraging, because it had been necessary to absorb a serious contraction in overall income, while the distribution of the burdens of the adjustment among the different social strata had been markedly regressive. In addition, the fiscal crisis affecting all the governments of the region had had the negative effect of restricting the funds that could be allocated for financing the provision of basic social services. Furthermore, during the 1980s the region had suffered a severe decline in public and private investment, the most serious manifestations of which had been the failure to sustain the stock of capital and the growing obsolescence of the physical installations, all of which was connected with the macroeconomic imbalances of many of the region's countries. The link between the external restrictions and the resurgence of inflation was quite clear and highlighted a phenomenon to which little attention had been paid so far: the vicious circle whereby high levels of inflation feed the propensity to consume, hindering saving and investment.

- 58. Although many countries had managed to increase their non-traditional exports, he went on, this had not been sufficient to reverse the recessionary trends, because it was not based on solid increases in productivity. Even though all the member countries of the Commission, both developed and developing, seemed to be agreed that the present crisis had been caused by the interplay of internal and external phenomena, there was a tendency for each side to blame the other as the main culprit for recession and its attendant social cost; consequently, there was still a long way before reaching agreement as to the allocation of responsibility in this difficult and necessary undertaking.
- 59. He noted that, at the present time, it was necessary to consider how both the developed and developing countries could shoulder their respective responsibilities so as to put latin America and the Caribbean back on the path of development. He stressed that the solutions would not come from outside and that therefore the countries would have to rely more than ever on their own efforts, although the international environment would nevertheless decisively influence the performance of the region's economies. That was precisely why, at the present session, issues related to multilateral co-operation would be examined in terms of three main components: the conditions of external demand for the region's main export products, access to new sources of financing, and the management of the external debt.
- 60. On the whole, some improvements could be perceived in the international economic climate which could help the region's economies to undertake the structural reforms that were indispensable for more dynamic and equitable growth within the framework of democratic and participatory societies. The Commission was therefore urging that progress should be made in the matter of the management of the external debt, since the vast amount of financial resources set aside for servicing it was a hindrance both to recovery in the short term and to mobilization of the saving required to finance the sustained growth of the economies in the medium and the long term. It was a question not only of breaking the vicious circle described earlier, but also of broadening the range of options open to all the parties involved —private creditors, debtors, governments of debtor countries and multilateral financial organizations— in order to obtain the necessary room for action.
- 61. The magnitude of the task had led the Commission to go more deeply into previous proposals made on the subject, especially those submitted at the Special Conference of ECIAC held in Mexico in 1987. The central issue to be addressed was thus how to overcome the crisis and achieve development.
- 62. Finally, he said that two items would always be underlying the debates: on the one hand, the capacity of intra-regional co-operation and economic integration to circumvent some of the obstacles to development, and on the other, the quest for specific solutions for the different countries of the region (especially the relatively less developed ones), since each had its own special characteristics.
- 63. Mr. João Batista de Abreu, Minister of Planning and Co-ordination of Brazil, expressed the satisfaction of the Government and people of Brazil at the opportunity provided by the twenty-second session of ECLAC to host, for the second time, the principal conference of the Commission. The past

- 40 years' work had been fruitful, inspired by the highest Latin American ideals for the formulation of development strategies for the region, and on the occasion of the Commission's fortieth anniversary he wished to pay homage to two of the founders of the philosophy of ECIAC: Miguel Osorio de Almeida and Raúl Prebisch.
- 64. He added that over the past 40 years the economies of latin America and the Caribbean had undergone profound changes and embarked on programmes of industrialization and of modernization of their economic policies which had been partly prompted by the queries raised by ECIAC regarding the limits imposed on development by the primary export model. It had to be acknowledged, however, that latin America was still only half way to the objective of securing self-sustaining economic development and that the region continued to be an exporter of raw materials and natural resources.
- 65. He said that the international economic crisis had hit Latin America and the Caribbean particularly hard, but unequally. To a greater or lesser extent, the countries had witnessed the dashing of the hopes held out in the 1960s and 1970s for development and rapid growth. The transformation of the region into a net exporter of capital to the developed countries aptly summed up the unequal distribution of the burden of the crisis.
- 66. Among the multiple dimensions of the crisis, he focused, in particular, on its impact on the countries' approach to long-term issues and planning. Although the external crisis had not completely prevented growth, it had retarded it, and development strategies had to be rethought with a view to recovering the capacity to grow rapidly. The transformations under way in the world economy reflected long-term trends and required a new insertion of Latin America within the international economy.
- 67. Although it was known that short-term responses to the crisis determined long-term development, those responses had been made without any consideration as to their consequences for the region, and the problems would only be definitively solved if short-term economic policies were replaced within a clear vision of the desired orientation of national development over the medium and long terms.
- 68. The thinking of ECIAC and of Latin America had been inspired by criticism of the commodity-exporting model, and the proposed alternative had been the construction of more equitable societies based, in economic terms, on measures to overcome the domestic and external constraints on growth. The time had come to re-examine the fundamental issues which had been present at the time of the establishment of ECIAC: the need for growth and for the transformation of productive structures; the view of development as a multidimensional phenomenon; the need for industrialization, modernization and the incorporation of technical progress; and the role of the State as a promoter and agent of development.
- 69. Resumption of growth required the recovery of the capacity of the countries of Latin America to save and invest; hence there was need for both domestic and external changes, including the reduction of the net transfer of resources abroad. The Latin American and Caribbean economies had made a significant effort of investment and transformation through import

substitution. However, that process had brought about incomplete industrial development with serious maladjustments, making it advisable to re-examine industrialization in order to seek a response to the fundamental questions raised by industrial development and to the need to create modern, efficient and competitive productive structures. In that respect, there was need to reexamine the role of the State as an instrument for development and for the construction of a free and just society, overcoming the false dichotomy juxtaposing the public and private sectors, and to view development as a whole, returning to the principles of integral development.

- 70. The crisis carried within it the seeds of a new order. In the new international division of labour which was taking shape, Latin America and the Caribbean would have to face a twofold challenge in that they must enter the currents of rapid growth existing in world trade, while continuing their struggle for a new international economic order. A long-term view of the economies and societies of the region would be possible only through a national effort to plan the path towards development, justice and freedom.
- 71. He concluded by reiterating the confidence of the Government of Brazil in the work performed by the secretariats of ECLAC, ILPES and CELADE, expressing his certainty that they would remain faithful to the best traditions of Latin American thinking, and invited the Latin American and Caribbean countries and ECLAC to unite in an effort to overcome the crisis within a new long-term perspective in order to face together the transition to the twenty-first century, reaffirm the integrationist mission of Latin America and the Caribbean, and realize the ideal of a unified and powerful region.
- 72. After this opening plenary meeting, the delegations continued their work in three committees which dealt with different items of the agenda and each prepared a report for submission to the plenary.*/

Reports of the Committees

a) Report of Committee I

73. Committee I met from 21 to 25 April to consider item 3 of the agenda of the session. The Officers of the Committee were as follows:

Chairman:

Mexico

First Vice-Chairman:

Peru

Second Vice-Chairman:

WILL CHATTAGE

St. Vincent and the Grenadines

Third Vice-Chairman:

Netherlands

Rapporteur:

Guatemala

^{*/} Paras. 73 to 262 below.

Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them (agenda item 3)

- 74. The Committee had before it the following working documents: "Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them" (IC/G.1488(SES.22/3)/Rev.l and Corr.l), "Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them (Summary)" (IC/G.1504(SES.22/13) and Corr.l), and "Report of the Fourteenth Session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)" (IC/G.1510(CEG.14/3)). Several other reference documents were also available.
- 75. The work of the Committee began with the presentation by the ECIAC Secretariat of the document "Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them" (IC/G.1488 (SES.22/3)/Rev.1).
- 76. The Secretariat representative noted first of all that the prolongation of the crisis had worsened the situation in the countries of the region. Notwithstanding the considerable efforts that had been made, which were reflected in huge transfers of resources abroad, by the beginning of 1988 the problems of unemployment, income distribution, poverty, fiscal deficit, inflation and indebtedness that had existed when the crisis began still persisted or had got worse. It was therefore absolutely essential to evaluate the obstacles to growth facing the region which had still not been solved even though widely differing types of policies had been tried.
- 77. Foremost among the obstacles which hindered or impeded growth were the new forms of external restriction, the deterioration of the development potential, the weakening of the integration processes, the reduction of the financial and operational capacity of the State, and the limitations on the capacity to govern.
- 78. In the face of those obstacles, methods of adaptation had been applied whose prolongation was accentuating the present problems. In order to generate trade surpluses, the real exchange rate had been raised and domestic demand and real wages had been restricted, precisely at a time when real interest rates were far above their historical levels. The competitiveness achieved by those means was tenuous, and as long as productivity did not increase, further sacrifices might become necessary to face up to the growing international competition.
- 79. Furthermore, as the unemployment problem worsened, a part of the labour force had had to shift to less productive jobs, which had led to the creation of an employment structure and a level of product per employee characterized by increasing heterogeneity and more regressive income distribution.
- 80. After identifying the obstacles to growth and the ways in which the economies had tried to adapt, the Secretariat representative analysed the outlook for medium-term growth, describing the international panorama on which the prospective planning exercises were based, the different balance-of-payments situations faced by the countries of the region, and the

scenario of partial easing of the external constraints which had been selected as the basis of the analysis.

- 81. Despite the relative optimism of some of the basic assumptions made in that analysis, the conclusions drawn from it showed that even in 1992 most countries still would not have recovered their 1980 level of per capita product and that the problems of unemployment, income distribution and development potential would still not have been satisfactorily solved.
- 82. Consequently, an alternative development scenario had been defined which contemplated a solution to the debt problem, a new form of international trade insertion based on a transformation of production incorporating technical progress at a more dynamic rate, and the reinforcement of equity.
- 83. In order for that scenario to become a reality it would be necessary to initiate a set of measures designed both to improve the external environment and to modify domestic economic policies.
- 84. Among the first of those measures, the most significant, on account of its considerable and varied beneficial effects, would be the reduction of the transfer of financial resources abroad. That transfer had sharply restricted economic growth by reducing the proportion of domestic saving available to finance investment, restricting import capacity and helping to accentuate inflationary pressures. Hence there was an urgent need to diminish such transfers, either by increasing net external financing or by reducing interest payments.
- 85. He emphasized, however, that although it was undoubtedly very necessary, reduction of the transfer of resources was not in itself sufficient to achieve a process of sustained growth. In order to do so, it was also necessary to make major changes in a number of domestic economic policies and processes.
- 86. One of those changes was the transformation of the economy called for by the current rapid rate of technological change. It was vital to increase international competitiveness by creating new comparative advantages based, inter alia, on the rapid absorption of technical progress and constant retraining of the labour force.
- 87. A second domestic requirement was the adoption of policies designed to bring about more equitable distribution of the fruits of economic growth, to increase equality of opportunities and to diminish poverty. That required changes aimed at reducing the concentration of productive assets and mitigating the sharp differences of productivity existing both between and within sectors at the present time. In order to progress more speedily towards the construction of more equitable societies, it was necessary to secure better integration of social policies with macroeconomic policies, to increase and redirect social expenditure, and to set up emergency employment programmes.
- 88. Thirdly, it was necessary to restore certain fundamental macroeconomic equilibria, and in particular to reduce inflation, which had speeded up and become generalized throughout the region in recent years, hampering the formulation and implementation of development policies and strategies. To

that end it was necessary to combine measures designed to reduce or eliminate the inertia factor of inflation with others aimed at restoring the fundamental equilibria.

- 89. Finally, he emphasized the decisive contribution which regional integration and co-operation could make to sustained growth. It was not just a question of restoring intra-regional trade, but involved something of still greater significance, namely, establishing new forms of co-operation in productive activities and in science and technology where considerable economies of scale existed and where concerting the efforts of two or more countries could produce positive results within relatively short periods. Closer regional co-operation would also help to strengthen the international bargaining power of the countries of latin America and the Caribbean in the trade and financial spheres.
- 90. Following the presentation by the Secretariat, the delegations expressed their views, which are set out below in the order in which the countries first took the floor.
- 91. The representative of Jamaica expressed his agreement with the diagnosis set out in the document, and especially with the way it dealt with the external and domestic aspects of the present crisis. He underscored the importance, when formulating development strategies, of devoting particular attention to domestic aspects, so as to avoid exacerbating the present disequilibria and inequalities. In that respect he cited agrarian reform as one example of a policy combining concern for growth with considerations of equity.
- 92. With regard to the problem of the transfer of resources to the exterior, he noted that the debt was good business for the international banking system, which had no incentive to alter the existing situation. He also referred to the unofficial transfer of funds and said that countries needed to take decisive action to tackle that problem, as well as that of the reluctance to invest money in the developing countries.
- 93. The representative of Mexico said that the problem of the external debt and its servicing needed to be resolved as soon as possible, because it exerted a very strong influence on the behaviour of the set of external and domestic variables which affected the economic and social development prospects of Latin America and the Caribbean. That was of course not the only problem that was restricting the sustained development of the region, and what was needed was a comprehensive and global approach in order to accelerate the process of growth in Latin America.
- 94. In that connection, he recalled the proposals made by President Miguel de la Madrid of Mexico at the Special Conference of ECIAC held in January 1987 in Mexico City. On that occasion, the President had proposed 10 topics for reflection which could help to make up a New Agenda for Latin American and Caribbean Development. In the view of the Mexican delegation, significant progress had been made during the past year in the areas proposed by President de la Madrid, and the documentation submitted by the Secretariat represented a substantial effort, which reflected a thorough analysis of the suggested topics for reflection.

- 95. The representative of Mexico said that the present economic and social circumstances of Latin America and the Caribbean were extremely serious and that the existing forecasts regarding the probable growth trends of the countries of the region in the coming years gave few grounds for optimism. In that connection he mentioned the constraints due to the oppressive servicing of the Latin American external debt and the negative capital transfer associated with it.
- 96. He also said that solutions to the problem of Latin America's external debt needed to be flexibly negotiated between creditors and debtors, seeking pliant alternatives which should not merely be those determined by the autonomous operation of the international capital markets.
- 97. Finally, he noted that the adjustment policies implemented by the countries of the region would need to be altered as the prevailing circumstances changed, bearing in mind at the same time that a fundamental requirement for that was full consideration of medium and long-term strategic economic and social variables.
- 98. The representative of Peru stated that the declaration recently adopted at the fourteenth session of CEGAN faithfully reflected the position of Latin America and the Caribbean. She noted that the summary of the debates given in the report of that session included additional comments by the Peruvian delegation on the document submitted by the Secretariat.
- 99. She said that, as a guideline for future studies by ECIAC, particular attention should be devoted to the situation of the medium-sized and small countries most affected by the crisis and to the options for easing the restrictions on development currently affecting them. Intra-sectoral differences and specific geographical differences within nations should also be studied more closely. Furthermore, analysis of the region's development process should incorporate those features specific to the social dimension, in order to achieve a comprehensive vision of the process as a whole.
- 100. The representative of Guatemala expressed concern over the effects of the crisis on the smaller economies. Referring to the adjustment process in various countries, he noted that while the great majority of the people in them had suffered a decline in their real income, there were sectors which had been favoured, including in particular the financial sector of the economy. There had been a decline in the resources available to the State sector for financing the projects needed to transform and modernize the economies of the countries and make them more competitive. In that connection, he expressed the view that the most favoured sectors should share in the costs of the adjustment process and in particular should contribute to the savings and investment necessary for growth, development and the transformation of production. However, because the resources obtained in that way would still be insufficient, greater external co-operation was also necessary.
- 101. The representative of Brazil concurred with the diagnostic study presented by the Secretariat and, in particular, with the emphasis it placed on the constraints on economic growth. Latin America was experiencing a structural crisis whose solution required not only short-term adjustments but, above all, medium— and long-term strategies. In that regard, he stressed

the need to continue the search for new directions for the future of the region. Although the countries of the region had no control over the factors that determined the external situation, they were nevertheless capable of acting with greater autonomy in other fields, such as Latin American integration, which should be the object of more extensive and in-depth studies with a view to making them fundamental elements of a development strategy for Latin America.

- 102. Moreover, in view of the severity of the current external restrictions, a lasting solution to the crisis called for a considerable effort to strengthen international co-operation, which had been severely eroded in recent years.
- 103. The countries of Latin America had assumed their responsibilities and continued to carry out major and costly processes of adjustment. However, in an interdependent world, adjustments in the economies of the developing countries could not bring about the expected results if the economies of the developed countries were not adjusted at the same time. The latter had not been done, as could be seen from the current sizeable trade and fiscal deficits in some developed countries and from the marked instability of exchange and interest rates. In that regard, a higher level of multilateral co-operation would reinforce the action of multilateral bodies such as ECIAC. He therefore called for a vote of confidence in the Commission in order to underscore the desire to strengthen multilateralism.
- 104. The representative of Canada said that the analysis of the specific problems of the region, as well as its prospects for the future, had to be viewed in the light of the far-reaching developments taking place in the world economy. A combination of factors, and in particular the impact of continuing technological change, were forcing structural transformation in both developed and developing countries alike. The objectives of growth and development could best be met through adopting internal measures and policies and through greater international economic co-operation. In that respect the Canadian government attached fundamental importance to the trade liberalization negotiations undertaken in the Uruguay Round.
- 105. He acknowledged the seriousness of the debt problem in terms of international trade and financial flows and in terms of the high social, economic and political cost to the debtor countries, but noted that through the international debt management strategy (which Canada fully supported), together with internal adjustment measures, policies designed to attract and facilitate foreign investment, increased availability of funds from international financial institutions and the better conditions achieved in direct negotiation with creditor banks, a synergic effect could be created which, in due course, would arrest the relative growth of debt and restore financial flows.
- 106. The representative of Cuba said that the main problems to be resolved in seeking a solution to the crisis affecting the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean were on the external level, and among them, the debt problem was crucial. Even if the debt were written off, that in itself would not be sufficient to overcome the crisis, since what was needed was fundamental change in the existing international economic relations. In that regard, he stressed the urgent need to implement the New International Economic Order, to

put an end to the increasing protectionism of the developed countries, to reduce the current high international interest rates, and to redress the inequality in the trade between the developed and developing countries.

107. It was absolutely vital to speed up the process of latin American integration. Furthermore, domestic structural changes in the countries of the region should be sovereignly decided, without foreign interference that prejudiced the interests of the peoples but instead seeking national unity in the different countries, using for that purpose the opportunities created by the formulation and implementation of integral development plans with the indispensable participation of the people.

108. The representative of Venezuela said that although the Secretariat document gave considerable prominence to the external restrictions and the need to service the debt, it did not lay sufficient emphasis on the role played by the growing protectionism practised in the developed countries and on the qualitative and quantitative changes in the financial markets. Those factors were important not only because they constituted obstacles to development but also because they affected the way in which solutions should be tackled. In that connection, he said that the principle of equity referred to in the document should also be extended to the international level. He added that his country had made a great effort to introduce reforms in its economy. Full servicing of the debt and even its partial amortization had been an integral part of that process. However, the creditors had not responded with the amount of financing the country required. Finally, he noted that any solution to the debt problem must be considered in a wider context which included other issues, such as the question of trade, for example.

109. The representative of Colombia said that it was the social sectors (especially education, health and housing) which had had to make the greatest sacrifices during the prolonged adjustment process, in the form of major reductions in their levels of activity. Furthermore, in those sectors the adjustment had not been even-handed in the developed and developing economies, since it had been notably greater in the latter. The effort to achieve future growth should be designed with a view to the rapid incorporation of the marginalized social forces into the production process.

110. The representative of Antigua and Barbuda said that his country agreed with the views expressed in the Secretariat document but that it should have paid more attention to the special problems of small island States. Foremost among such problems were those deriving from the very small area and population, from the lack of natural and financial resources and from the fact of being open economies. Because of the latter factor it was difficult to apply a monetary policy with even minimal autonomy, and that increased those countries' vulnerability to external factors. He also raised the question of graduation in regard to small island States, saying that per capita GDP was inadequate for determining their eligibility for soft-term loans, and wondered where the small island States would graduate to, given their inability to attract funds on the international market. Finally, he expressed agreement with the recommendations contained in the Secretariat document, and among them stressed the importance of regional economic integration, to which end obstacles to trade should be removed.

- Ill. The representative of the United States said that his country was working in all international forums to construct a more dynamic and sounder world economy. For six consecutive years the economies of the OECD countries had experienced a period of growth without precedent in the postwar period. He acknowledged that financial resources from the commercial banks to the developing countries had not attained the desired levels, but he expressed the hope that the situation would improve. Among the positive measures taken he highlighted the proposal to increase the capital of the World Bank by US\$74.8 billion, the new programme adopted by the same institution with a view to providing political risk insurance for direct foreign investment in the developing countries, the agreement to increase the coverage of the IMF's contingency financing, and the extension of the time horizon of its adjustment programmes.
- 112. While he recognized that the external environment could provide a sounder basis for the adjustment and development of the countries of Iatin America, he said that the document submitted by the Secretariat gave excessive attention to external factors, to the detriment of the analysis of domestic economic policy. He expressed the view that those countries which adopted appropriate policies grew, and those which lacked such policies did not, hence the importance of carrying out appropriate economic reforms. Many governments acknowledged the need to implement such reforms, and indeed a number of them were successfully doing so. The Secretariat document should better reflect that concern.
- 113. He expressed his satisfaction with the presentation made by the Secretariat regarding the link between debt servicing and such phenomena as the adjustment, monetary expansion, inflation, and others. He also acknowledged that the concept of the negative transfer of resources could be a useful analytical tool, and said that the question of fresh financial resources raised in the document was a central component of the international strategy to deal with the debt problem. Without adequate funding it was impossible to sustain the adjustment process and to achieve adequate growth of the latin American economies. In respect of the negative transfer of resources, he said that taking a more disaggregated view than that covering the region as a whole would reveal that in a considerable number of countries the transfer had been positive; he also noted that the transfer was tending to diminish, both in absolute dollar terms and as a percentage of gross domestic product.
- 114. He went on to say that the issue of trade flows deserved greater attention from the Secretariat. He emphasized that the bulk of the trade deficit of the OECD countries with Latin America corresponded to the United States, a factor which he attributed to that nation's effort to maintain its markets open.
- 115. He expressed his country's commitment to supporting the moves made by GATT to liberalize international trade. He remarked, however, that the developing countries also needed to liberalize their economies, as trade restrictions would have an adverse impact on their economic development process.

- 116. He also observed that the international strategy to deal with the external debt problem was showing signs of concrete progress. In recent years the countries of Latin America had experienced growth, with an expansion of their exports, a reduction in their balance-of-payments current account deficits, and greater control over capital flight, including in some cases even the partial repatriation of funds. Finally, he expressed the opinion that the international strategy in respect of the external debt problem had successfully adapted to changes in the circumstances of the debtors and would continue to do so. In that respect, he highlighted the development of the so-called "market menu" as a step towards satisfying the requirements of both debtors and creditors. He also stressed that those mechanisms should operate through voluntary actions based in the private market.
- 117. The representative of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines supported the views expressed by the representative of Antigua and Barbuda concerning the economic situation of small island countries and also referred to the vulnerability of those economies to natural disasters and to sudden changes in the international environment. Although domestic efforts such as agrarian reform and the diversification and increase of production were being made, the limited financial resources made it difficult to retain the human resources that were crucial to development.
- 118. Improving that situation required greater intra-regional and subregional co-operation, such as that being carried out within the framework of the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS), which viewed political integration as a solution to some of its problems.
- 119. The representative concluded by expressing support for the measures aimed at easing the region's debt burden, reducing protectionist barriers to trade, and increasing the flow of resources from multilateral agencies.
- 120. The representative of Argentina said that the document presented by the Secretariat eloquently described the magnitude of such problems as indebtedness, the transfer of resources, trade, and real interest rates. It was necessary to take into account the time horizons needed to resolve those problems before they reached ummanageable proportions. It was also necessary to accept the premises presented in the document and, on that basis, to determine the efforts which the countries —both developed and developing—should make in order to find proper solutions.
- 121. The representative of Nicaragua remarked on the excellent quality of the document produced by the Secretariat, saying it represented a significant advance in the efforts to describe the restrictions on the sustained development of the region. In that respect, he made some observations on the situation in the Central American subregion, which was experiencing its own particular difficulties. In the first place, the political crisis had done much to disrupt the economy, owing, inter alia, to the displacement of the labour force, while the predicament of the refugees, who had abandoned their productive activities, had further aggravated the economic problems of the subregion. In that connection, he indicated that a process of de-industrialization had occurred and there was a certain amount of obsolescence to be observed in the industrial plant, which called for urgent

attention. Owing to the foreign exchange crisis, investments in those areas had had to be postponed.

- 122. In spite of that situation, however, the Central American Bank for Economic Integration (BCIE) had succeeded in continuing to play an active role in the integration process. The BCIE had invited the international community to participate, as members, in the expansion of its capital. He noted in that connection that more effective support could be given to the BCIE by other multilateral finance institutions, especially IDB. In that respect, he said that the Central American countries were disappointed that it had proved impossible to complete the negotiations for the replenishment of the IDB's resources, which had already been under way for over two years without success. He expressed the hope that the World Bank's capital would be increased, although he reminded participants that sometimes World Bank loans were made on terms which demanded domestic policies not all countries were able to adopt. If the needs of the region were to be met with the urgency called for by the situation, the countries must be able to obtain funds on more flexible terms, as happened in the case of some of the resources available from the Inter-American Development Bank.
- 123. He mentioned how important it was that the international community should participate more extensively in the economic and financial assistance granted to the Central American subregion under the Special Plan of Co-operation formulated in accordance with United Nations General Assembly resolution 42/204.
- 124. With regard to his own country, he said it was suffering the effects of the isolation imposed on it in the financial institutions for political reasons. The people of Nicaragua were paying a very high price for upholding the principle of the sovereign right of every nation to adopt the economic model it desired. Nicaragua's situation was dramatic in that, in addition to the restrictions on growth which it shared with all the other countries of the region, it was feeling the effects of other phenomena —well known to all—which were outside its control.
- 125. The representative of Spain, speaking on behalf of the countries of the European Economic Community which were also members of ECLAC, referred to the intensive work accomplished by the Commission, which was celebrating its fortieth anniversary during the current session and had come to be one of the most important forums in the United Nations system.
- 126. Thanks to the painstaking work performed by its successive Executive Secretaries and by the Secretariat itself, it had been able to lay a solid foundation on which to build up its prestige and reputation for seriousness. Not only had its activities helped to enrich economic thinking and provided criteria for tackling the difficult problems associated with regional development, but they had also given impetus to the ideal of co-operation and integration so necessary in tackling the grave issues now faced by the region.
- 127. The Secretariat had made a number of useful recommendations in which the economic development of the region was viewed in an innovative manner, taking account not only of the external context and internal restrictions, but also the difficulties caused by the need to service the debt.

- 128. The countries of the European Economic Community agreed with the Secretariat that economic diversification was a priority requirement for the region's attainment of sustained growth and that integration would promote a greater opening-up of international trade. The realization of those goals would be an important factor in attracting the kind of private foreign investment which would generate foreign currency and the transmission of technology and revive interest in the region's immense long-term development potential. He felt that the Secretariat should give special attention to private foreign investment in its future work.
- 129. He recognized that the obligation to service the debt had drained the economic resources of the countries of the region and had been a factor in its impoverishment.
- 130. He noted that the countries of the Community which were members of ECIAC were in full agreement with the Secretariat in respect of the urgent need of the Latin American and Caribbean countries to have access to external financing to supplement their very considerable adjustment efforts.
- 131. In that connection, he said that the countries of the Community felt that the international financial institutions should play a leading role in the quest for solutions and had supported the proposal for a general increase in the World Bank's resources. They also viewed as a positive development the various voluntary agreements reached between some debtor countries and the commercial banks with a view to lightening the debt burden. Moreover, they recognized the principle of co-responsibility and believed that the best way to find solutions to debt-related problems was through constructive negotiation and mutual understanding between each of the countries of the region and its public and private creditors.
- 132. He concluded by saying that the European Economic Community and its member States recognized the vital importance of the Latin American and Caribbean region and had together expressed their willingness to engage in political and economic co-operation in the resolution adopted by the Council of Ministers in June 1987 in the course of the Ministerial Conference in which the EEC and Central America had participated. Those ideas had been reiterated and reinforced at the recent meeting held with the member countries of the Andean Pact.
- 133. The representative of France said that the Secretariat document on the internal and external restrictions on development in the region was interesting but she pointed out that a more balanced assessment of the internal economic situation should be made. The developed countries had recorded continuous growth in recent years but that had not been enough to ensure lasting growth and find a solution to the serious debt problems of the developing countries. She recalled the efforts that had already been made to co-ordinate economic policies and concurred with the Secretariat's view that the correction of the major imbalances was still very slow. She added that the Secretariat document did not emphasize enough the efforts made bilaterally by the creditors (US\$22 billion of public or State-guaranteed credits had been consolidated in the Paris Club in 1987) and through the multilateral financial institutions.

- 134. With respect to the adjustment policies applied in the debtor developing countries, she felt that while they might have had recessionary effects in many cases, the positive results of the reduction in the payments deficits and the resumption of growth in all the developing countries recorded since 1985 should also be stressed.
- 135. She said that the simulation exercise contained in the second chapter of the document was most interesting, especially the conclusions drawn by the Secretariat concerning the need to restructure the productive apparatus of the countries of the region and to increase regional integration and social equity.
- 136. She agreed with the idea that the adjustment efforts required by the developing countries could only bear fruit over a sustained period if they were made within the framework of an improved international environment. She did not, however, concur with the Secretariat's view that the flow of resources to the region was unlikely to increase and that priority should therefore be given to the debt servicing question.
- 137. She noted that in the matter of dealing with the debt, France preferred the approach based on the flow of new financing and supported the debt strategy which had been applied so far. Simultaneously, an effort was being made to implement new initiatives including: a) revitalizing and adapting support for the Bretton Woods institutions; b) improving the world economic climate; c) assisting creditors and debtors in the search for a solution to deal with the problem of the unsecured debt, based on market mechanisms and the diversification of proposals to the commercial banks; d) supporting—in order to assist the poor countries— the strengthening of the IMF's structural adjustment facility, for which purpose France had been the first country to place extra resources (in the exceptionally high amount of 800 million Special Drawing Rights) at the Fund's disposal; e) ensuring the urgent replenishment of the resources of the Inter-American Development Bank; f) continuing the effort to consolidate maturities in the Paris Club; and g) increasing official development assistance.
- 138. The representative of Uruguay said that while he recognized that the external restrictions on growth were enormous and long-standing, they should not be allowed to obscure the fact that there were domestic policies which needed to be carried out in any case. Adjustment policies in Latin America had not always been coherent enough to ensure that the desired results were attained, and progress therefore needed to be made in that connection. In his view, even if the external restrictions were not lifted or were not lifted as quickly as necessary, that was no reason why the countries should remain impassive. On the contrary, they should redouble their internal efforts to ensure that their economies operated as effectively as possible.
- 139. The representative of Chile agreed that the document presented by the Secretariat was extremely useful and positive, despite the difficulty of presenting an overall picture of very different countries. In his view, the document could have placed more emphasis on the need for the countries of the region to carry out domestic adjustments, while taking due account of the importance of external factors in the present economic situation. Moreover, it did not seem advisable for countries to continue to delay the adoption of

coherent and stable macroeconomic policies, since such policies, by helping to reduce the uncertainty within the countries themselves, would attract capital flows from abroad mainly intended for investment in high-competitivity areas.

- 140. The representative of the Soviet Union, attending as an observer, stressed the extreme importance of the subject under discussion and drew attention to its global dimensions, which required a corresponding universal approach. Similar problems had been in the centre of the deliberations at recent meetings of the Economic Commission for Africa (ECA) and the Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP). He also recalled relevant resolutions of the United Nations General Assembly and in particular those concerning possible international action relating to a Development Strategy for the 1990s, as well as the different aspects of international economic security. It was clear today that to propose universal goals was not enough. What was needed was an honest, sincere effort to ensure a suitable climate and a proper political, economic and psychological environment in which to achieve such goals. International economic relations should be free from all forms of inequality, discrimination and selfishness. With respect to the generation of resources for development, he said that consideration should be given to those that could be generated through real progress in the disarmament process. Finally, he referred to the revolutionary changes taking place in the economic and social policies of the Soviet Union, which would make it possible to promote more active co-operation by that country with the countries of Latin America and with international organizations.
- 141. The representative of the United Kingdom recognized the severe problems still affecting the developing countries on account of the external debt burden and agreed that the world economy had not performed as all would have liked. The best way to resolve the debt problem was for all concerned to adopt policies which helped debtor countries to regain their creditworthiness, thus making it possible to return to a more normal pattern and level of capital flows.
- 142. He believed that there had been a number of positive developments in the economic policies pursued by the industrialized countries, including: the economic policy co-ordination agreements reached over the last few years by the Group of Seven industrialized countries; the commitments undertaken by that group to examine the functioning of the international monetary system; the recognition by the OECD countries of the need to restructure their economies and thereby to increase their potential for growth; the support given by the developed countries to the new round of multilateral trade negotiations; the recent provision of fresh financial resources to the World Bank, and the new facilities of the International Monetary Fund. He stressed the importance of a general capital increase for the Inter-American Development Bank.
- 143. The representative of the United Kingdom also referred to economic policies which could help the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean to achieve sustained development. Among those policies he made special reference to the need to strengthen macroeconomic management, in particular to reduce fiscal deficits and to promote price stability; diversification away from traditional products; the incorporation of new technologies in production

- processes; the creation of a climate favourable to foreign investment; and the provision of a fresh impetus to intra-regional economic integration.
- 144. He welcomed the courageous economic reform efforts of many of the countries of the region, and said that progress in domestic reforms would help to ease external financial difficulties.
- 145. Finally, he welcomed the development of a "menu" of options for reducing the debt owed to commercial banks. It was important that banks and debtors should reach voluntary agreements. He emphasized the differences between the situations of the various countries of the region and attached importance to the negotiation of solutions to individual countries' problems.
- 146. The representative of Trinidad and Tobago began by drawing attention to the significant fact that this session of the Commission was being held in the year during which Brazil was celebrating the centenary of the abolition of slavery, and he recalled in that respect that the ultimate purpose of the Commission's debates was none other than to safeguard the dignity, rights and living standards of all human beings, without exception.
- 147. In his capacity as representative of the country which had chaired the fourteenth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN), he submitted to the consideration of Committee I a Declaration setting out the position of the countries of the region in respect of the issues dealt with by the Secretariat document entitled "Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them" (LC/G.1488(SES.22/3)/Rev.1). That Declaration had been approved at that meeting for presentation at the twenty-second session of ECIAC. He went on to refer to the various topics dealt with by the Declaration and requested, on behalf of all the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, that it be included in the report of Committee I.
- 148. Although some member countries expressed the view that it was inappropriate to include in the report documents on which there was not a consensus, the Chairman, by virtue of the powers invested in him by the Rules of Procedure, and taking into account the request of the representative of Trinidad and Tobago, decided to include in the report the Declaration in question, which reflects the position of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean:
 - "1. The development of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean is still hampered by an adverse international economic situation. On top of the structural nature of the crisis, it is necessary to add its persistence and depth, which stand in the way of the sustained development of the countries of the region, causing the productive capacity to deteriorate steadily, aggravating long-standing economic and social inequalities and widening the gap between the social groups. In this context, the Latin American and Caribbean governments are experiencing increasing difficulties in their struggle to restore or intensify democratic processes. In spite of the huge constraints we are facing, we hereby reiterate our determination to secure sustained development and growth, by seeking new patterns of development and new forms of international insertion.

- 2. These new forms of international economic insertion of Latin America and the Caribbean are developing within the framework of prolonged and pronounced imbalances in the world economy. This situation has been principally marked by slow and hesitant growth of the industrialized centres and of world trade, by serious macroeconomic disequilibria between these same centres, by the unrelenting and sharp drop in the prices of the commodities and raw materials exported by our countries, by the proliferation of protectionist barriers in the developed countries, the existence of high nominal and real rates of interest, the instability of the foreign-exchange, financial and stock markets, and the shortage of fresh capital resources, in circumstances in which the servicing of our external debt has become extremely burdensome. The fiscal and external disequilibria of the United States, which remain huge, aggravate this situation.
- 3. Forecasts regarding future trends in the international economy indicate that the panorama of recent years will persist and could even worsen. For this reason, as far as the region is concerned, the assumptions on which the adjustment programmes and policies resulting from a large number of the debt renegotiating agreements were based, and which assumed that the international economy would evolve favourably, have become unrealistic. Moreover such programmes included short—and medium—term conditionalities which have prejudiced development and recovery.
- 4. The consequences of the international situation have been particularly unfavourable for Latin America and the Caribbean. The external debt cannot be paid on the present terms without sustained economic development. Our countries are unable to continue to subordinate their development to the fulfilment of financial commitments entered into under extremely different external circumstances to those of the present. The impact of servicing the external debt has made economic policy management extremely difficult, narrowing room for manoeuvre and compelling governments to focus their attention on pressing conjunctural problems, to the detriment of a long-term view of the development of their economies. Latin America and the Caribbean has paradoxically become a region which transfers abundant financial resources to the developed countries. Thus, between 1982 and 1987 the volume of this net transfer reached approximately US\$150 billion, on top of the enormous losses of income deriving from the deterioration of the terms of trade.
- 5. The tremendous internal effort made in order to adjust the economies to a situation which was at first presented as being transitory has been putting our societies in a position where attempts to consolidate and expand democratization processes coexist with a weakening of the capacity for growth, low investment coefficients, stubborn inflationary processes and increasingly adverse social conditions, reflected in a higher level of unemployment and underemployment of the labour force and growing constraints on the supply of social services.
- 6. In order to surmount the crisis, there is need to remove the many external and internal constraints deriving from the international context and from the present mode of functioning of the Latin American and

Caribbean economies, so that the establishment of the New International Economic Order can no longer be postponed.

- 7. The starting point in all this is to find a solution to the problem of external indebtedness. In order to do so, it is necessary to adopt not only measures oriented directly towards that objective but also others aimed at achieving the restructuring of the international monetary and financial system and injecting greater dynamism into world trade.
- 8. The principles of co-responsibility and the right to development have been widely accepted by the international community. This acceptance must, however, be reflected in concrete policies. During the past year new facts and proposals have emerged which, if accompanied by the necessary political will, could perhaps eliminate certain economic and institutional rigidities which still constitute obstacles to exploring medium— and long-term solutions. Among these facts, mention may be made of the clear tendency shown by the market to set a more realistic value on the portfolio of the private banks. Mention should also be made of the acceptance, in some renegotiations, of provisions relating to economic growth targets and contingent financing in the event of changes in external conditions beyond the control of the debtor countries.
- 9. There is still need, however, to establish effective machinery which, among other things, allows the latin American and Caribbean countries to benefit from the discounts quoted on the secondary market in connection with the debt. Some examples of such machinery are the expansion of facilities which include the granting of official guarantees for the conversion of part of the debt into bonds. In addition, action must be taken to permit the direct reduction of the interest rates applicable to the debt which already exists, the condonation of the debt in certain circumstances, the expansion of the commitments of the private banks at a rate which is at least the same as that of inflation in the industrialized countries, and greater flexibility of international banking regulations and norms. All this makes the political dialogue between debtor and creditor countries a matter of urgency in the quest for solutions which take into account the interests of the developing countries.
- 10. It is also vitally important to set up a multilateral international trade system which will guarantee high growth rates and increasing participation by the developing countries in world trade. The Uruguay Round conducted by GATT will prove to be a positive step forward in the search for solutions to some of the problems surrounding international trade if it ensures the confirmation and implementation of the principles of differentiated special treatment and relative reciprocity in favour of the developing countries; the immediate fulfilment of the standstill obligations and commitments to dismantle trade barriers undertaken in the Punta del Este Declaration; as regards a system of safeguards, an adequate solution based on the most-favoured-nation clause, taking fully into account the interests of the developing countries; preferential treatment for agriculture, and the removal of all barriers affecting agricultural trade in accordance with GATT regulations. Finally,

international trade must be expanded and liberalized to allow greater access for our products to markets in developed countries.

- 11. Together with the above, it is absolutely necessary to restructure the international monetary and financial system in order to correct the serious imbalances which currently exist in the international economy and which have direct repercussions on our prospects for achieving sustained social and economic growth. In order to achieve this goal, we must have, firstly, greater macroeconomic discipline in the developed countries and secondly, mechanisms which would give us some influence on the effects of the economic policies of those countries, especially in relation to exchange rates, interest rates and international liquidity. It is also essential that multilateral financial organizations obtain more resources in order that they may play a more effective role in the development of our region.
- 12. In addition, the seriousness of the region's balance-of-payments problems requires an immediate expansion of official compensatory finance in order to meet the negative impact of factors such as the deterioration in the terms of trade and the excessively high real rates of interest. In this context, in order to ensure effective channelling of such funds it is necessary to eliminate crossed conditionality, which jeopardizes the development potential and autonomy of our countries.
- 13. It is, moreover, essential to take into account the particular circumstances of the region's small economies, whose special features—principally reflected in their small economic scale, their openness to the exterior and consequent vulnerability— render the burden of external restrictions far more oppressive. Consequently, they urgently require assistance in overcoming the obstacles preventing their sustained development through the implementation of mechanisms designed not only to remove artificial barriers which hamper trade, but also to improve access to external financial resources, on concessionary and non-concessionary terms. They also require relief in respect of the servicing of their debt with official agencies, in particular with multilateral agencies which traditionally do not accept rescheduling.
- 14. The countries of Latin America and the Caribbean bear no responsibility for the deterioration of the international environment, nor are they capable of bringing about any substantial modification thereof. In these circumstances, the region must of necessity assume an active role in order to transform international economic relations, since it is unrealistic to expect the industrialized countries to bring about favourable modifications in the external environment. In order to do so, the region must strengthen its bargaining power vis-à-vis the developed countries in the spheres of trade and finance, intensify regional co-operation and revive domestic markets.
- 15. As we have frequently repeated, we assume our own responsibilities in the task of overcoming the restrictions on development, which are not only external but also internal. In this respect, it is indispensable to progress towards new forms of national and regional articulation, and to combine the external and internal markets in both sectoral and temporal

terms and to take steps to make them mutually supporting. One of the means of achieving this is macroeconomic policy management. It must be combined with a systematic effort to overcome the institutional, financial and physical restrictions which hamper the transformation of the productive structures. With this aim in mind, it is necessary to undertake measures such as the regulation of the absorption of patterns of consumption which imitate those of the developed countries; the widening of property ownership, together with encouragement for the creation of small and medium-sized enterprises; the expansion of the possibilities for labour to acquire skills; an educational and health system with a broader and more deeply integrated social base, and the encouragement of entrepreneurial capacity.

- 16. It is also essential to transform the productive structures. In order to do so it is necessary to implement sectoral policies to promote the processing and design of final consumption products which make intensive and rational use of the available natural resources, while taking into account the requirements of international markets; to promote the selective expansion of activities which further sectoral articulation and bring technical progress with them, and to generate and adequately incorporate the so-called "spearhead technologies". Only in this way is it possible to achieve a form of international insertion in which transformation of production goes hand in hand with the incorporation of technical progress and a dynamic expansion of the value of exports. Such a form of insertion will be achieved by increasing external competitiveness through increased productivity.
- 17. The transformation of the productive structure must be based on equity. It is not possible to advance towards economic modernization by the exclusion of sectors of society and regions, as the ensuing latent tensions lead to uncertainty which, in the final reckoning, jeopardizes such progress. Equity, on the other hand, puts the development process on sound economic, social and political foundations. Consequently concern for equity cannot be left exclusively to the social services; it must be present in all aspects of social and economic policy and linked to broader participation by all sectors of society in decision making.
- 18. On top of the already existing problems of unsatisfactory income distribution and extreme poverty, the crisis added those of increased unemployment and underemployment, diminished access to social services, the shrinkage of the real wages and levels of consumption of medium- and low-income groups; in general, it reduced the possibilities for social mobility. In order to find a way out of the crisis through development, major efforts will be required, precisely at a time when those social groups which have been most affected are organizing to press their claims, above all within those democratic and pluralistic systems of government which are now in the process of reconstruction or consolidation. These efforts will bear more fruit if the countries of the region are able to rely on national programmes based on sound political and social consultation. The cost of this further effort must of necessity be shared more equitably, as only in this way will it be possible to further the willingness of the mass of the population to undertake long-term action in favour of growth.

- 19. The set of economic and social measures described above should increase the capacity of governments to cope with inflation, which in many countries has become yet another constraint on sustained growth. With regard to price stabilization policies it is necessary to take steps to simultaneously tackle the above fundamental or structural factors in inflation and the mechanisms by which it spreads.
- 20. For the purpose of mitigating the adverse effects deriving from the international economy, taking greater advantage of the potential offered by it, and consolidating each country's efforts to overcome the constraints on development, the political will to expand the content and the prospects of integration and regional co-operation is now being built up. The corresponding measures in the spheres of commerce, finance, production, research and technology must be based on the capacity to negotiate with third parties and on the establishment of new relations of interdependence among the countries of the region. Co-operation must also extend to new fields, including health, education, culture and the environment. In those efforts, countries with smaller economies will be given preferential treatment as regards access to regional markets and to the technical co-operation which other countries of Latin America and the Caribbean are in a position to provide.
- 21. Part of the new integration and co-operation effort referred to above consists in the commitment of the countries of the region to support regional and subregional institutions and bodies; to strengthen the links between them; to expand subregional loan and payments systems; to use the region's purchasing power to improve the access of regional exports to fresh markets; to undertake joint technological development and manpower training projects, including projects to recover highly skilled manpower which has migrated to other countries, and to organize co-operation efforts in specific sectors, such as food supply and services.
- 22. In adopting this set of policies, the Latin American and Caribbean countries are taking a realistic view of the new international context, acknowledging the serious structural problems in the pattern of development of their economies, which have been made worse by the crisis, and, in the face of the risks of recession, income concentration and authoritarianism, are declaring their choice of development, social equity and democracy."
- 149. The representative of the United States of America requested that his views on certain items in the foregoing Declaration should be included in the report. These views are given below.

"The debt problems of the heavily indebted countries of the region continue to be of priority concern to all of us. Co-operative efforts focused on achieving stronger, sustained growth through economic reform and adequate international finance remain the only viable and realistic approach for addressing these problems. The international strategy for addressing the debt problems of the heavily indebted countries of latin America and other regions continues to be based on four fundamental principles: i) the importance of growth in addressing debt; ii) the need

for market-oriented reforms to achieve growth; iii) new debt and equity financing, and return of flight capital to support such reforms, and iv) a case-by-case approach to address individual needs of each debtor country.

"The strategy itself is a dynamic one, providing a general framework for debtor/creditor co-operation which is evolutionary in nature. And while all of us would wish for more progress, the results to date have been greater than generally realized. Many debtor nations have made major efforts to restructure their economies along more market-oriented lines. According to the World Bank, growth in 1987 was in the 4-5% range or higher for 8 of the 15 major debtors. Export earnings rose sharply last year; imports have increased; and debt service ratios have fallen. While growth in a few countries faltered last year, adoption of appropriate policy reforms should enable stronger, sustained growth in the period ahead.

"The development of a "menu" approach to commercial bank financing packages provides additional flexibility for both new financing flows and new debt conversion techniques. The conversion of existing loan obligations into other instruments voluntarily and at mutually satisfactory prices, in an effort to reduce the level of outstanding debt, can make an important contribution —as we have seen with debt/equity swaps, debt/conversion swaps, and securitization of commercial bank debt.

"The General Capital Increase for the World Bank will position the Bank to maintain its strong support for debtor reforms. The World Bank and the IMF can continue to work with debtor nations to reduce fiscal deficits, control inflation, boost domestic savings and investment, and attract both foreign equity and reflows of flight capital. Most important, their encouragement for sound economic policies will serve to catalyze private flows of capital.

"We recognize that resolution of the debt problems will take time and the patient and determined effort of all. Clearly, the adjustment efforts of many countries reflect courageous determination and in many cases have resulted in difficult social costs. We all have an important role to play in addressing these social costs while working toward progress under the debt strategy. The evolutionary approach we are following provides the only realistic framework for addressing the debt problems over time and returning the countries of Latin America to economic vitality.

"What are some of the policies that are associated with sustained economic growth?

"Market exchange rates have to be maintained. Too often, nations have maintained overvalued currencies. This has stimulated their imports and made their exports higher priced and less competitive and has generally contributed to lack of confidence and to capital flight. Furthermore, overvalued exchange rates in many countries were sustained by barriers to trade and unsustainable levels of borrowing.

"General price inflation has to be brought under control in conjunction with sound monetary and fiscal policies. It is clear that inflation inevitably leads to economic disruption and to problems of confidence, to lack of investment and savings, and to capital flight.

"A freer trade policy has to be established. Our common interests are at stake in the GATT Round. Clearly, developed countries have a responsibility to lead efforts worldwide to liberalize trade. However, developing countries must also assume greater responsibilities that match their growing importance in the world economy. In this context, we believe that trade restrictions that try to address balance-of-payments problems actually damage developing economies in the long run. GATT rules in this area should be reviewed and revised.

"True economic incentives must be created by allowing the price mechanism to function. In many countries there has been extensive use of price controls, often in the presumed interest of low-income groups. A typical example is the control of the price of an agricultural commodity. The result has often been a shift in production toward other crops with higher market prices and serious shortages in the goods whose prices were controlled. In many cases, this has led to serious declines in national food supply, creation of a black market, and general inefficiencies which have hurt living standards.

"The above-mentioned policy areas imply an important role for government, but in general they also entail a lessening of the size of government and of the level of government interference in the economy.

"Governments should promote private sector development and competition and restrict the market power of cartels and monopolies, many of which have been encouraged or supported by special incentives. Many public sector activities should be transferred to the private sector.

"Governments should avoid harmful distortionary effects of taxation, which generally occur where overall tax rates are high and taxation varies greatly on similar products or on different uses of the same factors of production.

"Many public sector enterprises, such as public utilities and public transportation services (which might plausibly be provided by the private sector), should charge prices that more accurately reflect the cost of goods and services.

"It is clear that the developed countries have shared a responsibility to support the implementation of policies which provide a strong macroeconomic and structural basis for economic growth in developing countries. Because the reform process often hits the poor hardest, special assistance for the poor is not only a moral imperative, but also consistent with greater overall growth in the economy. Developed countries can provide assistance to help ease the transitional effects of adjustment programmes through food distribution, health services, education, and other programmes of special importance to the poor.

"Maintaining open markets to facilitate developing country exports is another important contribution of developed countries. A look at trends in Latin America's trade during the 1980s demonstrates the U.S. contribution to the development of exports from the region. During the decade, Latin American exporters increasingly have turned to the U.S. market. As a group, the industrialized countries moved from a US\$1.5 billion trade surplus with Latin America in 1981 to a US\$15 billion trade deficit in 1986. The United States alone accounted for 87% of this deficit in 1986.

"Conclusion: The return of the Latin American and Caribbean region to a position of dynamic economic and social development remains a priority and the shared responsibility of developed and developing countries alike. In particular, we recognize at this critical time the need to maintain an adequate flow of capital to the region to support comprehensive programmes of economic reform being undertaken by the countries themselves. The exchange of views and ideas in international arenas such as the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean remains an essential aspect of continuing efforts to develop an environment which will support economic prosperity and social dignity throughout the region.

"We appreciate the opportunity to have presented our views to the distinguished delegations present at this session of ECLAC."

150. The EEC countries which are members of ECIAC requested the inclusion in the report of the Committee of the following text:

"The EEC countries which are members of ECLAC have already expressed their interest in and understanding of the problems faced by the countries of this region, as well as their will to work together to find mutually agreed solutions. The Declaration of the Latin American and Caribbean Countries, which presents the region's position on these problems, contains some positive aspects. However, there are some views expressed which we do not share. We stress again the importance of making full use of this multilateral institution to seek solutions to the region's problems in a stable and democratic framework through constructive dialogue and objective analysis."

151. The delegation of Canada, for its part, requested the inclusion in the report of the Committee of the following text:

"The delegation of Canada notes the Declaration of the countries of Iatin America and the Caribbean. As expressed in the deliberations of Committee I, it shares many of the concerns arising from large debt burdens, extended periods of adjustment and developments in the international economy which have had a negative effect for the region. The delegation supports fully the goals of internal economic reform, greater equity and regional economic integration. The delegation differs, however, in a number of respects with the statement and in this connection wishes to recall the following: i) the progress being made through international economic co-operation in order to deal with the problems of global imbalances and to maintain and develop a healthy

international economy; ii) the importance of maintaining and strengthening the adjustment process in order to build the international confidence necessary to generate new investment and capital inflows; iii) the steps being taken in multilateral institutions to facilitate the process of adjustment through additional financing, and iv) the efforts undertaken within the context of the international debt strategy reflecting the constructive approach of debtors and creditors alike and leading to an improvement of the debt situation and financial flows."

- 152. The delegation of Brazil, speaking on behalf of all the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, requested the inclusion in the report of Committee I of the following Communiqué on the Fortieth Anniversary of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, adopted by the Committee of High-Level Governments Experts (CEGAN) at its fourteenth session:
 - "1. On the occasion of the fortieth anniversary of the creation of the Commission, the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean hereby express their recognition for the extremely valuable work performed by the Commission during the years of its existence. Because of the efforts made by ECLAC to give a proper interpretation of the economic problems of the region and present the alternatives available to it for overcoming them, it became possible to create and disseminate a new mode of economic thought concerning the development of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean.
 - 2. In 1948, when the Commission was created, the United Nations Economic and Social Council endowed it with terms of reference calling upon it to promote the participation of the countries of the region in measures for dealing with urgent economic problems and for raising the level of economic activity in Latin America and maintaining and strengthening the economic relations of the Latin American countries both among themselves and with other countries of the world. The Commission has remained ever faithful to the spirit of those terms of reference.
 - 3. In the Economic Survey of 1949, the Commission was already capable of presenting a new way of interpreting our economic development process. In that Survey it was affirmed that the imbalances and disparities which we were experiencing were due to the mode of insertion of our economies in the international context. The "centre-periphery" concept explained underdevelopment on the basis of the creation and dissemination of technical progress in the world economy, thereby reflecting, from the outset, an approach in which responsibilities were shared for the solution of the region's most urgent problems.
 - 4. In subsequent years, the work of ECIAC was strengthened and expanded in a quest for alternative policies which might provide ways of overcoming external and internal constraints to growth. As a forum for economic debate in the region, the Commission was able to make enormously important proposals to its members regarding such issues as the incorporation of technical progress into development through industrialization; planning the activities of the State as an agent for inducing and rationalizing development; the structural origin of inflation, and insufficient growth dynamics and their consequences for

the level of employment. The proposals made by the Commission were considered in conjunction with the economic objectives of the countries, at times becoming the backbone of the economic debate and the kingpin in the adoption of concrete measures.

- 5. Increased understanding of the region, to which ECIAC has contributed so much, has allowed us to form new regional concepts of development. In that connection, particular mention should be made of the country studies, the analyses of the international economic situation and its impact on the development of the countries of the region, and training and advisory service activities.
- 6. ECIAC has also made a distinguished contribution to intra-regional co-operation. In the 1950s it succeeded in consolidating studies on the great tasks of regional economic integration, which culminated in the creation of the Central American Common Market and later of the Iatin American Free Trade Association (IAFTA), which has since become the Iatin American Integration Association (AIADI).
- 7. Other studies, which laid the groundwork for the regional positions on international trade and which were carried out thanks to the tenacious and creative work of Raúl Prebisch, decisively influenced the creation of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), setting the pattern for the formulation and dissemination of ideas relating to the New International Economic Order.
- 8. Another inestimable contribution to Latin American thought may be found in the pioneer studies in which the Commission strove to incorporate the social dimension into development concerns. Those studies initiated the treatment of the question of equity —one of the Commission's abiding concerns over the past 40 years. The Commission has constantly and insistently warned that the development process must of necessity guarantee to the masses of the population full access to the fruits of development. Stress must be laid on the tremendous significance of that message, especially in view of the difficulties now being encountered, which have led to a marked deterioration in the social conditions of the region.
- 9. More recently, since the 1970s, the Commission has incorporated another great topic of concern, which has been the subject of a succession of reports by the Secretariat. This is the vulnerability of a type of growth based on a continuous flow of external resources, which from very early on was the subject of warnings from ECIAC. The rapid evolution of the size of the region's external debt obliged the Commission to redouble its efforts to keep its member governments informed and to promote the quest for fair solutions which can make access to development possible.
- 10. Today, we have pleasure in paying homage to Dr. Raúl Prebisch, the creator and inspirer of the thinking of ECIAC, as well as to the other illustrious latin Americans who have occupied the post of Executive Secretary of the Commission, and in acknowledging the role the Commission has played in conceiving truly latin American interpretations and

policies. On the threshold of the 1990s, the international economic crisis has raised problems which make the thinking of ECIAC more relevant than ever. Once again the Commission will have to dedicate itself to the task of interpreting the changes taking place in the international economy and their projection and articulation in respect of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, mapping out the quest for alternative strategies of change to bring about dynamic, equitable development under external circumstances which may be even more difficult than in the past. We hereby reiterate our confidence that the Commission will rise to meet those new challenges."

Approval of the report of the Committee

153. On concluding its work, the Committee approved the foregoing report for submission to the Plenary.

b) Report of Committee II

154. Committee II met on 21, 22 and 25 April 1988 to consider items 5, 6, 7 and 8 b) of the agenda of the twenty-second session. The presiding Officers of the Committee were as follows:

Chairman:UruguayFirst Vice-Chairman:JamaicaSecond Vice-Chairman:BoliviaThird Vice-Chairman:EcuadorRapporteur:Nicaragua

155. The Committee had the following working documents before it in its deliberations: "Report of the work of the Commission since April 1986" (IC/G.1508(SES.22/5)); "Draft programme of work of the ECIAC system, 1990-1991" (IC/G.1506(SES.22/6)); "Programme performance report of ECIAC for the biennium 1986-1987. Note by the Secretariat" (IC/G.1514(SES.22/14)); "Report on the activities of the Latin American Demographic Centre (CEIADE), 1986-1987" (IC/G.1494(SES.22/8)); "IIPES: New operational bases, and summary of activities 1986-1987" (IC/G.1509(SES.22/9)); "Proposed calendar of conferences of ECIAC for the period 1988-1990. Note by the Secretariat" (IC/G.1499(SES.22/4)); "Some recent resolutions and decisions adopted by United Nations organs which require to be brought to the attention of the Commission" (IC/G.1516(SES.22/16)); "Preparation of the new International Development Strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade. Note by the Secretariat" (IC/G.1517(SES.22/17)).

156. The Committee also had available reference documents, in particular the reports of the Special Session of ECIAC (Mexico City, January 1987), of the nineteenth session of the Committee of the Whole, and of the meetings of auxiliary bodies sponsored by ECIAC.*/

^{*/} See document IC/G.1507 (SES.22/2)/Rev.1.

Meetings of auxiliary bodies, and regional meetings sponsored by ECIAC in preparation for United Nations world conferences: conclusions and recommendations (agenda item 5)

Other activities of the ECIAC system since the twenty-first session, and programme of work of the Commission for the biennium 1990-1991 (agenda item 6)

- 157. At the commencement of the deliberations of the Committee, the Executive Secretary of ECLAC presented agenda item 5 together with the first part of agenda item 6. He described the activities carried out by the Secretariat since the twenty-first session in April 1986 and reported on the results of the Special Session of ECLAC, held in January 1987, and of the nineteenth session of the Committee of the Whole, held in August of that same year. He also referred to the principal meetings of the auxiliary bodies of ECLAC and to the seventh meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, 30 October 1987).
- 158. He summarized the various programme activities executed during the biennium, underscoring their interdisciplinary nature and noting that the fulfilment of the mandates of the General Assembly had required a considerable effort on the part of the Secretariat, which had had to absorb the effects of an increase in the percentage of vacant posts from less than 10% in early 1986 to nearly 30% at the end of the period under review.
- 159. After listening to the presentation by the Executive Secretary, the Committee adopted by consensus the "Report of the work of the Commission since April 1986", contained in document LC/G.1508(SES.22/5).
- 160. The Committee next considered the "Draft programme of work of the ECIAC system, 1990-1991", contained in document LC/G.1506(SES.22/6).
- 161. The representative of the Secretariat described the general aspects of and the background to the draft programme of work, which consisted of 14 programmes, subdivided into 38 subprogrammes, which in turn comprised 118 programme elements. He briefly described the main elements of the integrated programme cycle of the United Nations, and referred to the medium-term six-year plan, which covered under its programmes all the activities on a sectoral basis (for example, industrial development or statistics). The subprogramme was the unit which translated the legislative mandates into strategies aimed at achieving the objectives which the Secretariat should pursue in support of the member countries. He added that, within the framework of those strategies, each subprogramme of the draft programme of work presented to the Committee contained a set of elements that grouped together related activities. That information was subsequently complemented with the relevant financial data, for the purpose of the submission of the programme budget for 1990-1991 to the General Assembly through the respective specialized committees. In addition, he referred to the periodic reports on programme implementation and to the selective evaluation carried out in respect of certain subprogrammes.
- 162. The representative of the Secretariat then gave an overall presentation of the 14 programmes included in the "Draft Programme of Work of the ECLAC

- system, 1990-1991", noting that the Secretariat attached particular importance to the present stage of consideration of the proposals, which had been drawn up taking into account the experience and recommendations of the member countries gathered through missions, meetings of expert groups, and also, on a considerable number of occasions, in the course of the execution of projects and operational activities.
- 163. He gave a brief review of the extraordinary financial rationalization measures taken in compliance with General Assembly resolution 41/213 and mentioned in particular the as yet tentative results of the 15% reduction in posts, as well as the initiatives taken by the Secretariat to secure extra-budgetary funds in order to offset the diminution of the regular funds available. Finally he noted that the draft programme of work also covered ILPES and CELADE, which operated as autonomous bodies within the ECLAC system.
- 164. With regard to the overall aspects of the programme of work and the presentation made by the Executive Secretary, one representative congratulated the Secretariat on the high percentage of completion of most of the programmes corresponding to the past biennium, in spite of the severe budgetary restrictions. In that respect, he asked ECIAC to give greater priority to activities of regional coverage, while not neglecting the individual requirements of specific countries. He also expressed his concern with the need to maintain and increase the UNDP resources made available for programmes in the region.
- 165. Another representative referred to the rationalization measures adopted by the United Nations in order to achieve greater efficiency and to face up to the financial crisis affecting the Organization. In that respect he congratulated ECIAC for having so faithfully implemented the instructions of the Secretary-General in spite of the sacrifices involved in attempting to carry out the tasks entrusted to it with a diminished number of officers. He promised that his government would, within its means, endeavour to support the Secretariat by providing experts in specific fields.
- 166. The Committee then analysed each of the 14 programmes which make up the draft programme of work.

Programme 10: Development issues and policies

- 167. The representative of the Secretariat described the contents of this programme and underscored its importance, as it had been allocated 30% of the funds budgeted for the Secretariat as a whole, supplemented by 25% of the extra-budgetary funds which it was hoped to obtain for 1990-1991. The programme was executed by several units: the Economic Development Division, the Economic Projections Centre, the Latin American Centre for Economic and Social Documentation (CIADES) and the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (HIPES).
- 168. The first four subprogrammes making up the programme were then presented. These covered the preparation of the annual Economic Survey, Economic Panorama and Preliminary Overview for each year; studies of development strategies and economic policies; substantive documentation for CEGAN and economic

projections; and activities in respect of the organization of information and documentation for economic and social development.

169. The Committee approved these four subprogrammes but deferred consideration of the HIPES subprogrammes until it examined item 6 c) of the agenda, to be presented in due course by the Institute.

170. The programme was approved.

Programme 11: Energy

171. In outlining this programme, the representative of the Secretariat laid stress on the subregional coverage provided by subprogramme 11.2, which covered support activities for the integrated development of the electricity sector in Central America. In that respect, one representative requested clarification regarding the ordinary budget funds to be devoted to this programme and expressed concern at the estimated extra-budgetary funds for reinforcing it. He also requested clarification of the mandates relating to new and renewable sources of energy issued by the Intergovernmental Committee on New and Renewable Sources of Energy which had recently met in New York. He also requested details of the contacts with regional organizations dealing with the topic.

172. Another representative expressed the desire that the programme should attach particular importance to energy conservation.

173. The representative of the Secretariat explained that the estimate of extra-budgetary funds had been very cautious, and had been restricted to projects for which there were some indications of the availability of potential funds. He confirmed that permanent contacts existed with the Iatin American Energy Organization (OIADE) as well as with the Intergovernmental Committee referred to. He also took note of the need to incorporate aspects of conservation policy into the formulation of energy policies, and mentioned that the environment programme provided for activities oriented towards the conservation of natural resources, especially in the energy field.

174. One representative thanked the Secretariat for the emphasis placed on Central America in the energy field, and also requested information on the relationship between those tasks and the special programme of economic assistance to that subregion under the terms of General Assembly resolution 42/204. In that respect the representative of the Secretariat said that the programme had been prepared at an earlier stage, but that the Executive Secretary of ECIAC, with the assistance of other Secretariat officers, had participated together with officers of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in preparatory activities to implement that resolution. This information was considered satisfactory by the representative in question.

175. The programme was approved.

Programme 12: Environment

176. The representative of the Secretariat gave a general presentation of this programme, highlighting the concern with orienting its activities towards the incorporation of the environmental dimension as a routine factor of development processes, in response to the need to diminish the adverse effects of development policies and styles upon the environment. He made special mention of the support provided by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) to the unit responsible for implementing this programme.

177. The programme was approved.

Programme 13: Food and agriculture

178. The representative of the Secretariat outlined the food and agriculture programme jointly executed by ECLAC and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).

179. He said that both organizations had committed themselves to maintaining the resources for this programme, so that there would be no change in the human resources allocated thereto. The programme pursued interdependent objectives: the eradication of rural poverty, the elimination of hunger and malnutrition, and the expansion of agricultural production. The elements making up its single subprogramme included the topics of macroeconomics and agricultural policy, the linkage of the agricultural productive structure with industry and services, food security, microcomputers and agricultural planning, and an analysis of the future of the traditional agricultural export products of Central America.

180. The programme was approved.

Programme 14: Human settlements

- 181. In presenting this programme, the representative of the Secretariat summarized the objectives of its four subprogrammes, which were oriented towards improving housing are human settlements conditions in the region, noting that in this case too he programme was carried out by a joint unit, this time of ECIAC and the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (UNCHS).
- 182. The fundamental objectives of the programme centered on the problems of the spatial distribution of the population, the development of employment and the mobilization of savings towards investment in housing and the participation of social groups and local governments in the planning and management of the housing sector.
- 183. The programme was approved.

Programme 15: Industrial development

- 184. In respect of this programme, the representative of the Secretariat noted that it constituted a joint effort between ECLAC and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO) and gave details of its objectives and composition.
- 185. One representative expressed satisfaction with the inclusion of the topic of the promotion of capital goods industries, and expressed the desire that this significant activity should be allocated funds from the ordinary budget in order to avoid being mainly dependent on the possibility of obtaining extra-budgetary funds.
- 186. Referring to programme element 15.2.3 on the development of capital goods industries, another delegation requested greater details of the operational activities proposed therein, especially those carried out by UNIDO under its system of consultation. The Secretariat representative explained that ECIAC provided a regional forum for discussion which complemented the system of consultation, both with entrepreneurs and with government experts.
- 187. The programme was approved.

Programme 16: International trade and development finance

- 188. The Secretariat representative gave a detailed presentation of this programme, in view of the importance of the topic and the size of the funds allocated for its execution. He first of all reviewed the contents of the first four subprogrammes: studies on international economic relations, with emphasis on bargaining processes; relations with developed market economies and centrally planned economies; economic integration and co-operation, and the links between the countries of the region and the international monetary and financial system.
- 189. The Secretariat representative then referred to the inclusion in this programme of the subprogramme on economic integration and co-operation among the Caribbean countries (subprogramme 5). A brief summary was given of its origins, and reference was made to its various components, illustrating the expansion of the activities carried out by the ECIAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean.
- 190. One representative requested a clarification regarding the names of the subprogrammes, which had been altered since the 1988-1989 period. The Secretariat representative explained that for the period under review (1990-1991) there had only been slight changes in the names of these activities and that they essentially pursued the same objectives as during the present biennium.
- 191. Another representative drew attention to the importance of subprogramme 16.4, Economic Integration and Co-operation, and stressed that it should not limit itself to following up the processes under way but should also make a theoretical and practical contribution thereto. He also expressed interest in the progress made in the development of a statistical

infrastructure to support the planning of the services referred to under programme element 16.1.5 on trade in services. The Secretariat took note of these observations.

- 192. Another representative expressed interest in programme element 16.1.1, Latin America and the International Economic Negotiations, and requested that the Secretariat should expedite progress in studies on the topic in order to assist the negotiations under way. The Secretariat representative acknowledged the justice of the proposal and said that work was already being carried out on the subject since 1987.
- 193. A further representative placed stress on the great significance of the agreements between Argentina, Brazil and Uruguay and requested that the Secretariat should provide support for this subregional process through studies and technical co-operation involving the ECIAC offices in those countries.
- 194. Finally, another representative informed the Secretariat of his country's interest in receiving information as to the possibilities of advisory assistance to the countries of the region in respect of the negotiating process under way within GATT following the agreements reached on agricultural products in the Uruguay Round. The representative also expressed the desire that the Secretariat should systematically support the development of systems to measure the relevant subsidy programmes and should make use of its links with countries of other regions, such as Europe and Asia, through the respective regional commissions, to that end.
- 195. A number of other representatives spoke on this topic, one of them requesting that account should also be taken in this respect of countries which were net food importers, while another expressed the desire that ECIAC should always place at the disposal of all its member countries the studies which it carried out on this and other topics of the programme of work.
- 196. The Secretariat expressed its appreciation of these remarks and took due note of them.
- 197. The programme was approved.

Programme 17: Natural resources

- 198. The Secretariat representative presented the programme on natural resources and referred to the mineral, water and marine resources covered by it. The programme was received with satisfaction by the delegates, who made no comments on it.
- 199. The programme was approved.

Programme 18: Population (CELADE)

200. The content of this programme was only briefly reviewed by the Secretariat representative, since its detailed presentation would be made by the representative of the Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE), which was responsible for its implementation, when agenda item 6 b) was discussed.

Programme 20: Science and technology

- 201. In the presentation of this programme, reference was made to the legislative mandate which formed its basis (the Vienna Programme of Action), and to the way in which the subject of technology was dealt with in the different parts of the draft programme of work under consideration. Examples were given of some of the activities proposed for specific economic sectors.
- 202. One delegation expressed its desire that this and other programmes should reflect activities directed towards promoting the participation of the private sector in the development process.
- 203. The Secretariat explained the matter in the context of the presentation by topics, highlighting some elements where it was possible to identify activities expressly directed towards promoting and supporting the private sector. It was noted that it was difficult to determine a priori whether the users of studies and research would be from the public or the private sector, especially in those countries of the region where public and private capital made up a mixed economy. It was emphasized that it would be very difficult to identify the particular programme elements intended for different sectors of the economy.
- 204. Another representative felt that the programme make-up of the document was satisfactory, since it adhered to the general programming standards laid down by the United Nations. He went on to say that his delegation agreed both with the general way the programme of work was presented and with the priorities (as indicated by the magnitude of the resources assigned) set out in the summary of human resources by programme.
- 205. Another representative expressed his support for the proposal put forward by the Secretariat and its explanations, as well as the form in which the document was presented.
- 206. The programme was approved.

Programme 21: Social development and humanitarian affairs in Latin America and the Caribbean

207. The representative of the Secretariat explained the composition of the programme, stressing its new orientation and the content of subprogramme 21.2, Integration of Women into Development. An information note */ had been

^{*/} Conference Room Paper II/1.

distributed by the Secretariat on the subject, which identified other activities of the same kind included in the programme of work as a whole.

- 208. One representative said that he wished to place on record in the report the continuing importance of the activities contemplated in elements 21.1.3, Social Policies in Times of Crisis, and 21.1.4, Labour and Critical Poverty in Mexico and Central America. He requested that in the first case the coverage of the element should be extended to the problems of the care of refugees, displaced persons, repatriated persons, young people, orphans and other victims of war. In the case of the second element, he emphasized that it was necessary to study measures for improving living standards, establishing employment programmes, and increasing access to health and other basic services for the well-being of the population.
- 209. In general, the delegations favourably received the presentation of this programme, and the Secretariat proceeded to take due note of the emphasis desired by the above-mentioned delegation.
- 210. The programme was approved.

Programme 22: Statistics for Latin America and the Caribbean

- 211. The representative of the Secretariat explained in detail the content and scope of the activities planned in this field, the main objectives of which were to improve and extend a regional framework of homogeneous and comparable quantitative data and to support the national statistical systems, which were indispensable elements in any process of producing timely and reliable statistics.
- 212. The delegations received with interest the information provided by the Secretariat on data banks, regional indicators, social statistics, external sector and national accounts statistics, and training and technical co-operation activities in respect of statistics, and expressed support for the proposed programme of work on this subject.
- 213. The programme was approved.

Programme 23: Transnational Corporations

- 214. The Committee considered this programme at two separate meetings. In his initial presentation, the Secretariat representative noted that its execution was the responsibility of the Joint ECLAC/CIC Unit (set up under resolution 1961(LIX) of the Economic and Social Council) and of the United Nations Centre on Transnational Corporations, and that the activities of the programme were divided into three subprogrammes.
- 215. Following the presentation by the Secretariat, the United States representative expressed his concern over the contents of the programme, noting that it was inappropriate to include the question of the debt problem in it, since in his view that issue should be debated within the financial organizations established by the Bretton Woods agreement. He stated that his

position in the Committee was the same as that adopted by his delegation during the discussion of the draft programme of work of the United Nations Centre on Transnational Corporations, and he proceeded to request a roll-call vote on the programme.

- 216. The Committee approved programme 23 by a majority vote. */
- 217. With regard to the vote, several delegations requested that their statements, which are given below, should be included in the report:
 - a) The representative of <u>Canada</u> stated that he abstained in the voting on Programme 23 of the Programme of Work of the Commission in order to remain consistent with the position recently adopted by that country in other forums of the United Nations.
 - b) The representative of <u>Spain</u>, speaking on behalf of the five members of the European Economic Community which are members of ECIAC, said that in the light of the discussions on Programme 23 of the Programme of Work of the ECIAC system 1990-1991, the countries of the European Economic Community which were also members of ECIAC wished to place on record that in voting on that programme their delegations had acted in a manner consistent with the position which they had maintained and the form which their participation had taken on that matter in the United Nations.
 - c) The representative of <u>Peru</u> said that he attached priority importance to Programme 23 "Transnational Corporations" and to the activities carried out by the Joint Units of the regional commissions and the Centre on Transnational Corporations. The subprogrammes of Programme 23, in particular subprogramme 23.2.1., Financial Transfers and the Transnational Banks, were of particular significance for the region, specially in the case of the study on debt negotiations with the transnational banks, as Latin America was the region most affected by the transnational banks, as Latin America was the region most affected by the debt crisis. The representative of Peru said that he had voted in favour, in keeping with his country's principles and with its voting record in the Commission on Transnational Corporations.

Programme 24: Transport, communications and tourism

- 218. The representative of the Secretariat presented the ECIAC programme on transport, communications and tourism, based on the execution of activities in three subprogrammes: one on policy and planning, another on land transport, and a third on water-borne and multimodal transport. There were no comments on this subject.
- 219. The programme was approved as proposed.

^{*/} See paras. 236 and 449, which gives details of the voting by member countries on this programme in the Committee and in the Plenary.

Programme 18: Population (CELADE)

- 220. The Director of CEIADE presented the report on the activities of CEIADE for the period 1986-1987, described the new guidelines which had been laid down for the Centre and explained the draft programme of work for the period 1990-1991.
- 221. In his presentation he spoke of the nature and extent of the activities carried out under the subprogrammes on integration of population variables into development planning, on population information, and on training which were conducted in the member countries, at the Centre's headquarters in Santiago (Chile), in the Subregional Office for the Central American Area at San José (Costa Rica), and in the two joint ECIAC/IIPES units, namely the unit for the Caribbean countries in Port of Spain and the unit for the countries of the River Plate basin in Buenos Aires.
- 222. He then made explicit reference to the substantial collaboration received from extra-budgetary sources in carrying out the programme for the period 1986-1987 and, in particular, expressed his gratitude for the generous contributions made by the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) and by the Governments of Canada, France and the Netherlands.
- 223. He placed emphasis on the interrelationship which existed between the Centre's various activities and on the integrated nature of its work and reviewed the present needs of the region in the realm of development strategies and policies. He referred to the contribution to be expected in that respect from population activities, giving actual examples of the far-reaching effects that changes in population dynamics could have on the development process and vice versa. Finally, he analysed each of the subprogrammes of the population programme in the light of what he had just said, making special reference to the feasibility of their fulfilment with the resources already on hand and those expected to be received during the two-year period 1990-1991.
- 224. A number of representatives praised the presentation made by the Director of CETADE, noting the usefulness, in terms of the formulation and implementation of development policies, of the new way in which the draft programme of work was oriented.
- 225. Several representatives offered collaboration through specialized bodies of their countries and suggested useful ways of strengthening the mechanisms for appraising the Centre's activities.
- 226. The programme of work of CEIADE and the report on its activities in the period 1986-1987 were approved.

<u>Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (TLPES)</u>

<u>Subprogramme 10.5: Economic and social planning services for the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean;</u>

Subprogramme 10.6: Planning and co-ordination of public policies

- 227. The Director-General of HIPES laid stress on the fact that HIPES was a permanent United Nations body and on its role as an intergovernmental service institution. He noted that the organs which directed its work were the Regional Council for Planning, made up of the Ministers and Heads of Planning of the 37 member governments of HIPES, and the Presiding Officers of that Council, consisting of the representatives of seven of those governments. Both those forums had unanimously approved the report of the Institute's activities during the period 1986-1987 and its programme of work for 1988.
- 228. He then highlighted what had been accomplished in 1987, when a start had been made on consolidating the programme for the conceptual, methodological and procedural renovation of public policy planning and co-ordination procedures. He drew attention to the financial support contributed directly by governments to HIPES, which had increased by a factor of 30 in real terms in recent years, and to the collaboration provided by such developed countries as France, the Netherlands and Spain. He also highlighted the role played by UNDP, IDB and the World Bank in supporting specific HIPES projects.
- 229. After summarizing the activities carried out in 1987 he went on to describe those programmed for 1988 both at the level of the Office of the Director-General and in the areas of training, advisory services, social policies, regional planning and policies and public sector programming. He also described the activities carried out under regional project RIA/86/029, which was implemented with UNDP support and covered aspects relating to macroeconomic programming, the formulation of criteria for identifying dynamic comparative advantages, and intergovernmental co-operation.
- 230. He drew attention to the ILPES policy of decentralizing its activities through the Joint ECLAC/ILPES Unit for the Caribbean and the more recently established Office for Central America and Panama located in San José, Costa Rica. As a global indicator of the work accomplished in 1987, he mentioned that 175 technical papers had been produced either directly or by promoting their production in other bodies.
- 231. Finally, he said that all HIPES's work was aimed at consolidating the Institute as a body specializing in studying the medium and the long term, and that the short-term support provided was always linked to such medium and long-term perspectives. He drew attention to the new thrust of HIPES in the field of planning and also to its pluralist position, which was in keeping with the predominance of market economies in the region. Through its work, HIPES sought to help to reduce the uncertainty in the decisions of public and private agents and to play the twofold role of helping the region to find a better form of insertion in the world economy and raising governments' levels

of performance and efficiency. In those tasks, great importance was attached to social concertation in order to legitimize national development projects, and to the role played in that process by non-governmental bodies.

232. The document prepared by IIPES and its draft programme of work for the period 1990-1991 were received with great interest and unanimously approved.

General debate

- 233. Following the discussion of the foregoing individual programmes, the Chairman re-opened the general debate.
- 234. One representative requested the Secretariat to prepare a list identifying the various activities throughout the programme of work which bore directly or indirectly on the private sector, including academic institutions. Another representative, however, questioned whether such a list should be prepared, and asked whether its preparation would have financial implications. A further representative stressed that such action should not involve any change in the general orientation of the programme of work.
- 235. The representative of the Secretariat promised to prepare the list within a reasonable period at the Santiago headquarters of ECLAC, where the necessary background material could be consulted. That activity would not have any financial implications, and its results would be conveyed to all the member countries of the Commission as soon as possible.
- 236. The Committee approved the draft programme of work of the ECIAC system for the period 1990-1991 */ by consensus, except in the case of Programme 23, Transnational Corporations, which was approved by a majority vote.

Calendar of conferences for the period 1988-1990 (agenda item 7)

237. The representative of the Secretariat presented the document entitled "Proposed calendar of conferences of ECIAC for the period 1988-1990. Note by the Secretariat" (IC/G.1499(SES.22/4)). He made special reference to the in-depth study of the intergovernmental structure and functions of the organization in the economic and social fields currently being carried out by the Special Commission set up by the Economic and Social Council; to the ECIAC resolution which recommended that the current institutional structure of ECIAC be maintained; to the Fourth Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean, to be held from 27 to 30 September 1988; and to the Latin American and Caribbean Regional Preparatory Meeting for the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, which is to be held during the biennium 1988-1989 in accordance with ECOSOC resolution 1987/49 and General Assembly resolution 42/59.

^{*/} LC/G.1506(SES.22/6).

- 238. The Committee then considered annex 3 of document LC/G.1499(SES.22/4), containing the draft Calendar of Conferences of ECIAC for 1988 and 1989.
- 239. The Secretariat representative reported that all ECIAC intergovernmental conferences planned for 1988 and 1989 could be financed from the regular budget of ECIAC under the item "Policy-making organs", with the exception of the Regional Preparatory Meeting for the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, for which (if it is decided to hold it) the General Assembly would have to make appropriate budgetary allocations.
- 240. The Committee proceeded to approve the calendar of statutory meetings of the Commission and its subsidiary bodies.

Other business (agenda item 8)

Some recent resolutions and decisions adopted by United Nations organs which require to be brought to the attention of the Commission (Item 8 b) of the agenda of the twenty-second session)

- 241. The representative of the Secretariat presented the document entitled "Some recent resolutions and decisions adopted by United Nations organs which require to be brought to the attention of the Commission. Note by the Secretariat" (IC/G.1516(SES.22/16)) and referred to the following resolutions:
 - a) The situation in Central America: threats to international peace and security and peace initiatives (General Assembly resolution 42/1) and Special economic assistance to Central America (General Assembly resolution 42/204). In its operative part, resolution 42/1 expresses its support for the efforts being made to achieve peace in Central America and urges the international community to increase its technical, economic and financial assistance to the Central American countries. In resolution 42/204, the General Assembly requests the Secretary-General, in co-operation with UNDP, ECIAC and other bodies, to send a technical mission to the countries of Central America for the purpose of determining the economic and social priorities of those countries, and to formulate a special plan of co-operation for Central America. It also urges the organs and organizations of the United Nations system to co-operate in the implementation of the special plan. The representative of the Secretariat said that those resolutions would be considered in Committee I.
 - b) <u>Co-operation</u> between the <u>United Nations</u> and the <u>Organization of American States (General Assembly resolution 42/11)</u>, and <u>Co-operation between the <u>United Nations</u> and the <u>Latin American Economic System (General Assembly resolution 42/12)</u>. The Secretariat representative said that these resolutions were intended to promote and extend co-operation and co-ordination between the <u>United Nations</u> and the <u>OAS</u> on the one hand, and the <u>United Nations</u> and <u>SELA</u> on the other. He added that a short study had been prepared on the subject and would be sent to <u>United Nations</u> Headquarters in New York.</u>

- c) Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development (General Assembly resolution 42/187). In this resolution, the General Assembly welcomes the report of the World Commission on Environment and Development entitled "Our Common Future", decides to transmit the report of the Commission to all governments and to the governing bodies of the organs, organizations and programmes of the United Nations system, and invites them to take account of the analyses and recommendations appearing therein in determining their policies and programmes. The Committee subsequently adopted a resolution on this subject, which appears later in the present report.
- d) The Environmental Perspective to the Year 2000 and Beyond (General Assembly resolution 42/186). The Secretariat representative described this resolution, in which the Environmental Perspective to the Year 2000 and Beyond was adopted, as a broad framework to guide national action and international co-operation on policies and programmes aimed at achieving environmentally sound development. The Secretariat representative suggested that member States might wish to bear these recommendations in mind in formulating national and international measures.
- e) Report of the Joint Inspection Unit on technical co-operation between UNDP and ECIAC (Decision 42/446 of the General Assembly). The Secretariat representative mentioned that the General Assembly had decided to take note of the Report of the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU/REP/86/10), which was now brought to the attention of ECIAC.
- f) Preparation of the new International Development Strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade (General Assembly resolution 42/193). In this resolution, the General Assembly requests the Secretary-General, in consultation with all the organs and organizations of the United Nations system concerned, to provide information which would be appropriate for the preparation and elaboration of an International Development Strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade (1991-2000). The Secretariat representative said that the resolution would be considered by Committee I.
- g) Raúl Prebisch Foundation (General Assembly resolution 42/194). In its resolution 42/194, the General Assembly recognizes the important and valuable contribution made by the former Executive Secretary of ECIAC to development and international economic co-operation and invites all States and relevant agencies and bodies of the United Nations system to support the activities undertaken by the Raúl Prebisch Foundation set up in Argentina for the purpose of promoting development. The representative of the Secretariat expressed the hope that all member States would be able to collaborate with that Foundation.
- h) Policy quidelines for the harmonization of activities of the organizations of the United Nations system in science and technology for development (resolution 4(IX) of the Intergovernmental Committee on Science and Technology for Development). The representative of the Secretariat informed the Committee of resolution 4(IX) of the Intergovernmental Committee on Science and Technology for Development, in which note is taken of the report of the Secretary-General on this

subject (document A/CN.11/84 of 12 June 1987) and other intergovernmental bodies within the United Nations system are invited to consider that report at their forthcoming sessions and to offer their comments. He mentioned the request made by the Director-General for Development and International Economic Co-operation of the United Nations that the resolution in question should be brought to the attention of ECIAC with a View to receiving observations from the countries with regard to it.

Consideration and approval of the draft resolutions for submission to the Plenary

- 242. The Committee then went on to consider the following resolutions:
 i) Support for the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (HIPES) on the occasion of its twenty-fifth anniversary;
 ii) Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE); iii) Calendar of Conferences of ECLAC for the period 1988-1990 and iv) Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development.*/
- 243. After the representative of the Secretariat had indicated that these resolutions had no budgetary implications for ECIAC, they were approved by the Committee by consensus.
- 244. The Committee also approved by consensus a fifth draft resolution on the programme of work of ECIAC for the period 1990-1991,**/ except with regard to programme 23, "Transnational Corporations". This was approved by a majority vote, as reflected in a footnote corresponding to the first operative paragraph of the resolution.

Approval of the report of Committee II

- 245. This report of Committee II was approved unanimously for submission to the Plenary.
- c) Report of the Sessional Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions
- 246. The Sessional Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions met on 21 and 22 April 1988 to consider item 4 of the agenda. The Officers of the Committee were as follows:

Chairman:VenezuelaFirst Vice-Chairman:GuyanaSecond Vice-Chairman:ParaguayThird Vice-Chairman:CanadaRapporteur:Argentina

^{*/} Contained in Conference Room Paper PLEN/12.

^{**/} Conference Room Paper PLFN/12/Corr.1.

- 247. The representative of the Secretariat presented the document entitled "Activities of the ECLAC system to promote and support co-operation among developing countries and regions" (IC/G.1505(SES.22/10)), containing a description of the activities carried out since the twenty-first session of the Commission.
- 248. He drew attention to ECIAC's role as a catalyst in promoting and supporting the governments in their performance of activities relating to co-operation and noted that although co-operation among developing countries did not constitute a specific item in the Commission's programme of work, in practice the execution of activities relating to co-operation was given strong support and priority as a form and line of activity in all the Commission's work.
- 249. He described the activities which had been carried out at the regional level in support of co-operation among developing countries, highlighting among them those aimed at strengthening co-ordination with organizations of the United Nations system and other regional bodies with regard to technical co-operation among developing countries (TCDC); at identifying practical opportunities for strengthening co-operation among developing countries; at strengthening the exchange of experience among co-operation agents in the region, and at helping the national co-ordination centres for TCDC to promote the establishment of links between national institutions dealing with related sectors or issues.
- 250. He went on to summarize the activities carried out in conjunction with the other United Nations regional commissions for the purpose of identifying and seeking to implement priority activities relating to co-operation among developing regions and drew attention to the problems experienced in obtaining the funds needed to carry out such activities.
- 251. Activities already carried out in the realm of co-operation included the recent completion of a "Guide to technical co-operation among developing countries (TCDC): TCDC supply and directory of institutions" */ providing up-to-date information on the situation with regard to TCDC in a limited number of Iatin American countries, and also a second volume **/ in the series containing abstracts of documents on co-operation among developing countries available in the ECIAC data base. The Secretariat planned to prepare a supplement to the Guide including other countries in the region (specifically those of the English-speaking Caribbean) and also to produce a third volume of abstracts of documents on TCDC.
- 252. The delegations noted with satisfaction the activities carried out by the Secretariat and mentioned a number of items of interest with regard to the future orientation of TCDC and FCDC activities. They drew attention to the need for greater co-ordination of the efforts made by different organizations working to promote regional co-operation, with special emphasis on the need to strengthen subregional and regional integration and co-operation arrangements.

^{*/} IC/G.1513.

^{**/} LC/G.1501-P.

- 253. Several delegations suggested to the Secretariat different lines of intra-regional economic co-operation as a means of tackling and solving problems connected with the external debt, the settlement of commercial payments, development financing, etc.
- 254. They also drew attention to the need to support national efforts aimed at improving the inventories of TCDC-related resources and requirements and at strengthening training and research centres working in fields and disciplines to which the countries attached priority.
- 255. Some delegations placed emphasis on the need to make full use of the mechanisms and bodies already established within the Commission in order to analyse in depth the benefits that could be provided by intra-regional co-operation in tackling the region's development problems.
- 256. After a comprehensive debate, six delegations proposed that technical (TCDC) and economic (ECDC) co-operation among developing countries should be dealt with as separate issues in guiding the Secretariat's future work. Pursuant to this proposal, two draft resolutions were submitted to the plenary after their detailed discussion.
- 257. In the discussion of item 5 of the agenda, some delegations referred to various regional co-operation measures currently underway in Latin America and the Caribbean. In this connection, the delegation of Mexico stressed the importance of supporting the ECIAC Secretariat in the formulation of the special United Nations programme for Central America, and urged the members of the Commission to do their best to further that programme in view of the special meeting to be held on the subject at United Nations Headquarters in New York in May 1988.
- 258. The delegation of Mexico added that on 22 March 1988, at the Annual Assembly of the Inter-American Development Bank, the Minister of Finance of Mexico had announced a "Programme of Economic and Financial Co-operation with Central America". That programme had been formulated in response to the main proposals made by Central America, to General Assembly resolution 42/1, and to the measures to assist Central America agreed upon by the Heads of State of the Group of Eight at their last meeting held in December 1987 in the city of Acapulco. The Committee agreed to include that Programme as an annex to its report.
- 259. The delegation of Mexico also stressed that the ECIAC Secretariat, in its work to support economic co-operation between the Latin American and Caribbean countries, should collaborate more closely with SEIA in the light of the decisions which the Latin American Council had adopted on the matter.
- 260. The delegation of Argentina made reference to the Treaty on Assistance in National Food Emergencies, recently signed in Caracas within the framework of the SEIA Action Committee on Regional Food Security (CASAR). He noted in that connection that the Treaty permitted the participation of non-signatory countries and of international organizations in co-operation measures regarding food aid in emergency situations.

Approval of draft resolutions for submission to the Plenary

261. The Committee approved two draft resolutions, on technical co-operation among developing countries and regions and on economic co-operation among developing countries, respectively.*/

Consideration and approval of the report of the Committee

262. The Committee approved the present report for submission to the Plenary and decided to include in it the following annex:

Annex

MEXICO'S PROGRAMME OF ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL CO-OPERATION WITH CENTRAL AMERICA

Documents to initiate the following activities were signed in Caracas, Venezuela, on 22 March:

- a) Replenishment payment of US\$50 million to the Financial Co-operation Agreement between Mexico and the Central American Bank for Economic Integration in order to continue the support provided for the implementation of development projects by Mexican firms using resources made available under the San José Agreement.
- b) A technical co-operation agreement between the Nacional Financiera of Mexico and the Central American Bank for Economic Integration in order to assist the latter in the programme for the industrial reactivation of Central America.
- c) A technical co-operation agreement between the Banco Nacional de Comercio Exterior of Mexico and the Central American Bank for Economic Integration in order to assist the implementation of the programme to promote non-traditional exports from Central America.
- d) A fellowship programme aimed at assisting the professional development of Central Americans in Mexico through the provision of resources from the Fund for the Economic and Social Development of Central America set up within the Central American Bank for Economic Integration.

In addition, the programme provides for the following measures to be put on a formal basis in the near future:

e) Creation of a revolving fund of up to US\$65 million for the granting of special loans in Mexican pesos to Mexican importers of Central American products, with the objective of reducing the present trade imbalance with Mexico.

^{*/} Conference Room Paper PLEN/3.

- f) Signing of an agreement between Mexico and the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean in order to provide Central America with technical assistance regarding the external debt, using resources from the United Nations Development Programme. This action will be taken within the framework of a commission to be established by Mexico and the Central American countries for dealing with the external debt issue. There is great potential for co-operation among Latin American countries in this regard, based on the principles of solidarity and mutual benefit. The Mexican delegation is pleased to report that as a practical result of these efforts, an agreement will be signed with Costa Rica today (22 April 1988) concerning the restructuring of its debt with Mexico. In this transaction, advantage will be taken of the discount available on the secondary market, to the benefit of both countries.
- g) Establishment of an agreement between the Government of Mexico, UNDP, ECLAC and UNIDO for the identification and promotion of projects in Central America, making use of resources available under the agreement between Mexico and the Central American Bank for Economic Integration.
- h) Formalization of an agreement between the Government of Mexico, ECIAC, CADESCA and the Central American Bank for Economic Integration to stimulate the financing of agricultural projects in Central America (which provide, <u>inter alia</u>, for exports to Mexico), using resources available under the agreement between Mexico and that Bank.
- i) Signing of a technical co-operation agreement with the Permanent Secretariat of the General Treaty on Central American Economic Integration, as a means of contributing to the re-establishment of the Central American Common Market.
- j) Mexico has instructed the corresponding Executive Director in the IDB to ask the IDB administration to prepare a letter of intent defining the role which the Bank should play in solving the debt problem of the Central American countries and in ensuring that this issue is incorporated as a permanent line of action within the objectives of the Bank.

Plenary

a) Meetings to commemorate the fortieth anniversary of ECIAC

263. During the twenty-second session, the commemorative spirit was constantly present, both in delegates' statements and in the many messages of congratulation received from all over the world. Special commemorative meetings were held on the afternoons of 22 and 25 April, when the main speakers were João Clemente Baena Soares, Enrique V. Iglesias, Celso Furtado and Carlos Rafael Rodríguez. In addition, the Latin American and Caribbean delegations issued a Communiqué */ on the Fortieth Anniversary of ECLAC, while the Plenary of the Commission adopted a resolution on the same subject.**/

^{*/} See para. 152 above.

^{**/} Resolution 499(XXII).

- 264. Mr. João C. Baena Soares, Secretary-General of the Organization of American States (OAS) expressed great satisfaction at participating in the plenary meeting held to commemorate the 40 years of ECIAC's existence. At the beginning of the post-war period, nobody had had a clear idea of the significance of the challenges inherent in the international economic environment. The idea of integration had been forgotten. A war without precedent had just ended, and the countries of Iatin America were not receiving the same kind of help in the construction of the region's economy as the European countries. In 1948, however, two important events occurred—ECIAC was established and the Charter of OAS was signed. At the beginning of the post-war period, the Iatin American economies were characterized by their dependence on the export of primary commodities and on imports of manufactures. There were few economic links between the countries of the region. It was in that context that ECIAC began to contribute to the process of economic and social development in the region, thanks to the work of thinkers such as Raúl Prebisch, who made people reflect about Iatin America's position in the world scenario and drew attention to the need to diversify exports, industrialize the economies of the region and expand the domestic market, with the participation of all sectors.
- 265. The active presence of ECIAC remained as essential today as when it was first founded, in the face of problems which seemed even more difficult to resolve now that there was less external support. The unprecedented crisis early in the present decade had disoriented the development process, lowered the standard of living, weakened capital formation and aggravated the problems associated with poverty. That situation was compounded by the burden of the external debt and by the adverse conditions on the international scene.
- 266. In a recent report on integral development and democracy in Latin America and the Caribbean prepared by outstanding figures from the region, a diagnostic study was made and proposals were formulated which came very close to the ECLAC positions stressing the importance of taking account of the new factors characterizing the growth pattern of the world economy, such as the emergence of new economic centres, technological progress, and the growing financial links of the developed countries. The new circumstances called for a great internal effort and new responses, which should be creative and should produce results without delaying the changes needed within the region.
- 267. He concluded his statement by saying that the OAS and ECIAC, which had always maintained very close links, now had an important role to play in increasing their support to the countries of the region in efforts aimed both at action and at creative thinking and leadership.
- 268. Mr. Enrique V. Iglesias, President of the IDB and former Executive Secretary of ECIAC, said that ECIAC had come into being as a result of the impact of the post-war crisis, at a time when international solidarity and co-operation had given rise to a legitimate concern with development in the form of the "economic development theory". These had been influenced by the economic ideas of the developed countries, but had also been inspired from within the region.

- 269. In 40 years, the Commission had firmly established its institutional identity, although, inevitably, it had been at the centre of controversy and debate. Moreover, it had acquired a latin American identity, whereby it endeavoured to find responses to the problems of underdevelopment from the perspective of interpretations developed within the region. At the time of ECIAC's beginnings, no one could have foreseen the manner in which its field of action would expand to cover issues which nowadays formed part of the set of common problems of humanity. ECIAC's thinking had always been dynamic, and should continue to be so in the future, reflecting a permanent dialectical interplay with reality.
- 270. There were three main lessons to be drawn from the past: a) the latin American reality was made up of a diversity of facets, and aggregating statistics increasingly concealed major discrepancies therein; b) the development process was extremely complex, and c) Latin America was part of the international scene, a fact which could no longer be ignored. That fact would continue to be a key element in development strategy, not only in the field of macroeconomic policy, but also in the sphere of the upheavals caused by technological change: in the coming decade ECIAC would have a major role to play in the quest for solutions to overcome the present crisis.
- 271. Addressing the outlook for the region in the 1990s, he said that not everything was negative, and among the encouraging features, he mentioned the improvement in the macroeconomic management capacity of the countries; the awakening of the region's export capacity in spite of the unfavourable terms of trade; the increased awareness as to key aspects of social policies, and the review of the role of the State as an agent of production and creativity. The past experience and capacity for reaction of Latin America and the Caribbean should prevent the region from sinking into a new depression, with the resulting social regression. The Commission was facing a real challenge as regards the possibility of helping the region to assess past experience, whether successful or not; observing the experience of other regions in order to draw lasting lessons, and undertaking the task of helping to understand the profound changes in the international economy, over which it had only limited influence, but whose far-reaching impact had to be studied.
- 272. Finally, he offered a modest word of advice to ECIAC regarding the best procedure to follow in respect of three problems requiring examination: i) the manner of managing the crisis from the economic and political angles; ii) the concern with modernization, which had to be tackled within each country in order for the region to achieve greater economic and social efficiency, and iii) the reformulation of the traditional integration schemes. In that respect, it was necessary to create pragmatic and more efficient forms of regional co-operation as a way of improving the dynamics of growth and solving balance-of-payments problems. Humility was required in tackling all of those tasks, as no magic formulas existed for them. Finally, it was also essential to carry cut a fresh examination of the aims of the international institutions, in order for them to better serve the major objectives of the region, its governments and the great ideals of history.
- 273. Celso Furtado, Minister of Culture of Brazil, said that the present meeting of ECIAC provided an opportunity for reflecting on the various historical periods of the institution in order to better understand the

present and avoid the errors of the past. At the time of ECIAC's establishment, the international economy had undergone profound structural changes which had severely affected the countries of Iatin America modifying the laws of their governability and imposing new functions on the State.

274. The task of the ECIAC experts at that time had been to articulate all those data in a coherent way and to formulate policies which would restore governability and promote new forms of development. For that purpose, ECIAC had established a nucleus of research and scientific creation in order to take advantage of the rich but diffuse experience of Latin America in the struggle against the crisis, and under the inspiration of Prebisch a conceptual framework had been elaborated with a view to linking the domestic and external problems in order to achieve new forms of development that were less dependent on external stimuli.

275. The structural similarities between that situation and the current one were very marked, since both periods corresponded to cycles of change in the world economy. The current crisis, however, was much more complex since it was reflected in all aspects of social life. As in the past, however, because of the lack of a proper appreciation of what was occurring at the international level it was currently difficult for the countries to articulate the relevant data in a coherent and intelligible manner and to convert the available knowledge of the processes under way into guidelines for action.

276. The most valuable lesson bequeathed by the ECIAC of those early days was probably the demonstration that there were problems for which the countries were incapable of devising and implementing solutions if they acted individually. Now that the major problems were more complex, there was an obvious need for co-operation to permit the crystallization of a regional political will.

277. Carlos Rafael Rodríguez, Vice-President of the Council of State and Ministers of Cuba, said that his feelings at the fortieth anniversary of the Commission were a mixture of sadness, bitterness and hope. First of all, he referred to the setbacks registered in the region during the last five years in terms of external indebtedness, per capita income, international trade difficulties, restriction of consumption, and above all the persistent and lamentable concentration of national income.

278. With regard to ECIAC, he said that ever since it had been set up it had clearly stated what the root of the problems affecting the region was, on the basis of the distinction drawn by Raúl Prebisch between the centre and the periphery, which brought out the undeniable contradiction between the two. From the start, the Commission had postulated and demanded changes in the economic environment, anticipating in some respects the demands made in the new International Economic Order put forward three decades later. He noted that the measured tone of the ECIAC message, which had been necessary in view of the prevailing international circumstances, did not detract in any way from the justice of its recommendations. In his view, latin America had emitted at that time to carry out the structural reforms which would have enabled it to develop a sufficiently broad domestic market to solve the theoretical and practical problems raised by the ECIAC analyses. The transnationalization of the economy, together with financing through external indebtedness at high

interest rates, had now become an unbearable burden and an insurmountable obstacle to the region's development.

279. He felt that there was nothing to indicate that the existing circumstances were likely to be overcome through a sudden improvement in the external conditions imposed by the developed countries of the capitalist world, as had been forecast some years ago, and he believed that the situation had become even more serious because of the threat which the food surpluses of the European Economic Community represented for the world economy.

280. He then went on to say, however, that there was also growing hope in the region in view of the fact that militaristic and antidemocratic situations had been overcome in most of the countries and the Message of the Eight Presidents represented the expression of a Latin American and Caribbean voice which was not subordinated to external intervention. That continental awareness put the region in perhaps the foremost place among the peoples of the Third World and made it an obligation for it to continue the long-term battle for a new International Economic Order. In that struggle, the immediate objective on which all forces should be united was the external debt, which could only be solved jointly through the formation of a debtors' forum.

281. Meanwhile, he noted, there were two main options, both endorsed by ECIAC and both interrelated, namely, economic integration and structural change. He mentioned the advantages of complementation and expansion of markets in order to go beyond national frontiers and also to incorporate the great currently marginated masses into the consumer market, and in conclusion he recalled the relation which existed between peace and development. Peace, he said, should be more than just the absence of war between the great powers: it should also be a prospect for the most underprivileged members of society.

b) Working meetings

282. In the working meetings, the participants engaged in a general debate on the main items of the agenda and considered the reports and draft resolutions submitted by the committees as well as the draft resolutions submitted directly to the Plenary.

Admisssion of Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC (agenda item 8 a))

283. At its 231st plenary meeting, held on 22 April, the Commission approved by consensus the admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECLAC.*/ The representative of the Netherlands, which had sponsored the request for the admission of Aruba, expressed his thanks for this decision. A number of delegations then expressed their satisfaction at the admission of Aruba, which was invited to take part in the work of the session forthwith.

^{*/} Resolution 490(XXII).

General debate

284. The representative of Colombia said that the present crisis, which was the longest and severest experienced by the region in the past 50 years, was bringing it very close to structural stagnation. In the face of that fact, account should be taken of the suggestion made in the Secretariat document that reliance on short-term policies alone had proved its ineffectiveness for overcoming the crisis and that such policies had to be combined with medium-and long-term action and change based on international co-operation, regional concertation and, above all, on a political dialogue leading to the necessary structural corrections.

285. Since there had been widespread recognition of the true political dimension of the problem, more active participation could now be demanded from the international community in the quest for basic solutions --especially solutions to the debt problem -- as the only practical approach to issues such as those relating to the co-responsibility of debtors and creditors, symmetry in the adjustment processes and proper evolution of the economy, trade and international finance. In order to achieve such participation, it would be necessary to reform the international monetary and financial system in order to redress the severe imbalances at the world level which were hampering the development of the region. In that respect, he congratulated the Government of Canada and its Foreign Minister for having organized, prior to the forthcoming summit meeting of the Group of Seven, a meeting with an important group of Latin American countries at which the region's views concerning the major international issues were gathered. He also expressed satisfaction at the formula for turning debt into foreign investment in the debtor countries, adding that such a formula should also be extended to countries which were meeting their financial commitments in full.

286. The way in which the economic policy of Colombia —which could be regarded as relatively satisfactory— was being managed had been based on the formulation and application of a careful fiscal policy as well as on a balance between sources of domestic savings and public and private investment. The exchange policy had been aimed primarily at keeping the real exchange rate at a competitive level, thereby allowing the progress of non-traditional exports (mainly in the agricultural and hydrocarbons sector), which had helped to offset the drop in international coffee prices. In that respect, he stressed the need to keep the International Coffee Agreement in operation. At the same time, the development of a social economy sought to treat economic and social affairs as an organic whole in an effort to preserve the balance of the political process and to overcome the restrictions affecting the strata living in absolute poverty, in which connection he wished to take the opportunity to invite the governments of the region to participate in the Conference on the Eradication of Absolute Poverty, to be held at Cartagena, Colombia, in August 1988.

287. Although the Uruguay Round was indicative of the spirit of renewal which deserved to be encouraged, it was a matter of concern that coercive discriminatory measures which blatantly violated both the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and international law were being increasingly applied and were threatening the survival of the rules laid down in the multilateral system of trade; moreover, it was even more serious when measures were used as

a means of political pressure against developing countries. The future would be seriously jeopardized unless the crisis was faced coherently in a global international co-operation effort. The immediate objective, at least in the countries of the region, was to reactivate growth within a more favourable, secure and equitable international environment in which recognition was given to the links between trade, monetary and financial questions and development and those links were tightened. That required a renewed political will on the part of the entire international community in order to ensure that dialogue and co-operation could really act as factors of understanding and progress among peoples. At the same time, it would be necessary for the countries of the region to make an effective contribution to the reactivation of their economies by pooling their efforts, initiatives and actions so as to strengthen the presence of the region in the world community. That was a task not only for ECIAC but for all the other forums concerned with integration and the formulation of regional policies.

288. The representative of Spain, speaking on behalf of the members of the European Economic Community which were also members of ECIAC, welcomed the presence of Aruba as a contribution to the strengthening of the multilateral character of the Commission, whose fortieth anniversary was in itself proof of the importance and continuing relevance of the institution. The members of the Community which were also members of ECIAC wished to reaffirm the special importance they attached to the strengthening and development of their relations with the countries of the region, to which they were linked by enduring historical, political, economic and cultural bonds. The traditional co-operation of the Community with the countries of the Caribbean, within the framework of the Lomé Convention, had proven to be extremely rewarding for both parties.

289. Another major development had been the recently held Fourth Ministerial Conference between the States of the European Economic Community and the countries of Central America, held in Hamburg, at which note had been taken of the substantial progress towards the attainment of peace in Central America. He also referred to the meeting of the Joint EEC/Andean Pact Commission as a reflection of the growing expansion and consolidation of the relations between the EEC and Latin America. The EEC was cognizant of the fact that a solution to the economic problems that faced Latin America was closely bound up with the political stability, peace and security of the region's peoples, and the Secretariat document correctly described those problems. In the search for sustainable growth and development of the countries of the region, the servicing of the external debt was currently one of the most serious obstacles faced, and it also constituted a threat to the international financial system. Broad agreement existed within the international organizations on a growth-oriented strategy to deal with the debt problem, and it was generally recognized that the region's growth rate was too low. Despite the noteworthy efforts at adjustment by some countries, undertaken at the price of serious political and social consequences, the current strategy had not yielded the expected results.

290. Negotiation offered the best hope of finding solutions to those problems, and he welcomed the range of imaginative market-based solutions that had been devised by some countries of the region in consultation with their creditors with a view to reducing the debt burden. He also noted with satisfaction that

the countries of the region had entered into negotiations on that matter with the international organizations.

- 291. The Uruguay Round offered an excellent opportunity to overcome many of the obstacles which stood in the way of the development of Latin America and the Caribbean, and international co-operation in that field was more than ever necessary. In the difficult period during which Latin America and the Caribbean were consolidating and strengthening the democratic process, all the parties involved must assume responsible positions which contributed to the search for appropriate solutions to the problems of the region.
- 292. The representative of Spain, speaking on behalf of his country, then went on to say that his government noted with concern the critical economic situation of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean. Spain, linked by identity and history with the countries of the region, could not remain indifferent to the economic situation of Latin America and the Caribbean, the countries of which faced the prospect of the forthcoming decades with an immense potential for development and modernization, although burdened by severe restrictions of all kinds.
- 293. The debt-servicing obligations and the changing trends of development finance had transformed the countries of the region into net exporters of capital, which further hampered the growth of Latin America and the Caribbean and created a macroeconomic context of insecurity and uncertainty. In order to overcome the obstacles which restricted the development of the region, there was need for concerted actions, based on the co-responsibility of creditors and debtors.
- 294. He recalled that Felipe González, head of the Spanish Government, had declared in his address to the Constituent Assembly of Brazil that it was impossible to resolve the problem of the debt with proposals that were exclusively technical and that it was necessary to take account of the political and social dimensions of the problem. Moreover, it was neither just nor reasonable to demand the payment of the debt if such payment was not made possible by sustained growth. The effort which latin America had made to resolve that problem was generally recognized, but instead of being an obstacle, that effort should rather be an incentive for the process of democratization. In the solution of the debt problem, equity should be a common principle for all those who shared in that responsibility. The creditor countries should therefore seek to promote more favourable conditions in the international economy and, in that regard, Spain planned to negotiate a special programme with the World Bank and the International Development Association to co-finance development projects.
- 295. The Uruguay Round offered a unique opportunity for all the contracting parties to progress towards the liberalization of world trade and to contribute to the strengthening of the GATT system of trade standards. The debtor countries of Latin America and the Caribbean were called upon to make a significant contribution to that process of concerted action. In his view, finding a road to growth-oriented adjustment continued to be of fundamental importance in seeking medium-term solutions to the most pressing problems, including that of the modernization of the countries' productive structures, in the context of well thought out programmes of growth and effective

management, as a means of restoring a positive flow of financing towards the region.

296. Another of the fundamental challenges of the future in respect of which ECIAC was fulfilling a role of crucial importance was regional integration. However high the costs and sacrifices in the short term, the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean were called upon to play a key role in the world, using for that purpose the structures and mechanisms of regional and subregional co-operation. ECIAC had demonstrated yet again, 40 years after its creation, that it constituted an indispensable forum for the analysis and solution of the region's problems.

297. In conclusion, he recalled that in an interdependent world, as the King of Spain had so rightly said, co-operation in search of effective solutions to shared problems was required by reason and demanded by intelligence.

298. The representative of Aruba reaffirmed the commitment of his country and of the other parts of the Kingdom of the Netherlands to multilateral co-operation in the United Nations and to the role of ECIAC in that global process. In today's increasingly interdependent world, a global approach was required in order to implement coherent solutions to problems. ECIAC should co-ordinate the region's contribution to the preparatory activities for the new International Strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade as well as to the follow-up to the report of the Brundtland Commission, entitled "Our Common Future". It was only by consultation that the region could address the problems of sustainable development.

299. A little more than two years ago, Aruba had been granted separate status within the Kingdom of the Netherlands, and it had spent the months since then strengthening relationships with its many friends, both old and new, throughout the world. Many governments in the region had faced economic crises, but it was the vision of those governments and the quality of their leadership that determined whether a country would recover and prosper, or become paralysed by fear and remain prostrate. Unlike many of the countries of continental Latin America which suffered from fluctuating commodity prices, monetary instability and debt, Aruba's main problems were in the area of transport and communications, and in the urgent need to diversify the basis of its economy, particularly its service sector. The closing down of the Exxon oil refinery had left 40% of Aruba's working class unemployed. However, bolstered by the self-confidence engendered by the country's new status and by its determination not to fail, the government had seized the opportunity to create a new and more stable economy. It had decided that accelerated development of the tourism industry was the first solution to the economic problems that faced the country, and today Aruba was witnessing a new era of affluence. Unemployment had dropped below 10% and the potential existed for full employment by the end of 1988. In addition, 17% growth had been recorded in the economy over the previous 12 months and about US\$200 million had been invested in new projects. A new sense of optimism prevailed which would propel Aruba into an era of economic stability and prosperity. The country was now turning to the second phase of its plan to consolidate the economy: the establishment of growth in medium- and small-scale industries, and the diversification of its service sector in order to guard against the booms and busts of a country dependent upon a single economic pillar.

- 300. Arubans came from 40 nationalities and spoke many languages. The country's strength lay in its international spirit, and it knew how to reach out and learn from its friends around the world. It was therefore with pride, hope and honour that it joined the prestigious group of ECIAC. The members of that group must flourish in order for the region as a whole to flourish. It was the people of the region who must prosper in order for the region's economies to prosper, and it was the duty of the governments to give all their people freedom in order for the region as a whole to be free.
- 301. The immediate emphasis of Aruba, a country in a hurry, was on concrete and pragmatic actions aimed at cultivating the seeds of prosperity which lay all around. It therefore intended to participate fully in the discussions and debates on important economic issues, especially at the subregional level through the CDCC, and it planned to follow the principle that any agreements concluded should be honest and fair, in order to guarantee that the lives of the region's children would be healthy, prosperous and free.
- 302. The Bolivian representative expressed the concern of the people and Government of Bolivia regarding the country's lack of access to the Pacific Ocean and the failure to properly apply the principle of free transit laid down in international agreements. In that connection he expressed his surprise at the findings of a study carried out by the ECIAC Secretariat on the integrated system of transport between Chile and Bolivia, which, in his view, reflected a partial approach that failed to take into account the observations made by the Government of Bolivia.
- 303. He also mentioned a number of situations which he described as abnormal, including the clear and constant failure to observe the United Nations rules regarding the equitable geographical distribution of ECIAC posts, the excessive centralization of the staff in Santiago, the lack of freedom of expression and of universality of thinking; and the violation of the Headquarters Agreement, as illustrated by the denial of a visa to a Vice-Minister of the Bolivian government attending a United Nations meeting in Santiago.
- 304. He therefore reiterated the statement made by his country's Minister of Foreign Affairs at the forty-second General Assembly in New York, at which he had requested the transfer of the headquarters of ECIAC and of its subsidiary agencies to other countries in Latin America where respect for democratic liberties and human dignity formed part of the common heritage. In conclusion the representative of Bolivia insisted that, pending the relocation of ECIAC headquarters, the necessary steps should be taken to effect an initial measure involving the decentralization of ILPES and CEIADE and the reduction of the number of Chilean personnel occupying important posts.
- 305. The Executive Secretary of ECIAC offered to reply in writing before the end of the session to the points raised by the Bolivian representative regarding the conduct of the Secretariat. That reply would be delivered to the Bolivian delegation, but if the latter so requested it could also be circulated to the rest of the delegations. Apart from that, however, the Executive Secretary stressed that the Secretariat did not accept political pressures from any government whatsoever, that it strictly observed the United Nations rules on recruitment and personnel matters, that it tried to ensure that its documents were models of seriousness, impartiality and objectivity,

and that the staff of the Secretariat were imbued with a profound sense of their mission as international civil servants.

306. Speaking in exercise of his right to reply, the representative of Chile called the statement made by the representative of Bolivia a diatribe against Chile and said he would not follow him in that approach but would confine himself to clarifying some of the specific points raised in the Bolivian statement, noting that the allegations made concerning the domestic policy of Chile were out of keeping with the nature of the present meeting.

307. He then referred to the treaty which regulated transit traffic between Chile and Bolivia, which, as noted by the representative of Bolivia, had been supplemented by a number of conventions subsequent to its entry into force. Under that treaty, Bolivia was entitled to set up customs enclosures on Chilean territory, and it had chosen the cities of Arica and Antofagasta for that purpose. In that connection, he also mentioned the railway which ran between Arica and Bolivia, which had been built by Chile but was owned by Bolivia in all the Bolivian territory through which it passed.

308. An integrated transit system had been in force between the two countries since 1975, and after it had been in operation for 12 years, the Governments of Chile and Bolivia had jointly requested ECIAC to prepare a study on the way in which the system had worked. The ECIAC document highlighted the advantages of the system and the effective way in which it worked, and made recommendations for its further improvement. It was the recognition of the effectiveness and efficiency of that system which annoyed Bolivia and had led it to reject the ECIAC study and to level ethically unacceptable accusations against the Secretariat. He considered that the Bolivian allegation that the Chilean Government had exerted influence on the content of the document in question was, in his view, a most serious accusation against the ECIAC Secretariat, and in refutation of it he wished to pay tribute to the serious and independent nature of ECIAC's work and the professional integrity of the members of its Secretariat.

309. With regard to another point raised by the representative of Bolivia, he reminded the participants that there were no diplomatic relations between the two countries and that it was necessary to indicate the intention to make a journey before an entry visa to Chile could be granted. The incident occasioned by the delay in the granting of a visa to Under-Secretary Alderete, who was to attend an ECIAC meeting, had been due to lack of information concerning his post and the purpose of his journey and the problem had been solved as soon as that information had been provided, in strict fulfillment of Chile's obligations in respect of the Commission. He wished to reiterate that Chile had always abided by every aspect of its Headquarters Agreements with the various international organizations and, in particular, with ECIAC.

310. The representative of France underscored his country's interest in the region, as reflected in the intensification of its political relations with the countries of latin America and the Caribbean. France supported the steps towards democratization taken by the governments of the region, as well as their efforts in favour of peace. It also desired to strengthen cultural, scientific and technical co-operation and to assist the efforts of the countries of the region to achieve development.

- 311. The principal problem facing the countries was the debt. In that respect, encouraging results had been obtained, especially through the adjustment programmes implemented by the debtor countries and the unprecedented mobilization of the international community in support of those efforts. France had contributed to that mobilization by denouncing the unacceptable nature of certain situations, calling for a broader sharing of responsibilities and promoting the establishment of new mechanisms designed to achieve more equitable solutions.
- 312. The debt strategy should essentially focus on the implementation of adjustment efforts by the debtor countries, on an endeavour by the industrialized countries to co-ordinate their economic policies so as to promote a generalized recovery of growth, and finally on an increase in financing to favour both the growth and the paying off of the debts of the developing countries.
- 313. The IMF and World Bank had a major role to play in that respect. The Bank should flexibilize the financial terms of its loans, while the IMF's financial role should be reinforced by revitalizing the Extended Fund Facility and establishing machinery to take account of external risks. Furthermore it, was necessary to replenish the funds of the IDB without delay. France encouraged the quest for all possible solutions to the problem of the unsecured debt in order to reduce its size. The representative also mentioned the need to promote private investment and the effort to consolidate maturities within the Paris Club.
- 314. Another serious problem facing the countries of Iatin America and the Caribbean was that of the in-depth transformation of their economies. In that respect, ECIAC should continue to collaborate with the governments of member States. One of the principal measures which should be adopted in that field was undoubtedly the implementation or revitalization of the integration process, an arduous task which had to be carried out bearing in mind previous total or partial failures, as the European Economic Community had done. In that regard, the "Agreement on Argentinian-Brazilian integration" of June 1987 constituted a promising case of integration. The fact that a third country, Uruguay, had recently joined that venture showed how, starting from a basic nucleus, it was possible to develop an integration process by stages, exercising prudence and caution.
- 315. The representative of Panama drew attention to the grave crisis that was affecting his country, caused by the application by another State of coercive economic measures which were pushing the economy of Panama towards total collapse. Because of its particular economic characteristics, Panama was extremely vulnerable to a country in which it had placed its trust and which, by historical tradition, it had always considered a friend. On the basis of that confidence, the country had no Central Bank, did not issue any paper currency, and in it the United States dollar circulated freely, on the basis of an agreement signed in 1904. The flow of currency in circulation had now been obstructed, crippling the Panamanian banking system, which consisted of more than 120 banks with inter-bank deposits from almost all the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean.

- 316. The Panamanian economy had begun to suffer acutely from the force of the economic aggression in October 1987, when the bilateral external economic and technical assistance that had been committed in the amount of approximately US\$100 million was cancelled and the country was excluded from the benefits of the Generalized System of Trade Preferences. The embargo on the funds belonging to the National Bank of Panama and to other banks that operated in the country had led to the closure of the banking system in order to cope with the surge in demand by depositors seeking to withdraw their funds on account of the panic. In fact, Panama was totally cut off from the international financial system and could no longer import even the most essential consumer and capital goods. That situation had led to a drop of at least 50% in the country's economic activity and the unemployment rate had begun to rise, with the attendant serious social and political consequences.
- 317. Panama, a small country of two million people with an area of 75 000 km2, had become a "threat" to a great and powerful nation and had been the victim of economic sanctions that destroyed its economy and undermined the basis for its economic and social development. The Government of Panama had denounced that situation in a document submitted to the latin American Economic System (SELA). The Republic of Panama, in the face of that aggression, had had recourse to the solidarity of Latin America in order to overcome the grave crisis which it was facing, and Latin America had responded to it. At a meeting held on 28 March 1988 in Caracas, SELA had agreed to support Panama in its just cause, and the solidarity of Latin America had been expressed in the adoption of a decision that was accompanied by a list, in order to permit the member countries of SELA to give effect to their desire to provide material assistance to Panama. He concluded by reiterating his request for the support of the countries of the region in order to resolve the immense problems that beset his country.
- 318. After mentioning the contributions made by ECIAC to the region and to his country, the representative of Paraguay referred to the adverse external situation and its impact on Latin America and the Caribbean. In his view, the Great Powers were still acting in such a way as to cause stagnation and recession in the economies of the countries of the region, in spite of their rhetorical professions of solidarity. In that connection, he said that ECIAC must continue to play a leading role in the quest for arrangements which, together with national efforts, would make it possible to raise the living standards of the region's inhabitants.
- 319. There were three types of constraints on the development of Iatin America and the Caribbean: world constraints characterized by the negative centre-periphery relationships; regional constraints, caused by the fact that the region's economies had centered their growth on the great metropolises instead of making joint use of their own market potential; and domestic constraints caused by the burden of the historical colonial development model and the demands imposed by the centres of power. Within that framework, he attached special importance to the external debt, which had already become a structural problem and constituted a danger for the peoples. Attempts to solve that problem should try to serve the best interests of all concerned within a framework of political concertation and co-responsibility.

- 320. The only valid approach for overcoming the constraints on development was the economic integration of the countries of the region, and in that connection he said there was a vital need to structure the great Iatin American economic space, which called for powerful political support. Although the various attempts made so far to advance in that direction had met with some success, it had not proved possible to attain the sought-for objectives. It was not possible to approach economic integration on a purely commercial basis: it must instead be seen as a force for the integral development of the economies, and at the same time it was important not to apply inequitable rules, so that restrictive measures should not be taken in the field of international trade.
- 321. In that context, he called for more effective action to aid the relatively less developed economies, especially those within ALADI. With regard to the smaller economies, he mentioned the proposals made in respect of the immediate establishment of a free trade area, the establishment of a preferential investments policy and a development financing system at the area level, and the adoption of a regional technical assistance policy.
- 322. He then described the policies applied by his country at the domestic level to promote its economic and social development. He highlighted the Paraguayan government's accomplishments, mentioning, in the first place, the principles and guarantees contained in the country's Constitution, the creation of basic national institutions, and the exercise of democracy with separation of powers and free elections. He then referred to the achievements in the fields of education, health and social assistance; to the physical integration of the national territory, and finally to the recovery and use of natural resources through a process of agrarian reform. Since the 1970s the country had entered upon a phase of marked growth in the gross domestic product and per capita income, and it had been able to surmount the world crisis with controllable levels of inflation and unemployment and to meet its commitments punctually without adopting recessionary economic policies.
- 323. The representative of Chile analysed the Latin American crisis, described the achievements of the Chilean economy obtained through a process of domestic adjustment, and outlined the measures adopted, challenges faced and objectives pursued by Chile and by the region as a whole.
- 324. Latin America was in what could justly be described as a crisis situation. The clearest manifestations of that were the problems of the external debt, the lack of economic dynamism, acute inflation and the magnitude of the poverty affecting all the countries of the region.
- 325. The crisis was not a recent problem, nor was this the first time that a crisis had affected Latin America. The factors which had hampered the self-sustaining evolution of the countries of the region included: excessive State intervention; the constant unwillingness to participate in world free trade; the low propensity of the region's inhabitants for saving; the conceptual imprecision and excessive rhetoric with which the question of poverty was tackled; and the inadequate capacity for and scant importance assigned to scientific and technological research.

- 326. Chile had experienced similar historical conditions to the rest of the region. It had been buffeted by the oil crisis of the 1960s and the financial crisis of the 1980s. Its present circumstances, however, were apparent from the following facts: it had registered its fifth consecutive year of sustained growth of slightly more than 5%, and expected to achieve the same result during the coming decade; inflation had been under control for several years and had constantly remained below 20%; the rate of unemployment (approximately 8%) was the lowest of the last 15 years; and during the last three years the external debt had begun to decline as a result of debt-conversion mechanisms and strict compliance with payment obligations.
- 327. In the social sphere, the level of extreme poverty had fallen by approximately one-third in the last 15 years. The country had achieved unprecedented results in the sphere of exports and led the world market in a number of products in addition to copper. The private sector had been strengthened and ownership of various State enterprises had been transferred to it, with priority being given to workers in the firms thus transferred, who now owned shares and were represented on the boards of management. The public financial deficit was only 1.5% per year.
- 328. To sum up, Chile possessed a dynamic economy, strongly oriented towards exports, with price stability, a diminishing external debt, a sharp increase in productive employment, a number of regional development poles and manifest social progress. The crisis had thus clearly been overcome.
- 329. The key to that success was that Chile had sought the underlying causes of its condition as a developing country, and having come to the conclusion that the path to a genuine solution called for far-reaching structural change, it had consequently initiated the construction of a new institutional system to avoid repeating the age-old problems common to the region. That new institutional framework ensured a democracy which was politically stable, economically productive and socially just.
- 330. Some of the policies which had made it possible to overcome the crisis were: the definition of a set of rules which would remain unchanged over the long term; the protection of property rights; the maintenance of a balanced fiscal policy and independence of the monetary authority; the assumption of a subsidiary role by the State and a decisive opening-up to external trade. State action had been focused on extreme poverty, strong regional administrations had been established, resource allocation was carried out on a technical basis, a decisive thrust had been given to science and technology, and new mechanisms had been developed for managing the external debt. All that constituted, in the final reckoning, a specific and non-traditional development model. Great domestic political will was required, for without it there was no benefit to be derived from the availability of greater external resources.
- 331. In the international sphere, the developed countries had reacted to the domestic imbalance of their own economies in exactly the same way as they had urged the developing countries not to react 30 or 40 years ago. It was quite striking to observe the escalation of protectionism on the part of countries which had traditionally striven to demonstrate the advantages of free trade to the rest of the world. Chile had strictly complied with the Punta del Este

Agreement and the GATT rules, even though it had encountered external trade problems. For example, the EEC had introduced quantitative restrictions on Chilean apples and the United States discriminated against Chilean grapes. There were also indications that some countries and international financial organizations were adopting political criteria in their decisions. Should that become an established trend, it would merely make it more difficult to overcome the crisis.

- 332. With regard to ECIAC, the Commission had played and would undoubtedly continue to play an important role in the region. The characteristics of the world situation on the threshold of a new millennium would have been impossible to predict a few decades ago. The rapid emergence of biotechnology, artificial intelligence, robotics, and the indissoluble links between information science and telecommunications were some of the determining factors of a new era which every country of the region would soon have to face.
- 333. It was also necessary to grasp the significance of the new and growing quaternary sector of the economy and to meet the problems of adapting the educational system. The globalization of the world which was taking place was no substitute for action at the local, community and municipal levels. Ready-made recipes were no longer of any use, nor was the rational-comprehensive planning of the 1960s, or even conventional strategic planning.
- 334. The countries needed to adopt open models of strategic thinking and to establish open relationships offering multiple future options. Those were only a few of the many challenges calling for fresh ideas and creativity to deal with the tasks which the countries of the region, and of course ECIAC, would have to face in the coming decades. Those tasks included re-thinking the image and concept of the region for the twenty-first century, taking up the scientific and technological challenge, discovering new forms of strategic planning using systematic models, and grasping the nature of the quaternary economy. While it was essential to overcome the present crisis, it was also necessary to take up the challenge to construct a new future for the region, with the freedom to put forward fresh ideas and approaches quite distinct from those of the past.
- 335. The representative of Venezuela said that when the new government took office in 1984, the economy of Venezuela showed a drop in the product, a marked decline in investment, a high unemployment rate and an overvalued exchange rate which was obviously quite unsuitable for promoting the production of internationally tradeable goods. Given that situation, the government had been forced to make changes in and adjustments to the economic policy for the dual purpose of strengthening the external sector of the economy and establishing the bases for solid industrial and agricultural development.
- 336. Progress had been made towards achieving the first goal, through the implementation of a coherent set of policies which included the adjustment of the exchange rate in order to eliminate overvaluation and enhance the competitiveness of exportable Venezuelan products abroad, the renegotiation of the external debt, stimulation of the inflow of fresh foreign investment, and

access to foreign credit, giving preference to projects which yielded high returns and saved foreign exchange. In the achievement of the second goal of Venezuela's economic policy, namely, the strengthening of sustained development to enable the reactivation of aggregate domestic demand, fiscal policy had played a fundamental role, through the execution of an additional investment plan in 1985 and a three-year public investment plan which began in 1986. Similarly, current expenditure had been progressively adjusted through the elimination or reduction of superfluous or unnecessary outlays. As a result of the application of those policies, since 1985 the country had managed to register a steady growth rate, industry and agriculture had shown greater dynamism, and there had been reactivation of public and private investment. At the same time, the unemployment rate had dropped and foreign investment in the country had increased considerably.

- 337. With regard to the fortieth anniversary of ECIAC, which was being celebrated at the present meeting, it was worth noting that the economic policy advocated by ECIAC had contributed to the achievement of the 5.6% rate of increase recorded for 35 years in Latin America, as well as to the profound economic, social, technological and cultural changes which had been fundamental in transforming the agricultural and mining societies of the past into the economies of the present which were in the process of industrialization.
- 338. Nevertheless, today the world economic situation was adversely affecting Latin America's economies by limiting their development possibilities. The external debt situation had forced many countries to adopt adjustment policies that involved high social cost and considerably set back their development programmes. Moreover, the proliferation of protectionist measures in the developed countries was preventing the countries of the region from expanding their exports and from exploiting their comparative advantages to the maximum. In those circumstances, there was an obvious need to strengthen co-operation, as a way of overcoming the economic difficulties being experienced by the Latin American countries, reducing their vulnerability and improving their chances of contributing to the reform of the world trade system.
- 339. In conclusion, he extended to ECLAC on behalf of his Government an official invitation to hold the twenty-third session of the Commission in Venezuela.
- 340. The United States representative expressed his delegation's thanks for the hospitality offered, and extended his congratulations to the Executive Secretary of ECIAC on the assumption of his post. He said that the Commission could help all countries to focus their efforts on the difficult adjustments critical to economic development, greater private-sector contribution to growth and the development of strong capital markets in the debtor countries, and noted that direct relations and interplay between economic and political freedom constituted a basic tenet of his government's policy.
- 341. The 1980s has been marked by profound political change, with the replacement of dictatorships by democracies in 11 countries, as a result of which 90% of the peoples of Latin America and the Caribbean now lived under democratic régimes. His country and President were committed to the proposition that economic and political freedom were inseparably linked. The

failure of Statist models was apparent from any comparison with individual freedom of choice.

- 342. The task of the newly-elected democratic régimes had been complicated by the need to reduce and reorient the dominant role of governments, which had begun to see the need to shift towards market-oriented policies in order to permit their citizens to realize their true productive potential.
- 343. It was no accident that the current round of world trade negotiations, aimed at a major liberalization of trade barriers in agriculture and industry, bore the name of an ECIAC member country. The developing countries should clearly take the lead in this process of liberalization, and Iatin America and the Caribbean had assumed increasingly important responsibilities in it, commensurate with their growing importance in world trade. The Uruguay Round was aimed at achieving the necessary adaptation of the international trading system to the profound changes which technology had brought into international economic exchanges. The United States was committed to resisting protectionist pressures not merely out of its own long-term interest, but because that represented the surest path to long-term self-sustaining growth for the developing world.
- 344. The region's debt problems were naturally of fundamental concern to the United States, which recognized the need for a strong co-operative approach whose basis was economic growth, backed by adequate financing for the needed comprehensive programmes of economic reform. The international strategy to address the debt problem was flexible and evolving, with the "menu" approach providing additional flexibility for both new financing flows and debt-conversion techniques. Although faster progress was desired by all, the results had been greater than realized, since World Bank figures indicated that the growth of the 15 major debtors had averaged 2.5% to 3% in 1987 as against 3% negative growth the year before, while export earnings had risen by 13% and imports by 7%. At the same time, debt-service ratios had fallen and capital flight had begun to be reversed. Despite the faltering in the growth of a few countries the previous year, it was expected that the implementation of sound economic reforms would ensure sustained growth in the future.
- 345. Policy prescriptions put forward were based on the recognition that the marketplace was the most efficient development model, and that required a sound macroeconomic setting with realistic exchange rates, greater fiscal discipline, market-determined prices, control of inflation and the reduction of the distortions preventing its functioning: tried prescriptions to which ECIAC should devote more of its efforts. The removal of price controls had repeatedly led to increased supplies, and the removal of bureaucratic constraints protecting existing firms would permit the entry of new ones, thereby creating greater economic benefits. The harsh experience of the 1980s had led to an emerging consensus that economic growth required a shift from the Statist approach: a consensus which it was believed would set the policy framework for the Americas in the 1990s. That process of change was sometimes painful; privatization was but one means of achieving the desired objectives.
- 346. The United States' willingness to assist efforts to encourage the flow of foreign investment was illustrated by its ratification of the newly-created Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, and it urged governments of the

region which did not yet belong to that agency to carefully examine the potential benefits of doing so. Finally, he noted, economic growth was dependent on international competitiveness. The benefits of import substitution were quickly exhausted, and attempts to live behind protectionist walls constituted a harsh sentence to economic stagnation and poverty.

347. The representative of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) said that the characteristics which had made ECIAC prestigious in the past were still present today and stressed the need for the region to find ways of achieving integral development based on a spirit of democracy and equity, developing its capacity for thought and its ability to made its thinking known.

348. The effects of accelerated technological change, combined with the more perceptible economic and social problems confronting the region, presented the governments with changing situations which were very difficult to predict and correct and led to a permanent state of instability and confusion. In the new round of negotiations embarked upon in Uruguay within the framework of GATT, stress had been laid on those pressing problems by including the services sector on the agenda of future negotiations, since it was undeniable that that sector was a predominant factor in the imposition of structural changes with unforeseeable repercussions. With the assistance of ECIAC, continued efforts would be made to provide financial co-operation and support to the countries in the GATT negotiations, to examine world policy options and to reactivate trade. ECIAC should continue to serve as the region's think tank and to design models for the future development of Latin America and the Caribbean.

349. The economic, social and political problems of the region, together with their solutions, were of an integral nature —a fact with which ECIAC had already concerned itself. UNDP was also very concerned about the conditions of extreme poverty in which large sectors of the population were living and about the possibility that that poverty would produce violent unrest. For that reason it was supporting the initiative of the President of Colombia to hold a conference on the eradication of absolute poverty, for which UNDP would act as the technical secretariat.

350. An integral approach should also be taken to adjustment models, since the future of the region depended on its own efforts: on its capacity to negotiate, to increase its access to new markets and to assimilate new technologies. By tightening the links between the regional institutions, especially those with technical capacity, it would be possible to put forward alternatives and adopt new approaches to negotiation in keeping with the characteristics and circumstances of each country. At the same time greater attention should be paid to the application of economic and political measures which would allow the Caribbean to become integrated with Latin America. The special plan of economic co-operation for Central America was an example of teamwork by the international community which had enabled it to break the vicious circle set up by the two crises —the political crisis and the economic crisis. ECIAC, OAS, IDB and SEIA, together with UNDP, could make up an interagency group to review the list of social and economic issues confronting the region, to establish priorities, and to formulate guidelines for action in the 1990s.

- 351. The representative of the Organization of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) thanked ECIAC for its continued support and mentioned the co-operation which his organization had received in connection with various activities, especially those to promote the customs union among its countries. Advisory assistance was also expected shortly in matters relating to the services sector. He added that he fully shared the ideals of the Commission and urged member States to give ECIAC their increasing support, so as to make it stronger and more efficient for the benefit of the peoples of the region. He was certain that if the discussions continued to be as intense as they had been so far, and if the climate of mutual respect was maintained, their success would be assured.
- 352. The representative of Nicaragua, speaking on behalf of Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua, said that the approach taken by the Secretariat in the document which had been the basis of the discussions was realistic and timely. The economic crisis in the region had become more acute and the outlook was bleak. He emphasized that it was contrary to the principles of social justice for priority to be given by the developing countries to external financial obligations, while attention to social problems was postponed.
- 353. He proposed that a political agreement should be reached among States and among leaders to find solutions to the economic problems of the region. It was now urgent that the stage of declarations should be replaced by political commitments, though a dialogue which should be open, frank and direct in order to reach agreement and overcome the crisis.
- 354. He summarized the efforts and progress made by the Central American countries to bring peace to that subregion: efforts which had intensified with the fulfilment of the commitments deriving from the Esquipulas and Sapoá agreements. He repeated Central America's position rejecting the use of economic power as an instrument of political pressure and launched an urgent appeal for the immediate removal of economic blockades and other forms of coercion, which prevented the balanced development of the region.
- 355. He recalled the adoption of the immediate Action Plan, which outlined an order of priorities for international co-operation, and the decision set forth in the "Acapulco Pledge" of the Group of Eight to assist Central America. Mexico, he added, had arranged a global co-operation programme. He announced the formulation, jointly with UNDP and ECIAC, of a Special Plan of Co-operation for Central America, to be submitted to the General Assembly in the coming weeks, and added that the support of the international community—especially through speedy mechanisms to ensure timely co-operation—was now more essential than ever.
- 356. The representative of the Federal Republic of Germany (the country currently occupying the Presidency of the European Economic Community), speaking on behalf of the Community and its 12 member States, laid stress on Europe's commitment to the furthering of political, economic and trade relations with the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean and the measures taken to achieve that objective. The successful outcome of the Ministerial Conference recently held in Hamburg had demonstrated the capacity for reinforcing co-operation and the commitment of the European Community and

its member States to set the stage for durable economic development by helping promote internal and regional peace. The European Community and its member States welcomed and supported the priority being given by the countries of the region to economic and trade reforms, the development of competitive and open economies, and regional and subregional integration for overcoming their present economic crisis in ways that strengthened economic growth, social stability and justice, and the democratic process. For its part, the European Community was taking an active part in promoting the success of the Uruquay Round multilateral trade negotiations, inter alia, by pursuing structural adjustments in the area of agriculture consistent with the roll-back of protectionist trade barriers and mutual trade liberalization, submitting a formal proposal with respect to trade in tropical products. It actively promoted access by the exporters of the region to the European Community market and it was implementing a new approach to industrial, technological and financial co-operation. In conclusion, he expressed the strong hope that this fortieth anniversary of ECIAC would mark the beginning of a new era of steady political, social and economic progress for the countries of the region.

357. The representative of Cuba said that what had been perceived by the Western powers at the beginning of this decade as a recession had turned out to be, in fact, the most profound, prolonged and widespread economic and social crisis that the underdeveloped world had suffered in the last 50 years.

358. In evaluating the subject of the restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean, he said that the factors of external origin that had been mentioned in the documents submitted, which were no more and no less than the prevailing unfair international economic relations, were the result of the neocolonial dependency which the major Western powers had imposed by force. The latter were avoiding their historical responsibility to help the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean to secure a change in those relations to others which were favourable to the region. Thus, they imposed on the countries distorted economic structures of dependency which had impeded a process of sustained development. Sectors of major importance, such as agriculture and industry, had been seriously affected by these problems, some of which were inherent in the productive structures prevailing in the region, while others were derived from the crisis in the world economy.

359. In that connection, he indicated that the agricultural sector had been unable to cover even the basic food needs of the population because of the land tenure structure, which was characterized by a widespread minifundista peasant economy that was technologically very backward and existed side by side with large agricultural enterprises owned by transnationals and huge under-exploited latifundios. The industrial sector, for its part, continued to be affected by its marked technological and financial dependency, by the contraction of national markets and by the excessive bias towards exports. The factors described above were the source of permanent unemployment, low indices of economic growth of both the gross national product and per capita national income, inflation, and other permanent features of the latin American and Caribbean economies, all of which brought in their wake hunger, poverty and backwardness.

- 360. From the documents presented by the Secretariat at the meeting, it could be inferred that this had been a lost decade in the development of Iatin America and the Caribbean. The total amount of the region's external debt already came to the impressive figure of US\$410 billion, that is to say, more than 40% of the total accumulated debt of all the underdeveloped countries. Debt servicing payments had absorbed virtually one-third of the region's domestic saving between 1983 and 1987, forcing a decline in productive investment and weakening even further the chances of future growth. As a response to the crisis of indebtedness and the social drama of our peoples, the international financial capital, through the International Monetary Fund, had imposed recessionary policies, with the well-known aim of ensuring the recovery of the increasing debts, regardless of the economic and social deterioration that such policies might entail.
- 361. The Committee of High-Level Government Experts, meeting in Trinidad and Tobago on 1-3 March 1988, had recognized in its draft declaration that "the assumptions on which the adjustment programmes and policies resulting from a large number of the debt renegotiating agreements were based, and which assumed that the international economy would evolve favourably, have become unrealistic". Repeating once again that "the external debt cannot be paid under present circumstances without sustained economic growth", the draft declaration stated that "our countries are unable to continue to subordinate their development to the fulfillment of financial commitments entered into under extremely different external circumstances to those of the present". Despite the seriousness of the problem of the external debt, its final solution, which was urgently demanded by the countries of the region, would not be enough to eliminate the structural distortions in their economies, and even less so, to restructure in a satisfactory way the present unjust system of international economic relations.
- 362. The countries of latin America and the Caribbean could not find a genuine path to development if protectionist pressures in the trade sphere continue to increase, if the prices of the region's commodities continued to fall, and if their limited markets were snatched away by nefarious trade practices. In the financial sphere it was also necessary to eliminate fluctuating exchange rates, high real rates of interest and capital flight to the developed capitalist countries, whose transnational capital had pillaged and plundered the scant resources of the countries of the region.
- 363. The principal device in that complex and harmful trade and financial set-up, often denounced but nonetheless still present, was the imperialistic economic policy of the United States government. That government was now attempting to break the will of the Panamanian people by means of coercive measures designed to destabilize the country, endeavouring once again to undermine the validity of the Torrijos-Carter Canal Treaties. At the Sixth Extraordinary Meeting of SEIA the countries of the region had rejected those coercive measures applied to Panama and urged the United States to immediately revoke them. More recently the Group of 77, meeting in Belgrade, and the Steering Committee of the Movement of Non-aligned Countries, meeting at United Nations Headquarters, had also endorsed that just demand of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean.

364. The representative of Cuba reiterated his country's support for the people of Nicaragua and for its Sandinist government in their struggle for peace and development. Through the Esquipulas II agreements and the current process of negotiations, that heroic people had given proof of their desire to reach a negotiated solution to the armed conflict in their country encouraged, directed and financed by the Government of the United States. To talk of peace was to promote the path to development, on account of the indissoluble bond between both concepts. The peoples of the region were confident that the resources liberated by disarmament would be devoted to the noble task of helping them to leave underdevelopment behind. An increase in the resources of the international financial agencies, which should furthermore be made available without discrimination or political conditions, was another general request put forward by the region as a brake on the excessive stress now placed by some countries on bilateralism.

365. The representative of the United States, in exercise of his right of reply to the statement by the representative of Cuba, said that the Latin American and Caribbean region was facing difficult economic and financial problems and that his delegation had come to the ECIAC session to address those problems. ECIAC could and should play a constructive role in designing constructive approaches. His delegation recognized that the dignity and the professionalism of the delegates present deserved the careful, considered and full attention of all participants on those economic issues. Despite the persistent effort of a single delegation to politicize the discussion, the United States delegation would continue to address the economic issues before the meeting in order to support the economic and social development of the region.

366. The representative of Cuba, making use of his right of counter-reply, said in the central part of his statement:

"It is interesting, Mr. Chairman, that the representatives of an impulsive and irresponsible administration should be ashamed of facts for which the latter is chiefly responsible. Our peoples, their struggles and the grave crisis which they are experiencing, require us to take concrete action to give effect to their hopes and expectations. If the distinguished representatives of the United States government are frightened or disturbed by truths, even though stated in careful, elegant and respectful language in deference to the forum in which they are being expressed, we urge them to desist from their policy of pressures, aggressions and blackmail, since their current policy will in future create for them much more compromising situations than the one which we are witnessing today in this forum. Unless the Government of the United States changes its policy, it will have to accustom itself among other lessons of history, on future anniversaries of ECIAC, to listening and facing up to much more unvarnished statements. Cease your blackmail. blockade and aggressions and you will be more respected and appreciated. Pursue a just policy in trade, finance and credit matters and you will have the gratitude of our nations. Offer us a policy of co-operation for development without discriminations, conditions of subjugation, and you will hear expressions of sincere gratitude."

367. The representative of the United States expressed his regret at having to exercise his right of reply once again, but explained that he felt obliged to do so by some of the assertions made by the Cuban delegation. He then went on to say:

"At a meeting where work is required, where consensus is sought on the hard realities of how to advance economic growth so as to benefit all the people of our hemisphere, the petty politicization of the Cuban delegation is a sad display. By what right does a country which is characterized by gross economic mismanagement, by widespread scarcity, shoddy production, general disillusionment, worker apathy and corruption comment on the important economic political matters before us today? Cuba has an economy which the World Bank reported has declined steadily for more than two decades; where 10-15% of the people have voted with their feet and with lifeboats and with rubber rafts to escape the island prison, and where many of these people have risked their lives in such escapes. Cuba has an economy which only survives because of a massive 5 billion dollar subsidy from the Soviet Union year in and year out; and without which the so-called revolution would have died years ago. Cuba, whose government practices massive abuses against the human rights of its own citizens and exports troops to foreign countries instead of economic aid. In short, Cuba is an economy and a society which no longer serves as a model for anyone. We wish the Cuban delegation -- despite its own foiled economy-- had come to ECLAC this year to contribute a positive dialogue on long-term economic growth. Alas, sadly, it is here instead for politicization and distortion."

- 368. The representative of Jamaica paid tribute to the past achievements of ECIAC in its 40 years of existence, welcomed the admission of Aruba, and warmly praised the hospitality of the Brazilian government and people. Turning to the basic document before the meeting, he said that he was disappointed that more attention had not been paid to the experience and special problems of the Caribbean and expressed the hope that in future a better balance could be achieved.
- 369. The debt burden was the major obstacle to sustainable development and ECIAC had made a useful contribution in helping governments to come together to deal with that problem. The challenge facing the region was to find further initiatives which would provide the debtor countries with the opportunity to develop their economies, since the available menu of options failed to address the core of the problem.
- 370. Jamaica was pursuing the idea of debt capitalization, and in 1987 a debt conversion unit had been established in the Bank of Jamaica. Because the present initiatives at the international level to deal with the debt had not adequately addressed the problems of middle-income countries, his country was therefore pursuing its own initiative, which called for the establishment of a new loan instrument which would have the same effect as the rescheduling of the debt.
- 371. Another innovative scheme was the one devised by Mexico, the United States Treasury and Morgan Guaranty, the bankers. Thus new ground had been broken, since the outstanding debt was to some extent linked to capacity to

- pay. As the developing countries had repeatedly pointed out, debt servicing should be linked to export earnings. However, countries could not achieve dynamic and sustained economic growth until the problems of the world economy in general had been addressed.
- 372. The developed countries' average growth of 3% in 1987 was still not enough to stimulate growth in the world economy, and many Latin American and Caribbean countries had suffered continued deterioration of their economic situation. The growth of 2.6% recorded by the region as a whole occurred in only a few countries (including Jamaica). Jamaica had endured years of painful structural adjustment but had now begun to experience lower inflation rates and real economic growth. In order to check their economic decline, the countries of the region would have to depend more on themselves and with the assistance of ECIAC and SEIA they must seek to increase the level of regional co-operation. The Buenos Aires Plan of Action and the Caracas Programme of Action were useful tools in that endeavour, but will and determination were needed to implement them. It seemed that technical co-operation was being de-emphasized because attention was being focused on the problems of the world economy, and he therefore urged renewed interest in and practical support for economic and technical co-operation among developing countries.
- 373. The United Kingdom representative stressed his country's strong ties with the ECIAC region and its wish to strengthen them bilaterally and through the European Economic Community. The session was timely: it should be guided by the outcome of the recent IMF/IERD meetings and the "evolving co-operative response" agreed at UNCTAD VII.
- 374. He said that the industrialized countries accepted responsibility for improved management of the world economy, and he noted some positive developments in inflation and interest rates, and a small improvement in commodity prices. He accepted, however, that more needed to be done to reduce trade imbalances between industrialized countries, to reduce protectionism, and to cut agricultural subsidies. Progress must be made in the current GATT Round. The 1980s had seen revolutionary changes in the United Kingdom through recognition that "the business of government is not the government of business". A new spirit of enterprise and sound economic management had led to a period of unprecedented sustained economic growth.
- 375. Turning to the debt problem, he noted the fall in resource flows but believed there had been positive developments: the US\$75 billion General Capital Increase for the World Bank and changes in the IMF's facilities to expand the scope of compensatory finance, to provide a longer framework for development, and to help the poorer countries. The United Kingdom wanted to see an early capital increase for the IDB. The commercial banks were now stronger, and more willing to agree market solutions to reduce debt: e.g., debt/equity swaps, exit bonds, debt buy-backs.
- 376. Individual governments must decide their own domestic reforms, but a new spirit was moving in the region: there was a reassessment of the role of State enterprises and recognition that bureaucratic constraints could stifle enterprise, that realistic exchange rates were needed, that subsidies and excessive fiscal deficits fueled inflation, and that foreign investment was important in generating economic development and employment and in providing

access to high technology. Multinationals were not necessarily a threat: British companies had a reputation for probity, good management, and respect for the environment. Private companies, which could choose where to invest, needed a non-discriminatory environment with clear rules. He supported regional integration; the emphasis should be on trade creation both within and outside the region.

377. He stressed that ECIAC should give weight to the problems of the Caribbean. The smaller islands were vulnerable to external shocks, and had little opportunity to diversify. Nevertheless the United Kingdom was helping those countries to diversify through its aid programme, and recognized their need for access to markets. ECIAC should remain open to new ideas so that it could guide the region through a period of modernization and stronger growth.

378. The representative of Canada began by expressing the best wishes of the Secretary of State for External Affairs, Mr. Joe Clark, to ECIAC on the occasion of its fortieth anniversary and by welcoming Mr. Gert Rosenthal as the new Executive Secretary of the Commission.

379. The experience of the past 40 years had shown that economic growth did not by itself constitute development and that genuine development i) must involve many sectors of the economy in tandem, ii) must address the needs of all citizens, and iii) must be supported by co-ordinated regional and global economic policies. ECIAC had played a major role in delineating development strategies for the countries of the region that met those needs.

380. While co-ordinated responses to the international debt crisis, combining economic adjustment with new lending, had succeeded in stabilizing the international financial system, indebted countries of the region had had less success in returning to sustained growth. Debt fatigue was apparent in both debtor and certain creditor countries. Capital increases for the multilateral institutions had been one effective response to the prolonged debt crisis. Other effective responses had been innovative debt conversion techniques and economic adjustment programmes geared to the needs of the poorest. It was in the interest of both debtor and creditor countries that measures which reduced debtors' burdens should not jeopardize their voluntary access to international capital markets. The success of such measures depended on the larger economies' ability to co-ordinate their policies in order to achieve stable non-inflationary economic expansion. Canada had engaged in wide-ranging consultations with the ECIAC member countries on those issues prior to the forthcoming Toronto Summit.

381. The active participation of developing countries in the Uruguay Round —in particular to reverse the deterioration in world agricultural trade—would be critical for the region's future prosperity. Canada was exploring practical ways to support the further participation of developing countries in the Uruguay Round. Finally, he reiterated Canada's support for the Central American peace process and the commitment made by the Canadian Prime Minister to support any political initiative in Central America which would contribute to the self-determination of its member nations and to the stability of the region.

- 382. The representative of Norway focused in his statement on the Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development, which had been submitted to the General Assembly at its forty-second session, had received wide support at that session and had been the subject of a resolution adopted by the Assembly. In that resolution the report had been transmitted to governments and international organization to serve as a guide in determining their policies and programmes.
- 383. The integration of environmental considerations should also take place at the level of international organizations, and it was hoped that the United Nations would provide guidance in that regard. A meeting would be held in Oslo in July 1988 to discuss the international follow-up on the Report and another would be held on the same subject in 1990. The regional economic commissions had an important role to play with regard to follow-up action, and he was happy to note that ECIAC was about to adopt a resolution in that connection.
- 384. The representative of the Federal Republic of Germany said that the central objective of his country's foreign trade policy was to strengthen the system of multilateral free trade, and Germany would actively advocate a constructive approach on the part of the EEC at the Uruguay Round of GATT. He noted that the countries of latin America regularly achieved a considerable surplus on their trade with his country, which was naturally to the benefit of that highly regarded region. The Federal Republic of Germany was willing to import even more latin American products, and invited the region to diversify its supply of goods beyond raw materials and agricultural products.
- 385. He concluded by remarking that his country attached great importance to direct investment, which contributed to the economic development of the region and to the reduction of indebtedness, and stressed that a solution to the external debt problem could only be found through a co-operative approach.
- 386. The representative of the Latin American Economic System (SELA) described the new lines of action of that body designed essentially to rationalize and co-ordinate the activities of the regional bodies, to avoid unnecessary and costly duplication of efforts, and to make better use of the resources in order to deal more effectively with the real needs of Latin America and the Caribbean.
- 387. The region was affected by a crisis of such magnitude that it could endanger the sovereignty and development of the countries. The two most crucial issues were the debt and the obstacles to the region's trade. Efforts to find a solution to the complex problems deriving from the debt should be based on international co-operation and, of necessity, on the efforts of the region itself. The payment of the debt likewise called for conditions of equity which would enable the countries to fulfil their priority commitments: the well-being of the peoples and the ensuring of development. Within that context, the countries of the region should propose suitable conditions for an appropriate renegotiation of the debt, resorting to concertation rather than confrontation.
- 388. With regard to trade, the Uruguay Round had represented a great advance compared with previous exercises, but much still remained to be done in four main fields: trade liberalization, elimination of measures and instruments

which were incompatible with the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, achievement of equilibrium by the countries in the monetary and financial areas, and the attainment of concrete results as regards the link between the debt and trade. SEIA was working actively on the issues of both the debt and trade, and the countries could count on its support in seeking to find solutions in keeping with the heightened historical and cultural identity of the region.

389. The representative of Uruguay, after welcoming the accession of Aruba as a new associate member of ECIAC, said that the celebration of the fortieth anniversary of the establishment of the regional body was a suitable moment for looking back over its achievements and failures in order to unite criteria regarding the best formulas for tackling the severest crisis suffered by Iatin American and the Caribbean in the whole of the present century. Over that dramatic period, the region had ceased to grow, the per capita product had dropped back to its 1978 level, there was a high level of open unemployment, investment had fallen, external trade had diminished, inflation had become more intense in some countries, there was a clear deterioration in the terms of trade, and the region had transferred almost US\$150 billion of resources to the exterior. That crisis had caused unprecedented economic and social upsets in the region, which also represented a danger in the political field.

390. He said that it was generally agreed that there were external and internal restrictions on the growth of the region, as clearly reflected in the Secretariat document. The variety of situations existing at present was as numerous as there were countries in the region, but there was a lack of recognition of the irreversible changes which had taken place in the basis and the structure of the world economy. Outstanding among those changes were the growing gulf between manufacturing and primary commodities (except petroleum); the widening gap between production and employment in the industrial sphere as a result of advances in microelectronics and information processing, and the separation between the trade in goods and services and the international financial system.

391. Turning to the problem of the external debt, which now amounted to over US\$415 billion, he said that it represented the greatest obstacle to achieving a solid positive adjustment for the purpose of resuming growth and diversification of the productive system. The countries of Latin America and the Caribbean had to face depressed prices for their export products, an excessive debt-servicing burden and very low levels of financing, while the transfers of resources to the exterior continued. With regard to international trade, he said that although some progress had been made in the negotiation rounds and the range of solutions had been widened, there was still no sign of a multilateral, systematic and integrated solution to the problem of payment of the debt through shared economic growth, an increase in financing, and the elimination of protectionist barriers from trade. With regard to the urgent task of arranging the ambits to be covered and the forums to be used, he felt that the suggested formulas and recommendations put forward by the eight Latin American Presidents meeting in Acapulco formed a suitable basis for beginning the negotiations in that field.

- 392. He emphasized that it was necessary to be on guard against two dangers: that of oversimplification, which sought to force reality into a predetermined scheme, and that of easy generalization, which sought to further the belief that the many common problems of the region formed its total reality, whereas in fact every country, region or subregion displayed its own particular real situation. What was needed was a change of approach in order to consider the real situation of the Latin American region in the world, rather than visualizing the international situation from the viewpoint of each country's own conditions and problems. Courage and ambition were needed in order to tackle the opportunities that presented themselves, in order to formulate flexible strategies and soundly-based macroeconomic proposals, and it was also necessary to shoulder the risks implicit in the new form of international insertion of the countries of the region.
- 393. The representative of Trinidad and Tobago, after welcoming Aruba as a new associate member of ECIAC, said that he wished to place on record at the present session, which marked the fortieth anniversary of the regional body, Trinidad and Tobago's grateful acknowledgement of the valuable work carried out by the Commission since it had been set up. He made special reference to the recent meeting of CEGAN in Port of Spain, which had adopted a Declaration mentioning the imbalances and disparities suffered by member countries as a result of external events in the world economy. He said that after 40 years it was necessary to review ECIAC's mandate in order to seek new ways of mobilizing resources in order to give a more tangible and concrete expression to the programme of work of the Commission.
- 394. He referred to the change of name of the Commission in order to include the Caribbean countries, and said that this was a positive event which brought out the importance of the Caribbean subregion, whose countries shared a situation of geographical, cultural and historical proximity with the rest of the region, for the establishment of new mechanisms and forms of co-operation.
- 395. With regard to the world economic situation, he said that Latin America and the Caribbean faced grave difficulties, above all because of the rapidly growing problem of the debt, which stood at almost US\$410 billion at the end of 1987 even though its rate of increase had gone down somewhat over the last four years. The magnitude of the debt meant that the region had to assign 30% of its export earnings solely to the payment of interests. The restrictions imposed by some industrialized countries on international trade further aggravated the problem for the region, and it was essential to find a solution to it, beginning with the restructuring of the monetary and financial systems, in order to achieve a viable new international economic order. He also said that one of the great concerns of Trinidad and Tobago was the loss of the multilateral nature of the international financial institutions.
- 396. Turning to the domestic situation in Trinidad and Tobago, he said that the country's economy had been affected by the fluctuations in oil prices, and in order to tackle that situation the government had embarked on an investment plan in order to achieve a structural transformation of the economy within the framework of a broader foreign investment policy. Finally, he said that Trinidad and Tobago was keenly interested in the programme of work of ECLAC for the biennium 1990-1991, especially with regard to activities in the field

of food production, agriculture and international trade, as well as support for regional economic co-operation. His government would give the fullest support to the activities proposed for the Subregional Headquarters of ECIAC for the Caribbean, since they were aimed at furthering ∞ -operation among the countries of the subregion.

397. The representative of Peru said that in the current decade the economic crisis had brought about the stagnation of the development process in Iatin America and the Caribbean, with such dramatic consequences for the economies of the region as the aggravation of social problems, internal and external structural imbalances, and a threat to the consolidation of democratic processes. Despite all the efforts made by the region, its capacity for reaction had been reduced, inter alia, by the uncertainty regarding the behaviour of the international economy, the deterioration in the terms of trade, the drop in commodity prices, high interest rates, and the instability of the exchange and financial markets. That situation, further complicated by the trade and fiscal imbalances of the greatest economic power in the world and by the negative effects on the possible resurgence of inflation in that country, further aggravated the situation of a world economy in the midst of a process of change, in which a new international division of labour was taking shape which would involve a change in the form of international insertion of Iatin America and the Caribbean.

398. Overcoming the crisis and reactivating development necessarily called for a global and permanent solution to the external debt problem, since it was impossible to grow and develop while at the same time servicing the debt. It was essential that the debt should be adjusted to the payments capacity of each country and that the net transfer of resources from the region to the developed world should be reversed.

399. With regard to the economic policy of Peru, its fundamental objective was to improve the quality and standard of life of the population, as was reflected in the national development plan for the years 1986-1990. The application of the emergency programme had given immediate positive results without diverting attention from the vital needs of the population. Briefly, that medium-term programme consisted of an economic reactivation strategy, substantial selective investment, the generation of foreign exchange savings, and the restructuring of the system of production and of patterns of consumption. The Peruvian strategy was based on equity and social justice and oriented towards the social dimension of development.

400. The representative of Guyana expressed his satisfaction at the admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC and paid tribute to those who had rendered distinguished services to the Organization over the last 40 years, especially Raúl Prebisch and Enrique Iglesias. He also congratulated the Secretariat on the documentation prepared by it, paid tribute to the valuable work of the Latin American Demographic Centre, from which Guyana had itself benefited, and joined those delegations which had expressed their gratitude to the United Nations Population Fund and to the Governments of Canada, France and the Netherlands for the support provided.

401. Noting that the characteristics of the international economy were foreign to those of the economies of Latin America and the Caribbean, he called upon

the ECIAC members to promote changes in the international economy at the institutional level and at that of the developed countries or groups of countries, stressing that measures in the international sphere must be accompanied by the adoption of effective domestic policies within the national economies. In that respect, he noted that Guyana had adjusted the value of the Guyana dollar in 1987 and followed a policy designed to allow the public sector to work with a surplus, since otherwise that sector faced the prospect of closing down or divesting itself of its interests.

- 402. He said that Guyana welcomed private foreign investment under the foreign investment policy adopted by the country, and talks were being held with the International Monetary Fund with a view to reaching an agreement with that agency. Finally, he said that between the international and national levels, there was the regional level, which offered prospects for greater co-operation and integration through the efforts of the developed and developing countries to achieve greater progress. If efforts were not made in that direction, the result would be stagnation which would adversely affect all concerned.
- 403. The representative of Ecuador said that the region was facing a crisis so severe that it affected not only the economic and fiscal structure of the countries but even their social organization, so that it was essential to make a complete study of the structural realities in order to design a new order inspired by the principles of international solidarity and social justice. Emphasis should be placed on the climate of urgency within which ECIAC had to assume the serious responsibility of analysing the complex strategies needed to overcome the crisis without neglecting the balanced and sustained expansion of development.
- 404. The external debt, which had become the main cause of the crisis, represented the loss of practically a whole decade of development effort. Since the principle of the co-responsibility of creditors and debtors had been accepted, there could be no question of sacrificing the minimal social welfare of nations, consequently, mechanisms should be devised to solve the problem as soon as possible without medium—or long-term adjustment programmes.
- 405. Inflation was also a serious hindrance to the development of the region, and in that phenomenon too there were factors of an external nature at work which must necessarily be tackled through co-operation.
- 406. He congratulated ECIAC for the work it had done during the past two years, which represented an important contribution to change and to economic and social development in Latin America and the Caribbean. He also appealed to ECIAC to intensify its efforts to find ways of saving the people of Latin America from further deterioration in their social and human conditions. Finally, he urged the strengthening of technical and economic co-operation among developing countries, with the aid of UNDP and the other United Nations agencies, the OAS, and the governments of the developed countries.
- 407. The representative of the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance (CMEA) said that the member countries of CMEA collaborated with the developing countries in economic, scientific and technical matters on the basis of equal rights and mutual benefits, and hundreds of industrial enterprises and other projects had been or were being constructed in the countries of Latin America

and the Caribbean with the assistance of the countries of the socialist community. He made particular mention of collaboration in the construction of electric power stations, in prospecting for and exploiting deposits of fuel and raw materials, in manufacturing, the iron and steel industry, agroindustry, public health and in the development of the infrastructure of a number of latin American countries. The CMEA countries gave assistance to the Latin American nations in the training of national cadres for key sectors of the economy, and he said that in 1987, almost 12 000 persons from over 30 countries of Latin America were following courses of study in training centres in the CMEA countries.

408. Although trade between the CMEA countries and those of Iatin America and the Caribbean was not as yet on a very large scale, the CMEA member countries were anxious to collaborate in development programmes, to the best of their abilities, with the relevant regional bodies with which they had close relations, such as ECIAC, SEIA, the Iatin American Energy Organization and the Andean Group. After referring briefly to the CMEA's almost 40 years of contribution to the promotion of collaboration among its member countries and the progress achieved by those countries in their economic and social development, he reiterated that the CMEA member countries, in keeping with their policy of peaceful coexistence among States with different social systems, strongly supported the promotion of collaboration with all countries, including those of Iatin America and the Caribbean, since they were sure that that would help the cause of peace and progress in the entire world.

409. The representative of the Inter-American Institute of Agricultural Co-operation (IICA) said that at the last conference of Ministers of Agriculture of the Hemisphere, held in Ottawa, Canada, in September 1987, the Institute had been given the mandate of co-operating with the governments and bodies of the region in the execution of a plan of action for the reactivation of agriculture in Latin America and the Caribbean. He emphasized the substantive and strategic role that agriculture could play in the recovery of the economies of the countries of the region and in the struggle against poverty and against lack of security in food supplies, which was a problem that had grown alarmingly in Latin America and the Caribbean in the recent years of recession and economic crisis. He reaffirmed IICA's confidence in the continued and further-heightened validity of the thinking of CEPAL: a lively and trail-blazing contribution which should be of great benefit to all the peoples of Latin America and the Caribbean in seeking economic and social progress.

410. The representative of Haiti, after welcoming the admission of Aruba as a new associate member of the Commission, paid tribute to ECIAC on its fortieth anniversary and noted that Haiti's participation in the session had a particular significance. Notwithstanding the difficulties which that country had been experiencing, the authorities now in power had continually striven to restore democracy and peace in the country, and as that effort could not be maintained without development, Haiti needed the support of friendly countries and international bodies in its constant struggle for development, for which reason it urged all those countries which were still holding back to cease questioning the true validity of democracy in Haiti and to renew their assistance for the country.

- 411. The representative of Suriname, after expressing his thanks to the host country and the Secretariat, referred first of all to the situation in his country, noting that in forums such as ECIAC Suriname sought to correct the distorted images given in the media and instead to provide the international community with a truer and more realistic picture. He said that in November 1987, the first elections in the last 10 years had been held, on the basis of the new Constitution adopted by referendum in September of that year. Those elections had made it possible to form the National Assembly and elect the President and Vice-President of the country. He considered that those events were very favourable, since they put the nation on the road to participative democracy based on the existing power structure.
- 412. He said that the current economic situation of the country was unfavourable, due to the sharp drop in alumina and bauxite prices between 1981 and 1987, with the consequent loss of foreign exchange; to the suspension by the Netherlands of its aid programme, after accusations that human rights had been violated by the military, and to the destruction wrought by terrorist acts. The economic picture, he said, was characterized by a sharp rise in the level of domestic and external indebtedness, a rapid increase in inflation and high levels of unemployment, shortages of food and of medicines for most of the population, and the existence of a widespread black market with the consequent socio-political repercussions.
- 413. In view of that situation, the new government had outlined a programme to be carried out in three stages: firstly, an emergency programme supported by the Governments of Brazil and the Netherlands; secondly, a stage aimed at the recovery of the national economy, and thirdly, a stage of long-term planning designed to achieve sustained growth. Meanwhile, relations with the Netherlands were being normalized, aluminium production was being resumed and on the initiative of the Council of Christian Churches, the necessary steps were being taken to begin peace talks with the rebel forces. The work of ECIAC was naturally of great importance for the country in its present situation, especially in two aspects. The first of those was planning, which would be indispensable in order for the possible flow of external assistance to be translated into growth possibilities (in that respect, he indicated his country's interest in maintaining close contact with the activities of IIPES), while the second aspect was the availability of data, for which purpose he considered that an ECIAC data bank was necessary.
- 414. Finally, he said, Suriname wished to take part in the regional co-operation and integration efforts, which could only be successful, however, if there was peace in the region. He expressed his country's support for the regional efforts being made in that respect, and appealed for the human and material resources of the countries not to be wasted on sterile warlike activities.
- 415. The representative of the Soviet Union said that ECIAC was one of the most significant forums of the United Nations. With regard to the present critical situation of the region, he suggested various mechanisms that could be applied as a matter of urgency to enable the countries to tackle the problem of the external debt, noting that it might even be desirable to call a special international conference to analyse the topic, with the participation of all the interested parties.

- 416. In a broader context, steps should be taken to carry out a thorough-going restructuring of the entire system of international economic relations and of the unjust international monetary and financial system, together with measures to democratize the international monetary and financial organizations. A matter of great concern was the rapid spread in the countries of the region of the "social debt", which already affected tens of millions of poor people.
- 417. His country supported measures aimed at changing the situation which had been created, doing away with protectionist barriers and discriminatory practices in international trade, and combating the use of trade as a means of political pressure, and it was warmly in favour of the creation of conditions which furthered the harmonious growth of international trade and economic links.
- 418. The objective of overcoming the serious economic problems was intimately connected with the need to consolidate international peace and security, since there was a very clear link between disarmament and development. In that respect, he highlighted Mikhail Gorbachov's recent proposal to set up within the United Nations an international fund called Disarmament for Development, open to all States and designed to ensure the transfer of the resources freed by the disarmament process to the countries which needed them.
- 419. Although his delegation was pleased at the intensification of high-level bilateral political contacts, it was obvious that the potential for co-operation between the Soviet Union and the countries of the region was not being fully used. He also hoped that closer contacts could be created between his country and the integration groups and other programmes of multilateral regional co-operation.
- 420. The representative of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines said that in order to overcome the present crisis, the countries of the region should develop their domestic markets and establish closer co-operation and trade links among themselves, as well as co-ordinating their efforts to penetrate the markets of the developed countries. It was also necessary to establish financial and other mechanisms which would create confidence within the region, since the capital flight was a clear demonstration that the region's own peoples did not have confidence in it. He added that development could only take place in an atmosphere of peace and justice, without which there could be no real development nor democracy.
- 421. After mentioning some alarming statistics on infantile mortality, housing conditions and unemployment and underemployment, he referred to the threat raised by the drug trade. The nations of Iatin America and the Caribbean must unite their efforts to eliminate that threat. Furthermore, all co-operation must be denied to any government which helped in the drug trade. He reiterated the need for all the nations of the region to unite in the elimination of illicit drug trafficking, which threatened to destroy their societies, and recalled that the future of the region lay in the hands of its peoples and that what they did today would determine the type of society that their children would live in in the future.

- 422. The observer from the International Monetary Fund said that after the debt crisis in 1982, many Latin American countries had made great efforts to overcome the problem, although difficulties still persisted, especially as regards levels of investment, which were below those needed to attain satisfactory and lasting growth rates. It was extremely necessary to continue with the adjustment programmes aimed at securing sustained growth in order to reduce macrosconomic imbalances and eliminate rigidities and distortions in the economy, so as to promote capital formation and improve the efficiency of resource assignment.
- 423. The application of such programmes by the debtor countries was a decisive factor in the co-operative strategy to tackle the debt problem. That strategy, which continued to be fully valid, included among its elements the maintenance of an international environment favourable to the expansion of debtor country exports, sustained growth, open markets in the industrialized countries, and the provision of external financing to debtor countries in a manner compatible with the gradual reduction of the debt burden.
- 424. In conclusion, the IMF observer said that the Fund had been applying new procedures in its policies —such as the expansion of the structural adjustment facility, the introduction of more flexible terms for the Expanded Fund Facility, and the creation of a new mechanism to help countries which had financing agreements with the Fund to cope with unforeseen developments—so that it could play more effectively its role as a catalyst of external resources for debtor countries.
- 425. The President of the Chilean Association of Non-Governmental Organizations (ASONG), speaking on behalf of the non-governmental organizations present at the session, expressed the great interest of those organizations in co-operating with ECIAC and participating more actively in the analysis of the difficulties facing the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, in order to promote peace and integration among nations.

Declaration by the Central American countries concerning United Nations General Assembly resolution 42/204 on special economic assistance to Central America (agenda item 8 b))

- 426. The representative of Guatemala took the floor on behalf of the delegations of Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua, with reference to agenda item 8 b), "Some recent resolutions adopted by United Nations organs which require to be brought to the attention of the Commission".
- 427. He stated that, as provided for by the United Nations General Assembly in its resolution 42/204, the Secretary-General was to submit a special plan for co-operation, which would be prepared in conjunction with the United Nations Development Programme and the ECIAC Secretariat. That plan enjoyed the fullest support of Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua.
- 428. On behalf of the countries of Central America, he thanked the United Nations Development Programme and the ECLAC Secretariat for their timely co-operation in the fulfillment of the tasks provided for in General Assembly

resolution 42/204 and urged the international community to give a special response to the initiative which would be submitted to the General Assembly in May 1988, since, as had been affirmed in the joint statement made to the Plenary by the Central American countries, it was imperative to be able to rely on international support forthwith, particularly in the field of technical and financial co-operation, and on flexible mechanisms which would guarantee the timely provision of that collaboration.

429. The floor was then taken by the representatives of the following countries in support of the Declaration: Venezuela (on behalf of the Contadora Group), Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Cuba, Ecuador, Peru, Uruguay, and Spain (on behalf of the member countries of the European Economic Community which were also members of ECLAC).

<u>Declaration of support for Panama by the countries of Latin America</u> <u>and the Caribbean</u>

- 430. The delegation of Brazil, speaking on behalf of the group of Latin American and Caribbean countries, read out the text of a declaration of support for Panama and requested that, in conformity with Rule 46 of the Rules of Procedure, that Declaration and its annex, Decision 271 of the Latin American Council of SELA, should be included in the final report of the meeting.
- 431. On that point, the representative of the United States said that he had serious objections of procedure and form to the inclusion of the Declaration in the report. It was an attempt to introduce political questions into the debates of ECIAC, a forum which should be reserved for the discussion of technical matters. The proposal sought a political confrontation, and the United States did not want that to happen. He explained his country's position on a number of political and juridical aspects of the domestic situation of Panama and of the government of President Del Valle, whom the Government of the United States recognized as the legitimate head of the Government of Panama.
- 432. The representative of Panama said that the legitimate head of the Government of Panama was General Noriega. He did not agree that the proposal in question should be considered political in nature, since it referred to matters related to the economic development of the country.
- 433. A number of delegations then took the floor to express their support for the inclusion in the report of the Declaration of the Latin American and Caribbean countries, while others expressed their reservations on such inclusion.
- 434. The representative of Mexico expressed the view that, in accordance with the provisions of the Rules of Procedure of the Commission, the request to include the declaration should be granted and he requested the Chairman to make a ruling on the matter.
- 435. In response to that request, the Chairman asked the representative of the Secretariat to read out Rules 29 and 46 of the Rules of Procedure, after which

he said that it was appropriate to include the Declaration in the report and that if any delegation disagreed with that decision the matter could be put to the vote.

- 436. The representative of the United States pointed out that in light of the disassociation of some Caribbean countries from the declaration of support for Panama, the document could not be presented on behalf of all Iatin American and Caribbean countries. Furthermore, the United States formally questioned the annexation of a non-United Nations report to a United Nations report, and announced its intention to pursue the matter to the General Assembly. He, therefore, insisted that the Declaration should not be included in the report and requested that the matter be put to a roll-call vote.
- 437. It was decided to include the Declaration by 23 votes in favour, 5 against, and 4 abstentions.*/ In favour were: Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, Uruguay and Venezuela. Voting against were Canada, France, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the United States. Antigua and Barbuda, Portugal, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines and Spain abstained.
- 438. The representatives indicated below requested the Secretariat to include their explanation of vote in the report.
- 439. The representative of Haiti explained that his country's support for the inclusion of the Declaration in the report did not indicate agreement or disagreement with the position of any of the countries present. Haiti had voted in favour of the inclusion of the Declaration in adherence to the principle of non-intervention enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations and in the Charter of the OAS.
- 440. The representative of Canada said that he had voted against the Declaration because it raised complex political questions which could not be properly considered in that forum and at that time, although he respected the concern of the group of Latin American and Caribbean countries which had led them to request its inclusion in the report.
- 441. The representative of the United States said that his delegation had voted against the Declaration because it had both procedural and substantive objections to it. A concerted effort had been made to engage the members of this organization in serious economic dialogue. The working sessions in the various committees had always been constructive, even if participants did not agree on all points. As its representatives had said a number of times, the United States delegation invited and challenged all delegations to debate the issues with it. On the other hand, it opposed any attempt to transform ECIAC into a political forum. He was disappointed that countries that had recently restored democracy were willing in this instance to not support the legitimate Del Valle government and the legitimate aspirations of the people of Panama for greater freedom and democracy. General Noriega was under two United States

^{*/} See text of the Declaration in annex 3.

Federal indictments as a result of solid evidence presented in Federal courts that he was a drug dealer. Following those indictments, President Del Valle had dismissed General Noriega. General Noriega refused to obey the lawful order of his President. Instead, General Noriega usurped the functions of the Presidency and attempted to have President Del Valle arrested and to install an interim figure to exercise the functions of the Presidency. The United States government did not recognize that sequence of events as legitimate and continued to recognize Eric Del Valle as President of Panama. The economic policies of the United States government with regard to Panama had been adopted in response to requests from the Del Valle government. The Del Valle government had taken legal actions in United States courts to block the transfer of money from Government of Panama accounts in federally insured banks in the United States. The United States government had taken economic actions against the Noriega-installed régime in support of President Del Valle and in consultation with him. The United States was honoring its commitments under the Panama Canal treaties and would continue to do so. There had been no disruptions in Canal operations. For those reasons, the proposed declaration did not belong in this meeting today. It undermined the consensus reached on so many important issues which had been addressed here. It sought to impose on this meeting political and misleading rhetoric. It was an attempt to insert a political issue in an economic forum, not because it contributed to the questions of development, but because the sponsors of this proposal sought any forum in which they could quarantee success.

- 442. The representative of France said that he could not support the inclusion in the report of declarations of bodies which were not part of the United Nations system and expressed regret that political questions should be injected into the deliberations of the Commission.
- 443. The representative of the Netherlands said that he had voted against because, in his view, ECIAC was not the proper forum to raise such questions and because the inclusion of the Declaration was not in conformity with established procedures, especially since the decision of SEIA had not been examined in ECIAC and did not represent the consensus of the meeting.
- 444. The representative of the United Kingdom explained that the political nature of the issue had obliged him to vote against the inclusion of the Declaration.
- 445. The representative of Antigua and Barbuda said that he had abstained because the Declaration made reference to a decision of SEIA, a body of which his country was not a member.
- 446. The representative of Spain, speaking on behalf of that country, said that while he understood the reasons that had inspired the proposal of the group of Iatin American and Caribbean countries, the inclusion of a document of a body that was not part of the United Nations system posed procedural problems which had caused him to abstain.
- 447. The representative of Portugal said that he had abstained because the Declaration emanated from a body that was not part of the United Nations system.

448. The representative of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines explained that he had not been present at the meeting of SEIA held in Caracas, from which the Declaration had emanated, and while he shared the legitimate aspirations of the Panamanian people and supported the principle of sovereignty, he would have preferred the Declaration to contain some indication that it did not represent support for General Noriega. As the Declaration contained no such indication, he had been forced to abstain.

Consideration and adoption of the reports and draft resolutions submitted by the Committees */

Committee I

449. The Commission adopted by consensus the report of Committee I.**/

Committee II

450. The Commission adopted by consensus the report of Committee II. ***/

451. The Commission also adopted without a vote resolution 493(XXII) on support for HLPES on its twenty-fifth anniversary; resolution 494(XXII) on the Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE); resolution 495(XXII) on the calendar of conferences of ECLAC for the period 1988-1990, and resolution 496(XXII) on the report of the World Commission on Environment and Development. It also adopted without a vote resolution 497(XXII) on the programme of work of ECLAC for the biennium 1990-1991, except the section relating to programme 23: Transnational corporations. That programme was adopted by 18 votes in favour, 4 against and 2 abstentions.

Sessional Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions

452. The Commission adopted by consensus the report of this Committee. ****/

453. The Commission also adopted without a vote resolutions 491(XXII) on technical co-operation among developing countries and regions, and resolution 492(XXII) on economic co-operation among developing countries.

^{*/} See the resolutions adopted by the Commission in section D below and the information on their financial implications in annex 2.

^{**/} Paras. 73 to 153 above.

^{***/} Paras. 154 to 245 above.

^{****/} Paras. 246 to 262.

Consideration of draft resolutions submitted directly to the Plenary

454. The Commission adopted without a vote resolution 490(XXII) on the admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC;*/ resolution 498(XXII) on the International Development Strategy: assessment of the present Strategy and review of the preparation of a new strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade; resolution 499(XXII) on the fortieth anniversary of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean; and resolution 500(XXII) on the place and date of the next session of the Commission.**/

Closing meeting

455. The closing meeting was addressed by Dr. Modesto Freites, Minister of State and Head of the Office of Co-ordination and Planning of the Republic of Venezuela, speaking on behalf of the participants; Mr. Gert Rosenthal, Executive Secretary of ECIAC, and Mr. Paulo Tarso Flecha de Lima, Acting Minister of Foreign Affairs of Brazil.

456. Dr. Freites emphasized the high calibre of the delegations that had attended the session of the Commission and expressed his satisfaction at the work completed and at the profound importance of the agreements reached. He mentioned the climate of cordiality and frankness in which the meetings had taken place and felt that the session had helped to strengthen ECIAC as a forum for analysis, reflection and the search for new options for successfully tackling current realities and the challenge of the future. After praising the Secretariat for the work it had done, he concluded by thanking the host country for its hospitality.

457. The Executive Secretary of ECIAC said that the United Nations had always been a forum in which countries had expressed their opinions in a frank and open manner, and it therefore could not but reflect certain disputes currently existing in international relations. The manifestation of such disputes, however, should not obscure the fruitfulness of the meeting nor its principal features. The first of those features was the atmosphere of festivity, not only on account of the environment which Rio de Janeiro provided for the meeting and of the acceptance of Aruba as an associate member of the Commission, but also on account of the celebration of the fortieth anniversary of the establishment of ECIAC, which had been marked by the member countries in many different commemorative events, apart from in the communiqué and the resolution contained in the report. The second positive feature of the meeting was that it had permitted the due organization of the work of the institution as well as that of ILPES and CETADE, through the adoption of the corresponding reports of activities, programmes of work and calendar of meetings. Thirdly, and in terms of substantive issues, the session had enabled the delegations to compare positions and to combine efforts to determine the characteristics of the crisis, to make progress in formulating the policy measures which could be implemented to overcome it, and to promote the necessary international co-operation to make such efforts viable, which was

^{*/} See para. 283 above.

^{**/} See section D and annex 2 below.

one of the matters on which the greatest measure of consensus had been achieved.

458. He said that progress had been made during the meeting in exploring the structural aspects of the crisis, in considering the concept of co-responsibility, which also extended to the actions required to overcome the crisis, and with respect to some components of a possible solution, especially in connection with the debt and trade. Finally, he pointed out that this kind of forum was part of a broader ongoing process leading to the achievement of progress.

459. Acting Foreign Minister Paulo Tarso Flecha de Lima congratulated the delegations and the Secretariat on the work accomplished and referred to the tasks that awaited the Commission over the next 40 years of its existence. He called for renewed reflection on the realities of the region, turning away from long-held assumptions. In that regard, he urged a re-examination of the proper role of the State in the economy in circumstances where it was necessary to liberate the productive forces of the nations, while the State withdrew from those economic areas in which its presence was not justified.

460. He then referred to the need for a dynamic and imaginative international insertion of the region's economies, and for creative reflection, without recriminations, on the opportunities offered by international trade for expanding exports of manufactures and diversifying sales abroad. In order to achieve that, it would be necessary at the domestic level to establish and maintain the basic macroeconomic balances and to implement policies that guaranteed a minimum of stability for exporting companies, as well as institutional support for the latter's activities. Finally, he said that it was not sufficient merely to implement policies at the domestic level, but that such policies depended to a large extent on the economic growth of the industrialized countries.

D. RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN AT ITS TWENTY-SECOND SESSION

- 490(XXII) Admission of Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC
- 491(XXII) Technical co-operation among developing countries and regions
- 492(XXII) Economic co-operation among developing countries
- 493 (XXII) Support for the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning on the occasion of its twenty-fifth anniversary
- 494(XXII) Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE)
- 495(XXII) Calendar of conferences of ECIAC for the period 1988-1990
- 496(XXII) Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development
- 497(XXII) Programme of work of ECIAC for the period 1990-1991
- 498(XXII) International development strategy: Assessment of the present international development strategy and review of the preparation of a new strategy for the fourth United Nations development decade
- 499(XXII) Fortieth anniversary of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean
- 500(XXII) Place and date of the next session.

490(XXII) ADMISSION OF ARUBA AS AN ASSOCIATE MEMBER OF ECLAC

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

<u>Considering</u> the desirability that the economic and cultural relations between all peoples in the Caribbean area and the Latin American continent should be strengthened,

Recalling the Terms of Reference of the Commission, as adopted by the Economic and Social Council at its sixth session, and in particular article 3 (a) thereof regarding the admission of associate members,

Bearing in mind that the Government of the Kingdom of the Netherlands has communicated to the Commission, through the Executive Secretary of ECIAC, Aruba's desire to be admitted as an associate member of the Commission,

- 1. <u>Welcomes</u> the aforementioned application of the Government of the Kingdom of the Netherlands, as it reflects the will of the people of Aruba;
- 2. <u>Decides</u> to admit Aruba as an associate member of ECIAC and welcomes its participation in the work of the Commission.

231st meeting 22 April 1988

491(XXII) TECHNICAL CO-OPERATION AMONG DEVELOPING COUNTRIES AND REGIONS

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Recalling the Buenos Aires Plan of Action —adopted at the United Nations Conference on Technical Co-operation among Developing Countries (TCDC) in 1978 and endorsed by the General Assembly in resolution 33/134 of 19 December 1978— which defines the catalytic role the United Nations should play in facilitating such co-operation and assigns to the regional commissions the task of, inter alia, providing assistance for activities to reinforce TCDC at the regional and interregional levels,

Taking into account the decisions adopted at the fifth session of the High-Level Committee on the Review of Technical Co-operation among Developing Countries, which met from 18 to 27 May 1987 at United Nations Headquarters, New York, and in particular decision 5/5 addressed to the organs, organizations and bodies of the United Nations system with regard to the implementation of the Buenos Aires Plan of Action,

Recalling decision 252 adopted at the thirteenth Ordinary Meeting of the Latin American Council of the Latin American Economic System, held in Caracas in September 1987, and in particular its article 9, which requests the collaboration of ECLAC for activities in support of technical co-operation among developing countries,

Also recalling ECIAC resolution 486(XXI) on technical and economic co-operation among developing countries and regions,

- 1. <u>Takes note</u> of the report of activities of the ECIAC system in support of co-operation among developing countries and regions, entitled "Activities of the ECIAC system to promote and support co-operation among developing countries and regions" (IC/G.1505(SES.22/10)), presented by the ECIAC Secretariat at this session;
- 2. <u>Reaffirms</u> the need to reinforce intra-regional co-operation as a vital tool for satisfactorily tackling the problems posed in overcoming the crisis still affecting the development possibilities of the countries of the region, and particularly the less-developed countries;
- 3. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary, in accordance with the relevant mandates, to:
- a) intensify activities designed to provide support for initiatives taken by the national government-designated co-ordination centres for co-operation among developing countries and to collaborate to this end with the existing co-operation networks in the region, in those sectors identified by governments as having priority;

- b) continue to incorporate, in the various activities of the programme of work of the Secretariat of the Commission, forms of technical co-operation among developing countries to support the fulfillment of the above programme of work;
- c) continue to implement measures designed to ensure broader dissemination of information relating to the capacities and needs of the countries of the region with regard to co-operation activities at the subregional, regional and interregional levels;
- d) intensify its efforts to ensure closer and more intensive co-ordination with those organizations and agencies carrying out activities to support, promote or execute co-operation projects among developing countries in the region;
- e) provide the Permanent Secretariat of the Latin American Economic System with collaboration in the preparation of the activities it carries out with the national co-ordination centres for co-operation among developing countries, in compliance with the relevant mandates, including in particular those relating to the Meeting of National Directors of Technical Co-operation which is to be held in the second half of 1988;
- f) continue to promote joint interregional technical and economic co-operation activities with the other regional commissions, in consultation and co-ordination with the relevant organizations of the United Nations system, especially as regards the implementation of already identified joint projects involving other regional commissions;
- 4. <u>Urges</u> the governments of the member countries of the Commission to put into practice appropriate measures to intensify their support for the activities of the ECIAC system aimed at strengthening the national co-ordination centres for technical co-operation among developing countries;
- 5. Also strongly urges the relevant United Nations organizations and other sources of financing to provide their support for the programmes and projects of the Secretariat designed to facilitate co-operation among developing countries and regions, in fulfillment of the respective mandates.

237th meeting 27 April 1988

492 (XXII) ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AMONG DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 39/216 of 18 December 1984, which urges the organs and organizations of the United Nations system to provide and to intensify support and assistance, in accordance with their mandates to economic co-operation among developing countries, giving due regard to the Caracas Programme of Action adopted at the High-Level Conference on Economic Co-operation among Developing Countries, held at Caracas from 13-19 May 1981,

Also bearing in mind the appraisal of the progress of the Caracas Programme of Action undertaken at the sixth session of the Intergovernmental Follow-up and Co-ordination Committee of the Group of 77 for Economic Co-operation among Developing Countries, held at Havana from 7-12 September 1987,

Taking into account the Quito Declaration and Plan of Action, adopted at the Latin American Economic Conference held from 9-13 January 1984, in so far as it relates to intra-regional co-operation,

Recalling ECIAC resolution 439(XIX) of 15 May 1981, on economic co-operation among developing countries,

Also recalling ECIAC resolution 357(XVI) of 13 May 1975, on institutional aspects of the activities of ECIAC,

Taking note of ECLAC resolution 310(XIV) of 7 May 1971 setting up the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN),

Resolves that the Committee of High-Level Government Experts, within its regular calendar of meetings, in accordance with the mandates of the Commission, and in co-ordination with SELA, should undertake an analysis of ways and means of strengthening and intensifying economic co-operation among developing countries of the region (ECDC). This analysis should be expressly confined to the question of development financing and regional economic integration, on the one hand, and to industrialization at both the national and regional levels, on the other.

237th meeting 27 April 1988

493 (XXII) SUPPORT FOR THE LATIN AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN INSTITUTE FOR ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL PLANNING ON THE OCCASION OF ITS TWENTY-FIFTH ANNIVERSARY

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Recalling that the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning is a permanent institution of the United Nations with its own identity within the ECLAC system and an intergovernmental service agency which functions in accordance with guidelines laid down directly by the governments of Latin America and the Caribbean,

- 1. <u>Recognizes</u> that ILPES has carried out a major task of conceptual and technical renovation in respect of planning, co-ordination of public policies and modernization of its management and organizational structure;
- 2. Approves with satisfaction the reports of the activities of ILPES for 1986 and 1987 */ and endorses the contents of the current programme of work and the draft programme of work for the period 1990-1991; **/
- 3. Agrees with the main lines of the New Institutional Project for the period 1987-1990,***/ which include:
- a) tripartite financing from the United Nations, the governments of member States and extra-budgetary resources attracted by the Institute;
- b) recognition that the direct contributions to the Institute by the governments of its member States should constitute the regular financing of its multilateral activities and that it is important that member governments should maintain the amount of the contributions committed and should regularize their timely payment;
- c) maintenance of a stable technical core staff of a size that is commensurate with the responsibilities entrusted by governments to the Institute, on the same terms approved by ECLAC at its twenty-first session;****/
- 4. Takes note of the establishment of the ILPES Office for Central America and Panama with the support of all the governments of the subregion and expresses its gratitude to the Government of Costa Rica for the resources made available for the installation of the Office in San José; urges the other governments to support the work of the new Office, and also supports the continuity of the ECIAC/ILPES Joint Planning Unit for the Caribbean;

^{*/} See annexes 1 and 2 of document IC/G.1509(SES.22/9).

^{**/} See document LC/G.1506(SES.22/6).

 $[\]star\star\star\star$ / See paragraph 3 of document IC/G.1509 and paragraph 12 of annex 1 of that document.

^{****/} See operative paragraph 1(c) of ECIAC resolution 482(XXI).

- 5. Expresses its gratitude to the Executive Secretariat of ECIAC for the continued support provided to ILPES and requests it to maintain and if possible to intensify its technical support, as well as to continue with its efforts to provide the Institute with stable resources and to give it greater flexibility as a multilateral service agency;
- 6. <u>Ratifies</u> the change of name of the Technical Committee to "Regional Council for Planning" and of the Technical Subcommittee to "Presiding Officers of the Regional Council for Planning";
- 7. Notes with satisfaction that the Conferences of Ministers and Heads of Planning of Latin America and the Caribbean which are held within the framework of the System of Co-operation and Co-ordination among Planning Bodies of Latin America and the Caribbean (SCCOPALC), as well as the meetings of the Regional Council for Planning, will be held every four years as from 1989 while also taking note of the possibility of holding extraordinary meetings of both forums in the period between two regular meetings;
- 8. Expresses once again its gratitude to the governments of the member States which have contributed to the financing of the Institute, as well as to the governments of States from outside the region (particularly France, Italy, the Netherlands and Spain) which support some of its activities through specific projects;
- 9. Expresses its satisfaction at the support provided by UNDP for the financing of specific projects executed by the Institute, which make it possible to fulfill requests from governments, and thanks UNDP's network of Resident Representatives for the co-operation which it provides to IIPES in the region;
- 10. Expresses its appreciation for the efforts made by the Institute to articulate its activities with those of various international and bilateral bodies, and expresses particular satisfaction with the support provided to ILPES by the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) and the World Bank;
- 11. <u>Acknowledges</u> the pioneering work of the Institute in the field of training and the provision of advisory services to non-governmental bodies, and expresses its satisfaction at the greater regional coverage of these activities during the last biennium;
- 12. Expresses its gratitude to the Government of Uruguay for having offered the city of Montevideo as the venue for the Seventh Conference of Ministers and Heads of Planning of Latin America and the Caribbean and for the eighth session of the Regional Council for Planning, to be held in 1989.

494(XXII) LATIN AMERICAN DEMOGRAPHIC CENTRE (CELADE)

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Bearing in mind the conclusions and recommendations of the most recent intergovernmental meetings on population in the region, especially those designed to implement the principles and objectives of the World Population Plan of Action */ and those emanating from the Latin American Regional Preparatory Meeting for the International Conference on Population (Havana, 1983) **/ and the International Conference on Population (Mexico, 1984), ***/

Also bearing in mind the fact that the recommendations mentioned above highlight the need to approach population problems as part of development strategies, the planning process and global, sectoral and regional policies,

Considering the Latin American Regional Population Programme's****/
objective of collaborating with the countries of the region in providing information on their demographic situation and in formulating and appraising development plans and programmes in the field of population, the implementation of which was entrusted to the Latin American Demographic Centre,

Considering also the fact that the ECIAC studies contained in the document "Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and requisites for overcoming them", ****/ submitted to the twenty-second session of ECIAC, stress the need to strive for the attainment of equity and place emphasis on the population as both the beneficiary and agent of development,

Recognizing how important it is for the member countries of the Commission to continue to enjoy the services of a suitable regional body endowed with appropriate resources for meeting needs as regards technical co-operation, training of management and technical personnel, development and adaptation of analysis techniques suited to the conditions of the region, generation, processing and retrieval of information on population, and incorporation of demographic variables into development plans and policies,

1. <u>Notes with satisfaction</u> the report on the activities of CEIADE for the period 1986-1987 ******/ and the programme of work of CEIADE for the period 1990-1991,******/ which devotes particular attention to training and

^{*/} See E/CONF.76/BP/1.

^{**/} E/CEPAL/SES.20/G.19.

^{***/} E/CONF.76/19.

^{****/} E/CEPAL/1002.

^{*****/} LC/G.1488.

^{*****/} LC/G.1494(SES.22/8).

^{******/} LC/G.1506(SES.22/6).

technical co-operation activities based on studies on population and development;

- 2. <u>Highlights</u> CETADE's efforts in support of national development policies and of the quest for social equity undertaken by the governments of the region;
- 3. <u>Expresses</u> its appreciation to the United Nations Population Fund for its continued support and, especially, for the financial support which it has granted CELADE for the period 1988-1991;
- 4. <u>Also expresses</u> its appreciation to the Governments of Canada, France and the Netherlands for the support given to CEIADE during the period 1986-1987 and for the collaboration that has been agreed upon from 1988 onwards;
- 5. Requests CEIADE, within the framework of its programme of work for the period 1990-1991, to:
- a) continue and further intensify its multidisciplinary training activities, especially those designed to sensitize the authorities and to train government technical personnel in the practical execution of population and development activities, to support and strengthen population programmes in universities and other national centres, and to train specialists in the field of population;
- b) study, in co-operation with the governments of the region, the effects which the likely evolution of the population of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean will have on the development of these countries and on their plans and policies, as well as the consequences of development on population dynamics;
- c) collaborate with the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean in organizing procedures at the regional level to facilitate links between the various national institutions in order to provide them, in the light of new technological advances, with proper access to the bibliographic and numerical information on population required for the formulation of development plans and projects;
- 6. <u>Recommends</u> that member governments, in so far as their resources permit and within the framework of their national priorities, should consider the use of multilateral and bilateral sources of co-operation to support specific activities by CEIADE in their respective countries;
- 7. Requests the Executive Secretary of ECIAC and the Director of CEIADE to intensify their efforts to secure adequate financing from the governments of developed countries outside the region and from international organizations, in order to increase the technical and financial resources of CEIADE with a view to ensuring the stability essential for the execution of the tasks that have been entrusted to it.

495(XXII) CALENDAR OF CONFERENCES OF ECLAC FOR THE PERIOD 1988-1990

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Recalling resolution 419 (PIEN.14) of the Committee of the Whole of ECIAC, on rationalization of the institutional structure and the pattern of meetings of the ECIAC system, in which it was determined that the Commission should consider at each of its regular sessions the complete calendar of conferences and meetings scheduled up to the next regular session,

Taking account of resolution 489(PLEN.19) on the intergovernmental structure and functions of ECIAC, in which it is recommended that the current institutional structure be maintained,

Bearing in mind the resolutions of the Economic and Social Council and of ECIAC laying down and governing the frequency of the meetings of subsidiary bodies of the Commission, as given in annex 2 of document LC/G.1499(SES.22/4),

Having considered paragraph 5 of section B of General Assembly resolution 42/207 which requests the Secretary-General to examine the possibility that all organizational aspects of conference servicing be centrally planned and co-ordinated,

Having examined the Calendar of Intergovernmental Conferences of ECLAC for the period 1988-1990 proposed in annex 3 of document IC/G.1499(SES.22/4),

<u>Taking account</u> of the objectives and priorities established in the various regional programmes of work and action approved by the member governments at the twenty-second session,

- 1. <u>Approves</u> the Calendar of Conferences of ECIAC, as given in the annex to this resolution, with the observations and suggestions reflected in the report of the twenty-second session of ECIAC;
- 2. <u>Affirms</u> that the present conference servicing system of ECIAC, whereby the Executive Secretary is responsible for both substantive and organizational aspects, has proved its efficiency and cost effectiveness;
- 3. <u>Notes</u> that a further centralization of conference servicing might be inconsistent with General Assembly resolution 32/197 and other decisions calling for increased autonomy for the regional commissions within the United Nations system;
- 4. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to submit to the pertinent bodies of the United Nations such proposals as may be necessary to enable the Calendar of Conferences thus approved to be carried out;
- 5. <u>Instructs</u> the Executive Secretary to report to the twenty-third session of ECIAC on the fulfilment of this resolution.

Annex CALENDAR OF INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONFERENCES OF ECLAC FOR THE PERIOD 1988-1990

(ear	Title	Place and date	Legislative authority	Source of financing
1988	Fourteenth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)	Port of Spain 1-3 March	ECLAC resolutions 310(XIV); 419(PLEN.14); 422(XIX), para. 204, and 425(XIX)	ECLAC regular budget
1988	Twenty-second session of ECLAC	Rio de Janeiro 20-27 April	ECLAC resolution 479(XXI) ECOSOC Decision 1987/166	ECLAC regular budget
1988	Eleventh session of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC)	<u>a</u> /	ECLAC resolutions 358(XVI) and 419(PLEN.14)	ECLAC regular budget
1988	Central American Economic Co-operation Committee	<u>a</u> /	ECLAC resolution 9(IV)	ECLAC regular budget
1988	Fourth Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean	Guatemala City 27-30 September	The Conference was constituted as a permanent subsidiary organ of ECLAC, by decision of the Eleventh Extraordinary Session of the Committee of the Whole (E/CEPAL/AC.71/4)	ECLAC regular budget
1988	Latin American and Caribbean Regional Preparatory Meeting for the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders	<u>a</u> /	ECOSOC resolution 1987/49 General Assembly resolution 42/59	Department of Conference Services (DCS) regular budget
1989	Regional Council for Planning (ILPES)	Montevideo <u>b</u> /	ECLAC resolution 340(AC.66)	ILPES budget
1989	Twelfth session of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC)	<u>a</u> /	ECLAC resolution 358(XVI) and 419(PLEN.14)	ECLAC regular budget
1989	Fifteenth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)	<u>a</u> /	ECLAC resolutions 310(XIV); 419(PLEN.14); 422(XIX), para. 204, and 425(XIX)	ECLAC regular budget
1989	Twentieth session of the ECLAC Committee of the Whole	United Nations Headquarters New York, April/May <u>b</u> /	ECLAC resolution 419(PLEN.14)	ECLAC regular budget
1990	Sixteenth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)	<u>a</u> /	ECLAC resolutions 310(XIV); 419(PLEN.14); 422(XIX), para. 204, and 425(XIX)	ECLAC regular budget
1990	Thirteenth session of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee (CDCC)	<u>a</u> /	ECLAC resolution 358(XVI) and 419(PLEN.14)	ECLAC regular budget
1990	Twenty-third session of ECLAC	Venezuela <u>b</u> / <u>c</u> /	ECLAC resolution 419(PLEN.14)	ECLAC regular budget

a/ Place and date to be decided. b/ Date to be decided.

c/ Subject to approval by ECOSOC.

496(XXII) REPORT OF THE WORLD COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

<u>Welcoming</u> the report of the World Commission on Environment and Development, entitled "Our Common Future",

Recalling General Assembly resolution 42/187 of 11 December 1987, which transmits to all governments and to the governing bodies of the organs, organizations and programmes of the United Nations system the report of the World Commission and invites them to take account of the analyses and recommendations contained in the report in determining their policies and programmes,

Recalling further that, in the same resolution, the General Assembly called upon the governing bodies of the organs, organizations and programmes of the United Nations system to review their policies, programmes, budgets and activities aimed at contributing to sustainable development,

Bearing in mind that the World Commission in its report sets out as a main goal, to ensure that all economic and social development is environmentally sound and sustainable, which implies meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 42/186 on the Environmental Perspective to the Year 2000 and Beyond, which took account of the conclusions and recommendations contained in the Report of the World Commission, while acknowledging that different views exist on some aspects of the Environmental Perspective,

Considering that the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean has been making an important contribution to the promotion of sustainable development and should intensify and broaden its efforts in the future,

- 1. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to undertake a review of ECIAC's programmes and activities aimed at contributing to sustainable development, including all the cross-sectoral and interdisciplinary aspects thereof, taking account of the Report of the World Commission and the Environmental Perspective;
- 2. <u>Further requests</u> the Executive Secretary to prepare a progress report on the contribution of ECIAC to the international efforts towards sustainable development, for submission through the Economic and Social Council to the forty-fourth session of the General Assembly in accordance with paragraph 12 of General Assembly resolution 42/186 and paragraph 18 of General Assembly resolution 42/187;
- 3. <u>Invites</u> the Executive Secretary to bring to the attention of the Executive Secretaries of the other United Nations regional commissions the activities undertaken by ECIAC aimed at contributing to sustainable development.

497 (XXII) PROGRAMME OF WORK OF ECLAC FOR THE PERIOD 1990-1991

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Bearing in mind article 8 and rule 24 of the Terms of Reference and Rules of Procedure of ECIAC, the relevant mandates issued by the General Assembly and the Economic and Social Council regarding the preparation and consideration of the programmes of work of all the bodies of the system, and the provisions of General Assembly resolution 38/32E and decision 1984/101 of the Economic and Social Council regarding recurrent publications of the United Nations,

Having considered the draft programme of work for the different areas of activity of the ECIAC system for the period 1990-1991,*/ which covers also the Latin American and Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) and the Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE),

Taking full account of the views expressed, including the adjustments to the programme proposed by representatives of member governments, as recorded in the final report of the twenty-second session, and the changes deriving from the resolutions adopted at that session,

- 1. Approves the draft programme of work of the ECIAC system (including ILPES and CEIADE) for the period 1990-1991 **/, with the adjustments arising from the resolutions and decisions adopted at the twenty-second session of the Commission and reflected in the final report thereof, and adopts it as the legislative basis of the Commission for the execution of the programmes and projects and the issuance of the recurrent publications included in it;
- 2. <u>Takes note</u> that the allocation of resources necessary for carrying out the activities described in the programme will require the prior approval of the relevant bodies of the United Nations;
- 3. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to submit to the relevant bodies of the United Nations such proposals as may be necessary to enable the programme of work thus approved to be carried out;
- 4. <u>Instructs</u> the Executive Secretary to report to the twenty-third session of ECLAC on the fulfilment of this resolution.

^{*/} LC/G.1506(SES.22/6).

^{**/} Programme 23, "Transnational Corporations", was approved by 18 votes in favour, 4 against and 2 abstentions. In favour: Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Cuba, Ecuador, Guyana, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Trinidad and Tobago, Uruguay and Venezuela. Against: France, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the United States. Abstentions: Canada and Spain.

498 (XXII) INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY: ASSESSMENT OF THE PRESENT INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND REVIEW OF THE PREPARATION OF A NEW STRATEGY FOR THE FOURTH UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT DECADE

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that at its forty-second session the General Assembly adopted resolution 42/193 on the preparation of a new international development strategy for the fourth United Nations Development Decade, wherein the Secretary-General is requested, in consultation with all the organs and organizations of the United Nations system concerned, to provide information which would be appropriate for the preparation of a new strategy and for the assessment of the strategy for the present Decade,

Requests the ECIAC Secretariat to prepare the relevant information in time for the meeting of CEGAN which will deal with the analysis of the different points connected with the appraisal of the current Strategy and the consideration of a new International Development Strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade, and to submit that information to the next session of ECIAC.

499 (XXII) FORTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Recalling United Nations Economic and Social Council resolution 106(VI). adopted on 25 February 1948, which set up ECIAC and approved the terms of reference that have governed the work of the Commission since that date,

Recognizing ECIAC's contribution to the formulation of a concept of development of its own and to the design and implementation of economic and social development policies for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Also recognizing that the economic advances made by the region have not been sufficient to modify the traditional form of insertion of Iatin America and the Caribbean within the international economy,

Considering the impact of the crisis of the 1980s and of the debt problem on the development process of the region,

Also considering that the urgent need to restore the sustained development of Latin America and the Caribbean makes it more vital than ever to ensure that the fullest use is made of the experience and capacity of ECIAC in the quest for solutions to the problems caused to the region by the present crisis,

- 1. <u>Welcomes</u> the contributions made by ECLAC and its Secretariat to the formulation of a Latin American and Caribbean economic philosophy;
- 2. <u>Emphasizes</u> the need to generate alternative solutions for strengthening the role of the region in the international economic system and resuming the process of sustained development that has been affected in the 1980s by the economic crisis and the problem of the external debt;
- 3. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to bear in mind, when executing the programme of work of the Commission, the need for reflection on the following matters:
- a) The definition of long-term development policies which incorporate measures by the countries of the region to solve the serious short-term problems in a broad context aimed at overcoming the structural obstacles standing in the way of Latin American and Caribbean development;
- b) The analysis of alternative scenarios for the future development of Latin America and the Caribbean which take account of the dynamics of the development process underway in the region and the long-term trends prevailing in the world economy;
- c) The examination of regional and subregional integration and co-operation as instruments for the development and greater autonomy of the region and as a basis for formulating new approaches for tackling the problems hindering its economic evolution.

500(XXII) PLACE AND DATE OF THE NEXT SESSION

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean,

Bearing in mind article 15 of its Terms of Reference and rules 1 and 2 of its Rules of Procedure,

Considering the invitation of the Government of Venezuela to hold the twenty-third session of the Commission in Caracas,

- 1. Expresses its gratitude to the Government of Venezuela for its very generous invitation;
- 2. Accepts this invitation with pleasure;
- 3. <u>Recommends</u> to the United Nations Economic and Social Council that it approve the holding of the twenty-third session in Venezuela in 1990.

Annex 1

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

LC/G.1502(SES.22/1)/Rev.1	- Provisional agenda
LC/G.1507(SES.22/2)/Rev.1	- Annotated provisional agenda and organization of work of the twenty-second session
LC/G.1488(SES.22/3)/Rev.1 and Corr.1	 Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and the requisites for overcoming them
LC/G.1499(SES.22/4)	- Proposed calendar of conferences of ECLAC for the period 1988-1990. Note by the Secretariat
LC/G.1508(SES.22/5)	- Report of the work of the Commission since April 1986
LC/G.1506(SES.22/6)	- Draft programme of work of the ECLAC system, 1990-1991
LC/G.1512(SES.22/7)	- Documents presented at the twenty-second session
LC/G.1494(SES.22/8) LC/DEM/G.60	 Report on the activities of the Latin American Demographic Centre (CELADE), 1986-1987
LC/G.1509(SES.22/9) LC/IP/G.44	- ILPES: New operational bases, and summary of activities 1986-1987
LC/G.1505(SES.22/10)	 Activities of the ECLAC system to promote and support co-operation among developing countries and regions. Note by the Secretariat
LC/G.1497(SES.22/11)	- Provisional agenda of the Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions
LC/G.1498(SES.22/12)	 Annotated provisional agenda of the Committee on Co-operation among Developing Countries and Regions
LC/G.1504(SES.22/13) and Corr.1	 Restrictions on sustained development in Latin America and the Caribbean and the requisites for overcoming them (Summary)
LC/G.1495 LC/CAR/G.243/Rev.1	- Report of the tenth session of the Caribbean Development and Co-operation Committee
LC/G.1514(SES.22/14)	- Programme performance report of ECLAC for the biennium 1986-1987. Note by the Secretariat

LC/G.1515(SES.22/15)	 Admission of Aruba as an Associate Member of ECLAC. Note by the Secretariat
LC/G.1516(SES.22/16)	 Some recent resolutions and decisions adopted by the United Nations organs which require to be brought to the attention of the Commission, Note by the Secretariat
LC/G.1517(SES.22/17)	 Preparation of the New International Development Strategy for the Fourth United Nations Development Decade. Note by the Secretariat
LC/G.1518(SES.22/18)	- Provisional agenda (Committee I)
LC/G.1519(SES.22/19)	- Provisional agenda (Committee II)
LC/G.1510(CEG.14/3)	 Report of the fourteenth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN)

Annex 2

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE COMMISSION

Resolutions 490(XXII) through 499(XXII)

No financial implications.

Resolution 500(XXII): Place and date of the next session of the Commission

The representative of the Secretariat reported that the budget estimates of the Commission for the biennium 1990-1991 must be submitted in mid-1988. In accordance with United Nations regulations, the budget prepared by the ECIAC Secretariat will include provision for the holding of the twenty-third session of the Commission in Santiago, Chile. According to the estimates made by the Secretariat, the resources needed for holding the session of the Commission in Caracas do not exceed those which will be requested for holding it in Santiago. Consequently, if the United Nations General Assembly approves sufficient funds for holding the session in Santiago, the holding of it in Caracas would not have any financial implications.

Annex 3

DECLARATION OF SUPPORT FOR PANAMA BY THE COUNTRIES OF LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

The countries of Latin America and the Caribbean consider the application of coercive economic measures which infringe the sovereignty and threaten the economic security of any State of the region to be contrary to international law and incompatible with the Charters of the United Nations and of the Organization of American States and therefore reject the use of such measures. In that respect, they reaffirm the terms of Decision 271 on "Coercive economic measures against Panama" which was adopted at the Sixth Extraordinary Meeting of the Latin American Council of the Latin American Economic System (SELA), held in Caracas on 28 and 29 March 1988, and whose text is annexed to this Declaration.

DECISION 271

COERCIVE ECONOMIC MEASURES AGAINST PANAMA

THE LATIN AMERICAN COUNCIL,

CONSIDERING:

Decisions 112 and 113 adopted by the Latin American Council on coercive economic measures;

The relevant provisions of the Charter of the United Nations and of the Charter of the Organization of American States;

The request submitted by the Government of Panama to the Permanent Secretariat of the Latin American Economic System on 18 March 1988 for the convening, in pursuance of Decision 113, of an urgent Extraordinary Meeting of the Latin American Council at the ministerial level, in which request that country indicates the coercive economic measures to which it is being subjected and expresses it sovereign will to continue to further its democratic system with the greatest determination;

Decisions 115, 189 and 269 regarding the 1977 Panama Canal Treaties.

FURTHER CONSIDERING:

That self-determination and non-intervention in the internal affairs of other countries are fundamental principles of international relations;

That the United States of America is applying coercive economic measures to Panama which are causing serious prejudice to the Panamanian people;

That these coercive economic measures are contrary to international law and incompatible with the Charter of the United Nations and the Charter of the Organization of American States;

That Decision 112 of the Latin American Council condemns the application of coercive measures and calls for the elimination of economic embargoes and blockades, the freezing of funds, the suspension of credits and other measures;

That the solidarity of Latin America and the Caribbean is a fundamental condition for strengthening Latin American self-determination and sovereignty;

RESOLVES:

- <u>Article 1</u>. To reaffirm the sovereign right of all nations to decide their own destiny in peace and liberty in the economic, social and political spheres, free of all external pressures, aggressions and threats.
- Article 2. To reiterate its condemnation, expressed in Article 3 of Decision 112, of the application against any of the member States of SEIA of coercive economic measures, since these threaten their sovereignty and economic security and adversely affect their right to independent development.
- Article 3. To reject, in consequence, the coercive economic measures adopted by the Government of the United States of America against Panama, which affect the independence and threaten the economic security of this member State and constitute a case of serious economic emergency as laid down in Article 1 of Decision 113.
- <u>Article 4</u>. To urge the Government of the United States of America to revoke forthwith the coercive measures which it has adopted against Panama.
- Article 5. To consider in a spirit of solidarity the Panamanian government's request for assistance set out in the document "Requerimientos de cooperación económica de la República de Panamá" (CL/VI.E/DT No. 1, Corr.2) and to instruct the Permanent Secretariat of the Iatin American Economic System to promote and co-ordinate consultations with member States on the necessary actions and measures.
- Article 6. To take note of document CL/VI.E/Di No. 1 submitted at the Sixth Extraordinary Meeting of the Latin American Council of SELA by the Government of Panama, in which that government reaffirms and places on record its commitment to further its democratic system with the greatest determination.
- Article 7. To reaffirm the need for the strict fulfilment of the 1977 Panama Canal Treaties and to urge the Government of the United States of America to respect the commitments undertaken in them.

